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PREFACE

At last here is a book that many Australians have been
waiting for.

Certainly those one million or more citizens who have a
direct ltalian heritage will greet this history with a great
deal of enthusiasm and pride.

For those who have forgotten, or never knew of the feats
performed by their unique pioneering forbears, Father Tito
Cecilia's book is a must.

All students of Australian history will find the publication a
valuable asset, as no history of this nation would be
complete if the story of the lwlian contribution was not
told.

The lalian influence has existed from the earliest days of
European exploration and settlement, growing in impor-
tance as the years have passed and adding a vivacity 1o our
Australian cullure.

From the cane fields of Queensland; the mines of Broken
Hill and Kalgoorlie; the vinevards of the Riverina to the
chique fashion houses, leading restaurants and the stock
exchanges of the Capitals, the lalian heritage s now
evident.

We know the full story has not yet been told, but in “Non
Siamo Arrivati Teri” Father Tito Cecilia has challenged us
to learn more of this heritage and to him we say “Mille

i @% M

NOEL HICKS MP
Member for Riverina-Darling
L}



Introduction



Inanarticle published in 1971 in Quaderni dell’Istituto Italiano di Cultura
entitled “Italians on the Pacific Frontier”, Professor Hugh M. Laracy of
the Australian National University wrote: “The Tralians achieved little in
the South Pacific as their explorers left few names on maps, their mis-
sionaries made few converts and their settlers did not establish roots. ™ (1)

Many years before Professor Laracy, Federico Gagliardi, himself a writer
and migrant of the second half of the nineteenth century, had this instead
10 say about the Italians of that time in his book L'Australia e i suoi com-
merci 7. We have farming settlements which truly do Ltaly proud and
are singled out as models. .. Furthermore, one finds I.Ialians everywhere
occupying responsible positions: they are to be found in the post and tele-
graph offices, in public und private schools, in port carpentry workshops.,
in the press, the legal and medical professions, in commerce and in indus-
try..." These are two diametrically opposed views; the one negative and
the other positive. (2)

It 15 not the aim of this work to arouse controversy, nor is it meant to
be just a compilation of facts and figures, a task | am happy to leave
to the statisticians. [ts intention is merely to reveal the human face of
the individuals who represent the pioneering history of Italian migra-
tion, ‘& history written by them in this, the country of their choice, In
other words this work is intended to bring to light their contribution
to the development of this nation, for which their reward has been a
life of sacrifice that was often more difficult than it should have been,
A few years ago an Australian Primie Minister said that Italian mig-
rants from every level of society had for decades made a substantial
and significant contribution to every facet of life in this country.
There are whole areas of Austrulia where Ttalian enterprise has been
of crucial importance. Australia, from east to west, from Victoria to
the Northern Territory, would today be materially and culturally
poorer and more isolated had it not been Tor the ltalians.

In fact the development of primary industries such as the growing of
sugar cane in Queensland, the fishing industry in Western Australia
and the wine industry in Victoria is attributable to Tralian pioneers.
ltalians from Piedmont and Lombardy established prosperous dairy
farms in the Castlemaine district where their descendants still live, In
the same way the development of the Riverina, the Goulburn Valley,
the Sunraysia district and many other arcas are veritable monuments
to the determination of these Ttalian pioneers.

Others pioneered various industries: for example, the first glass fac-
tory in Australia was opened by an Ialian. In Gippsland two Ttalian
miners started @ flourishing mimng ndustry, while a group of
craftsmen at Hunter's Hill in New South Wales set up an entire
village, the only one of its kind in this country.

For all these reasons and more, Professor Laracy's statements appeir
superficial and. if nothing else, imprecise. Two other fuctors, which mn
my &!piniun are of the greatest importance, should also be kept in
mind.

1



The first is that Australia, at least until the end of the First World
War. had sought only migrants who would be farmers. never
mechanics, skilled tradesmen or professionals. On the contrary,
(apart from the few cases we shall see), these categories of migrants
either found it very difficult to have their qualifications recognised
and to practise their skills or were simply prevented from doing so.
The Consul Bertola fn 1905 went so far 48 to try to discourage the
ordinary migrant {rom coming to Australis:

“The Tralian migrant with an insufficient knowledge of English should
not even consider Australia as a place in which to practise his trade
or be employed in manual labour unless he has relatives. friends or
people from his own village 1o guarantee him suitable employment or
a place to stay until he has found his own.

“There are no government or community organisations here to care
far the migrant and cach is left to himsell and his own resources. Pro-
fessional people such as engineers, architects, etc.., are not recognised,
Doctors are, in general, accepted after a brief apprenticeship, but in
order to be employed they must speak the language and must move
out into the interior where none of the locals wishes to g0,

“There is no point even in discussing what would be the lot of young
people who have studied commerce or of anyone with any sort of
education, as they would not find work here.™ (3)

The second factor which will not escape anyone who studies the his-
tory of Italian migration to this country was the widespread prejudice,
verging on contempt, towards anyone who was not British. ltalian
migrants were often accused of being parasites who had come here to
take the food from the mouths of Australians, threatening their stan-
dard of living and spoiling the genetie stock. It s an historical fact
that during one particular period of Australia’s history ltalian mig-
rants were invariably lrealeL‘Jwit’h hostility, being cm‘ic:} and despised
s an inferior race, a race of coloureds. People with qualifications
Were not normally accepted as migrants and the few who did come
out found that the practice of their profession was deliberately made
difficult, if not denied them altogether. The missionaries, whose work
and success cannot be measured on the scale of human achievement.
and o whom history hiis not yet given the recognition they deserve,
were treated as intruders, Caught in the middle of Anglo-Irish squab-
bles, they were eriticised and laughed at for their foreign accents and

ceause their apostolic method was not Irish. The poor migrant, a
Willing worker anxious to contribute to the growth of the nation, was
often relegated to the lowest, dirtiest, heaviest and most humble of
Jobs which the locals und their British mates refused. When the most
menial work became sought after, as happened during the depression,
the Italian migrant was denied even this, One need only recall the

istory of the Western Australian mines or the Queensland sugar
cane industry, to cite examples.

lalians were able to achieve some recognition of their trade and pro-
fessional skills and of their intellectual and creative qualities only
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when the trade union movement and the Labor Party, still disor-
ganised, were too busy fighting Chinese labour and the Kanakas.

“The year 1890 marked the turming point in Australian attitudes to-
wards the Italians,” writes N, Pike. “In a way it wis a pity that the
Australian labour movement should gather momeptum at a tme
when two important industries, the Queensland sugar industry and
the mining industry in Western Australia, needed manpower... The
labour movement was opposed to Ttalign immigraton in any sector
and particularly in these industries. ltalian migrants, by swelling the
size of the labour force, would have put the employers in the invidi-
ous position of being uble to offer work to the unemployed at lower
rates of pay.” (4)

Federal and State enquiries which repeatedly examined these accusi-
tions invariably proved them to be unfounded.

The number of migrants later increased, but there were fewer skilled
people among them. This was because the unions and the Labor
Party, little by little, imposed their views on the nation, refusing to
recognise the gualifications of non-British migrants, ignoring their
technical and creative skills and barely tolerating the poor agricultural
worker who agreed to vamish into the intenor uF the continent,
Perhaps it is no exaggeration to say that after 1890 ltalian migrants
coming to this country were often made to suffer, were persecuted
and hounded. However, thanks to their widely recognised honesty,
frugality and tenacious desire to work, the Italians never gave up.
They willingly accepted the dirtiest, most menial jobs in the steel-
works and on the assembly lines, They often achieved economic inde-
pendence by setting up new industries or seeking refuge in agnculture
which, partly at least, gave them once more the Kind of freedom they
had enjoyed before emigrating.

This book merely aims to record certain aspects of this human adven-
ture. It does not pretend to be a comprehensive and systematic his-
tory of ltalian migration to Australia. I'leave the historical analysis to
those who are more skilful. | have concerned myself with the diffe-
rent aspects of the lives of migrants and with the settlement problems
they encountered. While a few of the names in this book may belong
to professioni) people. for the most part they are those of ordinary
labourers.

Finally, this book has been written for ordinary people. the people
most often ignored. They are the people closest to my heart, the
people for whom I too, i solidarity with them, became a migrant,

Tite Ceeilia
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“You lose vour fdentity
if vou ignore your past.
The past 18 what you are;
il you don't understand that
you will fiave no sense of your
real identity.”
Dr. Brian Crozier
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1""‘ THE END OF A LEGEND

SEARCHING

History will perhaps never be able to tell us with any certainty who
first set foot on the vast Australian continent. Archacological re-
search has revealed that the Aborigines were here at least as long ago
48 40,000 years B.C., while the Chinese and the Egyptians are sup-
posed to have visited Australia before the beginning of the Christian
era.
Since the sixteenth century. European navigators had set off in search
of the greil southland . A Jot of strange and exaggerated things had
been said and written about it since Roman and Greek times, and the
debate had continued with Imereasing vigoar from the Middle Ages
through to the Renaissance.
Writers and poets, scholars and travellers. mathemuaticians and geog-
raphers had provided descriptions of it and had even drawn SUrpris-
ngly accurate maps. A group of Ttalian scholars caught between the
myth and the reality called it Terra Australis Incognita |
Others called it “the clusive coptinent” because just when they were
Sure they had discovered it someone else would prove that they had
not This happened 1o lorge De Meneses in 1526 who, while sailing
along the northern coast of New Guinea believed he had discovered
ustralia, and called it “Terra Australis'™ (1). Pedro Fernandez De
Quiros (1605) made the same mistake and gave the name“ Australia
¢ Espiritu Santo™ 1o what were in fact the New Hebrides. (2)
Many others muintuined they had landed on its shores, but no one
NOWS for certain who was first, Some say it was the Portuguese. who
anded on the northern coast of Australia in 1542 while exploring the
archipelago of the East Indics. However, they kept their discovery

secrel so that the Spantards who had invaded ther country ¢ould not
benelit from it.

Others claim that Torres, known s The Spaniard’, landed on the

northern coast of Australia as carly s 1606 when sailing through the

SRt now named after him, between New Guinea and the unknown
continent.

Acearding to other sources the French were tirst, through the proven-
Cal sallor Guilluume le Testu who returned from the South Seas with
Maps of “Terrn Australis™ (3)



But since the Spaniards and the Portuguese kept their discovery well
hidden for selfish political and commercial reasons, the credit for re-
vealing the existence of the new continent to the rest of Europe must
g0 to the Dutch. To them must also go the honour of being known as
the first to set fool in the land they called “New Holland".

The Dutchmin Willem Fansz, captain of the Puytken ( hintle dove ),
sailed into the Gulf of Carpentaria in March, 1606. Some of the crew
who went ashore were massacred by Abongines, He called the na-
tives “wild, evil black savages”. Ten years later in 1616, another
Dutchman, Dirk Hartog set foot on the continent at Shark’s Bay.

Hartog, who was Captain of the Eendracht , left behind what is evi-
dence of the carliest European contact with this, the last continent to
be discovered — an engraved pewier plaie, (4)

On board the Dutch brigantine there was a Genoese sailor by the
pame of Mario Sega who is mentioned in the captain’s. shipbourd
diary. He is supposed to have met a young Aboriginal woman while
out walking along the beach and to have fallen hopelessly in love with
her, never returning home. (3)

The Dutch sent expedition after expedition with the aim of exploring
and eventually colonising the new continent, However, all their at-
tempts were in vain: first because of the hostility of the Aborigines,
second because several expeditions were shipwrecked on the west
coast, and finally because time after time all they found was and,
sandy terrain with no trace of gold or silver.

Willem Jansz, captain of the Duyfken , reported: “We did not find a
single fruit-bearing tree, or anything which might be useful to man,
and the few natives encountered were the most miserable and primi-
tive race in the world.. they differ but little from brutes,™ (6)

The most tortupate and “romantic* expedition of all was the one
headed by the intrepid and lovelorn explorer Abel Tasman,

It is said that he had asked for the hand in marriage of the daughter
of Anthony Van Diemen, the Governor of Batavia, The governor
told him that he could marry her only if he distinguished himself by
some great enterprise. Tasman, who was determined to succeed, set
out 1o be the first to sail around the unknown southland. With this in
mind he left Batavia on 6 August 1642 and, in the two ships the
Heemskerk and the Zeehaen, sailed for the island south of Au-
stralian continent which be called Van Diemen’s Land in the gover-
nor's honour. By the time he turned north to return to Batavia he
had discovered both the large, fertile islands of New Zealand to the
east and had circumpavigated the mystenous southern continent,
thereby proving that it was indeed an island, although it stll re-
mained “Terra Australis Incognita®. (7)

In 1644 Tasman again sailed southward, this time heading due cast
towards the south coast of New Gumea. However, he was unable 1o
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find his way through the many coral reefs and into Torres Strait, and
like the explorers Jansz and Cortensz before him, ended up on the
shores of Cape York Peninsula. Heading west he followed the Au-

stralian coastline as far as North-West Cape and from there sailed for
Java. (8)

Disappointed that their discoveries did not lend themselves qasilv_to
commercial exploitation, the Dutch East India Company sent its ships
10° other shores for guicker and more profitable returns.

The first Englishman to set foot on the unknown continent, 40 years
later in 1688, was William Dampicr the pirate. As Captain Swan com-
manding the ship ‘Cygnet’, stolen from other pirates, he and his crew
Scoured the seus infent on piracy and not in search of new lands.
They were forced to dry-dock on the West Australian coust in order
o scrape the ship's hull clear of busnacles and they stayed for three
months, in which time Dampier was able 1o study the land and the
rongines. In 1697, having returned to England. he published a book
entitled A New Journey around the World, in which he partly re-
peated what the Dutchman Hartog had said: “The land is dry and
sandy, the inhabitants do not even know how to construct a hut for
themselves or wrow plants.™ (9) His book aroused considerable in-
lerest among British merchants who asked him to g0 back 10 explore
the castern coastline. So in 1699, with the hacking of the British Ad-
miralty, he left to explore the cast coast of the continent 4s captain of
the ‘Roebuck’. But he again ended up on the west coast, and from
there headed north, Running short of water after having explored
about 600 miles of coastline, he took shelter on the island of Timor
and from there returned to England, having achieved little. (10)

Throughour the cighteenth century, France, Spain and England com-

peted for control of the seas and, therefore, of trade with the
colonies. (1

DISCOVERY AND POSSESSION

In 1770 Capt

] atn Jumes Cook, the luckiest and most famous of English
sailors, disco

, vered the east coast of Australia quite by chance on his
"“Uf".ri'urlley from New Zealand. With its abundance of vegetation
and wildlife it did not resemble the west ot all. (12)

After accompanying a team of astronomers to Tahiti 0 observe the
transit of Venus across the sun, Cook, under instructions from Lon-

on, had continued on towards the south-west in search of the elusive
continent. A storm forced him onto the New Zesland coast where he
femained for six months, charting 240 miles of coastline and putting
10 1est the theory that New Zealand was nothing but the promontory
of another great continent. On 19 April 1770, sailing north-west from
NEW Zealand and aftor almost a month at sea, he sighted Point Hicks
{today known as Cape Everard), petween Orbost and Mallacoota,
Naming it after the lieutenant who had first spotted it. Ten days later,
on 29 April, the Endeavour dropped anchor at 34° latjtude south,
M a magnificent harbour. This was later called Botany Bay
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because of the great variety of plants and flowers discovered there by
the boranist Joseph Banks and his Swedish assistant, Solander.

No sooner had the British flag been unfurled at Botany Bay, than the
first white man was buried there, It was as if the body of sailor Torby
Sutherland (13) now stood guurd over the flag, symbolising the
British Empire’s taking possession of the new continent.

On 6 May, after discovering and naming Port Jackson, Cook turned
north and continued to chart the coastline. On 22 May he landed at
latitude 24° 20 south, and again on 30 May at 22° 1 south.

On 10 June, near Cape Tribulation, not far from modern-day Cairns,
the Endeavour ran aground on a coral reef. Having managed to free
her, Cook guided her for repairs into the safety of the estuary of a
river he named the Endeavour, at latitude 15° 267

His crew took a month to repair the senously damaged ship. How-
ever, it was an eventful month for Cook and his men who saw their
first Kkangaroos. “[They] cannot be compared with any  other
European animal,” he wrote, (14)

On 11 July the first small group of four Aborigines approached the
crew of the Endeavour . Couk it his diary deseribes them as follows:
“They were naked and their skin was the colour of ebony; their hair
was short and glossy. Certain parts of their bodies were coloured red
with white stripes on the chest and face. Their features were not ugly
and their voices were soft and melodic.” (15)

During this enforced rest many of the crew begame alarmed when
one sailor said he had seen the devil, deseribing him thus: “He was as
large as a five gallon cask, he was black with homs and wings; I could
have touched him with my hands.” Tt was later discovered that this
formidable apparition was nothing more than a flying fox, which is
generally 30 centimetres long and has a wing-span of about one vard.
“It must be recognised,” wrote Cook, “that it has a frightful appeur-
ance, and is black and as large as a woodceock,” (16)

On 21 August 1770 the “Endeavour reached the far northetn tip of
the continent, which Cook named Cape York and from Possession Is-
land he took possession of all the eastern part of the country in the
name of George HI with the following words. “As | prepare to leave
the east coast of New Holland, which T have followed here from
latitude 38 and which | am certain no other European has ever seen,
I once again raise the English colours. Although ‘I may already have
taken possession of several places 1 now take possession of the whole
of the castern coast under the ngme of New South Wales, in the
name of my sovereign George 1. King of Great Britain.™ (17)
Cook was sufficiently pleased with hus discovery to write in the ship's
diary: “Except in the marshes we found good soil everywhere, light
and sandy, good for producing u great guantity ol good pasture,
Further inland from the coast the soil was richer and black in colour.™
As il foreseecing the use to which it would later be put he continued,
“Most sorts of grains. fruits and plants will grow here and no serious
obstacle 1o the establishment of & colony can be envisaged.” (18)
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Back in England after three years at sea, Cook aroused extraordinary
interest throughowt Europe with the account of his discoveries.

Aware that the British were preparing to send another exploratory
expedition 1o the South Seas, the French. anxious to rival Captain
Cook. sent Marion De Fresne in two ships to explore the South Seas.
But the expedition was tra ically interrupted. Landing in New Zea-
lind, De Fresne was killed by the Muoris. This misfortune did not
deter the French from wanting to take possession of Australia and
make it their colony. and so they sent the famous La Perouse with
two more ship-loads of settlers to claim it and start a seltlement.
However, La Perouse sailed around the seas of Polynesia for two
vears and when he finally landed at Botany Bay he learned that the
nglish were already there, having arrived’ six days earlier. Six days
had changed the course of history and Australia was to be & British

possession rather than u French one, It is impossible to imagine what
might have heen.

The illustrious., though unfortunate, La Perouse, seeing that the place
was already occupied, set sail once more. Neither he nor his expedi-
tion were ever sighted again and their disappearance remains a mys-
tery 1o this day. (19)

ITALIANS IN THE SOUTHERN HEMISPHERE BEFORE
COOK’S DISCOVERY

AL this point 4 question springs naturally t© mind: what part did the
ltakians, who down through the ages have been the best sailors in the
world, play in the discovery of Australia?

It is as difficult to establish who might have been the first Italian

Set fool in Australia 4s it is to know with any.cr:nainty which Euro-
pean first discovered the *unknown continent™

Without attributing o greater significance to them than their role war-

rants, it is not harﬁ to prove that Ttalian scholars and explorers contri-

uted to the exploration of the Southern Hemisphere and to the dis-

covery of the great southern island. It can be argued that the Italians

Were among the first o open ur sxploratory routes to the Far East
e

and to set other explorers on the road o discovering the unknown
continent.

Marco Polo (1254-1324), who lived for many years in Asia with his
merchant father, was the first 1o give thirteenth century Europe a
glimpse of (he mysterious ¢ast by pointing out new trade routes.
In his book, If Milione, Marco Polo told of a great island beyond
-hina 1o the east, but few in the west believed him. “chcrlhclcs}s
the Nuremberg geographers hased their calculations on: Miirco Polo's
accounts, and these together with Prolemy’s mistakes in longitude, led

fistopher Columbus to believe that the shortest route to the east-
&rn parts of Asia lay to the west. This in tumn led to Christopher Col-
umbus’s discovery of -‘America, on which it seems any knowledge
of Oceania was to depend.” (20)
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Furthermore, the cartographers of the time began to skeich the out-
line of the Australian continent on the basis of Marco Polo's tales,

“Marco Polo’s Million, in fact,” wrote the historian Arnold Wood,
“for centuries influenced those who undertook voyages of exploration
in the seas around Australia.”™ (21)

Among the great travellers and scholars who spoke of a southern con-
tinent were the two missionaries Fra Oderico da Pordenone, in the
early fourteenth century, and Fra Mauro, a Venetian cartographer, in
the second half of the fifteenth century, They left maps and descrip-
tions of “Terra Australis”based on the information gathered by other
explorers, and recounted stories: about many of their own contem-
Fur:l'rit:s who supposedly journeyed to those parts and never returned.
)

On his return from having taken part in the first circumnavigation of
the globe, which proved that the earth was round, Pigafetta, born in
Vicenza between 1480 and 1490, reported the existence of the “great
southland™. Pigafetta, who was in the service of the Papal Nuncio in
Spain, was not a sailor. However, because of his great interest in exp-
loration the Spanish King allowed him to join Magellan's expedition
to sail around the world (1519-1522), He later wrote a fascinsting ac-
count of this voyage (1525). (23)

Another Genoese sailor, whose identity remains 4 mystery, went as
far as the Moluccas where he was captured by the Portuguese, (24)
Italian sailors figure prominently in the history of Spanish and Por-
tuguese sea travel, which is not surprising given that Naples and Sicily
were part of the Spanish Empire. (25) It was therelore quite common
to find Neapolitan and Sicilisn seamen on the ships of these countries
and often in charge of their sea-going expeditions,

Even Portugal used ltalian crews on its ships when, during the reign
of King Alphonse T and later, especially under the House of Aviz. it
experienced # golden age of economic sovereignty and territortal ex-
paAnsIon.

“During this period Portuguese n.’!\'igﬂlﬂﬁ with Italian crews disco-
vered a sca route to the Indian and Pacitic Oceans by sailing around
Africa.” (26) The Ttallan presence on Portuguese ships increased
when the country was invaded by Spain towards the end of the six-
teenth century. It is almost certain that this is why at least i part of
Pedro Fernandez De Quiros’s crew on the expedition to the seas of
the Southern Hemisphere consisted of Italians. Once the expedition
reached New Guinea in 1605, the ship captained by Torres became
separated from that under the command of De Quiros who thought
that he had found the southern continent when in fact he had disco-
vered the New Hebndes: It was Torres, however, who first sailed
through the strait between New Guinea and Austealia which was later
named after him.

Two other names are worth mentioning in the context of this Nalian
mvolvement in the exploration of the Southern Hemisphere: Andrea
Corsali, a Florentine traveller who paved the way tor Portuguese
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expansion into the Far East (1515-1517), and Giovanni Rodriguez, a
cartographer from Messing who drew an accurate map of the north-
ern coustline of Australia. (27)

Further proof of the [talians' cooperation at this time with the Por-
tuguese and the Spaniards is found in a letter to Pope Urban VII
from the Milanese Jesuit Fr. Cristoforo Botri. In his letter, the Jesuit
priest informed the Pope that he had been invited to a meeting of the
King's Council in Lishon to discuss  certain Dutch ship which, forced
Off 1ts route by a storm while sailing near the Cape of Good Hope,
had reached the mysterious continent referred to i the maps of the
fime as ‘unknown fand’. The sailors themselves had seen this “vast,
wide and densely populated” country and the King's Council decided
to send His Majesty's ships to explore it (28)
Fr. O. Riccio (1621-1685) from Santa Maria at Cintoia, near Florence.
and prior of the Monastery of St. Dominic in Manila, wrote to the
Cardinals of the Evangelic Congregation on 6 June 1675, expressing a
esire 10 go to this *“Terra Austrabis” this unknown land, the “fifth”

part of the world, land of many kingdoms and nations. to carry the
word of God,

“Men born along the coastal areas of the southern land,” Fr. Ricoio
wrote, “have been brought to Manila by Dutch sailors. They are tan-
ned, some are black, and they are brave and strong.

“1 offer myself as leader of this mission and if T die | do so carrying
out God's great work”. (29)

But the letter took seven years to reach Rome and the favourable
reply another five to arrive in Manila, a year in fuct after Fr. Riccio’s
death. One can only guess what might have been had it arrived in
time.,
One hundred years later. in 1770, the Englishman Captain James
00K was to discover the east coast of the new continent, thus estab-
IShing 1ts existence once and for all as far as Europe was concemned,
Meanwhile there were two [talians even on board Cook’s ship the
ndeavour: James Mario Matra and Antonio Ponto.

We shall see fater how important Matra and his lans for colomising
the new continent were in the history of Austraha,

AFTER THE DISCOVERY OF AUSTRALIA

Alessandro Mitlespina was the fast greeat Italian sailor to head a scien-
M expedition on behalf of the Spunish Government and to under-
AK€ 4 sea journey of any importance, landing in Australia only five
years after the foundation of the colony. Born in Lunigiana into a
noble Tuscan family. he prew up and was educated in Palermo where
s tather had moved the family to be near his wife's uncle, Giovanni
di Fogliano, the Marquis di Fogliano. After having attended a school
for the nobility in Palermo while still a very young man, and being a
OVEr of the seu, he enlisted in the Spanish navy and fought against
the British, first in Northern Africa and later in Spain.
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With several decorations for bravery he was made a Knight of the
Order of Malta and promoted to the rank of lieutenant. Having been
given command of the ship Asuncion in 1782, he crossed the Atlan-
tic several times and spent two years sailing around the world. On 21
September 1789 Charles 1V appointed Malaspina, whom he had al-
ready promoted to captain, as leader of g scientilic expedition which
lasted five years, one month and 21 days. It was a voyage to explore
and gather scientific knowledge along the east and west coasts of
Patagonia, from Peru to Alaska and on 1o the Maryanne Islands, the
Philippines, the New Hebrides, New Zealand and Australia, where he
arrived on 10 March 1793, (30)

Before sailing into Port Jackson the two corvettes anchored for sev-
eral days off shore in order to betier abserve & partiul eclipse of the
sun.

“At dawn,” wrote Malasping, “our position was excellent: the entr-
ance o Botany Bay was o the south-west and that o Port Jackson
45% of the needle to the porth-west, We were only about three
leagues away. The British fag had been flying over this same port
sinice the previous day and the weather was excellent. A south-wes-
teriy wind was blowing and the sea was rather choppy with no sign of
abating, so we had to abandon our plans to enter Botany Bay and
chose Port Jackson insteid.

“Thanks to the skill of our crew an English pilot was able to board
the corvettes at 8 a.m. We then sailed north-west and at 10 &.m.
dropped anchor because, with the wind and the tide opposing us, we
were unable 1o proceed as far as Svdney Cove where the colony had
been established. Tmmediately, an armed launch drew up alongside
the Discubierta . It carried on board the Officer of the Garrison
bearing the good wishes of the Acting Governor, who had given him
urdcr(s to enquire about how the settlement could be of assistance to
us™. (31)

Malaspina replied that apart from taking a rest they needed fresh
supplies of water and firewood and to see to the usudl repairs of the
ship. They also intended to collect hotanical specimens for the Royal
Cabinet, study the heavens and conduet gravitational experiments. As
guests of the colonial authorities for a month they completed their
examination of the skies as well #s o study of the waler courses,
While Antonio Tova often went out hunting, Brambilla, who was
from Milun, and Alessandro Belmonte, from Rimini, painted many
landscapes us well as Sydney's beautiful harbour, During their stay re-
lattons between the visitors and the inhabitunts of the colony were ex-
cellent, (32)

The Australian historian Colwell in his Story of Australia writes that
on 2 April, before leaving, Malaspina gave the colony an Andalusian
cow as a gift. (33)

Having returned to Spain, and while busy classifying the enormous

quantity of rare material and geographical dita collected over the al-

most six vears of the expedition, Malasping was charged with plotting

against the Crown. He was thrown into prison where he languished
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for seven years. Much of the material he had collected was destroyed,
lost or stolen and was scattered throughout Europe. He was freed by
Napoleon and ended his days at Pontremoli on 10 April 1810. (34)

In all probability. Mualaspina, could have achieved for Spain what it
(and France) had wanted s0' much: the colonisation of Australia,
With his premature death his fame as one of the great sailors grew,
arousing in others the desire to continue the ancient sea-going
tradition of ltaly.

Alter Malaspina. one of the first Italians o set off on the high seas
was Count ({‘arln Viduin di Cinzano, from Casale Monferrato in Pte-(_i-
mant. Having sailed 1o North America, the Philippines and Java, in
1820 he was in the oceans of the Southern Hemisphere carrying out
extensive explorations along the northern coast of New Guinea,
which throughout the nineteenth century was to be the destination of
the last Italian explorers. Count Carlo Vidua's expedition was
brcm%ht to a halt by his death on 25 December 1832 as & result of
lava burns from u voleanic eruption. (35)

In 1857 Agosting Tortillo in the Sofia, the last of the independent
explorers of an ltaly which had not vet been unified, became the first

Halian 1o gui) around the world. An island in the Pacific still bears his
name. (36)

Giorgio Emilio Cerruti was another who, after having spent much
Lime Sili“"s around Asia, in 1860 went as far as Australia, visiting
Sydney and Melbourne.
During his stay in Australia he wrote a series of articles on silkworm
breeding for the Farmers' Journal und the Gardeners” Chronicle enti-
tled “The Mulberry and the Silkworm’. Cerruti was struck by Au-
stralia’s prosperity which he attributed to the transportation of con-
viets, and firmly believed Italy wo should have its penal colonies. He
l“llptrhed 4 campaign 0 convinee the ltalian Government of the be-
netits that such a move would bring to the nation. With this in mind,
Cerruti, accompanied by a military engineer, Captain Di Lena, led a
aom-official party to New Guinea in order to study the possibility of
stablishing o cb{nn‘v of Ttalian convicts there. (37)
He had 1o be satistied with a rich collection of material for the
useum of Natural Sciences in Turin and with leaving many [ftalian
wmes on the maps of the times: Cape Bona, Cape Riboti, Cape
B‘,"‘ET- Port Emilia, Port Emesto, Port Maria, Cape Ferraris, Cape
lan, Cape Turin, Cavour Bay and Bonaventure Pass. (38)
In 1865 the corvette Magenta left Genoa to sail around the world on
o 1ONg scientifie and trade expedition. It spent some considerable time
i e South Seas and visited Australia, the islands of the Pacific and
€ Far cast. (39) In 1870 and 1875 there were other difficult scientific
Sxpeditions with New Guinea ns their general destination, This
SUBEEStS thut science was not their only object. Newly unified Ital
Wreamed in faot of expansion, or at least of having colopies to whie
I could deport its own convicts,

For example, Carlo Racchia, lewder of an expedition in the corvette
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Principessa Clotilde , had orders to look for territory on Borneo
which might be suitable for this, But the interests of other countries
such as Holland, the United States and England meant the projcct
failed. The plan to take r«msessinn ol New Giined also met with stiff
opposition from England,

“Although the Italians arrived too late for discovery or political ¢x-
pansion. there was still smgc for explorution in the Pacific, especially
in New Guinea which in 1870 was still practically unknown to Euro-
peans. Prominent among the explorer-scientists were the nituralists
Odoardo Beceari and Luigi Maria D'Albertis, who spent nearly ten
vears exploring there, Beecari studying the western part and D*Alber-
tis sailing 580 miles up the Fly River, They were the first Europeans
o penetrate into the island's interior.” (4i1)

It was D'Albertis who planted the Italian fag on the highest peak of
a mountain range where the Fly River nses, and which he named the
Victor Emmanuel Mountains,

Apart from the Victor Emmanuel Mountains his presence is remem-
bered in the names of the D'Albertis Islands, the D' Albertis Junetion
of the Fly River und. finally. in the name of the same river's estuary,
the Neva Strait.

In the last quarter of the century INaly laid claim to part of New
Guinea, and Menotti Garibaldi, son of the “hero of two worlds™, tried
o organise an expedition of two thousand volunteers to oecupy and
colonise it but failed, An Italian journalist of the time, writing of
British and German claims to New Guinea, said. “Let us recall Ttaly’s
[eeble protest over its supposed claims to Papuasta, following its exp-
loration by Luigi Maria D Albertis and Odouardo Beceart, I Menotn
had left for the Coral Sea with his volunteers, just as his father had
left Tor the Mar di Sicilia twenty years carlier, the Italian fag might
now be flying over Port Moreshy and perhaps cven at Port i‘!rcmn,
where the forgotten remains of many Venetion workers lie, workers
brought there to die of fever and hardship hy the infamous Marguis
De Rays." (41)

JAMES MATRA: FATHER OF AUSTRALIA?

In all this. the most legendary and mysterious character, who is at the
same time intimately connected with the colonisation of the new con-
tinent, is James Mario Matra.

Without entering into a discussion of its history, it is enough to say
that Matra was the name of a powerful Corsican clan. As Bladen says
in his introduction to Historical Records of New South Wales, the
Matras were “a very influential family, one of those [amilies which,
with the Gaffori, were the protectors of the island.” (42)

Matra is a name sull found i Tuscany, on the Island of Elba, and in
Liguria, It is also the name of 4 Nmillf town some 31 kilometres from
Bastia, nestled among  rocky cliffs,  which  sull  boasts  Muatra
Castle.

In 1745 Matra, a protector and noble who had sided with the
Genoese, was muridered by De Paoli's men. De Paoli, who was the
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leader of the Corsican separatist movement and enemy of the
Genoese, had vowed 1o destroy the Matra family.

The Matras, therefore, had to fce the island and seek refuge, initially
in England and later in the American colonies,

During their Night, the Matras in all probability changed their name

to Magrd (the name of a river in Liguria) for fear that the Corsican

vendetta might reach them even during their exile,

But the Mutras sulfered hardship and deprivation again during the
merican War of Independence, and many of them who had re-

mained loyal to the Crown were stripped of all their assets and ob-

liged 1o séek refuge in Canada or return to England.

James Matrs, who was bomn in New York, was sent to England to
Study. For his foreign tour of duty he served on hoard Cook's

A nlc?ca.w;mr as a petty officer and was present at the historic landing
m 1770,

Matra’s importance lies not so much in his having taken part in the

discovery of the new continent as in his plans for the colonisation of
New South Wales,

He was the first 1o pul a proposal in writing and his was the most

rational and complete one presented ta the British Government. In it
Mra reveals himsell to be a cultured and practical man, n
usinessman with the mind of # statesman, (43)

Among the various documents on New South Wales held in the Pub-

1€ Records in London there are two whose authors. describe to the

Bovernment of the day their views on the colonisation of the land dis-

covered by Caprain James Cook in the southern oceans.

Here briefly are the main points of Matra’s plan:

L= The proposed colony of New South Wales would first of sl com-
pensate for the loss of the American calonies,
2 — The new lerritory swis very well suited for colonisation. “The ¢h-
male and soil are so much in harmony that any product from Europe
and the Indies can be grown there and, with some settlements and
good administration, in 20 or 30 years a revolution might be brought
220Ut in European trade which would guarantee England a large part
of the whole and the monopaly of a part of i,” (44)
3~ The colony could become a refuge for those settlers who, having
emained faithful to the Crown, have sulfered after the American
ar of Independence. These settlers in fact could form the nucleus of
the future population of New South Wales, Matra claimed that this

Proposal had met with the approval of many Americans whom he had
Consulied,

4~ The cost of establishing the colony would not exceed 3,000
Pounds, At first it would be sufficient to sent two ships with two ¢om-
fanies of marines and some 20 tradesmen; no more would be re-
quired in the imitial phase. In the new colony these men would need
10 prepare the way lor the arrival of Ecnnuncm settlers. Livestock,
seed, ruit-bcaring’plunts. ele, would be brought over by ship,
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5 — In order to maintain the necessary balance in the population one
of the ships could be sent to New Guinea, Tahiti and other nearby
istands to bring back families and women willing to resettle in the
new colony.

f — The colony would favour increased commerce with China and
open up trade with Japan, Korea and the Moluccas, Timber and flax
from New Zealand were of great importance for English shipping.
There was also the possibility of considerable growth in the wool
trade.

7 - Finally, in response 10 those who were alarmed at the iden of a
new call to emigrate, and feared that the mother country would be
weakened by it, Matra noted that the project deserved the fullest sup-
port as the settlers would be going to a place where they would be
more useful than in the United States.

A second blueprint for colonisation was drawn up by Sir George
Young. Using Matra’s plan as a guide, he appears to emphasise the
banchgts of colonisation such as trade. the growing of spices and flax,
mining of precious metals, timber, eic., as well as the use of Chinese
and South Pacific labour and the establishment of a haven for Ameri-
can loyalists. (43) In this respect it should be noted that while Matra
wis concerned for his fellow countrymen who had been stripped of all
their assets, George Young was preoccupied with the financiil be-
nelits which would accrue to England.

Lord Sydney, on the other hand, in a letter dated 8 August 1796 to
the Lords of the Treasury and in another dated 31 August 1o the
Lords of the Admiralty, pointed out quite clearly that this enterprise
should be undertaken only in order to empty the overcrowded En-
glish gaols. In fact the plan enclosed with the letter wis entitled;
“Fundamental points of a plan to save us from the convicts by the
estublishment of a colony in New South Wales™,

This plan outlines in remarkable detail an expedition to Botany Bay,
but makes no mention of migrants or free settlers.

Lord Sydney, having advised the Lords of the Treasury and the Ad-
miralty of Flis Majesty's wishes, instructed them to arrange with all
due haste for the necessary number of ships 1o carry 750 convicts sen-
tenced to transportation to Botany Bay, long wil.ﬁ supplies and ag-
ricultural implements, (46)

Referring 1o his plan he writes: “In order to provide propetly for the
deportees and to render their deportation mutually beneficial for
them and the State. the establishment of a colony in New South
Wales, a place with rich soil and a healthy climate, from which it is
difficult to return without permission because of the distunce, appears
particularly well suited and responsive to the views of the
Government.” (47)

The decision to found a colony in New South Wales was made by the
British Government in the interval between two wars - the American
War of Independence which had just ended and the Napoleonie one
which was to last until 1815, These events profoundly influenced
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British colonial policy.

The new colony would in fact solve the problem of overcrowding in
British prisons without the need to spend money on a new and unce;-
tain colonial venture, The country could not afford 1o lose money and
men. hoth of which were so important to the nation.

From 1717 undl 1776 England had sold conviets to shipping com-
panies, who then transported them to the southern colonies of
America where they were sold o the owners of large estates, (48)
But the American colonies had now won their mndependence from
Britain and had closed their doors to deportees.

The problem of the American loyalists had largely solved itselfl as
practically all of them had resettled in England or Canada.
English prisons hud thus come to hold 00000 convicts who had al-
reacdy been semenced o transportation and were even kept in old
hulks on the Thames. (44)

In wondering who might be called the Father of Australia . the histo-
rian James Colwell puts forward four candidites in his Story of Au-
stralia * Captain James Cook, Sir Joseph Banks, Governar Arthur
Phillip and Matra. He quickly dismisses Cook since “he never took
any interest in Australia”®. Adrian udds that Cook “had so little confi-
dence in its future that he. as if from a Kind of carelessness, ignored
I (S0) But Cook did what he had been ordered 1 do, and did it
well, and he remains the greatest of all sailors.

Even Phillip does not qualify, despite being like a father to the untor-
tunate deportees, for the decision to found a colony had already been
made before he was chosen to lead the first fleet,

This leaves Banks and Matra, Which of the two, Colwell asks, should
be given the title “Father of Australin™? “It is evident that in all fair-
ness the title “Father of Australia® must go to Matra. To bestow it on
gmci_}‘licﬁ person would be to honour someone who does not deserve
gt

On the other hand, G.B. Barton. in the History of New South Wales
15 equally emphatic about Banks. In fact he states that the credit for
the idea of a colony in Botany Bay should £0 to Baoks who first
sugeested it in 1779, Once the idea had been accepted those who

drew up the official proposal for government approval named Banks
4s the guthority on the subjeet.

Government ministers consulted him with the sume confidence shown
¥ the promoters of the project. According to Barton. there is no

doubt that it was because of Iianks‘ strong belief in the success of the

venture that the Government in the end ordered that the New South
ales expedition be financed and 201 ready,

Colwell, who had wondered about this, retorts: “It seems that Banks

showed little interest in New South Wales as a suitable place for a

colony until 18 months after its foundation a1 Sydney Cove.

“When Banks told o committee of the House of Commons that he
was in favour of the idea of a colony at Botany Bay he was thinking

a7



of a penal colony: the committee was, in fuct, imiuiring'imq‘lhc state
of prisons and the issue of the transportation ol convicts.™ (52)

Matra on the other hand had in mind a free settlement to which
loyalists from the American colonies, lost in the War of Indepen-
dence, could be sent.

Perhaps at the instigation of others, including Banks himself, and in
order to make it more acceptable to English politicians, Matra added
the issue of the convicts, the use of Asian labour and the importation
of women from the istands of the South Pacific in the amendments to
his original blueprint. In the end even Barton says: "Il the Govern-
ment had adopted the proposals put forward it would have been the
greatest historical achievement of the Pitt administration.” (53)

Captain J.H. Watson adds; “If Matra’s proposals had been im-
plemented how different conditions would have been for the first
settlers! How much suffering would have been spared 1o thousands of
unfortunates and how much money the British Government would
have saved!™ (54)
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2 —  FROMPRISON TO COLONY

AUSTRALIA AS A PENAL COLONY

The first fleet of 11 ships left Portsmouth on 13 May 1787 under the
command of Capiain Arthur Phillip. who had been appointed first
gm'm'nur of the penal colony. The wretched human cargo consisted of
208 male and 19] female convicts. In addition there were officers, or-
dinary soldiers. prison guards snd their families; all in all a total of
some 1,500 people. Also on board were 92 cattle, 7 harses, 29 sheep
and 74 pigs. The flect reached Port Jackson neat Botany Bay on 26
January 1788 afrer cight months at sea. (1) The ships of this feet
were the first of many which, for a quarter of a century and at the
rate ol one a month, discharged the rejects of British society onto
that distam shore which would soon become known for the degradu-
tion, slavery and abasement that inhabited it. 160,000 convicts were
transported during that time. without counting those who perished in
the frequent shipwrecks or fs 4 result of illness or poor conditions.
Under King George 111 and King George IV transportation, which
ad become an infegral part of the British justice system, was the
Most feared sentence yiter capital punishment. Until 1830 there were
=00 different crimes punishable by transportation.

In later years the death sentence itself would often be commuted to
one of transportation, Those sentenced came from every class: there
were lawyers, doctors, clerks, clergymen, political reformers.
mernbers of religious sects such as the Onakers, who refused 1o swear
dllegiance to legally constituted authotity, and even a member of Par-
liament. Nor were children spared.
The Scottish and the Trish would often be sentenced to transportation
1OF trifling offences such as breaking curfew. For our purposes it is
mportant to pote that 1t was not only the English. Scottish am_'l _l_nsh
convicts who were transported, There were also Indians, Ukrainians,
renchmen, Canadians, Talians, Corsicans and Brazilians.
OF several years conditions in the new colony were extremely dlif-
ficult, Conyiéts arrived in a0 land which, although ?nicntiajly rich, did
not offer iny of the comforts they were used to other than those they
fought with them, Al night they had no roof over their heads and
eI was no shelter from the cold and rain. A fourteen year old bay,
ot example, lived for a while in o weeping willow. There was no one
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to make clothes, there were no markets or shops. no entertainment,
no newspapers. no pleasant place in which 1o gather, and no friends
or relatives to lend a hand, The voyage home remained o dream;
even if it had been possible it would have been long, costly and
dangerous, The settlers found they were surrounded by natives whose
customs and attitude towards intruders they knew nothing about.
Every plant and bush wias a potential hiding-place for a hostile
Aborigine. And there was bush everywhere, as far as the eye could
see. .

It was not only a new land, but an alien one with an unfamitiar cli-
mate. Life was oppressive because of the surrounding emptiness and
the silence that was sometimes broken by the laughter of a strange
bird, the kookaburra, which many believed was the devil himself. The
very landscape, the hills, seemed inhospitable,

To make matters worse there was the harsh, albeit sometimes neves:
sary, discipline, The slightest misdemeanour incurred the lash. The
theft of food, which was scarce, was punished by hanging, and any
act of violence meant transportation to Norfolk Island. (2) William
Bryan, a head fisherman, was whipped for secretly selling hulf his
catch. When six marines were caught stealing Hour, meat, tobacco
and aleohol from the stores for some amusement with their female
companions, Governor Phillip had them all hanged. One man found
guilty of stealing a pair of odrs was sentenced to one month's impris-
onment. On the last day of his sentence he was publicly fogged: the
length of the route from the police station to the pier at the end of
King Street. (3) It is estimated that on a per capita basis the number
of executions in Sydney was 325 times that of Great Brtian, Thus, to
dll intents and purposes, the oceupied part of Ausiralia became one
vast prison,

Many conviets died before they could carn their freedom. Others es-

caped, hoping to reach China, and dicd of thirst or starvation or were
murdered by the Abotigines.

It was thanks to the ambitiop of some convicts. their determination 1o
survive at all costs and also the firm hand of the govemnors, that the
majority began cultivating the lind or turning it into pasture, The col-
ony survived only because of the economic and social contribution of
former convicts, many of whom became money-lenders, merchants
and farmers.

By the beginning of the nineteenth century the governors had realised
that New South Wales would not achieve social stability without the
arrival of industrious and carefully chosen settlers. In other words, an
Australian nation could not be founded on the mistits and derelicts of
society.

Therefore, even the governors before Mucquarie began a struggle
with the government back in England for a steady flow of immig-
rants.

However, Englund had just come out of the costly War of Indepen-
dence against the American colonies with @ national debt of alarming
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roportions. Moreover, the war agamst Napoleon which had Just
egun (1793) was to exclusively occupy the minds of English politi-
crans until 1815, So the Crown rejected out of hand the persistent en-
treaties of the colonial LOVErnors.

The British Secretary of State wrote: “Since it has not been founded
O any territorial or commercial advantage. the settlement of New
South Wales must chiefly be considered as a receptacle for offen-
ACTS. LS growth as a colony must be a secondary consideration. It is
flecessary 1o maintain in New South Wales such 4 system of just dis-
cipline as may render transportation an object of serious apprehen-
ston." (4)

Other reasons for the opposition to an open door policy on immigra-
Hon can be summarised as follows:

— the British need of manpower for arms production during the:
apoleonic wars of 1793-1815:

- the further need for manpower to consolidate and expand trade in
the Indies and the Antilles:

= the belicf that Britian's population was too small anyway;

- the fear that anything which tended to lower the population of a
country led to its impoverishment:

= the mercantile belief that prosperity depended on the size of the
Population; (3)

The most energetic and progressive governor of the colony of New
South Wales was Lachlan Macquarie. Convinced that he would be
unable 1o change the British government’s settlement policy he op-
pPosed the immigration of free settlers since. given its large number of
convicts, the co ony did not lack for manpower and would not, n any
case, have been able to provide work for all settlers. Macquarie did
hot like wealthy immigrants as they expected all kinds of privileges
and were always the first to complain and to criticize the governor.
Ihe c;xﬂic-y he initiated was aimed at creating a free society on the
foundations of 4 penal settlement. In the space of ten years he
transformed fife in Sydney.

He succeeded in setting up a meritocracy among the former convicts
#0d in the process created two factions, as was 1o be expected: the
“exclusives” (free settlers, officers and soldiers) and the ‘emancipists
(the entire class of ex-convicts). He encouraged agriculture and graz-
g by distributing livestock to settlers, there y also reducing the risk
Of famine, He built schools. roads. bridges, hospitals, wharves and
l‘“”d'“g«" 107 public ottices, and founded the Bank of New South

ales. He built churches and encouraged education, religious abser-
rance and moral rectitude. Me offered encouragement and special
favours 1 the emancipists, gave them land, admitted them to public
office and asked them to soctal functions ar Government House.
thereby inviting them to jomn the society of free men. (6) Macquarie
lercely defended the principle that once 4 conviet had regained his
freedom he was 1o be considered in every way the equal of any other
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rson in the colany, “as befits his character and position i life™. (7).

¢ appointed as magistrates certain emancipists who were then 0s-
tracised by the exclusives. The famous Protestant clergyman. Samuel
Marsden., refused to take his place alongside them on the bench.

The exclusives, who wanted 1o keep the ex-convicts in i state of ser-
vitude as cheap labour, bitterly opposed the governor.

Meanwhile, London became concerned at what was happening and
condemned Macquarie’s emancipist policy, forcing him to resign.
In 1822 Governor Macquarie, tired and disillusioned, left Australia
uttering the famous phrase: “1 found New South Wiles a4 prison and 1
leave it a colony.” (8)

THE FIRST ITALIAN CONVICTS AND MIGRANTS

Between 25 January 1788 and 31 December 1822, 32266 convicts
were transported to New South Wales, severnl thousand of whom
died en route from illness or as a result of shipwreck. In that same
time there were only some 1,300 free settlers. (Y)

There are Italians both among the conviets and the immigrants, but
until 1820 any details about their backgrounds are difficult to obtain.

Giuseppe Tusa's name appears on the conviet lists, often spelt Tuzo.
Tuso or Tuza. though no-one knows precisely who he was or where
he came from. He may have come from a small town of the same
name between Messina and Palermo. Some say he was a sailor on an
English ship, while others maintain he was a jeweller,

Many sources suggest he was transported on the first fleet directly to
mainland New South Wales. However, according to the Norfolk Is-

land Victualling Book one Giuseppe Tusa arrived on Norfolk Island

as a conviet on 13 March 1792 o serve out a seven-year sentence and

was only trunsferred to Svdney on 21 September of the same year.
(10)

In 1804, 1807 and again in 1808, Tusa placed notices in the Sydney
Gazette stating his intention to leave the colony, as required by law.
In 1813 the same newspaper reported that Tusa had joined the police
force.

It appears that Tusa decided 1o remain in the colony aftet he fell in
love and married a woman called Rebecca, who had grrived in 1811
as a “free servant” Four children were bormn from their marriage: Wil-
liam, Mary Ann, Priscilla and Joanna. Bigee's Return of Births Ap-
pendix shows that Joanna, daughter of Giuseppe and Rebecea Tuzo,
wis born on 6 October 1818, (11)

A different source reveals that in December 1820 Giuseppe Tuza, &

marned man, acquired a S0 acre property in Sydney,

Giuseppe Tusa died in Sydney on 6 October 1825, The death notice
in a Sydney paper read; “Mr Giuseppe Tuzo, a resident of this town
since Its foundation, died last Tuesday.™ (12)
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o IB2K the first census held in New South Wales recui. ... pre-
sence of other lalian conviets, One was a certain Joseph Antonio, a
dyenr old fisherman who, having been sentenced o life ImpPrison-
ment, was transported 1o the colony on the ship Surrey in 1813
He soon received his “ticket-ol-leave™ for good behaviour and re-
turned to fishing. Joseph lived in Gloucester Street, Sydney, with his
brother Augusto. The' latter, who had also received life sentence
and who arrived on the Baring in 1825, worked for Cooper’s
distillery.
There was also Mary, the wife of one Giovanni Marzagora, who had
been sentenced to transportation and had arrived on the Mary Apn
in 1816. Her husband and son William arrived that same vear on the
Fanny . Their daughter Amalia was born in the settlement.
Pier Luigi Beni (or Berni), his wife Jane. litile daughter Emma and
others are also rccm'dcrf. The census shows too that a certain
Giacomo Lavello (or Lovello), age 39, his live year-old son Alessan-
ro and three year-old daughter Margaret were all born in the col-

ony. This necessarily means there was an carlier Lavello who arrived
on the first or second ficet.

Another couple. John and Mary Stanton are recorded as living with
their four children at Castle Hill, New South Wales. However, they
do not appear under that surname in the 1828 census where they are
cemstered as Haskitt. John Stanton had been sent out under the name
Stephano Haskitt and. having got his “ticket-of-leave”, was required to
8IVE the same name in the census,

It is interesting 1o note the discre ancy between the PLR.O. and the
AONSW.  the former gives the name as Stephuano Haskin, while
the latter has Stephen Haskitt. This suggests that the clerk who made
the secand entry thought the person concerned was English. He was
dctually a Sicilian who had been born in Palermo in 1782 and who
ad viken the name Haskint on emigrating to England.

He had been transported 1o New South Wales in 1813 with another
talian, one Piedro (Pietro) Poloni, who does not appear at ;ll! in the
828 census. Stefuno chuanged s name to John and, after his Mmir-
flage 10 Mury at St John's in Parramatta in 1820, 100k his wile's
ame. However, the marriage register at St. John's parish church
Shows His real name as Stefano. Posich. (14)
Pietra Patullo and Giovanni Battista 1) Arietta were Lypical of the
pe of free setfler arriving during this period. ID'Arietta arrived in
Sydney on the Duchess of York in 821, hailing from England
Where he Appears 10 have had important friends and a::quainlnnqes
and may even have muarried # woman of rank as he brought with him
IWO letters of introduction. The first dated 16 Au 2ust 1820 was from
M. Pitt to the Rev. Samuel Marsden, and explamed how D Aretta
Proposed to introduce to New South Wales a new way of making oil
and wine. The second was from J. McArthur Jun. for Captain Piper.
In 1821 D'Arietta wrote o letter to Governor Macquurnie asking for
¢ "toncession’ of some lund, adding that with capital of £5,000
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to back him he intended 10 become a wine and olive grower and
sheep farmer.

In 1822 Macquaric granted him 2,000 acres of land  near
Campbelltown “with usual indulgence of victualling and labour”. In
1825 he was joined by his wife and children who atrived on the Har-
vey . Giovanni Battista D'Ariena died in 1837 aged about sixty. (15)
But D' Arietta was not the only Tralian landowner or even the first. In
April 182] Pietro Patullo had owned B0 acres of land in Pittwater., On
16 January 1816 he was promised some lind which was part of & Mr
Roche’s vast holdings at Roche’s Hill, although a court luter granted
it to & certain Mr Crew.

It was not until 30 October 1832 that Governor Bourke gave Patullo
another 80 acres at Baysview on condition that he either clear and
cultivate at least 30 acres or carry out fencing or building improve-
ments on the property to the value of 150 pounds. (16)

In 1824 the governor gave 1,000 acres at Hunters Hill, near Jericho in
Van Diemen's Land, to a T.F. Marzetti, Marzetti, an Halian who had
married a French woman, was later given anather 700 acres, His
daughter Maria matried a Robert Paterson in 1835, (17)

Emmanuel Neich arrived in Sydney in 1826 hy a rather fortuitous set
of circumstances, He had been on the islund of Maunitius and, tired
of wandering, had deeided to return to Europe, Having gone down 1o
the port to look for a ship that was sailing for Europe he saw one
called the New Holland , thinking that it was heading for Holland he
went aboard, After the ship had left and he found out that they were
sailing for Australia he was flabbergasted. but by then it was too late.
When he landed in Sydney and saw the semi-naked aboriginal beg-
gars and the chain-gangs going about their work in the town, his
amazement and self-recrimination knew no bounds.

Deciding 10 make the best of a bad lot, he first of all made several
trips 10 Tasmama and the Friendley Islands and later sought permis-
sion 1o buy a hotel at “the Rocks™ Captain ). Rossi, the licences’
magistrate, refused him on the grounds that he was not married.

Soon ofter, Neich married the daughter of one James Cooper who
gave the young couple “The Bath Arms™ hotel that he had built at
Concord. Neich was the licensee of the hotel withoul nterruption
from 1834 until 1893, The streteh of road between Burwood and
Liverpool roads was named Neich Road (today’s Patramatta Road),
Near Neich's hotel lived the humble Catholic priest Fr. Dean MeCir-
thy, first parish priest of Concord. Neich himself is remembered us 3
great philanthropist by the parishioners of S1. Mary’s in Concord.
He was a parish trustee for many years and made generous donations
of money. time #nd land 1o the church. (18)

A PERIOD OF TRANSITION

Historians refer 1o the ten or fifteen years following Macquarie’s
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Bovernorship as o period of transition, for, although it was in many
Ways the most wrbulent time in the carly history of Australia, it was
nevertheless only a sober pretude to the rapid change and progress of
the next two or three decades, It was an important time in Australian
ISTOry as it saw the first steps being taken towards independence
from the mather country, the setting up of a legislative council and
e reorgamisation of public administration, without which the colony
could easily have gone from being an autarchy to being in a state of
anarchy. It soon became apparent that there was strong resentment in
¢ colony over every decision made in faraway London as well as
stility fowards new arrivals.

Furthermore, exploration was o ening up the interior: new pastures

were being discovered, new sctt ements estabhished and the continent

WIS proving to be immensely more vast than the early settlers had
Imitgined.

Exploration was 1o consume the energies of some of the finest of men
for the next one hundred vears.

In 1813 explorers crossed the Blue Mountains for the first time,
Beyond this mountain range, which for twenty years had formed an
mpenetrable barrier to the hinterland, they discovered the vast pas-
(irelunds of the wesy where the city of Bathurst would later Spring
b Alfter this, explorers such as Blaxiand, Lawson. Wentworth,
Mley, Cunningham, Mitchell, Sturt and Palmerston (Carandini)
Pushed further into the interior. heading north and south, opening up
NEW routes, discovering pastures and. studying the water system and
'lhc courses of the great rivers,
These aspects of Australian history are reported here not only for the
ormation of the reader who may not be familiar with them. but
W80 because some Ialians ook “part in the exploration of the
“ontinent.
The fiest way 4 conviet called Bombelli, » blacksmith, who was in
4101 Thomas Mitchell's first expedition i 1831, The cxpedmc_)n had
L O 1o discover the source of the Darling River, the great river of
the South-west Having reached Namoi, Mitchell “sent a conviet, one
Bu'm_beﬂi. 10 Sydney with a despatch”, and with orders to return im-
Mediately and wait ur the base camp. But a month later Mitchell re-
Wrned to ghe camp from his explorations only to find that Bombelli
“0d his bullock-driver had been massacred by Aborigines. (19)
Nother Tratian, Mareo Dominico, took part in the Queenstand ex-
Pedition of (he famous explorer Dalrymple, who charted the estuaries
o northern Queensland rivers, (20)
Christuphur Palmerston Carandini, son of the fumous Carandini fam.
¥ Of artists, explored many parts of northern Queensland, some of
Which gl carry s name. (21)
APt from the explorers, the convicts and especially the squatters,
W80 played 4 very important part in opening up new frontiers, They
Undertonk  dungerous journeys, built  bridges, cleared  bushland,
opened up rouds and estublished new settlements.
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The saga of the exploration of the Australian hinterland has oc-
cupied @ special place in history from the very beginning: dedication,
determination, a refusal to give in to thirst, distunce, the brutal sun,
the hostility of aboriginal tribes, the inevitable heartbreak in follow-
ing rivers which flowed into swamps or disappeared beneath the earth
or into deserts which extended bevond the horizon.” (22)

With the passing of time the people barn in the colony and those who
had seen oul their sentences began to make themselves heard in the
affairs of the colony. They felt strongly that the colony and its wealth
belonged to them as the offspring of those who had worked to create
such wealth and because this was their home,

The wealthy British who had invested money and exploited the
fathers of the native-born for financial profit and for Britain’s benefit
came (o be seen as “foreign bastards”™.

The bush-rangers were usually convicts who had escaped from their
masters, often out of desperation at the harsh discipline and the indis-
criminate use of the lash, used to punish the shighest misdemeanour.
It was not difficult to “go bush™: the convicts worked out in the open,
they were not locked up at night and were often sent on distant er-
rands without a guard. Some bush-rangers were honest men who had
been victims of circumstance, others were violent types, but all were
brave and foolharcdy. (23)

Having absconded into the bush they had to make a living somehow
and the casiest way to do this was to loot houses or hold up travel
lers. Of course anyone who resisted often paid for it with their lives.
These outlaws later enjoyed the support of the rural population and
would one day acquire the status ol popular folk heroes.

With the 1865 Bush-Rangers Act the government required all travel-
lers to carry a pass showing they were not escaped convicts or bush-
rangers, However, many ordinary farm-hands suffered because of the
arbitrariness of this system. Unscrupulous employers would often re-
fuse to hand back the passes in order to force workers to stay on with
them.

One man to whom an employer had refused to return a pass was kept
in chains for seven weeks while being taken the 250 miles to Sydney
under suspicion of being a bush-ranger, He was freed on arrival in
Sydney and left for the Murrumbidgee in search of work, only to be
arrested again for the same reason. (24)

The crossing of the Blue Mountains had made 1t casier for bush-ran-
ers to roam free and unhindered. The escaped conviet Fred Ward,
or example, after crossing to the other side lived in the north near
Bourke. Onee, when one of his gang had been wounded and cap-
tured, he moved east to the New England district, near Armdale. It

was there that in May 1870 an Italiin commercial traveller, one

Capasotti, was robbed while staying at the Hotel Blanche about five

miles south of the small town. Capasotti, who was extremely agitated,
rode at breakneck speed to Uralla o give the alarm. Two policemen

on horseback hurried to the scene and came across the bush-ranger
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Ward who had iust stolen @ horse. Seeing the officers almost upon
tm. Ward got down from his horse but did not surrender. He threw
himself at one. of them who shot him in the chest with his last buller,

NICOLA ROSSE: POLICE SUPERINTENDENT

Brishane wus the first governor who found himsell having to deal
ith a crimewave, In one year alone he had twenty-two bus S el
anged. He also created the first mounted police force o fight the
outlaws whe were springing up everywhere.
The regulir Police foree was totally ineffective. It was made up of
conviets who had been set free for good behaviour and who were
0l’“_!l't.not’hing more than corrupt scoundrels who sympathised with the
outlaws. Darling, who was to suceeed Brisbane as Governor of New
South Wales, sent Nicola Rossi on ahead as Chief of Police to re-
establish order 1y the colony. The bush-rangers had become so arrog-
ant that they were even committing robberies along the Parramatta
Road, ar the very edge of the town.
Rossi was bomn in Corsica in 1776 into a family of nobles. (26) At the
age of 15 he was caught up in the whirlwind of the French revolution
and fought for Corsica's independence from the French alongside
apoleon, son of the family lawyer Bonaparte. When Corsica passed
under British rufe. Napoleon moved to France to fulfil his destiny,
and Rossi stayed hehind 1o enhist in the Corsican regiment formed by
th:yiurﬂish‘ He later fought in Holland, Gibraltar, Malaya, India and
~E¥ion, :
In 1811 he was in Mauritius as assistant 1o Siv Robert Farquhar, the
Eovernor. bt his whereabouts for several years after this remain
shrouded in mystery. His enemies always maintained that he had
o Sent as aseeret agent, under the alias Theodore Ma occhi, 1
Y on the dissolute Caroline of Brunswick, wite of George IV, in the
FOUS of Taly and throughout Europe. Whether this was true or not
N enemics never forgave him,
In 1823 e returned 10 Mauritiug as assistant 1o Major-General Ralph
Dasling whe at the time was Acting Governor and Commanding Of-
ficer of the isfand's traops. The two got on so well together that a
Year before Durling's appointment a5 Governor of New South Wales
Ew Colonial Sccretary sent Rossi on shead as. Superintendent of
Uee on an annual salury of £1,200.

i ' he arrived in Sydney. Rossi found a cnrrurl lice f_om: -
s;c;i"‘t’- the outlaws and brigands who attacked bullock-teains and held
SWHY Ov

er the town and the surrounding district.

B g FEPOTt 1o the governor, Rossi gave a detailed account of the Pnr;_

cat avate of the colony, the increased crime rate, and the geographi-

cal distribution of the conviet population, both free and still in cus-

::::;ly First of all he emphasised the need to increase the size of the
Hlice

foree, 1o raise police pay in order to discourage corruption and
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fo C'cu‘rr VUt a more carcful screening of recruits. He also recom-
mended the aholition of the honorary police force, the upgrading of
facilities and the employment of more administrative staff.

He also wanted the police to be properly armed. When he took com-
find the tota) armoury consisted of ten muskets. cight swords and
four pairs of pistols. There were times when the police had to borrow
Weapons from private citizens.
He thought that salaried magistrates should be appointed to the force
and pug in charge of Supervising police activities in each district.
eeause of poor health (and the low pay) Rossi left the post of police
SMPerintendent and for two years was in charge of the customs
“Cpartment. He re-organised i, transforming it from a corrupt und
mancially bankrupt government office into an efficient revenue

Batherer.” He gl appointed o “Port Captain™ and set up a maritime
police COrps.

By 1830 Rossi had finally succeeded in ridding the colony of undesira-
bles and had created a force of 103 well-disciplined men, of which 48
Were patrol officers « 16 night constables and 16 conductors .

%ﬁ- I83] Governor Darling was replaced by Bourke, and Rossi was

ven Charles Windeyer as his assistant and police magistrite., After
arling's departure Rossi's wnemies had thought that the police
sperintendent might also be replaced, but the new overnor found
O881 oo efficient” and hard-working to be able to do without him.

From ihe time he arrived in the settlement Nicols Rossi had bheen
COMIMUOUsly hargssed. In I826 he was summoned before a special
Judieiy) CNQUiry to answer charges fo slave-trafficking during his (pnst-
'8 I Mauritius. Luter he appeared in the Sydney Supreme Court
Charge,| With corruption and misuse of public office. He was cleared
Of the fipsg tharge and the second was dismissed for lack of evidence,
Although costs were awarded against him.

In 1835 a tired

O, and embittered Nicols Rossi retired to his farm at
R”-“WI“(‘ ne

ar Goulburn, but even then had no respite. In Sydney
tempts were stll being made to strip him of all his assets despite his
‘:m Years of service 1o the British Crown. In 1834 doubts were raised
abouy Brinsh citizenship, a requirement for the grunting of
drmlapy,

thg Colonial Office in London forwarded  copy of Count Nicols
Rowgi's Citizenship certificate and even George Gipps, the Governor
o New South Wales, intervened on his behalf. recalling the man's
Military 45 Gvilian achievements, But the Sydney judiciary con-
e 1, raise questions about his citizenship and, therefore, his right
D a lang grimt.

,L-“_“d(m Vas forced to step in to instruct the New South Wales Legis-
e Council 1o amend the legislation on land concessions in order
RrEVe naturalised British citizens equil status with those who were
British by birth. Nevertheless, Rossi had 1o endure the humiliation of
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relinquishing his properties which were then re-allocated (6 his
Bﬁti&*burn children. Although he had retired to his farm far from
hostile  Sydney, and despite the continuous harassment by his
enemies, Rossi did not remain idle or totally divorced from public
life. For many years he was a magistrate in Iilc small town of Goul-
burn and maintained close friendship with the governors of the col-
ony, who often visited him to spend some time in the peaceful haven
‘of his farm.

A story is told about how “the Governor and Lady Gipps visited the
small town of Goulburn in 1842 and, not wanting 1o stay as guests of
the local authorities, preferred to go 10 Rossiville to the house of
Captain Ross1”, “So also Governor Fitzroy in 1849 preferred to stay
with Rossi in Rossiville, The story goes that the governor arranged 1o
arrive by an improvised route opened up especially for the occasion
through the Nicholson property. Part of the fence was removed under
the supervision of an engineer in order to let the party through so
that they would not be seen or recognised by the people of Goulburn,
This oceurred on 27 January 1849 and the following day, a Sunday.
the governor attended a religious service in the nh‘l Church of St.
Saviour. Then on the Monday, without giving the cople of Goulburn
any warning, he arrived at the Court House for the public reception
in_his honour. There was great indignation when Captain Rossi, 4
naturalised foreigner, rose to invite those present to affirm their loy-
alty to the Crown, forgetting to introduce the town gentry and mer-
chants to the governor, who seemed completely mystified by this dis-
play ot Corsican etiquette.” (27)

Nicola Rossi. who had been suffering from ill-health, died on 1 De-
cember 1851, A farming district near Goulburn carries the name Ros-
siville in his memory,

CLOSED-SHOP PROFESSIONS

The first Italian medical doctor o practise m Australia was Carlo Fat-
torini who was also one of the first naturalised Australian citizens.
While others have Italy, Austria and Germany as their birth-places in
the earliest naturalisation records, Fattorini was born in Paris and be-
came an Australian citizen op 21 June 1851,

Fattorini took out his degree in Gottingen, Germany, in 1828, On 15
and 19 May respectively of that same year he (ualified as an obstetri-
cian and a surgeon at Edinburgh in Scotland.

He arrived in Sydney in 1829, and in 1836 went as & prison and milit-
ary doctor to Port Macquarie where the rowdiest and most dangerous
convicts were kept, The Inspector General of the hospital later ap-
pointed him as a temporary medical officer,

He was dismissed from this post in 1842 and became the subject of
many official inquiries during which he had to report to the Coroner
on his activities as a salaried government doctot. (28) Following
appeals and petitions against the faws that prevented anyone who had
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not graduated from an English university from practising medicine he
Was finally registered and allowed to practise in 1846, ‘
Dr Fattoring wys the first to fight for the: recognition of his profession.

\S time passed it became more and more difficult 1o have foreign
Professional gualifications, di lomas, degrees and even simple trades-
men's certiticates accepted. This attitude, which rather restricted the
e of the professions) opulation in Australia, was supposedly jus-
lified by the claim thay talian academic standards were inferior not
only o Australian ones, but to those of Ireland, Scotland, South Af-
"ea and New Zealand. In reality non-recognition only served to pro-
teet the “Privileged professional class from possible invasion by too
Many Competitors. 11 was the same with skilled workers whq_mpunu-
(Sl eame up against union prejudice, prompted by protectionist at-
tlides and professionsl envy. This was to be a cause of endless frust-
faton for fratiyn tradesmen.
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ITALIAN
MIGRATION IN THE
3 —  PRE-UNIFICATION ERA

Mass Italiun migtation, us 3 social and cconomic phenomenon, began
e the: political unification of Ttaly. It was one of the most eXtraor-
shn“r).' Migrations in history: first, because of the number of people
MVOlVed and the routes they fallowed; second, because of the period
of time covered und the effects it had on the countries of
di:slinurinn

Well before the wnification of ltaly. the population of the Venetian
Sstiary had alres

ady established o pattern of migration towards the
SISL withy s plantations and major trading posts. while the Ligurians
fﬂmur_cd the rich and virgin regions of the Americas, with 4 prefer-
U_nuc. lor those Of the South American continent.

“Migtation then followed from the provinces of northern Piedmont,
ESpeciully from the paorer arcas of the immense alpine basin, which
stretched from the Alps touching the sea through the Cozie, the
ST and (he Retiche mountains to what was then the Austrian bor-
der,” Iy pedsants from Savov, which at that fime was part of
W of Piedmont. migrated. for example, to South America,

- Whi You Tound then, in almost ll European cities and through-
U others in America, Africa and Asia, were hordes of Ttalian sin-
BEIS. musicians and jugglers thut made you feel mostly sad or
SShamed . >

the King([u‘

Filers throughout the rest of pre-unification Italy, it could
4l there was no emigration in the true sense of the word, 1t
M frustrated and tmpeded by the various governments and, indeed.
N the souq it was siavigely outlawed. (3)
NG the secomnd phase of migration, it was the itinerant workers.
labotirers OWning no propetty which might tie them 1o the land, who
Ligurfa, (he Veneto and the coustal areus of southern ltaly. (4)
)urine the 1815, 1821 and 1831 uprisings, which were part of the
Slruggle for national liberation. and for the next 30 YUUIS & procession
‘.“ thousangs Ol patriots, political refugees und exiles spread through-
ca e big European cities and Lo other continents. According 1o the
imates of the Anawtrio Statistico, al the tme of the unification of
I e 220,000 hahians  were  already living  abroad:
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76,500 1n France, 47,000 in the United States, 14,000 in Germany and
Switzerland, 18,000 in Brazil and Argentina, 11,000 in Great Britain.
4.500 in Tunisia, 12.000 in Egypt and an unspecified number in the
Far East and Oceania. (3)

These figures show that Italian emigration, a spontancous and totally
unplanned working-class exodus, consisting of people leaving either
temporarily or permanently, had already begun long before statistics
were kept,

Great Britain, which for many centuries had weleomed as migrants
the cream of Italian society, opened its doors at the beginning of the
nineteenth century (0 & more popular migration. To a large extent,
Great Britain become the spring-board for Halian emigration to the
Australian colonies.

By 1820, substantial Italian communiti¢s had already been formed in
London, Liverpool and Glasgow. These were swelled by great num:
bers of patriots and political refugees as a consequence of the political
upheavals in pre-unification [taly. (6)

These communities were the first to be influenced by news of the new
colonies and by the writings of explorers and travellers, who told of a
strange land of uncommon beauty, full of contrasts: droughts and
sudden floods, immense forests and ternfying bushfires,

Once the transportation of conviets had ceased and the colonies were
opened up to general immigration, Italians and others living in the
nited Kingdom as residents or refugees, were tempted to try their
luck because of the increased publicity, the promise of assisted pas-
sage and the prospect of easy money. Among them we can recall sev-
crial who have amenl been mentioned: Pietro Patullo, D Arietta,
Emmanuele Neich and Fattorini. Later we shall meet others. such as
Dr Giustipiani, the Marquis Girolamo Carandini, the cheémist
Giuseppe Bosisto, the jeweller Carlo Brentani, Count Leopold De
Salis, and Garibaldi's (Jullowcrs. G.C, Azzolini. Carlo Marina and
Ratfacllo Carboni, together with other Italian nationals such as
Legge, Grano, Marzetti, Masina, und Verga.
In fact, this influx of migrants from England never ceased, as we shall
sce later.

The first sketchy reports about migration directly from Italy itsell
date from the 1840s, although in at least some states in pre-unifica-
tion Italy, Australia was not entirely unknown before then.

In fact, diplomatic and cultural relanons with Australis date from
many‘rcars earlier, For example, according to the English historian
Harold Acton, cultural relations between Italy und Australia began to
develop at the beginning of the nineteenth century, when the king of
the Two Sicilies acquired a pair of kangaroos in exchange for two
manuscripts that were part of his private collection.

Furthermore, in the early 1850s, the Kingdom of Savoy was already
represented in Sydney by a consul, in the person  of  Stuarl
Donaldson, and in Melbourne by a vice-consul, Fabrizio Fabiani.
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Similarly, the Grund Duchy of Tuscany und the Kingdom of the Two
Sicilies hael their awn diplomatic representatives in' Victoria and New
South Wales. (7)

In the second il of the 18405, the brothers Jouber — as we shall see
e when we [ook at New South Wales « recruiyed stonemasons and
drtisans from Lombardy to huild Village at Hunter's Hill near
Sydney, ;

The first links bepween the fledgling Cathalic Church in Australis and
the Churel i [raly were forged in this period. The first Australian
Aatholie Bishop, Bishap Bede Polding, conseerated in 1835, returned
0 Europe in 1842 Lo recruit priests prepared to carry out their minis-
Uy I Austridia. Five Passionist Fathers and severud ltalian diocesan
Priests retrned with him. (8)

On his retyry from Rome where he had been vonsecrated, Bishop
Ty, the first Catholic Bishop of Western Australia. slso brought
With Trim some [talin and Spanish Benedictine monks 1o eStublish a
Mission among the: Aborigines,

‘}'mt‘mg this group were Cunon Martelli, Caporelli the catechist and
Father Confulonieri. Other priests, together with some Neapolitan
radesmen. (the first 200 Tralians 10 ser foot in Australia). srrived
e yehrg Tyger with Bishop Serra, a Benedictine monk who had
CEN consecrared bishop in Rome, us Bishop Brady's assistam. (9)

For e period which followed and which coincided with the gold
PUsh, the bulk of the documents deseribing the life of Ialians in Au-
Strali consists of references to individuals, in cartbon copics of letters

oM eertain shipping doctments. One of these, for example, re-
Ords the srrival m Australia on 12 October 1853, of i ship carrying a
W8 numbey of Itglian migrants, According to the Victorian deputy
?’(‘i‘?t for immigration, 608 Ttalians arrived in the colony that vear,

B‘-‘-N’t’un 1855 and 1861 several vessels arrived from various Italian
Mittes: the Goffredo Mameli (1855) with a curgo of marble, bricks,
Wine ing migrants; the Lidiy carTving & cargo of barley; the
Ameliy Carrying sugar: the Petronilly  and the Aguily CAITYINg
(,'h"_":'sl‘ CHrgo (I861), It is most likely that all these vessels carried 4
SEININ number of 1rlian ANt

Urthermore. in [853. 4 Tuscan manulacturer of mining tools and

“Uipment seng re resentatives 1o Australia to examine the possibility
of Seiting wp o subsidiary. As w result of their investigations a small
PUblicytiog appeared in Florence in 1853, entitled Rageuaglie delle
COxe dell* Australin (Report on Australian Affairs); but no business
VeUre eyer resulted. (11)

F:‘:erl Yher sonrees we know that many migrants from Piedmont and
AMibpgs

A L Were purt of the historic wive of Ticinese emigration, and
TE 1o some extent absorbed within {t. (12) Carrespandence of the
Fime cludes reference to o centain Gagliardi, mentioned in
SSPateh, dated 4 April 1859, concerning o letter sent by him
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to the foreign affuirs ministry of the Kingdom of Savoy.

In fact, during the 1850s, diplomatic despatehes regarding Halian min-
ers in need of assjstance were being sent back and Torth berween: the
Kingdom of Sardinia and its representatives in Victoria. “Most proba-
bly," writes Gianfranco Crescrani, “although there is no clear evie
dence in this regard, it was the presence ol a relevant [sic] number of
Italians in Victoria and N.S.W. that prompted those colonial govern-
ments- to establish diplomatic relancns in the mid 1850s with the
Kingdom of the Two Sicilies. the Grand Duchy and Tuscany and the
Kingdom of Sardinia.” (13)

In conclusion, from the time general migration to the Australian col-
onies began, until the unification of Italy, there were two main
sources of Italian migrants: Great Britaing from which came sailors,
political refugees, professional people and labourers who were als
ready living in that country; and ltaly, from which at first came
priests. missionaries, stonemusons and tradésmen from Lombardy and
Naples, later followed by peasant farmers and lubourers from Pied-
mont, Lombardy and Liguria, together with some from Naples and
Sicily. all of whom were attracted by the discovery of gold. However,
these were still instances mainly of individuals and small groups mig-
rating from quite specific arcas,

As for therr numbers, they were sometimes estimated in the
thousands, sometimes in the hundreds, and were even put at 20,000
in the Ballarat district alone. (14) It is impossible to arrive at even an
approximite higure,

At this point, before continuing with our account, we should ry to
understand why they emigrated, the manner in which they were en-
ticed 10 do so, and the dangers they faced during therr long and
difficult vovage.

With the discovery of great quantities of gold in Australia, the first 1o
be stricken by the gold fever that had earlier gripped Northemn
Europe. America, Canada and even China, were the peasant farmers.
from the valleys of Piedmont, near Switzerland. from the Monferrato
region and from the provinces of Bergamo and Brescia in Lombardy,
where living and working conditions were similar to those beyond the
border, especially in the canton of Ticino,

By the beginning of the 18505, immediately after the big gold dis-
coveries, Switzerfand had become the centre where propaganda und
news about the colonies abounded for those wanting to try their lock.
In order to make the journey ecasier for migrants and prospectors.
Cireat Britain, I:jy an Act of Parliament, repealed the “Navigation
Laws” which had given English shipping companies the monopoly of
the sea lunes leading to the colonies.

Thus began a bitter struggle, especinlly on the part of the German
companies, 0 corner the market in the business of transporting
human beings. They had the ships but not enough people to transport
to the Californian goldiields. But now they had the perfect bait
Australian gold ~ and the time was nght,
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News of the gold discoveries appeared with great speed and fre-
"1:“‘“?)' in European newspapers, and the eye-catching promotions of
Ihe shipping companies intensified, becoming increasingly seductive.
Even the urin - newspapers  wrote favourably of the Australian
goldfields yng about how easy it was to find well paid work the-rg.
hus, “the first Teafians started to arrive in Australia around 1850",
writes Oda Branchery, “often seeing themselves only as lemporary
migrants, Many of them came fo Australia with the specific aim of
sending back to relatives and friends, information about what condi-

lons were really like there, and what the chances were of finding
Work and making moncy.” (15)

B}" “this mass migration towards the land of gold™ observes Giorgio

Cheda, “wax not & Spontancous phenomenon...as is often maintained.

The exodus. . was nothing more than the disastrous result of the per-

SISEnt, organised ublicity campaign waged by the powerful shipping

Companies 1o free Y and calculatedly seduce very simple people with
© Buarantee of easy riches.” (16)

In 1868, (he honourable Ercole Lualdi. member for the electoral dis-
trict of Buge Arsizio in Milan, noted: “There are organised groups
scattered throughout northern Italy and in the nearby canton of
o, which, driven as they are by the desire for .prqfu,"cm?_loy
CVEry possible means to make these poor people emigrate.” (17)

There were three companies working 1o promote emigration to Au-
Stralia: the Qswalg brothers” company, the Bech-Herzog company,
and he teinman-Drevet company, all three based in Basle, Their
P.“’FOSC s 10 lure migrants not only from the Swiss cantons, cspe-
Cally the POOTEr ones such as Ticino and Vallese, but also from sc-
TS5 the border. from the valleys of Piedmont. Lombardy and Sar-
dln;a_. In fact, the Oswald brothers employed as their principal re-
Tuiting apent Paolo Giuseppe Rebora, “dn adventurer from Pied-
MONt With 3 criminal record, hiding out in Locarno to ayoid being
grrested for criming| bankruptey involving the sum of half a million
L0 (18) Rebora had associates scattered throughout the two
Swiss Cantons and particularly the Italian 1owns along the border,

E‘:{Io !;hlllcr from Lucerne was the general agent for Bech-Herzog. a
Pt _

e 3
T SWIss shipping company. In no time at all he set up a “network
Of loca) helpers 1In the Sopraceneri arca and in the Italian districts of

80 Maggiore.” (19)
gh(‘w in charge of Bech-Herzog's Italian operations were _Pra'lnc;__,
F“‘_dall'Aquﬁa in Alexandria, Cesare Piceni in Arona, Giovanni
Entinetta i Domodossola, Francesco Antonio and Lorenzo Cobjan-
m Intry,

Last on the scene was Steinman-Drevet, which also represented the

Ma."'““ Lompany of Paris. At first their general agent was Dominic

-Slc;gch but “hecause of differences of opinion between himself and
© fompany, he was replaced by Giuseppe Baldini from Lugano as
© Tepresentytive lor the Ticino area.” 32(')
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These companies which were in the business of recruiting migrants,
competed frantically with each other, promising fast and comfortable
sea-crossings, plenty of fresh food with doctors and company rep-
resentatives on board every vessel, proper sanitary conditions and
protection trom all the adversities 4 migrant might be exposed to; in
short, everything one could possibly want.

Not satisfied with making promises they never Kept. the companies
placed outrageous newspaper advertisements giving an abundance of
details about the voyage, about living and working conditions in Au-
stralia, and about how easily a migrant could make maney, lots of it
According to the publicity. Australta was the “land of gold, vineyards
and wool™,

It was the glitter of gold and the illusion ol easy riches w be had *in a
fabulous and far away Eldorado’, disseminated through the press and
by word-of-mouth through local agents, that stirred . people the de-
sire 1o leave. Many were roused: the young and the old, single people
and married couples,

It was inevitable, however, that the villages most alfected by this de-
sire were the poor ones, where the chances of eking out an existence
from the land could be destroved by the smallest farming crisis, by
floods and other natural catastrophes.

Those who had the most courage led the way in this exodus, in the
secret hope of making a little money and then returning to their
families and villages. Thus began that endless migration that saw
people leave singly or in groups, withoul in fact ever returning, be-
cause the good fortune they had hoped lor never malcrialiscj.

In order 1o travel from their villages to the ports where they were 10
embark, they used the most varied means of transport such as car-
riages, large boats, and for some stretches of the journey, that “infer-
nal machine’, the train. But there were few railroads and this meant
much of the journcy was made on foot,

On top of the usual difficulties encountered along the wiy, “one must
add the treachery of scoundrels who were expert at stealing from
migrants”. (21)

“As soon as we reached Basle,” recounts G, Respini, “we were sure
rounded by swindlers. Consequently, the rest of the trip was often a
struggle between these astute and expert speculitors, and the mig,—
rants, anxious to arrive s soon a8 possible at their destination.” (22)

Belore letting them aboard ship, virious companies made the mig-
rants sign a statement confirming they had been well-treated during
the journey. The companies led them to believe that the statement
concerned only the journey from their village to the port. whereas if
covered the sen voyage as well, right up 1o their arrival at their desti-
nation, The following is an example of such a statement printed by
Bech-Herzog as part of a long advertisement in the Gazzets
Ticinese, endorsed by, of all people, the Swiss Consul in Hamburg:
"We the undersigned emigrants from the Twino dand Piedmont de-
clare, in praise of the Bech-Herzog company of Basle, in Bellinzona,

4
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with which we contracted to travel to Australia, that the eare received
during our Irip to Hamburg was exemplary. No less satisfving was the
quality and quantity of food served on the trip to Melbourne. which
we undertook on the very beautiful ship  Agen and Heinrieh , under
the command of Captain Oldejane. Finally, our thanks to Mr Muller,
the general agent for Bellinzona, and to our dear guide Mr.
Gundlach, who made our trip as enjoyable as possible. Hamburg,
3lst May, I1855," This was followed by one hundred and fifty signa-
tures of migrants from the Ticino and Piedmont. (23)
The unscrupulous shipping companies were able 1o use the relativel
ood treatment they offered migrants on the journey from their vil-
ages 1o the ports where they were to embark as favourable publicity
for themselves.

But during the long months on board ship, the migrants were at the
mercy of the captain of the vessel and often the treatment was not as
good as it had been in the early part of their journey. To begin with,
the trip itself was long, um:om{‘armblc and hazardous, If then, as
often happened, there were unfavourable winds, monsoons or bad
seds along the way. the trip became extremely long indeed. To make
matters worse, the shipping companies did not honour the contracts
they entered into with the migrants. The litile they provided by way
of food was not fit for animals and was barely enough for human be-
ings to live on. This well-organised and systematic exploitation of
migrants lasted until the first leners started arnving from Australia,
revealing the whole sorry story of the tribulations suffered along the
way.

These letters sparked a series of “accusations of ill-treatment, broken
contracts, of abuse of every kind suffered during the long months at
sea.” (24)

The agents of the shipping companies were deseribed in such vivid
and bitter language as 10 f'cavc no doubt in the reader’s mind what
was thought of them, For example, “that much admired. highly re-
spected. great cheat, Mr Muller™, agent for Bech-Herzog, was no-
thing more than a trafficker in human beings: (25) the Oswalds were
tricksters, who employed that notorious character, Rebora, and other
swindlers to defraud migrants. (26) “And with reference 1o the Stein-
man company. there s talk of some of our migrants travelling to Au-
stralia having been betrayed.. . We have all been swindled,™ (27)

The paucity of food was such that by the time migrants reached rtheir
destinations they were so thin and weak they could barely stand. In
some cases even the colonial authorities “wouldn’t let them disem-
bark and placed them in quarantine. for fear they carried some horri-
ble contagious disease, By the time they arrived, thelr starvation and
misery had left them so unrecognisable that their countrvmen who
were already here wrote: ‘'we no longer knew our fellow countrvmen
and were moved (o tears at seeing them so alflicted.™ (2¥)

The food wias not only scarce but often spoilt.
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“Mr Rebora,” writes Gambetta, “promised me three biscuits a day: at
sea they gave me one for 15 or 20 days, and thereafter half a biscuit
cach day, and that rotten as well; we gave some ta the piglets they
had on board, and they died.™ (29)
The remonstrations and protests of the migrants to the captain of the
ship, usually made matters worse. These facts ¢merge from the mig-
rants’ own correspondence. Here is one example among many:
“When on board 1 felt the hunger pains,”™ writes 4 migrant, “we went
efore the captain to make him live up to his side of the birgain; he
then told me that if we eansed o nuisance he would take us to Brazil,
and did I want 1o get everyone hanged, so what | had to do was no-
thing but keep my empty belly ang keep quiet.” (30) _
Finally, to save on food and cut the journey short, some captains
would force passengers to fand a1 Sydney instead of Melbourne, when
Melbourne wus in fact the destination on their ticket.
Because the new arrivals did not know the language and were often
Without money, they had difficulty i finding work, especially in the
aties. Furthermore, the hope of quickly accumulating a fortune and
the fllusion of finding gold were so strong that they set off in long
Processions towards the gold-fields, where their suffering dragged on
and on because of the hard and mostly fruitless labour. (31)

The following letter written by an unknown Swiss-Italian digger on

the Jim Crow goldmines at Daylesford in Victoria, describes the life
they found in the new Land.

}4" fg?‘{: after three months of travelling upon an angry and unpre-
dictable

sed. I touched that land called golden. I thought I was to see
my dreams realised. | thought I had arrived at the desired destina-
lon, I thought that in the end I would find 4 compensation, for the
\ierifices endured and the dangers confronted; but, all vain illusions.
cre I thought to find gold, I found stones, where 1 thought to find
bread, | found hunger and terrible visible misery. with work al-
fogether disproportionate 10 the strength of @ man, and barely a mor-
Sel of bread as its reward. As soon as everyone disembarked, I criss-
aosed the streets of Melbourne looking for work, but in vain, I
Pent days Knocking on door after door, to put my trade to profit,
U Wherever I went, I was told there was no need for such work. In
the end, worn our by continual rebulfs, I made my way, as directed,
10 the mines, there 1o carn, with hard labour, my datly bread. It is
e that on occasion destiny smiles on someone, but the day rarely
Comes when the sight of the shining metal is greeted with an exclama-
fon of joy trom its happy finder.
There are 5,000 of us from Ticino, and not a single one can brag
abour wealth, Torn from our pative country, by the irresisnible desire
of an casy fortune, we are now being punisficd because we disre-
garded the advice of those who knew life better than we did, who
Nourished us as children, and whom we respected as a mother,
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Oh! you who read this letter, it would be better if you would think
carefully on your plans and do not allow yourselves 1o be led to a
hasty dgc":‘sion. which will defermine your entire future. Do not be
tricked by those blood merchants: they promise you ideal wealth,
order to strip you of what you have. You, who amnong this unhappy
lot, have & father, & spouse, 4 brothet, a relative or a friend, let your
voice cry out to stop our fellow countrymen from being shut up in
such vile conditions on a terrible ship, then to be cast up, if the sca
does not first swallow them, on this, unfriendly shore, 5,000 leagues
from home..." (32)

As we shall see later, once they forgot about steiking it rich, these
carly migrants formed the first colonies ol Halian farmers who made
their mark in the Ballarat. Bendigo. Beechworth and other districts.
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FROM THE UNIFICATION
OFITALY TO THE FIRST
4 — WORLD WAR

The discovery of gold was a decisive factor in the growth and de-
velopment of the Australian colonies, at the same time comnbunn%
l0'a remarkabyle nerease in the size of the population. Between 185(
and 1860 the population of the colonies tripled, from 450,000 to
1.145.000; three quarters of the increase was made up of net gain
from immigration,

The initjal chaotic influx bruughl‘ faraway Australia to the attention of
the rest of the world, which initially saw it as an “Eldorado” a land
Where with a bit of Juck easy riches were to be made. It later came to
e known as 4 land of opportunity, with a pleasant climate, extraordi-
Ry natural resources, wide empty spaces and a small population en-
10¥Ing a high standard of living and general well-being, (1)

¢ economy, which until then had been almost solely agricultural
and pastoral, became more diverse as other primary and secondary
ndustries began to ErOW: mining companies sFrang_ up;: the basis was
lad for the manufacturing and processing of textiles, canned meat
and other foodstuffs; mac inery was introduced into agriculture and
construction, and roads and railways built o provide access to the
More remote areas of the continent. .

In 1855, New South Wales, Victoria and Tasmania received self-goy-
ernment, with South Australia and Queensland achieving it in 1856
and 1859 respectively. Western Australia had to wait until 1891, (2)
Howeyer. demographic, social and economic growth still depended on
the migrant intake. (See footnote three for a comparison of each
colony’s size with its population.) (3)

Australia possessed 4l the qualities and had every opportunity of be-
voming an “United States® of the Southern Hemisphere, given that
this was also the period in which the great exodus from Europe to the
Yew World began und a time in which travel, and therefore emigra-
lon and Immigration, was seen as the natural right of every eitizen,
N many developing countries the principle of the riihl o emigrate
Was Serenely accepted, and was often guaranteed by the constitution.
Sometimes,” as in Australia’s case, immigrants were needed for na-
tonyl survival and growth, (4)
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Influenced by their loyalty to the mother country and by the pressure
applied by the mass of the population under the leadership of the
fledgling unions. the gavernments of the colomes leaned instead’ 1o-
warﬁs restrictive immigration policies (especially where non-British
immigration was concerned) inspired by an inward-looking. radical
nationalism that would eventually result in blatant racism replete with
discrimination and prejudice. “The rulers of the colonies,” writes Oda
Branchetti, “reflected the attitudes of the average Australian citizen,
who understood the country’s need to populate but always carnied
within him a certain hostility towards the new arrivals,” (5)

In fact the governments of the rolonies, one by one, began imposin
restrictions on Chinese immigration from the carly 1850s, and wit
the “Restriction Bill 1896" prohibited the entry of all coloured races.
Al the same time any new arrivals were regarded as undesirable,
especially those from Southern Europe who were thought incapable
of being assimilated into the social labric.

Finally. immigration came o be seen as 4 Kind of tap that could be
turned on when times were good and turned down or shut off com-
pletely when they were bad.

Therefore, the influx of migrants was never a steady one, nor were all
those who wanted 10 come (o seltle in this empty continent able to do
so freely, Immigration policy was based on considerations of colour,
cconomic circumstances, and later the moods and prejudices of
the union movement.

The only migrants actively sought and given assisted passage and
other help in settling were of the White Anglo-Saxon Protestant type,
as they were more tfik--.:l_v to blend into the social and religious envi-
ronment. This preferential approach, which also aimed at preserving
racinl. cultural and religious homogeneity, severely limited the
number and the diversity of migrants from other countries. Even
among the migrants wha were allowed in from European countries
there was an obvious seale of preferences. They were graded as more
or less capable of fitting into Australian society, depending on where
they ¢ame from and on their presumed degree of nutural adaptability.

Even the Italians were divided into two large categories: the Norther-
ners and Southerners - all the good migrants came from the north
and all the bad ones from the south,

FIRST STEPS TOWARDS A STEADIER AND MORE
ORDERLY INTAKE OF ITALIAN MIGRANTS

Some colomes showed an active interest in brnging out Iilian im-
migrants, However, formal moves in this direction rarely amounted to
much, either because of the approach adopted, the lack of guarantees
offered, or because of opposition 4t home.

In 1861 the Parliament of the Colony of Victori set aside 4,000
pounds to bring out vinculturists and esperts in the production of
wine, edible oil and other produce, but the project barely got off the
ground. (6)
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Another attempt was made in 1862 at the initiative of J.H. Graham,
the Ttalian Consul in Sydney, who in a despatch to his Government
Proposed the establishment of a special Italian settlement in the cal-
ony of Queensland. The Italian Government. for its part, showed the
Queenskind Executive Council it was willing to assist by encouraging
Italian emigration 1o that colony. But the Colonial Secretary. Robert
erbert, made it clear that any Italian migrants had (o come from
the: peasant cluss, i.¢. they had to be labourers or shepherds. There
Was no room in this country for any other kind of ltalian, nor cowld
they ever expect to achieve any suceess if they came. (7)
In 1864 the Vice-Consul in Sydoey. Asselin (or Assolini) tried again,
this time presenting to the Italian Government a modest proposal for
Eneouraging Ialians to emigrate to Australia, But the Italan Govern-

ment rejected it because: of the luck of guarantees from the other
side. (8)

It was not until about 1870 that efforts were made m Ttaly itself to
pacourage emigration to the Australian colonies. ltalian newspapers
“24n publishing extracts from letters written by migrants living in
clbourne. Others publicised the fact that the Tralian Government
Was in favour of migranis oing there, In a report dated November
1875, Mr Marinucei. the Italian Consul-General in Melbourne. invited
Italian migrants (o come to the new continent with its wide empty

SPaces and its Jabour shortage.

In February 1876 the Minister for the Interior sent 4 circular to all

Provincial Prefects which partly confirmed the reports that had ap-

Peared in the Tralian press.

CAS far as L am able 1o ascertain from official information received.

conditions for migrants in New Zealand and Queensland are rather
pvourable™ the ciroular read. "You are therefore given special au-
Orsation (6 issye Passports to those persons who satisfy you that

they intend 1o emigrate o those parts and are able to afford the jour-
ey, wiiving the uarantees prescribed by article five of the Circular
the danuary 1873, and provided that there are no other obstacles to
the issue of a4 passport. The active recruitment of migrants, huwcvcr,

Temains strictly torbidden, as does the promotion of emigration, even

o the dbovementioned countries. In this regard emigration agents

Sl remain under the strictest surveillance and shall be brought be-
ore the judiciary for dppropriate action.™ (9)

AlSO at this time o certain John Glyn, an Englishman who had long
SN resident in Leghom. was appeinted as the emigration agent for
Ay and given the task of organising the departure of Italian mig-

Fants for New Zealand and Queensland. and, as required, of arrang-

ML contructs, (10) 1y 4 rather olficious advertisement he himself had

Sredlated Glyn' tried 1o promote emigration, particularly from Tus-

SNy, considerably exageenting the benefits and conditions to be en-

Joyed, claiming farm-work was available immediately in the colonies

Vineyards, my berry plantations und olive groves.

Glyn's cireular senerated an immediate, widespread reaction. One of

e most gualified responses, however, came from the Ttalian Consu- _
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late in Melbourne which itself had encouraged ltalians to emigrate to
Australia and New Zealand, while painting a truer, more realisic
picture of the situation.

Another came from a long-term Halian resident of Queensland, who
said that the chances of ltalian labourers finding employment there
were not very good and that, although a furmer might be well off in
terms of the large amount of land available to him for cultivation,
there was certainly no work in mulberry farms, vineyards or olive
groves, (11)

In 1876, at the suggestion of Henry Parkes, the New South Wales
Legistative Assembly decided that 100,000 pounds be allocated im-
mediately to attract migrants from Britain and Ireland, providin
generous travel incentives 1o mechanics, miners, farm labourers an
other workers needed in the colony.

“The decision was intended to ensure a preponderance of British mig-
rants. Only one-eighth of the funds allocated could be used for mig-
rants from other European countries, and one quarter for those from
the United States. Astans were excluded, ™ (12)

The intent of the legislation was clear and it effects quite dramatic.
Nevertheless. the new measures also attracted attention in other
European countries and a request for assistance was lorwarded Lo the
Ageni General in London by the Societa™ per Pespatrio di migranti
italiani  (Society of Ialian Emigrants). The Society asked that the
normal incentives be made ayailable to Halan migrants and also re-
quested special concessions such as fand grants, in order 10 “allow
Italian settlements to be formed”. (13) This request was not approved
by the New South Wales Government whose reply was that the
colony needed labourers, not farmers, {14)

In 1883 another attempt was made by the Cerruti & Co. shipping
company which proposed that Ttalian settlers be brought to Queens-
land on ships which could load cargoes of wool, sugar and meat for
the return journey. The Government rejected this offer as well, say-
ing that the selection of halian migrants should not be left to &
foreign shipping company, (15]

In 1906 the New South Wales Agent General for Immigration, T.A.
Coghlan. wrote to the ambassadors of seven European countries (0
sound out whether they could provide immigrants for his State. The
ftalian ambassador in London replied that tﬁc promotion of emigra:
tion and the recruitment of migrants was forbidden i Italy without
the spccinl permission of the Foreign Affairs Ministry. In any case,

the New South Wales Government wanted to recruit alian farmers it
would first of all need to establish where the immigrants would be
employed and draw up contracts under which it, or private
employers, would import [talian workers. (16)

Another attempt was made in March 1910 when an Australian deles
gation, consisting of the Victorian Minister for Transport, McKenzie.
and the Chairman of the Water Supply Commission, Mead, left fof
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Italy. The purpose of the trip was to study irrigation as practised in
laly and, at the request of the Victorian Premier, Murray, to “seek
Settlers among (he frugal and hard-working farmers of Northern Italy
Mthout runnimg the risk of having a flood of immigrant fruiterers,
Instead of fruit-growers, enter the colony™. (17)

The unions and the Melbourne Chamber of Commerce reacted swiftly
and bitterly, The Bendigo Labour League warmned the Victorian Pre-
MIer in rather threatening tones against importing boys as farm work-
o and girls as domestice servants. The authorities in Rome who
were still opposed o migrant recruitment drives told the visiting

ustralians as much, and in any case the Italian Parliament was just
then debating new legislation on emigration. Nevertheless, the follow-
INg vear, two CXpert irrigation engineers, Luigi Banderali and
Antanio Parapini, were sent to Victoria to report on the viability of
establishing farming settlements. After a carcful study of the Goul-

urm Valley and Mildura districts the Italian visitors had this to say as
they prepared to Jeaye Melbourne: “We are certain that a prosperous
Italian settlement might be established in Victoria.* (18)

But once Again the stubbornness of the unions and the Labor Party

DU Immigration to a trickle. Af the time even the Argus, which was
HEVer well-disposed towards the Italians, said in an editorial: “There
is something of the pathetic in the unbounded ignorance of certain
Libor Party members on the question of immigration.” (19)

1L is difficult 10 gesess 1o what extent such restrictive and selective
P“ es (and even more so (o what extent such attitudes) affected
talian migration 1o Australia, It does nevertheless, on the vgholc. ap-
PYar 1o have heen conditioned and severely limited by colonial policy.
e settlements wanted farm-hands, not farmers; shepherds and
imber-cutters. not mechanics;  professional cr»copl-:: and  qualified
fradesmen for phe manufacturing industry and the workshops were
PO Tequired, In effect the onl migrants accepted were those who
had experiene working in the fields or who were prepared to do that
kind o Work and, as ordinary labourers, remain under someonc else’s
SMploy. Thi restrictive policy was aimed at replacing the source of
4hour that pyug been lost with the end of transportation, and was
ardly meant 1o provide independent farmers who would play an

dctive ypg fesponsible  part  in  the development of the
Countyy,

Anyone with a

5, b qualification or a skill - craftsmen, tailors, shoemak-
ery,

" Dlacksmiths, goldsmiths, etc... - was discouraged, as were pro-
[essiony) People such as engineers, architects, pharmacists and doc-
tors, unless they were prepared to practise in the outback where the
local vefused 10 go, ‘The class of individuals who carned a living from

¢ exercise of their mental facultics rather than from the sweat of
their brow was advised not to try Australia. “Their success would be
ooremely doubtful unless they had exceptional ability, knew the lan-
Elldge, could wyiy patiently [for an opportunity| and had the means to



enable them to do so. (20) On the other hand even the ordinary
Tabourers could not be permitted 10 arrive in too large numbers if
they were to make a success of it. It was best for them to be let in a
few at a time, many months apart, and with ¢nough money 1o tide
them over for a while without working,

Squitti the Consul remarked: “Unfortunately Italian immigraton

mostly consists of people who have no other capital but their (wo
hands. They are therefore obliged to head for remote areis where
they can immediately be employed for daily wages. Australia s @
source of disappointment and suffering for these people. In the cities
they would not only be unemployed but, singled out by the labour

unions as a threat to wage levels. would also as a consequence be

vilified, ill-treated and perhaps worse.” (21)

Some 15 years later, in 1905, another Ttalian Consul, Camillo Bertola,
summed up a similar situation, saying: “The Italian migrant with an
insufficient knowledge of English should not even consider Australi
as a place in which to practise his trade or be employed in manul
labour, unless he has relatives, friends or people from his own village
to guarantee him suitable employment or a place to stay until he has
found his own.,. With a knowledge of the language and capital of not
less than £200 or £300 a farmer could buy enough land for two or
three fellow countrymen to work, in the hope of extracting a reasonis
ble profit from it in a few years, bui not without considerable
hardship and sacrifice, In truth | do not believe that the chances of
success are such that an Italian farm-worker with a certain amount of
cig)ital set aside should chance his luck so far from his own country.

(

A PROBLEM WITH NUMBERS

Twenty years passed between the unification of Italy and the first
general census of the gopulation of the colonies, Information about
the period is sketchy, but even later the available figures are unreli”
able, both for the way they were collected and because of their great
mobility, Italian immigration into Australia was considered by somé
to be more of a temporary phenomenon than a permanent one. BY
gathering all available data it is still only possible to estimate the
number of Italians present in the colonies.

Carpi, for example, estimates that 1,300 Ttalians settled in the Austras
lian colonies in the years 1867, 1869 and 1870, (23)

In the years between 1876 and 1918 the Annpuario Statistico [talian®
records 18.200 Italians as having emigrated to Australia. (24)

D, Parker, an expert in ltalian migration to Australia, states that the
number of Italian migrants who came 10 Australia was undoubted!¥
greater than the official statistics showed. ds the figures of the timé
were very unreliable and varied greatly from one colony 1o anothen
“It was therefore, and it still is, practically impossible to draw up &
satisfactory statistical picture of Italians in Australia.™ (25)
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Parker goes an 1o say that “secondly, it should he remembered that
the Italians were not coming only from Tialy™. (26) For example, 304
of the 714 Italians rugistcrcﬁ with the Italian Consulate in Melbourne
in 1871 were British-born but of [talian nationality. (27)

This was also the case with the 1,175 Htalians who arrived in Australia
n 1902: 1,064 came from Italy, 24 from Britain. 22 from Egypt. 19
from Germany, 1] from Ceylon, 10 from the United States of
\Mericy, ning each from France and New Zealund, three from

anada, two from Honolulu and one each from Argentina and Au-
strig. (28)

Furthermore, the nationality of a migrant did not always correspond
With his place of birgh,
D. Parker's study vields information about Ttalian-born migrants of
other nationalities: Of 26,756 Italian-bom migrants arriving in Au-
Stralia, 9,926 were British subjects, six were Austrian, one Estonian,
four French, — German, 109 Greek, 17,353 Italian. one Swiss, 13
merican, 16 Yugoslay. six various and 13 unspecified.” (29)
Ialian citizens born in other countries also came o Australia, Of
17.658 nuu;m citizens 60 were born in Austria, 15 in Fr:mcc- 21 i
rermany. 84 in Greeee. four in Hungary, three in Lithuania, one in
Holland. ‘one in Romania, two in Spain. 18 in Switzerland, four in
Turkey, one N Yugoslavia, five in Asia, 10 in Egypt, six in Argen-
tina, four Brazil, 42 in the United States of America, 14 in other
Merican. countries and one in New Caledonia. (30)
Fhose whe Wrote about the immigrant guestion at the e O]
this phenomenon: The number of Ttalians in Australia is greater
W08 generally believed. ™ (31) It is difficult to arrive at St
approximate figure for the number of Ialians living in Australia. This
IS made more diffieull by the fact that the working class especially,
L those emploved in the mines and o the building of railways,
Municipal rogds, Tuntels, aqueducts and similar works Targely escape
Me attention of our consilar suthorities and stabistics collectors be-
“AUSe of their nomadic existence, living as they do i tents in the in-
erminable bush. and because they move so often from one colony to
another, '
The Congyl Pasquale Corte also wrote: "People often move from one
Place 10 another and do so at 5 moment's notice. For this reason
Censuses in the Australian colonies are very unreligble * (32

OR{GINS AND  OCCUPATIONS OF THE FIRST ITALIAN

tllfl'lli} 1870 the Tralian migrants arriving in Australia came mostly from
¢ Coastal gities of Genoa, Leghorn, Naples, Venice. [rieste, Mes-
SNaand from (he Acolian Islands, and were generally sailors on Tta-
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lian or British ships. Others came from further inland, from cities
such as Milan and Turin, which had a tradition of trade contact with
the outside world, or from the high country around Novara or the
Valtellina, which had always had a history of seasonal migration.
Even before the unification of Italy these people had begun turning
their thoughts towards the New World beyond the seas. Sub-
sequently. between 1870 and 1896, emigration from the coast declined
but increased among the peasant larmers from the alpine valleys ol
Lombardy and Monferrato (which saw a massive exodus), the hilly
and mountainous country in the Veneto, Tuscany and around Naples.

The number of migrants from the Acolian Islands also grew consider-
ably, and for the first time migrants arrived from the coastal towns
of the South. such as Molfetta, Reggio Calabria and villages in
North-Eastern Sicily.

Between 1860 and 1870 travelling musicians from Viggiano started to
arrive, as did Tuscan tradesmen such as the plaster statuette makers
from Lucca, and stonemasons from Massa Carrara,

In 1881 peasants from the Veneto, the Friuli and other regions of
Northern Italy who had taken part in the ill-fated expedition of the:
Frenchman, the Marquis de Rays, arrived.

Subsequent years saw the chain mifration that was touched off by
these first pioneers. Towards the end of the century the first migrants
from the hilly country of Reggio Calabria came, as did the first peass
ants from Monferrato under contract to the sugarcane plantations.

In the years preceding the First World War, Lombardy and Piedmont
were still the regions supplying the largest number of migrants (@
Australia, while immediately after the war this distinction belonged @
the Veneto, (33)

Throughout the nineteenth century ltalian migrants. most of whott
were agricultural workers and miners (and as industnous and har
working as they were uneducated and unskilled), were obliged to fill
those gaps in the labour market that the locals left to them: jobs that
were either 100 heavy or dirty, poorly paid or not unionised.

Still, they had no choice. Other occupations called for two skills the¥
did not possess: a knowledge of the English language and “an ap
oroach to work conforming to British tastes”. They could not eveft
ind work among the true working-class, as the fledgling industries:
which were still few in number, preferred Anglo-Austrahan workerss
On one occasion in Sydney the unions protested fiercely when an al
tempt was made to employ [alian workers.

Theirs was not only a revolt against scab labour but the result of #
deliberate, strongly autarchic and protectionist union policy 08
immigrant workers,

[talians therefore had to be prepared to take whatever work was uv:
ailable before being able to choose the trade for which they might
have had some aptitude or inclination. In inland Australia they felled
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timber and worked in mines and on sheep and cattle stations. They
Were also farm-hands, growing and harvesting sugarcane, tobaceo,
Iruit and vegetables,
These occupations led 10 a concentration of Italians in particular dis-
tricts, a trend Which was 10 increase even further after ¢ turn of the
sentury. Among the areas affected were the Sugarcane growing dis-
tricts north of Ayr in Queensland, and the orchard districts of In-
glewood and Stanthorpe in the same State; the fruit, wine and rice-
Browing districts o1 Grithih and Lecton in New South Wiles; "'.c- _fn_lfl
anc tumatu-gmwing arei ol Shepparton and the wine-growing district
around Mildura, both in Vietoria.
“Apart from some 2.000-acre pastures near Wagga Waggad,” wrote
asquale Corte iy 1897, “and Fiaschi's magnificent and famous Tiz-
Zana yinevard near Windsor, not far from Sydney, most Italians in
ICtoria live ot Daylesford, Brighton, Dunolly, ‘Nuova Trento’. Be-
nall, Seymour, Hastings, Ringwood, Yandoit. Ballirat and Bendigo.
In New South Wales Italian land ownership is mostly concentrated on
}hcl anks of the Clarence: River, in the settlement known as ‘New
taly".
There are g)g0 quite a few HNalians in Albury and other parts of the
WVerina between the Murray and Murrumbidgee Rivers, and SREN
around Bathursy an Orange, Then there are the market-gardeners,
owners of small holdings near Sydney.

“In Queenstand the Italians are scattered throughout the north near
the Herbert River, where they mostly grow sugarcane; a Piedmontese
Migrant OWns latge holdings in Cairns where he grows tropical plants
ind wine; there yre mamy%tulian settlers in the vicinity of Bundaberg
and in the Roma district who camn a decent living from growing
Brapes.™ (14) : .

T._K_b city dwellers on the other hand were largely involyed in fruit re-
ailing, although there were wandering musicians, fishermen, re-

Suranteurs and waiters. tailors, shoemakers, barbers, bakers and
hood|e makers.

eTe were distinguished Italian music and singing teachers, scujptgrg
and other talented artists, doctors of medicine, lawyers, natur_almbt:
: Ceeptionally well-qualified engineers. [talians could also
foung running import-export companies. '
v Gaglinrdi wrote: “Throughout Australia one finds lta_llans occupy-
N responsible positions, They are employed as agricultural sm;)r-
vevors, as draugh(smcn. engineers and arcln!ccr_s; they are to e
foung in the post and telegraph offices, in public libraries, astronomi-
cal :)bsr:m,':urics, the railways. in public and private schools, in har-
HOurmasters! offices, in the press, the legal and medical profcss:gpsl;
N commepee und in industry: we also have farmm% settlements which.
(Sl%l)y do Taly proud and are singled out as models by the authorities.

A EXample of the connection between the occupations of“ltiil‘llan
Migrants and heir place of origin is seen in the way almost all those
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from the Valtellina worked as miners, timber-cutters and in coal pro-
cessing; the Tuscans and Ligurians as farmers, market-gardeners,
wine-growers, cooks, inn-keepers, waiters and as contract labourers in
road and railway construction: the Neapolitans as musicians, boiler-
makers, shoemakers, barbers, flower vendors, peddlers and shoe
shiners; the Sicilians as fruit and vegetable retailers, fishermen and
fishmongers. '

NOTES

1 - By 1880 this vast continerit had bean divided into six Calonies flter called States)
for Tear that some othern power might try o oGeupy it Some colonies, such as New
South 'Wales (the so-called ‘mother colony’), South Australia and Westem Austislis
"-Fa-'" "ou"dag '55 sepa::i:g m"’m?s '"g&" the baginning, while othars such ay Victona
Tasmanis and Cusens were formed by granting autoaomy to sattlsm -
up- by the oftginal colony, y 10 setilements startod
2 ~ New South Wales, the 'moather colany’, was founged in 1788, Tasmy .
bosn settled from Sydnay in 1803, bucame Indopendent in 1813, V|(:ta::‘rirf?c?dra?1:1r:ﬁ
1834, separatad from New Sotth Walss in 1841, South Australia, tounded in 1634
didd the same in 1842, Tha settlerment of Wastarn Aistialis wan lounded i TE28 e
became a penal colony in 1849, but, bacause of the groat distnceq which separgted
it from the others; had litle or no contact with them untl gold was dispoverad. there
Wae In hasg which started fe a5 panal colony, separated from New South
s N
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3.~ The population of the: Adstralian Colonies was as follows;

. Stze (krnZ) yulation
ff{]New_S,.omh Walas 798,337 8,546
i Metoria 297 620 BE3R8,234
I} Dbesnstand 1,727,500 28,068
V) South Australia 1,347,519
4 & Northeth Tartitory 584,400 125,562
vl Westarn Australia 2,515,562 15,346
il Tasmania. 48200 89.821
ltaly 11869) 248,000 22,182,000

‘EJ UN'TE%STATES OF AMERICA' the Co'nm&tglqn of the United States encouraged
BRAbCEN mmigrstion |t the period before 1880, 2 B

Em (Articls 72.10 of the Constitution of 1891) - "In time of peaca any person
hh.'fn*' JEnter the nanonal termitory whanever sio In whatéver mannar it miy please

ARGENTINA . (Articie 25 of the Constitution of 1853) - *The Fedaral Govemment shal
“ncour, ge Eurdpean immigration prd shall not have, the powel to restiet bt ot
Mpeda by dny tax the enlty o foraigners on Argentinian soil

9~ Ods Branchen, Gil gs et vafie) deilemigrazione lshane i Australia,
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-ﬂmmlw his large family i Sydney i 1850 and in September 1861 was appos

M
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A TALE OF WOE: THE
ITALIAN MIGRANT AT
. THE BEGINNING OF THE
5 — TWENTIETH CENTURY

FEDERATION

On 1 January 1901 with great pomp und ceremony the five mainland
colonies ynd the island of Tasmania, a total population of barely
3:500.000, joined together in 'a Federation under the name of the
-Ommonwealth of Australia, founded on its own Constitution which
ad been passed by the British Parliament and signed by Her Majesty
teen Victoria on 9 July 1900,
The celebrations were organised by 30 different commitiees. In Syd-
ney: three triumphal arches were ereeted — one made from coal, one
pom wheat and one from wool - symbolising the material wealth of
ngySountry, The streets were festooned with banners which read:
¢ people, one flag, one destiny™ “A continent for & nation and a
Maton for a continent”. There were military and civilian bands,
arades, dignitaries in an endless procession of carriages, fireworks,
anquets and speeches. (1) It was all meant to show that some kind
Of National unity and identity had been achieved. To reality there
WEre u great many confused ideas and no one was prepared for the
work thay had to be done. Newspapers and politicians, while acknow-
ledging the hirgly of 4 nation, also expressed a hope for & not too dis-
Hant national bonding, for there were more causes for division than
,f"r Unity among the Australian seople. The States still wanted to be
able 1o regulate their own ul}uirs, manage their own territories,
Rilways, rouds, schools and industries. (2)
}.'“f‘tht:rmun:. the stge had already been set for the rivalry between
Sydney ang Melbourne in matters of business, the press, the stock
Xchanges, et
The Governoy General at first, in what was a strunge error of judge-
ment, asked Siy William Lyne, the Premier of New South Wales and
AN opponent of federation, to form a government. Lyne, predictably,
A5 unable to do so. On Christmas eve Edmund Barton of the Lib-
vl Protectionists was asked to try. Barton, with the support of the
Abor Pyrty, succeeded, while the Free Trade Party oceupied the
“Pposition i:rcnehcs. (3)
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It was now up to Barton to find some common ground on which to
base the whuf:: apparatus of federation and prove that the effort had
been worthwhile. The one thing on which everyone agreed was the
need to draw up and proclaim a policy of White Australia, which for
some time had had tﬁc support of all the States.

There was no urgent need to wirn the first session of Parliament into
an important occasion by tabling legislation which restricted immigra-
tion. It was merely 4 way of confirming to the fledgling nation that
economic and social advancement was based on racial purity, At this
point it is useful 1o examine the origins of this attitude.

The desite to “conserve in Australia a predominantly homogeneous
European society” had existed for some considerable time, It went
back to the day when white men, both shackled and free. first set
foot on this continent

From the very beginning of white settlement the racial question took
root and gradually flourished in Australian society, taking on diffe-
rent forms from time to time but always based on the same underly-
ing motive. The call to “keep Australia white” implied the extermina-
tion of the Aborigines and the exclusion of coloured immigrants. By
exploiting the firm belief in the superiority of the British race it was
even possible to attempt the creation of an exclusively British society.
It is only in recent years that Australia has shown signs of wanting to
free itself from the shackles of this tradition, demonstrating both a
recognition and an appreciation of the contribution that other peoples
and cultures can make to the nation.

By the time anti-transportation groups were formed the slogan “no
convicts, no blacks, no coolies. no cannibals™ had already been heard.

DISCRIMINATION AND RACISM

The first victims were the Aborigines who were considered more like
animals than human beings and were consequently deprived of their
land and the right to belong to the new society.

“They had no more -n'(th to therr own land than an emu or a kan-
garoo might have had.” A newspaper of the colony called them
“gcsls". worthy of no more consideration than “dingoes” or “rats".
(4)

In a slaughter which lasted 50 years some 4,000 to 5,000 Tasmanian
Aborigines were massacred. Not one survived,

Apart from the killing, the aborigines were the victims of countless
episodes of discrimination, harassment, abuse, cultural oppression
and exploitation. It is sufficient to say that only some 17,000 were left
out of a population of about 300,000 which had inhabited the conti-
nent at the end of the cighteenth century. And these were mostly to
be found in the more arid, remote and desolate parts of the continent
or confined to Aboriginal reserves. (5)

The Chinese and the Kanakas did not fare much better. The
first Chinese, some 1,000 in all, were brought to Australin as
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shepherds by the owners of the big sheep-farms, while others arrived
dlone. For several years all went well, but with the recession of the
18405 came the first hostilities. The opposition towards the Chinese
ecame so fierce that in 1842 the Melbourne city fathers passed a mo-
tlon opposing the importation of cannibals and coolies from India
and the Far East.
Henry Parkes, who had brought to Australia some 15 to 30 Chinese
typographers, later attacked Chinese immigration in his newspaper,
calling 11 “an act of betrayal on society”. (6) During the gold rush the
fumber of Chinese immigrants grew to such an extent that in 1858, in
iIcloria alone. there were more than 40,000, They were tireless
Workers, law-abiding, frugal, and content with what they earned.
Owever, many diggers began to attribute their own lack of success
0 the presence of the Chinese,

S0 began the violent demonstrations. The worst took place in 1852 at
anging Rock in Victoria where many Chinese were Killed. (7) A
rea}f after the 1854 Bendigo revolts, the State Government enacted
Eeiskation which restricted Chinese immigration by imposing a tax of
0 on every Chinese immigrant wanting to enter Victoria, In 1858
outh Australia adopted similar measures.
Violence g ainst the Chinese had become so serious and com-
monplace lﬁa: in 1861 New South Wales introduced legislation that
Wits even maore discriminatory. The most recent bloodshed had occur-
ed in 1857 at Buckland River in Victoria, where European miners
Altacked the Chinese camp, looting it and setting fire to the tents, so
dl the Chinese were forced 10 flee. Several Chinese diggers died
from the wounds they received or drowned while trying 1o escape,
Towever, the most cruel and barbaric episode took place in 1861 at
-,Lambing Flat in New South Wales, when some 2,000 or 3,000 miners
Mvaded the Chinese encampment. 1,200 unarmed und helpless
»finese witnessed the looting of everything they owned and the bumn-
ng of anything the white men themselves had no use for. The sur-
VIVOrs were chased out of the district and any official assistance was
denied them. (8)
Queensland in 1878 was the last State to introduce anti-Chinese laws.
¢ number of Chinese at the Palmer River gold fields had risen by
then 1o 17,000 as against the 14,000 Europeans.
ile Jaws against Chinese immigration were being passed the cotton
and sugarcane plantation owners who were short of labour began
Cmploying Kanakas . These people were rounded up in the islands of
the Pacific by unserupulous ships’ Captiins who then sold them in the
O1ts of Brisbane, Muryborough, Rockhampton and Mackay. Horri-
le tales of Kidnapping. deception and torture circulated throughout
Ueensland. The Government attempted to control this trade and
E¥en abolish it but the powerful plantation owners threatened to stop
ETowing sugarcane and even talked of Northern Queensland seceding.

The Government told the farmers from the north that the employ-
Ment of black labour was harmiul to the interests of the colony which

21



was 1o be preserved for the British race, and that it would solve the
problem by importing Italian workers under the same conditions as
the Kanakas. Only the colour of the workers” skin would be
different.
Once the problem: with the Chinese and the coloured races had been
resolved, the unions, the Labor Party and a section ol the press
turned their campaign of discrimination and prejudice against South-
ern European migrants generally and the Ttalians in particular,
The ltalians now became the target of accusations that had once been
levelled at the Chinese. The latter had been called “yellow peril |
swarms of mongolian locusts , moon-faced barbarians™ The Ttalians,
also considered an inferior race, becamedagoes . white dagoes , lo-
custs , people who could live on the smell of an nil?' rag . blacklegs
and wogs” Some people wondered whether they could even be consi-
dered members of the white race. Just as the Chinese had been ac-
cused of working for below award wages, of taking jobs from Austra-
lians. and had been condemned for sending all their savings back to
Ching. the Italians now became the object of similur undue criticism.
Like the Chinese, the lalians were attacked for supposedly living in
squalor, In'\!w_n‘inf;1 Australian social and cultural standards, constitut-
ing a threat to the nation, belonging 10 criminal organisations, living
in unsanitary surroundings and leading dissolute lives,
‘Many of these charges were neither new nor orfpmnal. Criticism was
often gratuitous. like that coming from the President of the Innisfail
hranch of the notorious British Preference League. who said that
» __the lalans have neither the inclination nor the desire to assimi-
late into the Austrihan population, and their deliberate observance of
Italian habits and their gathering in separate dnd cistinet communities
have become a threat to the economic, cultural and industrial well-
being of Australia. By forming their litle: Ttulys  the Trahans have n-
troduced 1o this country the petty political squahbles of their home-
land. Their standard of living is & provocition to our race and, unless
the flood is stemimed, the higher standards sehieved by Australians
will inevitably be destroyed”. (9)
D.R.G. Packer's comment on sueh @ stwtement s sober and
straightforward: “What needs 1o h'q explained and never has been is
how a small community corresponding to less than 1% ol the popula-
tion could inflict such destruction on an Australidn society which had
always claimed to be far superior.” (10)
Other statements revealed an ignorance of the true history and
growth of the Halian community i Ameriea. 10 was o Fedetul .I"“““‘
cian who said: “1f we are to judge by those who live in the Talan
districts of the United States. then the Talian does not possess the
qualities of a citizen in the ordinary. Australinn sense.™ (11)
The Italian communities in Australia were to suffer for muny years as
a resplt of this ethni¢ and cultueal form of diserimination. What
follows are the principal events i this long ahd teying period

The first vicious attacks on the small defenceless Falian communitics
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hug'an in the last two decades of the nincteenth century.

In I887 The Australian Star rallied against them in an article under
the heading “The Chinese of Europe™.
On 24 October 1890 The Australian Workman. a union paper, pub-
!'—‘%}‘Fd i virulent attack against Talian migrants, Having called them
“brigands, vagabonds and slackers, corrupt in body and soul...™, it
concluded: “if boyeolts are any use at all then they should be
ipplicd in this instance against the Ttalians. We are confident that our
Usinessmen cannol gain any benefit at all from the importation of
these Togusts.™ (12)

The I’nlluwing year the fourth session ol the tenth Queensland State
arliament, sitting from June to November 1891, again debated the
ﬁgisimiun on assisted Italian immigration which had been passed in
Sreh of  that  same year and was in the process of being
Mplemented.

issue had come up again as a result of the anti-ltalian campaign
Started by the Austruﬂun Workers' Union.
“The Nalians will work harder than the Kanakas, will accept lower
rates of pay than those set by the unions and will consequently take
WAy employment from Anglo-Australuin workers.” (13)
‘uhlic mectings were held, scuffles and fights broke out and a peti-
00 was taken up throughout Queensland calling for the immediate
2Uspension of the Labor Government's assisted immigration scheme.

€ rest was left 10 the Labor members of Parliament. where “the
Whole [ratian nation was put on trigl...; whole people, in a misun-
Setstood, far-off land, became an objeet of general contempt, of ab-
Surg dcousations and base insinuations about their lack of civilisation.
U0 the first time there was talk in Australia of “mafia”, “secret

SOCTeties ™, “layabouts™ and  “Southern Furopean criminals”. The
“Conomie

debate turned into an argument abouwt race, and common
nd truth were its principal victims.” (14)
19 Bosi comments on the events of 189 by saying: “It was the end
O an era in which the Nalians had heen seen as the bearers of
aivilised valyes, art, culture and science into Austratis, I'he stigma of
Pericy and criminal tendency marked ltalian immigration for the
hext 5(j vears.” (15)
e Next wave of anti-Italian sentiment received its official seal of ap-
PIoval with the coming of Australian Federation in 1901, The lmmig-
Hhon  Restriction Act grew out of the conviction that Australia
2ould he inhabited by # single race and that Almighty God had en-
bristed ithe care of this last-discovered hit of earth to Australians for
e Procreation of 4 privileged race called to create a superior civilisa-
‘-!""“- Ihe foundations were thus taid for a policy of rucial discrimina-
90, not only against the coloured races but against any foreign
Mtional considered undesirable by their masters in the new land.
S A result, in the first Tour decades of the twentieth century several

i”ﬁ" Commissions were held into the question on non-British
MMigrants,

ense g
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THE 1901 AND 1906 IMMIGRATION ACTS

The debates of the first parhamentary sessions of the Federal Govern-
ment. which (ill 17 Jarge volumes of Hansard, were mainly taken up
by the Immigration Restriction Bill.

This piece of legistation, which Prime Minister Barton described as
of extreme importance for the future of Australia™ (10) formally
brought together the various Acts and Regulations passed by the
colonies in their time, during their long campaign  lor raciil
discrimination and homogeneity.

The task was complete with the passing ol The Pacific Islands
Labourers Act 1006, which prohibited the importation of Kanak
labour and provided for the repattiation of all those working either
on the sugarcane plantations of Northern Queensland or elsewhere.

As has already been mentioned. such laws were hardly a novelty, The
varions States had at first introduced them independently of cach
other and at their own initiative. Later, with the Restriction Bill 1896,
they did so jointly, prohibiting in no uncertain terms the entry of
Chinese, Jupanese and other coloured immigrants. These laws had
caused bitter resentment in Asia, and had created diplomatic and
trade problems for the British Government, Joseph Chamberlain, the
British Colonial Seeretary. pointed out that the laws were “offensive
tor friendly nations and contrary 1o the general concept of equility
which has always been the guiding principle of all British imperial
policy”™ (17)
Nevertheless, the majority of Australian federal politicians were n
favour of the toral exclusion of son-Europeans from Australia. Fd-
mund Barton said that 4s far as he was concerned the doctrine of the
equality of mankind did not mean racial equality. (18)
“My objection to mixing the coloured people with the white people of
Australia,” said J.C. “¥uli\'nn. leader of lglt‘ Labor Party. “hes in the
possibility amd the probability of racial contamination.” (19)
I Wilkinson of the Liberal Protectonists said it was essential that
Australian be preservedd for the future of the linest race on earth and
not for the servile races of Astie (20)
However. while still quite clearly maintaining the discriminatory in-
tent of their White Australia poficy. the lawmakers of the new-born
Australion Federation, guided and counselled by clever British dip-
fomats concerned that the legislation should appear honourable, n-
troduced the dictation test , a method copied from the Goverment ol
Natal in South Africa which had introduged itoin 1897,
The Icgisluliun |1I'L‘5Cl’-ihl.'(l thut “Any person who, at the raguest ol
an officer, fails o write under dictation in his own hand i passage
of at least 30 words in a European language, shall be a prohibited
immigrant.”
The Act made no mention of a4 White' Australia . nor did it prohihit
European immigration or discrimination on the basis of mee or lan
guage. But in fact the dictation test sought not only 10 keep out the
b




coloured races but also (o regulate the entry of European immigrants,
E5pecially those from Southern Eutope. As Pierre Geaorge wrote: “ln
e minds of the legistators the intention ol the Act was to stem the
OW of migrants as competitors in the labour market and 10 prevent
the entry of persons, particularly Asiatics, who did not belong to the
Titish Empire: ie. o protectionist demographic policy wis m-
lemented. The Tmmigration Restriction Act of 1901 established a
&};h!mivc position which remained highly restrictive until the Second
world War, In the same vear the Pacific Islands Labourers ALt pro-
Vided for the expulsion of Melunesians who had been recruited as
“hourery by the Queenslund sugarcane growers.”™ (21)
The Minister for External Alfairy and the Allurne'.'{ic!lerul had for-
Yilly puaranteed that the law would not be aﬂ?plicd to European mig-
fants. But the Aet's weakness liy in its wording and in the fact that
> Implementation was left up to port officials who often were
Mtactless, ignorant and prejudiced”, (22)
H.G. Tumer i this book The First Decade of the Australian Cam-
Monweuith gives a typical example of how the law was applicd quite
Ahrarily: Sy November 1903 an officer aboard a (mm_wn ship
dhandoned his post and remained in Sydney, Having been picked up
Y the Jocal authorities he was given the dictation test. (This officer
had 4 university education and spoke Enghsh. German and French
ucntly ), T port official, however, considering him o be an unde-
reable migrant, gave him the ‘dictation test in Greek. He failed the
'St was thenceforth treated as an illegal immigrant and subsequently
Sentenced siXx months' imprisonment. ™ (23)

History, as always, wis repeating itself. Together with the Asiatics
and miwr coloured races, the Ttalians and Southern Europeans gener-
ally Were described us “peaple who threaten the purity of the race™.
"Are the Italians 1o be considered a civilised people in the rrue sense
o the worgoe usked @ member of Parliament rhetorically. The reply
Yame frop 4 colleague who may have been trying to tell a4 joke in bad
a5t They e cortinly not the type you would like to meet at
Mght Knowing they carry a4 knife in one hand snd s razor in their
Pocker.™ (24) ' :

Pcfh“l"'ﬁ the politician had been reading u book about Australian
huahrau e8! In the end E. Barton, the Prime Minister, gave in to
those (s disliked Southern Europeans, and made it clear that the
d"-‘fittmn test could also he applied. if necessary, (0 Southern Euro-
Pean immigrmns, who were “1oo small, too durk-skinned or too hard-
\mrlunp_ Or threatened 1o contaminate the purity of the ruace destined

fule: Australin®

On 4 February 1902 Barton wus able to reassure Parliament. an-
“Uuncing thiat 31 Ialians had been refused entry to Western Australia
“Canuse they had failed the dictation test. (25) Alfred Deakin. who
SECee e J:irl_nn on 24 September 1903, supported the Same princi-
l}'“’! Wholeheartedly and  maintained thas only  Australians  could
LEtide who would be dllowed to come and live among them, He was
i Mrong critic of White Austeatio’s opponents who said that, given its
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vast natural rcsmurcesbthc- country could have absorbed a much larger

number of migrants. Deakin also argued that population growth was
not the most pressing problem: “Australia must have a united society
and cannot afford the luxury of introducing into its territory people ,
who would find it difficult (o marry un Australian or even to think

like one.” (26)

So Deakin not only opposed coloured immigration, but also immigra-
tion from Southern Europe. He believed that a multicultural society -
would give rise to problems similar to those of the United States, and.
that the importation of cheap lubour would lead 1o Australians losing
their jobs and to a lower standard of living.

Federico Gagliardi wrote: “It is undoubtedly a harsh and racist laws

A careful examination reveals the spirit behind it: a partisan spirit

which under the appearance of protecting legitimate interests conceals

an aversion to any non-British immigrant, and leaves it to a petty
official to decide whether to actually admit him or not.” (27)

More recently Donald Horne wrote: “Behind the scenes there are still
Australians obsessed with ‘colour’ .. The truth about Australians... 1§
that they nurture all kinds of prejudices about race, nationality and
religion... prejudices against Eastern and Southern European$:
Catholics and Jews...” (28)

“A strange law, in Immigration Restriction Act 1901-1905, which sets -

out, among other things, which people shall be excluded, which shall
be admitted and under what conditions.” (29)

“This narrowness of pcrg:_pect_ive and the ever-present fear of com®
promising their interests,” writes G. Capra, “have set the Australian
people on the road to ruin.” (30)

The immigration question has always troubled Australian society:
They have never bothered about increasing the size of thewr populd-
tion for fear of losing the vast uninhabited areas with their enormovs
natural wealth. Rather, they have sought to prevent any population
grou;th. This is why Australia, in its selfish isolation, has grown 5¢
slowly.

“Immigrants from other countries, who may even appear welcomé:
are in reality sometimes hindered and come up against unforesee?
and unforeseeable obstacles, so now that the gold no longer flow®
freely into the ‘digger’s’ pan the principal reason for emigrating 1©
that land is gone.

“On the other hand, the general cry is for ‘more people, u large!
population’, a cry due not so much to a desire 1o see their immense:
wild lands cultivated, thus restoring their diminishing wealth, as to @
relative sense of solitude and the fear of one day being attacked, i
vaded, suffocated, by the Germans, the Japanese and other power®
already with some foothold not far from Australian soil; they eye it
with envy and base their wildest hopes on the fact that it is so vast
and unpopulated.”™ (31)
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6 — POPULATE OR PERISH

Back home after the end of the Great War, the journalist and
Mstralian war correspondent Henry Somer Gullett was appointed to
head phe Immigration Burcau. Bélieving that his country faced a
Brave dunger he began gathering support for an immigration policy
aim‘ctll at attracting as many British migrants as possible to populate
Cmpty spaces.
. his bogk Unguarded Australia, published in 1919 (1), he em-
MSed the fact that Australia, vast and rich in primary resources
M with 4 small population, was situated in an overpopulated region
Whoge Countries would not tolernte for much longer that such a large
wnd empty continent should remain the exclusive property of so few
thousang, According to Gullett there was only one solution: a mas-
e boost 10 the size of the population. And the only way 1o achieve
This wy through a large increase in the migrant intake which would
E8Ure (he country's independence and proteet it from possible inva-
I:m. “For Australia’s immediate and future safety a population of at
sy _lﬁ,t!HJ.U(lll o 20,000,000 is needed as soon as possible, It is
srefore necessary 1o prepare i program which goes beyond party
Political considerations and is commonly agreed upon, o attract
and gsgist several thousand immigrants — men, women and children -
EVery vear. They must belong to the working class and ought
Enmafil!r' 10 he recruited in Great Britain and only subsequently in
"UI’GI'}&:‘" '.2]
hn 4 series of lectures aiven in England in 1921, later published as a
POKIet under the title The Empty Continent: Australia and Its
eds, Sir V' Northeliffe argued that unless o large-scule immigration
PrOgram way uindertaken, free of any considerations of nationality, i
e only be & matter of time before Australia’s future as o white
SOMNent way in taters. (3)
E]c Austrulian Government who understood very well the shilts in
AC bitince of power that had tuken place globally, and especially in
Au§lullia's own region tollowing the treaty of Versailles adopted Gul-
lar ¥ recommendations and did not hide the fact that it hcl:_cvc.d a
T population was the essential basis for national security and
SCnomic advancement.

¢ M. Hughes. who had based his political platform on “capital, en-
n'l‘rlsc and immigration”, maintained that it was absolutely essential
Popu

dte the targely empty land through a large-scale immigration
7



program. His response to @ group of sliticians who criticised this
olicy was: “Let us not have any illusions. Australia needs an
immediate increase in its population without which. we shall be unable
gither to develop our vast Tesources or support the burden of post-
war reconstruction. There are sufficient resources to support &
population ten 10 20 times greater than the current one.” 4)

The Prime Minister Stanley Melbourne Bruce, who succeeded Billy
Hughes with the slogan “men, money and markets”, said: “It is im-
possible for us to preserve our policy of a white Australia, or our cur-
rent standard of living or to ensure our national security unless we
increase our population.™ (5)

But once again immigrants were only 0 come from the British Com-
monwealth. In fact Bruce's idea was that Australia should receive
capital and immigrants from the mother country, which would also
provide a market for Australian exports, (6)

At the end of the war Great Britain had given assisted passage o re-
turned soldiers, war widows and their families wanting to emigrate to
Australia or to other parts of the Empire. In the space of three years
35,000 migrants left for Australia under this scheme. It was however
a special arrangement in 2 time of crisis and in no way altered funda-
mental British policy which remained that of not assisting emigration,
A change in emigration policy came only in 1922 during the annual
Commeonwealth Heads of Government ceting in London, at a time
when unemployment in Britain had risen to 16%. It was felt that by
exporting workers and ca ital to the Dominions the country’s un-
employment burden wou d be alleviated and at the same time
markets for British goods would be guaranteed.

This ambitious plan to redistribute the white population of the British
Empire resulted in the Empire Settlement Act of 1922, With this Act,
Britain undertook to pay up to half the travel and settlement costs of
its emigrants, including the cost of clearing and ploughing land, (7)
The agreement even covered railway and road construction, irngation
projects and education for the settlers.

For the Australian Government, the aim of the Empire Settlement
Scheme which subsequently came into being, was to transplant
500,000 British migants into the deserted Australian countryside. (8)
“Bruce,” writes D. Pike, “dreamed of a nation of 100,000,000
whites.” (9)
Three of the States declared they were interested in taking part in the
Scheme and were prepared to subdivide land into 50 and 100 acre
blocks depending on the use to which it would be put. Western
Australia and New South Wales undertook to make 6,000 farms avails
able to Britons while Victoria was prepared 1o provide 10,000 for its
immigrants.

What happened in Western Australia was typical of the outcome of

thi)sogilut program. The Government had planned for 75,000 migrants.
6.000 of which (including families) were selected for placement on the
land. Settlement took place in the following manner: immigrants
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Were divided into small groups and paid daily wages to plough up half
& PTOperty at 4 time: the farm was then assigned by ballot to one of
the mFth < It was soon realised that the land set aside was not very
fertile, ul.gal the administration of the scheme was inefficient and
Wasteful o
EXperience

In the space of a few years only some 1,700 remained to struggle on

the Tand, 3,000 having left and the State having lost nine million
Poungs,

A total of
of these

nd that many new settlers lascked the necessary farming

only 3,000,000 immigrants arrived from Britain. Two thirds
ad had their passage paid. Of the 22,000 farms provided
only 500 were actually developed. The British and Australian Federal
0 State Governments had wasted £34,000,000. (10)

N‘_’_r Was this the only attempt at solving the difficult settlement
Problem. Some private schemes are also worth mentioning.

¢ “Barwell Boys™ Scheme™ aimed 10 bring 6.1]_(1(1 br.‘fys frpm Britain
1o replace the 6,000 voung South Australian soldiers killed in the war.

he "Dn:adnnughl Fund™ and the “Big Brother Movement™ brought

out [)oys 10 be trained as farmers, (11) -
.e‘rlswirwl?f ia u group was formed to linancially assist British army offic-
n '

N ndia wanting 1o come 10 Australia to settle on the land. In
EW South Wales, even before the war, a scheme had been started to
¢ British children with Australian farming families and make

- aﬁﬂcrs' of them,

i Nisley Fairbridge had also opened up agricultural schools for young

"Mmigrants in several States. (12)

The MOSt Serious and basic flaw in all these schemes was the total

xclusion of non-British immigrants when in almost every case, like

soue JTitish, they continued to arrive in Australia without any re-

ouces, The Australian Government’s reply to a request by the Ita-

140 Gener)

1o

Commission for Emigration was that it was not prepared
EXxtend 1

Rrir: lalian settlers the same assistance provided to the 10,000
OUSh Families that were to be settled in Victoria. The Queensland
rhwgm.'“‘-‘"l also replied in the negative when approached regarding
'w: Aailability of a yast tract of land in the north of the State wll;:;c!*:
Canel POUL 10 be subdivided into farming lots. British migrants in bot
WS Were 10 be given priority. (13)
ED“‘."U Horme, in The Australian People, writes that under the
Mpire Settlement Scheme”..only the British were sought as immig-
:3::‘ dthough Tralians and Yugoslavs, who had arrived regardless,
Vere

Since Hore likely to succeed in establishing small farming properties
(-ﬂcjc they, in fact, already were and wanted to go on, being farmers”.
G. Swing

Ge urne, Australia’s representative at the League of Nations in
oo eVA. issued a stern warning. He pointed out the flaws and weak-
868 in - the migrant settlement agreement berween Britain and
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Australia and told the Federal and State governments that should it
not be possible to increase British immigration to the desired level,
then there was an urgent need to populate the country by attracting
Italian and other European immigrants, without uny delay or
restrietion,

“The entire population of Australia.” wrote Swinburne, “could easily
be accommodated in the single State of Victonia, and taking this as
the measure of the continent’y vate of settlement it is casy to see just
how i;oor. inadequate and slow the immigration poliey hitherto pur-
sued by the various governments has been. It is lﬁ'rc ore urgent, in-
dispensable and vital that all questions relating to immigration be
given the status of major national policy, rather than remain issues
over which ¢lectoral skirmishes are fought for seats in Parliament. Al
stake are the defence and safety of the country, the very existence of
the Commonwealth.™ (15)

TRENDS IN ITALIAN EMIGRATION

After the interruption of war [talian emigration continued apace. The

favourite destinations were Europe (especially France and Switzer-

land), North Amenca (United States and Canada), and South

America (Argentina and Brazil). From 1918 1o 1942, 4,355,240 Jta-
lians left Italy, of whom 51% emigrated 1o other European countriess
with 44% going to North and South America. According to Italian
statistics only 49,144 emigrated to Ogceania.

The number of Ttalian immigrants who came to Australia between the

two World Wars was not as high as was generally thought at the time.
Once again this misconception was due ultimately to racial prejudice.
For example, of the migrants who arrived in the nine months from
January to September 1923, 41,545 were British, 1.407 Italian, 514
Greek, 93 Maltese and 2,347 of various nationalities,

In 1924, when the first rumblings were heard about a supposed inva-
sion by Italian migrants, 88 335 British migrants entered the country,
compared with 4.540 Halians. In 1925, more than 30,000 British im-
migrants were admitted as against 6,016 Nalians and 1,000 or s0
others,

The average annual intake of 910 Ttalians rose to 3220 in the decade
between 1921 and 1930, only 1o drop the fullnwing decade 1o an an-
nual average of 1.775. In the five years from 1921 1o 1925, 17,092
arrived, making a total of 36,262 for the decade.

From 193] 1o 1935, when because of the severe economic depression
Italian immigration was, at least m theory, limited 1o family reunionss
the intake dropped to 7,234, later rising to 12,212, Without counting
thase who returned home, 55,708 Itulians settled in Australia from
1921 to 1940,

D.R.G. Packer in [talian Immigration into Australia stutes that ne
less than 100,000 Tralians would have worked in Australia by the time
the Second World War broke out, (16)
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Gualtiero Vaceari, on the other hund. claims the figure for lalrans
Who spent at least some time in Australia is closer to 123,000, (17)
One of the biggest differences in Italian emigration to Australia dur-
Ing this period was i the places the migrants came from. The biggest
merease oceurred in the number of migrants arriving from the south,
Putticularly from the province of Reggio Calabria. in Calabria, and
Certain parts of the Puglie and Campania, In the north the fargest in-
feise was in the numbers coming from the Vencto, Lombardy and
Friuli Venezia-Giulia.
Most Northern Italian migrants now came from the three provinces of
eenza, Treviso and Udine, rather than from the traditional sources
of the Sondro, Bergamo and Brescia provinces in Lombardy.
The togy) number of Sicilians emigrating o Australia also increased
slightly, The by now, traditional chain migration from the Acolian Is-

ands was followed by that from Catania and, of lesser magnitude,
om Siracusy. '

There were many reasons behind the rapid rise in Ttalian emigration
1o Australia in the immediate post-war period, one of the principal
Cluses being the 1921 American law wh‘icﬁ sel an annual intake guota
oL migrants from each overseas country. The figure was set at 3% of

€ number of migrants from that country already living in the United
States ar the time of the 1910 census:

The Italian quotid was therefore reduced (o some 40,000. New restric-
Hons were introduced in 1924 which reduced the intake further to
about 4 (). When many other countries followed the American
‘sample the only destinations still availuble to ftalian emigrants were
Ustraliy and some countries in South Amernica and Europe,

Another mgjor reason for the rise in ltalian emigration was the
seonomic climate, The Tralian ceonomy. which had been drained by
SUF Years of war, was in a precarious state and the emerging political
anuation: only helped to aggravate it. The peasant farmers, without
S0 financiy] assistance, were unable 1o seratch a living from unpro-
HEVE or tiny plots of land that were oo small to support a family.

H"‘“":"‘-‘fa 4 1924 survey of migrants travelling to Australia shn_\?cd
thﬂg more than a third were not emigrating out of economic necessity,

CIf eamings at home being quite sufficient. They were leaving in-
Slead in the hope of bettering their economic circumstances and
Partly also our of 4 spirit of adventure, Others were emigrating be-
CIUSE they had fittle work or were unhiappy with the pay they were
Eelling, Some, especiilly the Piedmontese, had had their small prop-
crues devastared by phylloxera, while others were fleeing excessive
tXes. Only ten of them said they had been unemployed for some
fime, (18) -

k‘aﬂ,\f Italians may iitially have been attracted by the rich Weft.em
Sralian mines and the suparcane plantations of Northern Queens-
M with intensive or mixe(harming only later exerting an influence.
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It should not be forgotten that many, perhaps the majority, came as 2
result of being encouraged by relatives living in' Australis who
sponsored them (sometimes for marriage) and often paid their ticket
across.

About two-thirds of the migrants in the 1924 survey had been spon-
sored, 20 or so had already been to Australia and had returned to
ltaly for the war, and “no one amyed without some reference point,
that is to say without some well-estublished relative or friend waiting
to meet them on arrival”, (19)

&liERSAGONY OF ITALIAN EMIGRATION BETWEEN THE

With the recommencement of Italian immigration into Australia came
a revival of political pressures in State and Federal parliaments. How-
ever, apart from resulting in a few minor restrictions nothing came of
them.
While the necessity of exploiting the natural resources of the country
was the subject of debate. there was at the same time a fear that the
arrival of non-British immigrants would upset the public order as well
as British habits and customs, Despite this the Federal Government
stuck firmly to its open-door immigration policy for all Europeans.
Renewed attacks on immigrants, however, were not long in coming
and were prompted by the arrival in Queensland of the Ttalian cruiser
Libia , which was greeted enthusiastically by the Italian community
there and i every port in the country. Seeing so many Italiany arrive
ing at once. Labor politicians accused the Government of having
entered into secret arrangements with Italy, (20)
The Queenshind Premier was forced to hurriedly explain to the Parli-
ament that "The Nalians are not being encouraged, just as the British
are not being discouraged.. ", (21)
The Queenstand Chamber of Commerce wanted the Federal Govern-
ment to intervene not only to protect Halian migrants but also to in-
crease Halian immigration into the State. However, the Prime Minis-
ter replied that while the Government’s policy of not rejecting any
European migrant would stand “po measures were envisaged 10
encourage Halian immigration to Australia”. (22
Following disturbances in Queensland the lalian Government de-
cided to send an inspector of the Halian General Comiission for
Emigration, Giovanni Dell'Oro, 1o examine the situation with regard
ta Ialian migrants in Australia, (23)
As s report was favourable. emigration to Australin was allowed to
continue unrestricted. During an International Economic Conference
held in Genoa, Don Sturzo, founder of the ltalian ‘Partito Popolare’,
met the Australian High Commissioner 1o London and proposed a
farming settlement plan for Nalian migrants, Sir Joseph Cox 1ook
little interest in the project, merely lodging a perfunctory report with
the Government.
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A few months later. on 19 September 1922, he attacked suggestions
by the Finance Committee of the League of Nations that Australia
provide assisted passage and settlement aid to a group of Italian far-
mers and forced the issue to be abandoned. (24)
The Austrulian press dramatised the incident with banner headlines
such as “Invasion of Australia syroposed™. Furthermore, with the arri-
val at the time of the ship Ormonde carrying 200 Italians, 1t was
suggested the invasion had already begun. Wherever there was an Ita-
n presence complaints about unemployment, violence and the poor
State of the economy began 1o be heard and panie spread through the
Population, .

The Ialian Embassy in London, after having sought the fullesy expla-
nation from the Australian Government. categorically denied news-
Paper reports of supposed disturbances provoked by Italians. For
their part the: Australian authoritics reassured their Italian counter-
PATTS that they had not received any protests or complaints, cither
irectly or imrirectl}-. from the Ttalian community in Australia. (25)
The situation was not much better in 1923. The Lloyd Sabaudo ship-
PIng company’s Re d'lralia arrived in January bringing 556 Italian
Mmigrants,  As soon as they disembarked they discovered that the
Promised weekly wages of £4 or £5 were an illusion and that, because
Of unemployment, work was hard to find. Many of them went back
0n hoarcrthe ship having decided they would not remain in Australia,
Towever, on the return journey they were forcibly made to disqm-
bark in Melbourne. Some of them found temporary accommodation
at the Cavour Club until, after the holiday period was over, they
were able to find work.

: 1€ more needy cases were helped by a collection of 200 pounds
raised by the Nalian community in Melbourne. (26) These migrqnu
were immediately followed hy another shipload of 600 Ilaiiam._“_wnh_
out uny specific 'plans and no money to cover the hasi_c necessities of
life as they waited to find work. More than 100 of the immigrants had
1o h" repatriated a1 Government expense, not without arousing local
feclings of distrust and open hostility...”. (27

That such things could happen was due 1o the lack of employment
dreaus and Government assistance for non-British migrants. All
Hon-Britons had to rely on their own resources, were not welcomed
by the workers' assaciations and were often r!rlrayel.l in the press as
“dirty and preasy, able (o live off the smell of an oily rag.™ (28)
D.R.G. Packer writes that during this period “..ltalian emigration
entered @ new phase, a less happy phase, as the influx of migrants
Wils accompanied and then followed by a sudden increase in gu[lural
antipathy and racial hatred...It became @ normal characteristic of
pany Australians to be hostile towards Italians, .organised anti-
Malian groups were formed, and campuigns in the press, outbursts in
Parliamen public gatherings and physical violence were all FEH'I of
the hostile reception. Australians wanted 1o maintain the traditional
B % intake of British migrants... So the White Australia Policy
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became even more restrictive than the British-Australia Policy. Tn
conclusion, Australia’s immigration policies have suffered from a fear
of three major bogeymen: the Chinese, the Kanakas and the Italians.
On each occasion as the number of migrants arriving grew so did the
opposition...” (29)

In 1924, Hunter, Head of the Immigration and Settlement Service in
Australia, expressed himself in the following way about the oppor-
tunities for Italian migrants in the Australian workforce: " Australia
resents itself as a country of immigration capable of absorbing Ita-
1an immigrants in any rural ocoupation; there is also a demand in the
building industry, but none in the mechanical trades.

"The Government, however, is unable to grant them any direct assis-
tance because of its agreement with the British autharities which com-
mits it to the annual intake of a specific number of immigrants from
the United Kingdom. The reception and settlement of new arrivals is
entrusted to the governments of the respective States and the number
of people lln.-eparcd to leave Great Britain is higher than the number
requested by the aforementioned States, The difficulty in the inclu-
sion of Italian migrants lies in their lack of English and in the fact
that there is no local organisation to assist their settlement. Every
worker should arrive with at least five or ten pounds in his pocket.
The only Government offices for the placement of workers in
employment are the labour bureaus of the Ministries for Immigration.
These, however, deal only with the placement of British Hmmigrants.
The State governments do not have at their disposal the funds to as-
sist Italian immigrants and cannot grant them land or other conces-
sions on special terms (payment in instalments over a number of
years, refunds of travel costs, ete....).

“There are no difficulties of a political, economic or social nature
which might be raised against Italian immigrants. The difficulties re-
main: 1) the language; 2) the luck of a local organisation to find work
for the immigrants and otherwise assist them; 3) Austraha's own need
to find more resources to assist the new arrivals.

“Australia overall is & country which cannot provide employment on
a large-scale for Italian immigrants; Italians can only be accepted
under certain conditions, gradually and in small numbers. Nor do |
believe it possible, judging by the current stite of affairs with regard
to British immigrants. to arrive at an agreement with the Federal
Government and the governments of the individual States which
might facilitate the emigration of Italian workers to Australia. al-
though there is no special reason why this should not he possible in
the event of a future major increase in settlement.” (30)

Unfortunately by 1924 the situation had become worse and conflict
between the new arrivals and the local population had reached fever
pitch. On the arrival of every ship carrying lalian immigrants there
was un chlnsio_n of bitter debate, protests, criticism and threats in
the press, by the unions and groups of various kinds. Newspaper arti-
cles spoke of the “decadent Southern European race”, of “the

]




degeneration of the racial stock”, of Italian cating habits, their
physical condition, their lack of English and other such things. (31)
There was also much discussion of the hardship endured by migrants,
of their struggling to survive without any money, of their having no
relatives or friends to lend 4 hand. There were reports that many
were exploited by their own countrymen, that fights broke out over
work and that there were other serious problems in the sugarcane
Plantations in Queensland where large numbers of Italians had set-
ted. (32) The newspapers even discussed how it might be possible to
bring in Northern Ttalian migrants and exclude those from the South
because their skins were darker. (33)

Robert Murray wrote: “Pressure was brought to bear on the Bruce-
Page Government by the unions, the press and certain Protestant
%‘;‘)I‘Ch%. for severe restrictions to be placed on Italian immigration.”

The political parties began blaming one another for the arrival of too
many Italians. Mr Watﬁins. the Honourable Member for Newcastle,
Warned about the slow but significant rise in the number of immig-
rants arriving from Southern Europe, suggesting that these people.
who were © ardly desirable”, paid only £12 for their journey out
when British migrants had to pay £32, and that furthermore, again
unlike the British, they were not made to undergo a medical
CXamination before they left.

The Member for Newcastle therefore concluded that the choices
CIng made in the selection of migrants were detrimental to the na-

l:{)sn) 45 a whole and specifically to public health and the economy,

-

F“"“Wil‘lg the rejection of these claims by the [talian Consul in Mel-
ourne, even the Prime Minister on 7 October felt bound to tell Par-
lament that “The Federal Government neither promotes nor encour-
d4ges Southern European emigration to Australia in any way, but lh}:
lonouryhle Member will be aware that, for various reasons of vari-
OUs Kinds, it would be a rather serious matter o prevent the landing
of immigrants from friendly European nations, provided that such im-
Migrants meet the prescribed health requirements and that there is no
Specific reason, of a political or other nature, for rejecting them; It is
EVen less appropriate 1o talk of differences between one country's im-
Migrants and another's. Nevertheless. in the interests of the immig-
fants themselyes and in order to try to regulate their arrival, we have
reached special agreements with certain countries tending towards the
ISsue of passports to a limited number of persons. 1 have already
mentioned the agreement reached with the Ttalian Government”. (36)
s Concerned the abolition of the rcquimmcnl_lhul‘lluhans emig-
rling 1o Australia carry visas issued by the British Consulate).
Having explained the restrictions imposed on immigration from par-
Heular countries, the Prime Minister refuted the Member for Newcas-
Ue's suggestions about the preferential treatment of Southern Euro-
Pean migrants, saying that the break-down of arrivals o the end of
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September by nationality was 41,545 British, 1,407 Ttalians, 514
Greeks, 93 Maltese and 2,347 others.

As for the compulsory medical examination, the Prime Minister said
that Italians were required to undergo one before embarking, while
British migrants were only examined if they applied for assisted pas-
sage, farming settlement concessions or in cases where there would be
a linancial burden on the Australian Government. (37)

The lalian General Commussioner for Emigration was aware of the
situation confronting Italians if they arrived in Australin penniless or
without the benefit of sponsorship. He had already ordered that be-
fore being granted permission to embark every Italian emigrant not!
sponsored by relatives or friends had to show he had cash reserves of
at least £40.

In late 1924, following a newspaper campaign opposing Italian immigs
ration in general and Southern Europeans in particular, the Aunstra-
lian authorities were also obliged to impose on foreigners the £40
{gg;lircmcnl already enforced by the TItalian General Commission.

However, despite the measures adopted by governments the year

. ended amid “a tumult of criticisms. protests, attacks, insults and.

Ehrcals against the immigration of our countrymen into Australia™.
39)

1925 offered renewed encouragement and hope both for new emig-
rants and the HMalian communities in Australia. First of all the new
Ferry Report praised the industriousness and honesty of Italian im-
migrants. Furthermore, the British Preference League had so slan-
dered the Ttalians that the Queensland Government had set up a
Royal Commission into “The social & economic effect of Increase in
Number of Aliens in Northern Queenstand”. The inquiry. which was
to consider the issue of foreign settlement generally in the country's
tropics ended up by becoming essentially an examination of the 1ia-
lian question. Its findings were not at all what had been expected by
the Commission’s proponents. The Commission in fict once again
spoke of the impeceable behaviour of the overwhelmin majority of
Italians, “The Italian immigrant knows how to stand up fm his rights.
is loyal to fellow union members, knows how 1o live well and his

standard of living is as high as that of the British.," (40)

Even the national press had begun 1o adopt a more benevolent and
sympathetic approach towards the lalians, “pointing out theif
genemsitr and recognising their utility with regard to local progress
and wealth”. (41) It began to be reglised that the much-vaunted
Anglo-Australian scheme for the settlement of 500,000 Britons in Au-
stralia was a failure.

The historic Brindisi-Melbourne-Tokyo-Rome flight of the Italian
aviator Commander De Pinedo contributed to this altered perception
of the Ttalhan migrant. (42)

The Ttalian Marquis Francesco De Pinedo, accompanied by his
mechanic Ernesto Campanelli, was the first long-distance uviator 10
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fly to Melbourne from Europe. All around Australia the authorities
and the people,  Auwstralians and Italians alike, celebrated the
courageous flight pioneer in a spontancous  show of communal
euphoria. The maost memorable moment came when the Italian com-
munity in Melbourne presented him with an engraved gold medal
mounted on g picee of eucalyptus wood. showing an eagle in flight
whose outspread wings embraced both Italy and Australia. (43)

Despite this the year 1925 was nor without its sour note. This was the
Year in which more Italians (6,016) arrived than any other non-British
BT0Up, surpassing even the number of Germans, However, the
scheduting of the intake had been poor: 4.000 arrived in the first six
months and only 2,000 in the second, Consequently. excessive num-
bers of Talians poured into certain areas, sucl‘l as Northern Queens-
and, where an over-production of sugar had led to unemployment.

The powerful Australian Workers' Union imposed a boycott on the
ransport ang crushing of sugarcane grown by Italians, and made
Plantation owners adopt employment quotas of 75% British labour
and only 259, foreign.
Emlg'ﬂdliun from the Italian province of Alessandria was suspended
for four months, the only exceptions being family reunion cases or
MIgranis sponsored by farm owners.
These temporary restrictions reduced [talian immigration for the year
10 3,952 arrivals, but in 1927 & post-war record of 7,884 was Set.
After 1927 the Italian Fascist Government started a campaign to dis-
Courage Italjan emigration in any form and the influx of Italians into
Australia dropped sharply.
AL the same fime the Labor Party, having come to power in 1929,
Sancelled aij agreements with Southem European countries and only
allowed the entry of relatives of Australian residents, and of migrants
With substantiy); unspecified, financial resources. In 1930, in the
epths of the Depression, the Government smxpcd all immigration
it o8 particularly harsh towards the Italians. At the same time that
1L was putting the necessary legistation through Parliament two Italian
ips. the Otranto and the Oxford were already on their way to
Ustralia carrying 170 [talian migrants. These migrants had satisfied
all "equirements, including sponsorship b relatives or friends, The
ustralian government reﬁlscd to allow them 1o disembark, despltc
""F rotests of the Italian authorities and the local press. After havin
trie unsuceessfully to land at several ports the two Italian vessels an
their passengers were forced to once again set sail for Ialy.
Ihe Depression was a difficult time for all, but immigrants were espe-
clally hard hig. They were often without family or friends for_sup_pmjt,
any did not even have an address at which they could receive mail,
€Y were nevertheless able to survive without flooding into the relief
ventres. This caused more friction with the local population and in-
Creased the hostility and envy felt towards them. lany Australians
With the Support of the unions and certain organisations such as the
Mtish Preference League called for Talian jobs to be given to locals
nd some went as far as demanding mass deportations.
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The TItalians had tormed small family and community support groups.
Those who owned a farm would provide food and lnc[;in in ex-
change for work. In Northern Queenstand several cooperatives had
been set up, characterised by good will and trust with réspect to
hours of work and wages.

1931 has been described by some as a year of panic. In January wages
were cut by 10% and in April the Bank of New South Wales closed
its doors. Many people sold their savings passbooks to speculators for
much less than face value. The number of unemployed continued to
grow and thousands of families were threatened with eviction from
their homes. In the depths of winter 33,000 peaple were living on the
streets, while more than 400,000 lived in hessian or bark huts or simi-
lar shanty-type housing, The unemployed travelled enormous dis-
tances looking for work to support their families.

Schools were turned into relief centres for the children of the jobless.
In one year alone 60,000 free meals, 7,000 items of clothing and 2,000
pairs of shoes were handed out in Vietorian schools.

The Lyons Government (1932-1934) which had succeeded Labor, not
only kept the immigration restrictions in place but raised to the ab-
surdly high ligure of £500 the capital needed 1o be able to settle in
Australia. However, it was more the country’s economic cir-
cumstances than its restrictive immigration policy which discouraged
immigration. It was only in 1936, after an improvement in the
national and international economic situation, that the amount of
money a migrant was required to have was reduced and Australian
citizens were allowed to sponsor European immigrants, provided that
they were guaranteed a job on arrival, In this period it was almosi
impossible to emigrate to Australia without being able to count on
the help of friends or acquaintances.

Once the fear of the recession had passed, the Australian attitude (o-
wards Italian migrants deteriorated, not only because of the intense
competition for jobs, but also because of certain political events. The
1935 Italian invasion of Abyssinia had alarmed local public opimon
and the imposition of sanctions by the League of Nauons, of which
Australia was 1 member, meant that once again an obviously uneusy
relationship existed between the two groups.
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I the populated regions Australla Qitfers livtle trom one State 10 another, while the
Sparsely seitled dﬁt? uninhabited areas are monotonously uniform.

Australia i divided into six States which initially were six colonies; and which strove
OF independence, first from eich other and then from the mother country, because
of that natural desire to hecome atitonomons, a chameteristic o every piangering
l"e(\plg_

There are no matural borders; the chimate and the nature of the soil are identical
and the methods of explotiing i1 ure the same

:‘vl‘ltﬁml the same types of [alians inoall the States and even their life styles dre
LTS

The Contederution, which wnited the Ausiralion States in 1901 and imposed
Lommon lows, especially in those arcas relating 1o emigration and colonisation i
cocral, readily absorbed the laliuns, their ways of living and working, their
Yevelopment of the country and their uselulness as colonisers,

We will ook at otly four of these Colony-States, those in which the lalians are
3en 10 be most numerous and in which thels contribution his been groatest - New
South Wiles. Victorin, Western Australin and Oucensland
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BRIEF GEOGRAPHICAL AND HISTORICAL OUTLINE OF
NEW SOUTH WALES

New South Wales is situated in the South-East part of the
Australian continent and occupies an area of 798,337 square
miles. (1)

It shares (ts northern border with Queensland, Its South-West
border with Victoria, its western border with South Australia and
its shores to the east are bathed by the Pacific Ocean

It could be divided into four principal regions which run paraliel to
the coast, (a) the coastal plains which are mostly narrow, fertile
and irngated, (b) the high plains of the Great Dividing Range, (c)
the Western hills and (d) the Western dry plains which receive
less than 178mm of rain per annum

The main rivers in the State are; the Murray, length 1,830 miles
the Darling, length 2,560 miles; the Macquarie, length 860 miles.
the Namoi, length 850 miles: the Murrumbidgee, length 1,500
miles and the Lachlan, length 1,480 miles v

Like the topography the climate varies greatly. It ranges from &
minimum of zero or below 2zero in the Australian Alps 10 a
maximum of 38°C in the dry areas to the west. (2)
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As we have already seen, Australia was first sertled on the New
South Wales coast at a Place called Sydney Cove in the Jackson
Bay area,

The place chosen by the botanist. Joseph Banks of Captain Cook’s
Expedition, was declared unsuitable by Governor Phillip to found

the colony because the soil appeared sandy and sterile and
finking water was scarce,

AS a result Phillip had the prisoners transported, immediately after
dissmbarking, further north where the land seemed better and
there was a better water supply. He chose a little harbour in the
Southern side of the big bay called Jackson and had the cove
called Sydney Cove. It was the 26th January, 1788,

During the following year the first Government House was built.
Now exploration commenced to find land suitable for agriculture
and in 1790 the land yielded its first products. In 1792, because of
Poor health, Governor Phillip was forced to leave the colony. He
was succeeded by three governors — Captain J. Hunter (1795-
1800), Philip G. King (1800-1806) and William Bligh (1806-1808),

The flatter brought the colony to the point of rebellion. Major-
General Macquarie (1810-1821) (3) put the colony back on its feet,
re-establishing order. implementing standards of cleanliness and
hygiene, opening Up roads and means of communication.

In 1823 the first Legislative Council was established and the posi-
tion of the first Chief Justice was created. In 1830 the numbers of
deportees were reduced and in 1840 deportation of convicts finally
Ceased altogether

In 1885 a self-governing and democratic government was initiated. (4)
The establishment of the political structures corresponded with a
certain economic prosperity, The wool industry. the coming of free
migration, merchants, artisans and rofessionals, cattle raising and
finally the discovery of gold in the gamursr district in 1851 all con-
tributed to the economic prosperity.
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7 FROM FREE IMMIGRATION TO
= THE CENSUS

In the first part of this history of Italian migration to Australia we
ook & brief glance ar the events surrounding the discovery of
ustralia. We looked at its dificult beginnings as a penal colony, at
¢ first phases of the presence of the- Italians, at the immigration
4Ws dind at the implcmcnmtiun of the White Australia Policy. Now
We wish 10 present in more detail the events governing the settlement
Of Ttalian immigrants in the main Australian colonies. It is a sketchy
and incomplete history.
[t is made up of short news items, names and facts which we will use.
like the tessels of a mosaic, to reconstruct some local aspects of the
IStory of our immigrants in Australia.

It was not, as stated sarlier, an organised or negotiated migration; it
Was not a mass exodus as in other countries and did not originate
only from Ttaly. but it was for a long time, a migration that one could
call individual, exploratory and almost temporary.

Many came and returned, leaving hardly a trace of themselves.
thers, once they had decided to remain or were forced by cir-
Cumstances to remain, disappeared among the local, much more
umerous population. These little sporadic carly nuclei which failed
to develop during this time through chain migration (which, until the
last World War, became the main characteristic of Italian Migration
10 this country), were not mentioned in the official history of the
colonies,
We find details of our earliest Ttalian migrants in the local chronicles
and in the archives. They are just names listed in old bundles of re-
cords, in the holdings of State Libraries and in Church registers
Where marriages and baptisms were recorded, For many vears one
could not speak of mass migration. But it is nevertheless certain that
the history of our migration begins and nearly always coincides with,
gr follows a little later, the birth of the various colonies or Australian
Aates,

We start this historical onslaught with the first colony, the Mother
Colony, New South Wales, New South Wiles, without doubt, can
boast ‘of the oldest Italian migration. Indeed, we have already met
Italians among the deported conviets and free migrants in this colony.
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Since 1840, when Australia opened its doors to free immigration, a
migratory trickle began that, for one reason or another, has never
dried up.

STONE-MASONS FROM LOMBARDY

The first Italian migrants to arrive in the colony, apart from a few
priests invited by the first Catholic Bishop of Australia, Bishop Bede
Polding, were 70 Lombard stone-masons, recruited by Jules Joubert,
who, together with his brother Dodier, was planming to build « village
near Sydney.

“I looked around,”™ writes Jules Joubert, “to buy some lund that conld
be valuable in the future, and in the end, 1 settled for a site on one of
the estuaties of Port Jackson (Sydney Harbor), known as Hunter's
Hill. 1 must confess that the site did not enjoy & good reputation.
There were nearly 200 acres of land, uccupicdj. n part, by some yery
rough people, old convicts or deserting sailors, jail birds, ete., 1
bought that land in the full knowledge of its reputation and started
working honestly to redeem it.” (1)

In those days Hunter's Hill peninsula, because of its geographical lo-
cation, between the Lane Cove and Parramatta Rivers, was almost in-
accessible. Its isolation made it a completely separate colony from
Sydney, one of the first to be built as a kind of suburb. The wo
Joubert brothers left France and after a long and eventful journey
around the world, arrived in Australia oo 1st May 1837, and decided
to settle permanently.

They bought their strip of land from a certain Mrs, Mary Reiby with
the intentton of building a French style village. However, the most
difficult problem was to find craftsmen who Knew how to work with
the soft rock of Gosford., which wis plentiful in the area.

Undeterred, and without further ado, one of the brothers returned to
Europe to the region of Lombardy, Northern Italy, where he ob-
tained all the professional stone-masons he needed. He drew up con-
tracts of work and engaged 70 of them. almost all from Viltelfing and
Brescia, We don’t know when they started arriving, but without
doubt in the second hall of the 1840°s some were already on the site,
because the very fine house of Dodier Numa Toubert wis finished in
1847, It was one of the first to be built. (2)

Houses began to spring up everywhere according to a well-organised
plan, one after the other, in rapid succession. almost hidden by the
thick bush of cucalyptus trees. Under the surprised and hostile eyes
of the Aborigines, a rather inaccessible zm{r rocky landscape was
transformed into a well planned and well built suburb, The expertise
of the Ttalian stone-masons was such that they began 10 attract the
curiosity of the many people who came from the city (o see for
themselves what was happening. “Some of the most intelligent people
of the colony were also attracted.”™ writes GIN. Griffiths. “At one
stage, in fact, §ix university professors and five judges of (he High
Court were living there.” (3)
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“When my work at Hunter's Hill had ended.” continues Joubert. *it
Was possible for me, with the help of those capable Ttalian stone-
Masans, to accept other contracts of work in Sydney and district and
10 ereet big bui[dings and warehouses, ete, Our work was organised
through a cooperative system which was economically more advan-
tageous for both parties, in spite of trades and trade unions.” (4)

Many of these pioncers have become part of the history of Hunter's
Hill.” As soon as they had the time and the oppartunity, they too,
built their own houses in the same place or nearby. People say that
the Garibaldi Hotel. which John Cuneo built by himself, was the first
af its kind at Hunter's Hill. Cuneo also carved a small statue of
Garibaldi and put it in a niche aboye the main entrance of the hotel,
Contemporaries say also, that the hotel was built on a well chosen
Site; people could stop and drink a glass of beer or wine before going
down 1o the port or on returing from it. It also became a favorite
meeting-place for the Ttalians, Near the hotel there is still & fairly bi

lace which, in those days. was used as a butcher's shop. One o

unea’s sons was the manager.

Along Sca Avenue there is also the “Floridiana Villa", which be-
longed o Cav. Carlo D'Apice, who lived there with his family until
1920, He called it the “Floridiana Villa®, after the Palace in Naples
Where he had spent his youth. At the entrance to the Villa he had the
Masons write on u stone the word, “Benvenuto (Welcome)™.

In the second half of [800, Giuliano Righetti bought a plot of land in
Rocklands Avenue, from D.N. Joubert and built his own house from

sone. One of his daughters is still living in the house at the present
time,

In 1861 A. Bondictti, contractor, had already built a house for him-
Self at 31 Madeline Street. In 1886 he sold 1t 1o Angelo Tornaghi,
Who called it “Milano House”. Tornaghi, a watchmaker and inventor
of precision instruments, was mayor of Hunter's Hill in 1879 and then
again from 1882-83, Bondietti, among other things, is remembered
for the construction of the Congregational Church in Alexandra
Street in 1875, A descendant of the Bondietti family was also
Mayoress of Hunter's Hill, (5)

[n the Sydney Directory and in the Parish registers of baptisms and
Marriages of the Catholie churches at Hunter’s Hill and Balmain, the
names which recur most often are Ambrogio and Giovanni Am-
brasoli, stone-masons; Antonio Bondietti, contractor: Pietro Canali
and Carlo Cerutti, stone-masons: Giovanni Cuneo, owner of the
Garibaldi Hotel; Tommaso Cuneo, butcher: Carlo D'Apice, teacher
of music and Mrs, D'Apice of a “Jadies’ school™ Edoardo and
Stefano Ferrari, quarrymen; Arturo Frappoli, blacksmith; Giacomo
Peati, quarryman: Giuliano and Augusto Righetti, stone-masons;
Pietro \}nscl 4, carpenter; Francesco Zold, stone-mason: Mrs. Zola,
owner of & lundry and Pietro Zanoli, stone-mason,

Other names which appear are those of An elo Amazzoli, Azzopardi,
Bogni, Cavalla, Foscu, Chilbardotti and Tanzi. (6)
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In the last 23 years of the century, we also find the names of
Tornaghi, Pasquale Montuori, Marzagora, Bernasconi, Marcoling,
Mirando, Antoniello, Palise. Russo. Santamaria, Martinelli and
Cincorta. (7)

All this shows that. not only did manf of the initial group of
Lombard stone-masons settle  permanently by building their own
houses in Hunter's Hill, but also that several of the Italians who
arrived later chose the same area as their place of residence. In con-
clusion, one could say that, through the houses they built, the Italians
left & permanent landmark n the municipality “of Hunter's Hill.
Some, who settléd permanently in the place, became honored citi-
zens; others scattered in different localities, where they made their
own contributions by dint of hard work and skilled labour.

While Hunter's Hill was in full construction, the first gold was disco-
vered in the colony. The “rush” that such news provoked was not as
impressive as the earlier “gold rush” in the colony of Victoria. All the
same, it was equally huge in disrupting the life of the city of Sydney,
which was emptied of its male population, leaving behind women
children and the elderly. This was the time when other Italians ar-
rived from Northern Italy, together with thousands of gold-diggers
who came from all parts of the globe.

Whilst it is still difficult, because of the luck of documentation, to fol-
low their movements, we find from several sources, that, in the sec-
ond half of 1850, some Italians were well placed in business. For
example, Antonio Caproni, pattern maker of 338 Pitt Street:
Giuseppe Corti, frame-maket of 300 Castlereagh Street: Walter
D’Arictta (son of Gian Battista, who arrived in the Colony in 1824),
composer and musician of 324 Bougham Street; Emesto Spagnolett,
music teacher in Balmain; a certain Lucerdu. barber of 206 Par-
ramatta Road; Gioseppe Anselmo, shoe-maker, Sussex  Street:
Giovanni  Battista  Bassetti, hotel proprictor, Essex Street and
Giovanni Bernasconi, engraver and jeweller, Castlercagh Street. (3)
Furthermore, in 1853, a certain Giovanni Degotardi, printer and
hotographer, arrived in Sydney on the Panthea. He was born in
biana of parents of Austrian nationality (it was the time in which
the three Venetian regions were under Austria). Degotardi is ye-
nowned for his system of printing phmugml;hs- He won four prizes at
the International Exhibition in London, 1873, and in Sydney in 1879,
()
At the time of the first strolling light orchestras began to appear
along the city streets, "This type of music existed on charity and rose
spontancously along the footpaths in King Street.” writes Isidore
Brodsky. “One could never forget Mr Torzillo and his sweet harp and
Frank Boffa for the softness of his gypsy violin, Mr Boffa was often
to be seen at dusk in front of the Boomerang Howel, when peaple
were going to or ¢coming from the theatre™ (10)
An engineer is also mentioned, a certain O, Farioly De Rozzoli. He
must have been fairly well known. As a matter of fuct, in 1863, the
Catholic priest John Joseph Terrey, who intended to sell the
1%
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Tha house of Jules Jeoubert
The ofigimal farm. house of Count Loopoldo De Salis
(Courtesy G 'Nesia Gpffiths: Some Southem Homes of NS W }
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concessions of 1,400 acres of land received from Governor Bourke in
1833 (a concession that extended from Whale Beach to Newport, and
from Pittwater to the Pacific Qcean). engaged De Rozzoli to sub-
divide his vast property into small lots. However, De Rozzoli was not
very familiar with English measurements and when the sub-division
Was completed, it turned out that the buyers received less land than
their entitlement. (11)

We find De Rozzoli again in 1887, in Hurstville, a Sydney suburb,
where he settled with his family. In May of the same vear he wrote a
letter to a certain Francesco Sceusa, congratulating him for the
“spirited manner in which you have taken up the cudgel on behalf of
the Italian residents of Sydney.™ (12)

ROAD BUILDERS, FARMERS AND SQUATTERS

In an article published in the magazine of the Royal Historical Soci-
ety, under the title, “Bownfels and Kirkconnel in the sixties”, we
have further proof of the existence of an Ttalian community in
Sydney.

“During the five or six years that my father spent in the locality, a
few teams of Italian migrants were brought from Svdney to carry out
roadworks. They were from Piedmont, Northern Italy, and were good
types of men, very industrious. I heard of them from my parents,
They did not know English, so the superintendent of the works was
compelled to'study their language to be able to give them instructions
and to understand their needs. He did this with the help of his wife
Who understood a little bit of Italian and she, in her turn, was helped
by a knowledge of the classics and she also knew a lttle French and
Portuguese,

A few years later, my father again met some of these men who. in
the meantime, had become prosperous colonists on the Clarence
River. One of them was, 1 think, the man who. carly in 1870, had
found a deposit of gold near Yulgibar, which he called ‘Solferino gold
diggings’.” (13)

We find Italians everywhere in this vast colony, amongst the farmers
and the squatters, In particular they were present in the districts of
Bathurst, })rangc and Young. An examination of the 1881 edition of
the Country Directory of New South Wales revealed almost 200 Ita-
lian names of which ‘the majority was engaged in farming,

James McClelland, in his Convict and Pioneer History, under the title
of “Squatters”, also mentions Ialian names such as Giacomo Ronda,
Leopaldo De Salis, Carlo Marina and Felice Favretti. (14) Of
Giacomo Ronda we know only that he had a bi property at Mount
Arthur Montefiore. We know that Favretti was Enm m Venice, mig-
rated to Australia and settled on a farm in the district of Dubbo,
Count Leopoldo De Salis of Florence was borhy on 16 April 1816 and
arrived in Sydney on I8 November 1840, on the ship Royal George:
he  had  also  studied sheep  farming  in Scotland.
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Without wasting any time De Salis, full of hope, bought, in partnet-
ship, a big property renowned for its horses, at Dalbalara, near Yass,
to the South of the colony. But because of a long ind severe drought
they had to sell out 4 short time later — horses and property. People
say that the day after the signing of the contract of sale ran fell. in
such quantities that two partners, with a little paticnce could have
saved both property and horses but. by that tme, it was too late.
On that occasion De Salis wrote, “Despite my despair, | have made
up my mind to settle here and be happy. * Indeed. in 1544 he married
Claarloue' George McDonald's daughter, and the following vear he
bought another farm. and by 1854 he had added two more large

roperties. In 1855 he sold everything, determining once more 1o 20
Eac_ definitely to Euru?c, However, a little later. he bought the
property of Cappacumbalong, renowned for s sheep and its valuable
wool. He built a park with many English trees, an avenue of poplars
from Lombardy and carried out irrigation works. He began to take an
interest in meteorology also.

In 1864 Count De Salis, 4 magistrate since 1B, was elected a
member of the Legislative Assembly of the colony for the Consti-
tuency of Queanbeyean, He was a friend and supporter of Henry
- Parkes. He suﬂ_jm‘rlcd the introduction of a tax as an insurance
against natural disasters. In 1869 he was defeated in his constituency
by William Forster. but in 1872 he succeeded in having his son
czzclcd. (lil) )
Another Ttalian, worthy of mention, 15 Charles Marina. native of the
Duchy of Parma. Because of his patriotic ups and downs he could be
considered a victim of the Italian Risorgimento, that is, of Italy's
great national revival in the mid-19th century, The son of an agricul-
tural businessman, he obtained a dcﬁrcc i engineering and studied
music at the Conservatory of Milan. He then joined the Picdmontese
army and took part in the battle of Novara in 1849, when he was
taken prisoner. He managed to escape and Jomed the Garibaldini sol-
diers, but during the siege of Rome was again taken prisoner. Havin
regained his freedom, he wandered between lalta, Traly anc
England. In 1856 he decided to migrate 1o Australia,

Having landed in Melbourne, he immediately moved 10 the Burran-
ong gold fields in the New South Wales colony, where he opened 4
Eu:c er’s shop, In 1861 he married a young widow, Flea Tout, The
following year he rented a sheep station near the town of Young and
later bought a property of 11,255 acres. Although known as % vine-
rower, hortieulturist and exhibitor of cattle, Maring distinguished
imself in a special way because of his passion for sheep hrecdmg_ He
started with sheep belonging to the breed introduced into (he colony
by MacArthur, but then bettered their quality artificially, He won
various prizes and meduls with them at the anpual Sydney Show,
where he exhibited regulurly. Between 1880 and 1890 fe never had
fewer than 12,000 sheep. Marina was also an expert breeder of
horses. In 1880 he won first prize at the show at Young with a pure
bred stallion and two years later bought the famaous Stratageém, step-

brother of the champion, Cremorne, Unfortuanely, two years later,
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Stratagem was killed with a rifle shot. The culprit for this crime
Was never found. despite a large reward offered by Marina,
A pioneer and a charitable man, Marina was well known and ap-
Preciated in Young. His property became a show place and attracted
constant visitors. In front of the main gates he had written with flow-
€rs, “Welcome-Benyenuto™. He died on the 30 September; 1909. His
Property was valued at £17,544. (16)
Another Ttalian of note was a certain Nicola Jasprizza, 1835-1901.
Born in Dalmatia, he arrived in Sydney in 1864. From there he
moved to the gold fields of Lambing Flat. Instead of digging for gold
¢ started growing vegetables, then vines and fruit trees. By 1884 he
ad put 900 acres under cultivation, He was the first to mtroduce the
growing of cherries to the district of Young. In 1901 he was mysteri-
t("ll'{;ily killed by a shot in his house. The crime was never resolved,
)

In that triangle which extends between Bathurst, Lithgow and YounF,
other Ttalians settled, in the years 1860-70. Although unlucky as gold
diggers, they became successful farmers because of their persevering
hard work, For example, the Florentine family, Lazzarini, settled in
Young in 1860, while the Lucchetti family was one of the first to
Settle in Lithgow and Bathurst. (18)

In the little town of Boremore, eight miles from Orange. on the list
Of those residents who asked for a school to be established, the
hames of Tralians appear. Also. on a copy of the class register of stu-
dents present at the official opening of the school, the names of
Luciano, Leno and Steven Mastronardi ap(;;car. The three brothers

are also found in a school photograph. (1
When, in 1881, the government of the colony of New South Wales
decided ~ as we will see - o scatter the survivors of the unlucky ex-
Pedition of Murquis de Rays, Carlo Marina took an interest in having
some of them moved 1o the Young district. As soon as he heard of
their arrival, Marina went to Sydney to help and to offer them work
On his property. Without any names, this is how the news was
conveved:

= WO couples, one bachelor and four children — labourers; £40 a year
for one couple, one bachelor and four children; £26 for the second
couple.

~ one couple. two children four years old, an infant and a bachelor -
labourers; £40 a year.

© One couple, two spinisters, two bachelors, two children two and
four years old - Iall-:mmcrs; £48 a year and three allowances,

~ TWo couples, a widow with a child — labourers: £40 a year.

- one couple. three sons, 11, nine and seven years old and an 18 year
old daughter ~ labourers; £40 a vear. (20)
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THE CITY OF SYDNEY

We have 1o wait until 1881 in order 1o have some precise documenta-
tion on the Italians who settled in the city of Sydney itsell. However,
we have collected some information from various sources which,
though fragmentary, is useful to reconstruct certain aspects of the Tra-
lian community in this city in the second half of the last century,

For example, General Bartolomeo Galletti, secretary to the great ac-
tress, A. Ristori, wrote in his book, “A trip around the world with
Ristori”, about the trip and about meetings with a certain number of
Italians residing in Sydney. “The lalians of this city are small in
number.”, he wrote on 22 July, 1875, “We met Abbot Coletti, the
secretary to the Archbishop of Sydney. Bishop B, Polding. Coletti is
a fine and pleasant young Roman, the nephew of the famous
baritone, Coletti, and a friend of my carly youth.

“Near Villa Maria the Milanese, Mr Tornaghi lives with his family in
his own house, He too, has been in Australia for many vears and is a
successful mechanic, indeed he has done a lot of work for the govern-
ment in Sydney. Among other works he designed and supervised the
installation of the great clock at the Sydney Post Office, which bears
his name.”

“Among the members of the Italian community in Sydney Mr Modin
stands out. Though he originally came from Canton Ticino, he is con-
sidered an Italian and that he 1s, in his heart and feelings, In his well-
stocked shop, a kind of bazaar, he sells everything, especially [talian
goods, which he imports not so much for the money, but for the com-
mendable intention of making them known here in the interests of
commerce. He has managed very successfully to market hunting rifles
which come from the factories of Brescia. On my part, 1 nominate
this fine man to the Minister of Foreign Affairs for the Knight's Cross
of the Crown of Italy.”

Moving then to the two Romun artists and sculptors, Jannevitti and
Simonetti, Galletti says of the latter, “He was a rough Trasteverine
who in 20 words could fit in 10 ‘damns’, but he is fairly well en-
dowed with talent and artistic feeling. His busts in marble, especially
that of the Governor, conveyed strong likenesses to the subject and
were highly praised. This naturally gave his work a certain acceplance
and his fortune. one could say, was assured. I say this with pleasure
because | know Simonetti’s father who, at my request, made y little
monument to my beloved father in the Church of St. Lawrence of
Damaso in Rome."”

“I also met a former Captain in the ltalian army who had two
brothers, one a Colonel and the other a General in Italy. This former
Captain is now with a cook in a restaurant and earns £20 4 month. |
say this not in derision, but in praise, because he who earns his living
with his work has the right to esteem and respect.”

“Again m Sydney, | had the unexpecied pleasare of meeting a “dead
man returned from the grave’. One day my old and good friend Mr
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Spagni of Modena, whom | had thought to be among the ‘number of
the majority’ for at least 20 ears, turned up in front of me, alive and
icking, and he embraced me His handshake calmed me and
reassured me that 1 wasn't dealing with a ghost.
“The small Italian community experienced days of celebrations during
the visit of "la Ristori’, and one evening, after the third act of “Pia’, a
deputation of Italians led by Mr Maodini, read a patriotic address and
presented the singer with abeautiful crown complete with the Italian
colours. At the conclusion of the performance came the most extraor-
iy moment of the evening. A four horse carriage welcomed ‘la
Ristori' who was coming out of the theatre and, escorted by horse
guards, and a huge crowd of a plauding people playing musical in-
struments and holding torches. \lu was accompanied 10 her hotel. not
by the shortest route, but by the long route through the main city
Streets. One has to give credit to the small Italian community who
were able to instil the sacred Latin fire into those people imbued with
the typical English reserve, Having arrived at the hotel, ‘la Ristori’
1ad 1o reappear several times on the halcony, at the request of the
public, At last the celebrations ended with the usual champagne flow-
g freely 1o all those in the deputation, their friends and the Italians
Who filled the rooms of our apartment, ‘La Ristori’ had given about 40
Performances in Sydney alone, to a great number of people.”

Galletti was keen to stress that he had the pleasure of seeing several
friends, among them, Mr Montefiori, “Montefiori was o rich banker,
related to the Montefiori in London. He was also a distinguished
amateur painter. He painted beautiful landscapes and presented ‘la
Ristori® with 4 splendid work, because of its originality and perfect

finish — a pack of French cards.” (21)

THE INTERNATIONAL EXHIBITION OF 1879-80 IN SYDNEY

The participation of Ttaly at the International Exhibition in Sydney
Was mainly the work of the Florentine, Oscar Meyer. Meyer managed
the Ttalian pavilion at the International Exhibition in Paris in 1878,
and met, by chance, Mr Coombs, the representative for the exhibi-
on of New South Wales. On that occasion Mr Coombs urged Mever
10 make enquiries with the Italian authorities in Rome bout the pos-
Sibility of Italian participation at the Exhibition in Sydney. Meyer im-
mediately set about organising the Italian pavilion with the participa-
ton of 50 Italian firms, (22)

Numerous magnificent works of art, sculptures in marble and in
Wood, oil paintings, mosaics and marbles o exceptional beauty were
displayed in the Ttalian pavilion. There were the famous hats from
avorno and well finished straw hats and baskets, jewels from Flor-
ence and Rome, cameos and their appropriate tools. Machinery to
ol dough was displayed, also fountain-pen inks and Ermung inks,
Wax matches, salt, pork, ham. corn and cerceals, vegetables and pre-
served fruits, wines and liqueurs, etc. The Ttalians won several prizes.
Mariotti and Fantoni won first prize for their tables made of mosaics
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and A. Tomei for a collection of various types of marbles used in
Florentine works. Other Italians who won first prizes were the
Robertson brothers from Livorno for the manufacture of macaroni
and vermicelli, M. Arrighetti from Florence for macaroni and olive
oil, A. Giuli and O, Cesare for olive oil and G. Amoruso for the
machinery to produce oil. (23)

One must add that the Italian exhibitors found themselves at home in
Sydney. Indeed it was Maestro Cav, Giorza who composed the open-
ing hymn of the exhibition. The people present roared their applause
and demanded an encore, which was given only at the Governor's
consent. Too, at the closing ceremony of the exhibition they sang the
hymn, “Australia”, another composition by Giorza, and then the

ational Anthem.

One has to mention here another artist, Mr Ercole Ortori, director of
the instrumental section of the Sydney orchestra who, with his
violin, made himself popular all over Australia. (24)

Finally we must mention that the organiser of the Italian pavilion,
Oscar Meyer, stayed and settled in Australia. A pioneer of industry
and Italian trade in Australia, he was the founder of the Italian
Chamber of Commerce in Sydney. In 1882 he co-ordinated the
Australian participation in the Third International Geography Con-
ress in Venice, at the Royal Palace under the chairmanship of the
%rin::e of Teano. Even though he was carrying out important tasks in
commercial fields for the government of New South Wales, which he
also represented overseas, Oscar Meyer was, all his life, closely con-
nected with Ttaly and the interests of Italians in Australia, It was this
sentimental attachment to Italy which moved him to organise a public
appeal for the carthquake victims of Messina in 1908, The fund
reached £4.812. (25)

Meyer was certainly not the only one to try a new lifeé in this country
or 1o encourage others to follow his example, but one could say that
with him, the initial phase of our miF,ramry flow to New South Wales
ended, With the arrival in Sydney of the survivors of the unfortunate
expedition of the Marquis de Rays a more systematic and numerous
migration began.
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Some of the survivors of de Ruys expedition. Top left: G Battistuzz; top nght
Vincent Bazro; bottomn loft- S Martinizzi; bottom tight! Mrs Lucy Nard)
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8 = ATRAGIC EPISODE

This must be the saddest of all events in the history of Italian emigra-
on to Australia. Because of its sequence of tragic and extraordinary
events and, above all because of the tenacity and courage with which
4 group of Italian migrants faced up to their desperate situation, it
CServes 1o be treated in some detail in a chapter of its own.

We intend, thercfore, to tell the reader about the sad odyssey of
some hundreds of human beings who, notwithstanding the tragic set-
backs they met. still had the courage, the stamina and the strength to
transform. barren, stony ground which was “looked down on by the
English as useless”, into splendid gardens and vineyards. (1)

The Italian, ut least in those days, was a farmer who knew the land
and knew how to make it flourish, It is particularly evident that Ita-
tans could turn naturally barren land into productive soil. What
might have happened if better land, which is so plentiful in Australia,
had been made available 1o our countrymen? We are sure they would
have turned into gardens “the boundless countryside where Savages.
the kungaroo and the emu still wander”. (2)

Today, u century later, we have our proof of it = it is enough to men-
Bon just a few areas, North Queensland. the Riverina. the
Goulburn Valley and Sunraysia, to be convinced.
On 4 April, 1879, 0 French aristocrat, Charles De Breil, Marquis de
4YS, a Breton nationalist. traveller and scholar, a man of action with
an interest in social problems, launched the idea of founding a colony
In the south seas, He had already found the setting - that part of
New Guinea which was unoccupied by the Dutch, together with the
surrounding islands from New Ireland to the Solomons. It was a ter-
ritory where no-one had ever raised o European flag, at least, not
with the clear intention of settling there.

According to the first plans, the colonisation was to begin on New
Ireland, “rechristencd *New France”. The island of 517 square
Kilometres was little known at the time of our story and the Marquis
de Rays had chosen it with the help of maps and tales of discovery by
famous explorers. He had never visited the rlacc personally, but re-
lied, above all, on the evidence compiled in 1823 by the French com-
mander, Dupcm‘j, who had described it #s a veritable Eden. That
was enough for de Rays to decide to occupy it and tum it into a
French colony. However, in reality the island proved to be very
different from the description of Duperrey .
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The coastal waters were, for the most part, shallow and marshy, A
chain of high mountains, rising to 2,000 metres, ran through the
interior and the whole island was covered with steamy tropical
forests. The climate was tropical, unhealthy and favourable. at hest,
1o growing coconuts and other tropical fruits.

On 26 July of that year, 1879, the Marquis launched his project by
inserting an advertisement in the Petit Journal and afterwards in
many other French newspapers and magazines. "Colony of Port Bre-
ton. Land at five francs a hectare. Rapid, secure fortune without
leaving the protection of your own country, For information contact
the Marquis Du Breil de Rays, Chateau De Quimark en Banebec.™
(3)

This first notice had no great success. De Rays, not at all deterred,
launched a second advertisement which, “on payment of 1.800 gold
francs,” promised the families of future colonists *20 hectares of Lnd.
a four-roomed house, board and lodgings for the eight months follow-
ing disembarkation, a third class ticket to Port Breton and (he
carriage of 100 kilos of luggage per person.™

For those unable 1o pay such an amount and who were prépared to
be employed as labourers for at least five years, the rewurd would
have been “a 20 hectare block of land and a house. the payment of
250 francs for a single man or woman, 125 francs for children and
1,000 francs for families with at least five members. The voyage, pro-
visions and board for the five year engagement would also be pros
vided. All married women, likewise children under 12, were not
excused from the obligation to work”, (4)

Following the newspaper advertisements, de Rays opened offices at
Bordeaux, Quimpiere, Paris and Brussells, piling promise upon prom-
ise. He kept repeating in the newspapers and at meetings which were
held in the main French cities, “1 intend to found a frée settlement of
the English kind, which aims to establish a vast market in colonial
goods. Whoever wishes to emigrate there will be free from all worr

and will come o know what it means to work in peace and faith, ™ (3

As well, de Rays described the island as a “place characterised by
great fertility, with a climate equal to that of southern France, peren-
nially cooled by a Pacific breeze, rich in springs and water-courses.
able to be cultivated easily and ideal for produce of either tropical or
temperate climes.” (0)

Even more numerous applications began coming . On 14
September, 1879, the first 100 colonists set sail for New Ireland
aboard the Chandernagore, a solid salling ship of 900 tons. They
arrived at their destination four months later on 16 January. 1886,
The rude awakening for those first colonists wis immediate once they
came into contact with the grim reality so different from what they
had been led to expect. Some wanted to turn back at once. without
even landing, but the Captain. after circumnavigating the island
offloaded them at Liki-Liki Cove. The poor untortunates found 1hem-
selves on a strip of beach flanked by tropical jungle and surrounded
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by high mountains. The forest was impenetrable and inhabited by
fieree cannibal tribes, known as headhunters.
Leaving them huddled together on the beach to face their destiny, the
ship set sail for Sycney and supplies, (7)
In December of the same year, de Rays, still not at all deterred. sent
out the Genil with 40 more colonists, nearly all Spanfards. A few
Newspapers, which had already raised the alarm after what had hap-
pened to the Chandernagore, foreefully wamed of the dungers of
Stmilar undertakings being launched into the unknown. But the news
had hardly arrived that Baron de la Croix, the colonial Lieutenant.
had taken possession of the island, when the Genil put to seu.
Meanwhile, another 46 Ttalian families were getting ready to take the
Breat step of selling what little they owned. thciriuusc. if they had
one. lund and houschold goods. The Milanese agent, 4 certain Sche-
ini, attended to passports and all other formalities. 1t was 14 March,
880. (R)
On 4 April. 1880, 246 people, some from Udine and Pordenone, but
mastly from Treviso and Vicenza. set out by train for Milan and from
there to Marseilles, At Marseilles the formalities were quickly taken
Care ol by the eolonial officials, after which they reached Barcelona
by sen. There they stuyed for three months while waiting for the
Indsa, their intended means of transport, to be prepared and equip-
ped for the vovage. (9)
The lalian Consul-General in Spain sought to warn and dissuade
them, to the extent of threatening to revoke their passports, but it
Was all o wuste of breath, The colonists did not want to histen 10
feason: no-one could deprive them of their comer of paradise. (10)

On 10 July, the India of 1,100 tons was ready 1o set sail with its sad
Cargo of deluded passengers. No known chronicle, nor any written re-
Collection of that dark odyssey remains, but hy 20 July; the India
docked at Port Said with its first victim, The young woman’s name
Was Lucin Roder. She was 28 years old. (11) During the next cight
days which the India took to pass down the Suez Canal. little
Giovanni Nardi, who was one year old, died of the heat. But the real
tragedy ok place when engine failure forced the India to fay up at
Aden for # fortight. During that dreadful interlude, in the re entless
heat. the carnage began, Between 4 and 12 August, Giovanni An-
tomolli, six months old, Genoveffa Martinuzzi, gata Roder, Fran-
cesco Mellare, Carlo Tome, all one year old, and Lodovico Loren-
2, born on board and only 17 days old, all died. (12)

Back at sea, during the crossing of the Indian Ocean, there were two
More bereavements. It was the turn of Nicodemo Berfolo and
Cristing Roder. both just two vears old.

Three weeks of unloading at Singapore restored some strength and
HUSt 10 those unfortunate, physically exhausted people. During their
stay in that city, unsettling rumours began to circulate among the pas-
sengers on the India, about the unlucky fate of the pioneers of the
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two earlier expeditions, But for those who were living in 4 profound
dream, rumours were insufficient to call them back to the grim facts of
reality. The India, with its human cargo. put out to sea once more.
Al a speed of four or five knots, the 3,000 miles that separate Singa-
pore from (he New Ireland coast were negotiated under a relentless
equatorial sun.

On this last scaway. another heavy blow struck the already precarious
position of the passengers. Just a few days after sailing, the India
once again, became a great coffin, this time for 58 year old Angelo
Bertwlo,

When, at last, the ship’s Captain announced that beyond the promon-
tory they could see, lay Port Breton, the coveted goal, the passengers
experienced an awakening from deathly lassitude. Hope was rekin-
dled in each of them; once their long calvary was over they would
recover their strength quite quickly. In their fantasy world, they were
already imagining a fertile land which would respond to their labours.
They were imagining that they would find the first houses. the first
roads and blocks of fand already cleared and ready for crops and they
deluded themselves that when they landed on the beach they would
find those who had gone before them, waiting to give them a merry
welcome. It was 11 October, 1880, (13)

In Port Breton's little bay there was only the small sailing vessel,
Gienil. rocking there without any sign of life under a leaden sky.
which scemed to touch its shrouds. Not a living soul could be seen,
There was no movement on land, no houses. no sign ol civilisation.
The first nagging suspicions, the first tears of bewilderment began.
Had it all been, indeed, a delusion, a monstrous confidence trick?
Was this the reward for so many sacrifices, so much sortow, the loss
of so many human lives?

The Captain of the Genil, who hud taken cover with some Spanish
militiamen told, in frightful detail, what had happened to the 150 who
had gone ashore the previous year. After a desperate attempt to sur-
vive in the climate and in that inhospitable cquatorial land, the
majority had died of fever and dysentery. Some had been picked up
by passing ships, while others had tried 1o escape in small canoes.
only to end up in the hands of cannibals. The tale was told by one of
the two survivors, a native of Genoa, called Boero,

With five companions he had tried to get away to nearby York Island
by canoe. where there were some English missionaries. However, be-
cause they had no supplies and were battered by the monsoon, they
could not reach the safety of the island, Instead, they had to seek
shelter on Bouka-Bouka faland. where they were taken prisoner by
savages, who, to make matters worse, ate” human flesh.

Boero saw his companions, one after another, turned into stesks for
the fierce cannibals. At the sight, driven mad by fear, he began to
weep and laugh convulsively - a novel spectacle for those tribes, who
were not accustomed to such conduct. The teibal chief promised to
save his life, provided he continded to amuse them with his desperate
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sarraw, And so, between tears and hystericdl laughter, Bocro saw the
sun rise for a few more days, until the Caprain of the Genil, who was
Ppatrolling the area. became aware of what was happenimg. He landed
on the islund and arranged the return of Boero and one of his com-
pamions in exchange for some mirrors, glass necklaces and othet
tunkets. (14)

Now, on board the India, the new colonists. overcome with panic, re-
fused 10 leave the ship for two weeks, but finally allowed themselves
o be persuaded to go ashore. They unloaded equipment, built a
shed, marked out the first paths and made an attempt at the first cul-
tivation, Betwean 30 October and 22 Noveniber, Giuseppe Battistuzzi
(24), Marco Tome (44), Domenico Gava (4), Agostino Pellizzer (3),
Maddilens Raoder (73) and Matteo Bordat (79), the oldestmember of
the community, all died. (15)

The Genit had sailed off in-search of supplies, but several months had
already passed and there was no sign oF er return, In the meantime,
severnl more unfortunates were struck down by malaria. They were
Giovanni Gava (17), Vincenzo Bertolo (4). Maria Pellizzer (1), Maria
Zazy (8 months), Maria Melare (22). Emilio Bertolo (36), and @ new-
born child, Antonio Spinaze. (16)

Nine more died between 1 January and 20 February, 1881, Giovanni
Roder (76), Maria Antonioli (32). Antonia Pellizzer (35), Catetina
Buzzi (9). Francesco Barberetio (60). Lucia Spinaze (38). Angeli
Tutan (34), Pio Bellotto (35) and Gigcomo Roder (20). Altogether the
dead now numbered 33, 11 in full adulthood, 18 children and four
elderly people.

On 10 February, 1881, sceing that the Captain hud made up his mind
to 2o shead with the absurd idea of colonisation, even at the cost of
sactificing everyone. the little community of country people from the
Veneto, wrote him the following letter,

“To the Captain of the vessel India,

Commanding Officer of the Colony.

Dear Sir,

We wretched Italians have always obeyed the orders of the Administ-
ration and have borne every misery and burden. We are now in a
critical condition through lack of provisions and we see victims fall
every day. so we nppcuhu your humunity and beseech you 1o tike us
(0 Sydney where the other ships have gone and where the head of the
Colony, Mr Jules Provost, resides.

We ure sure you will not refuse 1o hear us and will favor us with 4
reply.” (17)

On 20 February, the vessel, India, put 1o seq, bound for Sydney, but
because of o luck of fuel and provisions as well as having 1o contenc
with monsoons and angry seas, the ship had to take refuge in the port
of Noumea in New Caledonis. Almost all who arrived there on 12
March were sick: many. by now, were desperately ill, Meanwhile, the
list of the dead had grown - Antonin Mazzer (J1). Girolamo Tome'
(39). Emilia Bertolo (3), Maria Jabretti (48), Giuseppe Brican (33),
Battista Batfari (61) and Santo Beitolo (52) were ull added 1o the list,
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The French authorities offered to allow the survivors of the rragic
expedition to settle there, but the Halians refused because New
Caledonia was a French penal colony,

In correspondence from Noumes The Sydney Morning Herald, dated
20 March, 1881, described the vassengers aboard the India as 3 “piti-
ful group of helpless victims, children exhausted by fever, emactated
mothers, dejected and worn-ont men unable by now even to wee

over the death, despite all care, of eight other companions., whic

took place during the stop at Noumea®. (18) These last victims were
Giovanna Moras (57), Luigi Bertolo (60)), Bartolomeo Maffoni (5).
Andrea Maffoni (2), Rosa dertolo (56). Caterina Cappellini (37), Al

bina Uneda (2) and Ludovico Bertolo (14 months).

The survivors then applied 1o the English authorities to be transierred
to Sydney. The English consul immediately contacted the Chief
Minister of the Colony of New South Wales, Sir Henry Parkes, who
at once sent the ship, James Patterson, to take them to Sydney
where, on 8 April, 181, for the survivors of the wretched expedition.
their calvary was finally over.

Of the 246 passengers who had set out on the ill-fated India, plus two
.new-born infants, there were only 200 left,

The Marquis de Rays, still deuf to official rebukes and to the tragic
news he had received from his envoys, organised unother expedition,
He obtained another ship. the Nouvelle Bretagne and sent it off on 7
April, 1881, with 180 more colonists, So, after the disastrous expedi-
tions of the Chandermmgore, the Genil and the India, it was the
Nouvelle Bretagne's turn. Its passengers. oo, after a short time,
found themselves without provisions and with no hope of providing
for themselves. They became ill with malaria and so put an end 1o the
meredible voyuge by abandoning their destination of Port Breton, on
13 February, 1882, Among them were also some ltalians. Later, some
disembarked uat Cairns, others at Maryborough and the rest at
Sydney.

We have little interest in the final stages of such u terrible debacle,
nor in the final stages of the Marguis de Rays and his henchmen, but
what does interest us is 1o follow the vietims of that mad, criminal
enterprise on the India.

SYDNEY SYMPATHISES - BUT NOT WITHOUT THE USUAL
DISCORDANT NOTE

The survivors, who arrived at Sydney on the morning of & April 1881,
were wirmly welcomed. A large crowd, already moved by articles in
The Sydney Morning Herald, had gathered on the pier,” anxious 1o
bring some relicf and human warmih to the poor passengers. The su-
thorities, consisting of the Harbour Police, the Immigration Agent
and Dr. Marano, were the first to witness the sad Spectacle when they
went on board ship,
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“The ship,” they later testified. “was in a state of utter confusion and
all the decks were crowded with some 200 men, women and children,
Ralians, unable w speak any language but their own and all anxious
to make themselves heard at the same time, " (19)

That same morning the city’s daily newspaper, The Sydney Morning
Herald, published a long and moving article on the survivors,
“Between the decks of the ship, which is a wreck, various women are
lying near to death, devoured by fever; two of them are still very
young, between 18 and 20. One of the ltalian mothers showed me a
child in baby clothes, 4 tiny living skeleton. on the point of stiffening
i death. On another deck, where another woman was wheezing in
agony, a bundle was thrust into my arms, To judge from its dimen-
sion and shape, arms and legs bandaged like a mummy, [ thought 1
was dealing with a typical Ttalian doll made of wood and rags. But an
unexpected movement of the head gave me a jolt and my heart
Jumped into my mouth when | malis.cg that this was a living creature,
perhaps born just a few days before.

“When I supported the bundle on my bent right arm, with the little
head on my clbow. the feet didn't’ even reach my fingertips. Its
weight, clothes and all, was no more than five pounds, | asked his
age and was told that he was seven months old. The mother, pointing
to her emaciated body, made me realise that she had been unable to
feed the child.

“Every day these unfortunate people are being cut down by death.
To behold, on this cursed ship, the forest of hands stretched out for a
picce of bread or a cake, which was given to the littlest ones. to see
the parents' look of gratitude, to hear resounding everywhere, “Thank
You, sir’, in the gentle Ttalian accent. to feel your hand grasped by a
trembling old man when you offer a gift, to feel your hand kissed be-
cause you give a Fackcl. of tea to a woman abandoned on a stretcher
infested with bedbugs and fleas, to see the wan faces of Italian chil-
dren who have been given a few biscuits shine with joy, to leave the
ship accompanied by a chorus of “Thank you's and ‘Goodbyes’, all
cregtes an awesome impression that 1 shall never be able to crase
from my memory for the rest of my life, a scene that breaks your
heart.” (20)

Before disembarking at Sydney, the passengers were asked to sign the
following document. Its meaning was explained 1o them by the ltalian
consular agent to Sydney, Dr, Marano.

“We, the undersigned Italian migrants, who set out under the patron-
age of the Marquis de Ruyvs, and having just arrived in Sydney from
Noumea, New Caledonia, aboard the James Patterson, without lodg-
ings and means of support. request the government to proteéet and
clothe us for u short tme and 1o help us 10 find work, We pledge
Oueselves to abide by the laws of the State of New South Wales and
the norms arrunged by the government.” (21)

AllL except the children and three sick people, immediately signed the
document. The signatures were witnessed by the consular agent,
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Dr V. Marano, "I witness the signatures of the above-named per-
sons, to whom [ have read the conditions on which the government of
New South Wales has agreed 1o provide provisions, lod ing and ¢lo-
thing for some days and they have given their consent,” %hc signature
of the Italian consular agent followed. Then in a post script was
added. “There are two women and a man, who were not able 1o sign
the document because of sickness.” (22)

Having dispensed with the formalities, long lines of carts began cros-
sing the centre of the city towards evening, transporting the 200 sur-
vivors and their humble belongings into a large shed. The shed be-
longed to the Agricultural Ministry and was situated in the Domain,
where emergency lodgings had been prepared. The place, even if
rough, had been well divided into sections - for married couples with
children, for single women and for single men. One parl was used as
a wirehouse for wood and charcoal, food supplies. water, cooking
necessities, beds, blankets, ete. Notices had been fixed to the walls,
written in English and Itahian, with rules and instructions 1o be
followed. (23)

On Sunday, 10 April, Fr C. Colleridge celebrated a4 Mass for the
new migrants and an Italian priest, Fr  Coletti, secretary 1o
Archbishop Polding, spoke to them in their own language. (24)
An Italian merchant from Sydney, Gianbattista Modini, brought 10
boxes of spaghetti. Dr Day and Dr Marano, health officers, cared
constantly for the sick. Mr Orlando Stevens. an Englishman who
spoke fluent Ttalian, was their storekeeper, (25)

The migrants, who were anxious to observe the instructions they had
received, conducted themselves in an orderly and dignified fashion,

On 12 April. Dr Marano had an announcement published in The
Sydney Morning Herald which read. “All Ttalians resident in city of
Sydney are invited to a meeting which will be held on 24 A ) at
7.30 p.m. in the Agricultural Hotel situated a1 the corner of Pitt and
Campbell Streets, to do something for the unfortunate Italians of the
Marquis de Rays' expedition.” (26)

Three days after their arrival, on 11 April, 1881, the Sydney daily
newspaper suggested to the government to give them a plece of land
to cultivate, or if this was not possible or pructical. to kaunch a public
appeal 10 buy the land,

But the Government had other ideas, Indeed, it considered it both
urgent and essential that the little community should blend as quickly
#5 possible with prevailing ways and customs, learn English and lose
all traces of its national origins. And the quickest means of achieving
that goal was to disperse the migrants geographically. In other words,
as it was said at the time, they did not want 1o establish “4 Colony
within a Colony".

The Talians announced their displeasure and disagreement with such
a policy and onee again, on 22 April, the daily NEWSPAper suggested
that, “given the extraordinary situation of these Ital an colonists,
an exception should be made 10 the just policy of dispersal,
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hecause, unlike the English, Irish and Scots, they do not speak our
anguage”,

But the Government decided it was officially in favor of their disper-
Sal in order not to create precedents, or pockets of ghettos in the
community which was, and had to remain, English only. All those
Who came to this country to be part of this national community, it
vas said, had 1o agree to be assimilated without any resistance. If the
Italians insisted in having their own way, “they could not expect
urther assistance from the Government”. (27)

No-one had considered the strength of the bonds which those poor
beings, reduced as they were to human flotsam, had for each other,
after having suffered so much together. However, it must be acknow-
ledged that the unfucky Ialians behaved themselves very correctly. to
the point of being described as “industrious, hard working and honest
people”.

Giving in to the assimilationist pressures of the day, the Italians al-
lowed themselves to be scattered 1o places which, in muny cases,
Were far apart, But they never gave up the idea of establishing them-
selves, one day, on their own picce of land, nor of sharing that day
With their companions in misfortune.

"It was something more than friendship,” writes Eric da Pin, “which
bound those souls together in compassion. It was almost the sense,
Certainly unconscions, but nevertheless compelling, of a still incom-
Plete destiny which had to be achieved together,™ (28)

And in the mysterious plan of Providence it certainly was to be. That
Obstinate will of collective survival, that shiny piece of a great mosaic
N the great human experience which is Australia, yesterday and
loday, that troop of persistent ople from the Veneto presented the

ISt example on Australian soirfvr & communitarian instinct, a call to
togetherness. Later, their fellow countrymen would set foot in their
thousands in every corner of the world and always find protection,
comfort, a guarantee that they knew who they were, a motive. not
for isolation, but rather a reservoir of energy and leaven from which
o draw, for a fruitful and lusting new life.

NEW ITALY - THE REALISATION OF A DREAM

In April, 1882, 12 months after the dispersion, a certain Roceo Cam-
minitt, who knew the survivors' story and of their wishes and who
had made a reasonable amount of mon? working on a cargo boat
along the Richmond River, was impressed by the cmlitn of the land
at the river mouth. He bought 40 acres of it and, on his return to
Sydney, told his story of good lands to the north where there was
abundant water, full-grown trees and room for all. The word reached
the 200 Ialians too, for though they were far apart, they had kept in
touch and eight families decided 1o move straight away.
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They were Giuseppe and LuiFia Martinuzzi with their three children
a eg 11, nine and seven (little Genoyeffa had died on the vovage),

ncenzo and Caterina Nardi and their four children (their youngest,
too died during the voyage), Pietro and Luigia Mazzer, Antonio and
Giovanna Melare with six children aged between 19 and five (one-
year-old Francesco had died during the voyage and 22-year-old Maria
at Port Breton), Giovanni and Rosa Rosalen with six children aged
between 20 and five, Domenico and Elizabetta ﬂ)inazé with three
children, including a new-born baby (the infant, Antonio, who was
born at Port Breton, lived only a few hours) and Antonio and
Caterina Nardi. Then there was Arcangelo Roder. the senior member
of the Roder clan, which was made up of six families numbering 18
people. During the heart-rending expedition they had lost the greatest
number of members. Two children had died during the voyage, Iwo
elderly people died at Port Breton and 42-year-old Giacomo died on
the day of the flight to Noumea, (29)

Rocco Camminitti set out with this first contingent. They embarked
with their families by steamer, but after having navigated along the
coast-line, they were swamped in the river estuaries. The group dis-
embarked at &loodbum and covered another 6 or 7 miles on foot,
- until they reached the place where they intended to establish the new
settlement.

“It is impossible,” writes' F. Volpato, “to describe or to fully ap-
preciate the thoughts, the sensations and the vital experiences of
those heroic Italians who, armed nnlﬁ with good will, courage, inde-
pendence and their lphysical strength, fearlessly faced the gigantic
forests in the hope of making those barren, virgin, unexplored lands
bear fruit.” (30) '

In 1883 the following arrived — Luigi and Antonio Antoniolli. Maria
Felicietti, Giovanni and Domenico Battistuzzi, Antonio Bazzo,
Angelo Nardi, Agostino Pellizzer, Francesco, Giovanni, Luisa and
Lorenzo Roder, Andrea, Antonio and Giacomo Piccoli, Nicola Pez-
zutti, Lorenzo and Giovanni Spinaze, Michele Scarabellotti, Natale
Fava, Santa and Mana Gava, Lorenzo Capelin, Bertolo Bertoli,
Domenico Marandini and Pictro Rosolen. All these colonists were
part of the expedition of the Marquis de Rays and all of them had
arrived on the India,

After 1883 they were joined by Antonio Felicietti, Giuseppe Tedesco,
Antonio Morandi, Pietro Sanotti, Giovanni Guareschi, Romano
Bramante, Vincenzo and Franco Nicolia, Filippo Pedirini and Can-
dido Roder. Not all the colonists of the third expedition settled in
New ltaly. Among them are recorded — Geronomo, Giovanni and
Marco Tome an(f' the families of Feletti, Zia, Pivetta. Cargbino,
Coracare, Bellotti, Ros, Zanoni, Scala and Oneda.

As soon as they arrived they built cabins out of logs, folinge and
pieces of bark, Then they got to work - clearing, ploughing and sow-
ing the land. In the course of five or six years, the thick bush gave
way to luxuriant vineyards, orchards and well-tilled paddocks, almaost
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magically rransforming, to many pco‘J)le’s astomshment, that land
which the English colonists had refuse, to have anything to do with,
because they geliewd it to be barren and unproducli\_#c.n%’his. indeed,
was the result of the spirit of sacrifice. independence, initiative and
Perserverance of those Italian piongers.

It endures as a practical demonstration of the way that they, the
forerunners of ather Italian pioneers, managed, without friends, with-
but any outside help and without knowing the local language. They
were able to overcome normally insurmountable obstacles and to
transform miles of thick bushland and native scrub into abundant,
fertile oases,

For a start, their presence was hardly noticed, until one day they
tumed up in the nearby towns with wagons full of fresh fruit, a vari-
€y of green vegetables and barrels of good wine, which they them-
selves had produced by sheer, hard work. And while their crops were
lourishing, they replaced their huts with comfortable houses, which
were further improved by vases of flowers inside and surroundinﬁ
flower gardens outside. In five or six years they had cleared 303
acres of bushland and had achieved prosperity.

In 1887, the population of their colony was divided thus — married
adults (34 men, 35 women), unmarried adults (22 men, eight
Women), children under 16 (30 boys, 53 girls).

Before concluding the unbelievable saga of these courageous
Pioneers, we would like to give the last word to a journalist for The
Sydney Morning Herald, who had last met the Italians when he had
gone aboard the James Patterson after it had berthed in Sydney.

“Last Tuesday 1 left Woodburn at nine in the morning to see for my-
Self how things were 20ing in ‘New Italy'. 1 was aware that it would
be 4 long trip, but 1 reasoned that the Italians could get there and
back on foot, so therefore, 1 too, should be able to get there and
back by walking.

“So, with a friend, I set out for New ltaly. On the way we came ac-
TOss two young women, 18 or 19 years old, They seemed strong and
healthy, two fine examples of Australian womanhood, well-seru bed
and nicely dressed and they were on their way to Woodburn. When
they replied to my greeting, 1 thought 1 recognised something foreign
1 their reply. Moved by curiosity, I asked them some uestions and
they told me that they were only nine or ten years old when they and
their parents arrived in Sydney aboard the James Patterson. But no
one, unless they took it ‘into their heads to question them, would
have taken those young women for foreigners. It was amazing.
Al the first place we stopped for a talk alter arriving in New Italy,
we found the woman of the house was unable to spcaﬁ English. And
since there was nosone else there, we set out for another of the cott-
ages we could see. As we left that first cottage I was pleasantly surpt-
ised to observe the cleanliness and neatness of its well-tended garden,
the large arca under the vines and its fenced yard, which seemed no
different from those properties so well known in the Sydney suburbs.
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The next cottige we visited belonged to Mr Battistuzzi who. with his
wife and dabghter gave us o wirm welcome. There we found ample
hospitility und unending courtesy and our host offered to show s
through the village. the purpose of my visit — a visit | shall never
forgel.
“I cannot give you the exact statisties: of how muny and which piil-
docks were under cultivation. but on every farm | entered and as far
as | could ascertain by looking around, T saw erops waving in the
breeze and rows of vines coming inte leal and for acre npon acre, the
land organised for man’s use. In one cottage 1 visited, 1 spoke 1o 3
sturdy and anractive woman, suying “You have some well-ploughed
land out there!” To which she rephied spiritedly and with « £lint of
hippiness in her eves, “Yes, and it was | who ploughed i)' “What,
vou did all thar? “Certainly, Tean plow as well as o man!’ My voung
friend spoke very good English, and 1 could not help thinking that.
should she decide to make the request. she well deserved the right 1o
vote, From another cottige out came two Italian- Australian girls with
sparkling ¢yes and dark tresses, °I see vou have some prey cottages
up here.” I osaid, “especially considering the short ime thin you've
been seutled here.” "Cottages?" replied one determined lass, “1 call
them huts, but we will have houses here before 100 long!" 1 telt proud
(o have such people for fellow-countrymen...such self-ussurance. such
steadfastness i building themselves comfortable farm-houses by dint
of hard and constant work! They certainly were o proud boust 161 the
whale of Australis
SAL the Nardi place, T sar inan aemchan which had been made there
in the house. It had a rush-hottomed seat. made from rushes gathered
nearby, When 1 offered my congritulations (0 my host on this exam-
le of houschold industry. hie brought out three more simitiar chairs to
et me see that there was no shortage of home-made fimiture. This
farmer had begun to plant vines four vears ago. and ever since he hud
planted more each year. A neighbour told me thit this year the Nardi
vines would yield a harvest of four tons,

AL New ltuly o person gave me to understanst that there was a prop-
osal atoot to demonstrate at home and abvoad thit Australia was now
4 wine-procucing country. This mun spoke English with some diffi-
culty. Rubbing his chin with his hand he stid 1o me, “Australian
wines, (oo much spinit, They give pain here. We muke wines without
pain. without spints, good to drink.*

“When 1 think back on the scene T witnessed abosrd the James Par-
terson, anchored alongside the old warchouses of the Australion
Steam Navigation Company on the west side of Cireular Quay just
cight years ago, and then recall thee friendly, manly, inteligent faces
of these forcigners, whom | saw once ngain on this tour of mine. so
different from those ather faces. so degraded and drwn with suffer-
mg. | am moved to conclude. “In the secret plan of God, 1 would
seem that He worked with us as He did with old English in centuries
gone by, by sending us cuttings from another race. This ensured that
the Tuture of Auvstralia would be established on an even broader and

124



More: grandiose seule than that in which our lore-fathers grew. up. in
the shade of the Rose, the Shamrock and the Thistle.”
Finally, it is good to hear that everyone praises these new colonists.
hey pay their own way in ready cash earned by hard work, fimshimg
What they begin and making it clear that they possess the most estim-
dble qualities of 4 pood colonist. Those who were caught in the folly
Of the Marquis de Rays have proved to be honest and suitable 1o
ound o new nation. They have made their own good fortune and
they have shown thal putting the land in order. in cooperiutive vil-
lages. is the hope of .lfu- future and the solution to the problem of
h;ll\\; 1o deal with big cities und how o establish people on the land. ™
New Italy. which had a population of 250 people in 1888, reached 350
by 1889 and 10 years later reached 1,000,
F.C Clifford, the first 10 write the story of New Ttaly, wrote, “When
We consider that just seven years ago these people had nothing, that
they were homeless, steangers in 4 strange land and that without as-
otnce they established o settlement in a place the English colonists
Nad rejected. one can only say that they are indeed worthy colonists.
IS 18 ot just to sing their praises, but to give practical recognition
on behall of their adopted country.” (32)
The decline of New Italy begian in the early years of the twentieth
century. That same spirit of adventure and that same wish 10 better
themsélves urged those pioneers o look for richer and more fertile
Country, Most of them remained in the district. but every vedr. even
I they were far apart, they all returned to New Ituly in carly April
for the “back-10" which was held to commemorate their tanding.

The decline of the colony did not occur all ar once. It was graduil bus
elentless and there were viarious causes, As the young people grew
0 adulthood and started families of their own. they began to make
their futures elsewhere. The mechanisation of transport favoured
mobility und a number of people moved awny. At the same nme
Phylloxera and other parasites spread abarmingly and damaged the
crops. Consequently, ﬂ!n:- land wus no longer regarded as particularly
fertile. Indeed, it came to be regarded as one of the most barren
Areas. Finally, he spirit of adventure which had animated the
noneers in the fint place, was rekindled and urged them to seek
YEIter pastures in other places.

Only Giacomo Piccoli did not wint 1o leave that land 10 which he felt
bound by such profound sentiments, Nothing could budge him from
his New Ttaly, whete he lived alone for many years remembering the
BOOd times gone by, uniil his death in 1955 (33)

Later, after 1920, the first group of u new migration arrived from
ltaly. Members of this group included Battista Conte | Luigs and
Ciovanni Camiel, Morett and the three Sandrin brothers. They were
Put on o train at Svdney and. without knowing where they were being
taken, wrrived at Lismore They reluted the story that as soon as they
armved at Lismore they were tuken to the local cattle sale, and after
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th%y had seen the animals sold, they were made to get up on a stangd
and were offered (o the highest bidder, Carniel worked at clearing
tantana for 10 years without receiving an monetary pay. In exchange
for the work he received only board and lodgings. When his fiancee
came out he had only debts. It was then that a local farmer offered
him a piece of land for banana crops. Then, while leasing other land
as well, Carniel and the others began to establish their independence
and even if they did not make a fortune, they made a comfortable
living. '
With the arrival of other Ttalian migrants, they began, little by little,
to transform the difficult, steep hillsides for a radivs of 10 miles
around Lismore, into luxuriant banana plantations.
They built their first huts out of wood and earth and struggled against
Nature. day after day, without taking a break. The gloomy bush
adually gave way to the soft green o% banana plants. which multip-
ted after a few years and gave rise to un industry which today s
amongst the best-known in the State.

Banana production plays a most important role in the North Coust
economy and Iralians have been its mainstay. (34)
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FROM 1881 TO THE SECOND
9 =  WORLD WAR

It is only in the last two decades of the nineteenth century that one
an truly talk in terms of an Jtalian community in Australia, however
Small. During this time, [alians continued to arrive in this country in
Zrowing numbers. but there was no corresponding mercase in the size
of the community because many cither returned home, after anything
from five 10 eight years of toil, or migrated to other countries,

However, this was iilso the period during which Italians began to play
4 more visible and active role in Australian society. In some cases, as
With the “New ltaly" experiment, this almost went against the wishes
of the colonial authorities who had not allowed for it in their plans.,

Tentative uttempts were made to establish the first industries and
commerciul firms, grocery stores, restaurants, hotels and large farms,
of which “New Italy” was an important example.

We have been left extensive, detailed and sometimes complimentary
decounts of the Italian community in Australia from the 1880s to the
First World War. For example, while passing through Sydney in the
carly 1880s, €. De Amezega, commander of the royal corvette
Caraceiolo , wrote the following ubout the Italian community:

“Our countrymen in New South Wales warmly greeted the Carac-
ciolo on our arrival, showing generous hospitality towards us, arrang-
ing banquets and holding gatherings in our honour... As is the case
With all our other expatriate communities, the Italian communily in
Australia is worthy of our greatest admiration for its qualities of hard
Work, intelligence, sobriety and respect for the laws of the land that
hosts 1t .Currently, 1t consists of & Eihhup. two or three priests, some
music teachers and craftsmen, a squatter, o land survevor, several
government  lunctionaries, farmers, bricklayers, labourers and
sailors, ‘The community has, on the whole, an air of respectability
Which ciuses it to be held in high esteem by all, and which would be
greater if it did not count among its number some of those eternal
Vagabonds such as organ-grinders and other wandering minstrels who
play the violin or the harp. All of New South Wales may be consi-
dered appropriate for the colonisation by Italian farmers. However.
the best areas are the New England, the Richmond River and Clar-
ence River districts, the Comberland, Orange und Bathurst counties.
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“One thing can never be stressed enough when speaking of overseas
markets for our goods. particularly in distant lands, and that is the
impartance of choosing products carefully, preserving them properly
and ensuring that they are truly representative of whit is advertised
to the buyer.

“Regretfully, we must-say that in Australia several of our honest trad-
ers compliined about not being able to supply their customers with
the ltalian merchiundise promised. Among the Ttalian goods already
being sold in Sydney without difficulty of any kind are oil and wine,
potatoes, sulphate and other sulphur salts and alabaster statues. Good
oleographs. mosaics, wooden tiles for parquets, coral, lava rock and
tortoise-shell art-work, feh hits and umbrellas are in great demand.
These goods are being sold by our fellow countrymen. prominent
among whom are the Pisoni brothers from Milan who, thanks to their
resourcefulness, have been able to establish a good reputation for
themselves during their short time in Australin. Furthermore. our
commumty’s merchant class lists among its members Messrs Tornaghi
and Modini, two worthy individuals noted for their enterprising spiril
and famous for their acts of philanthropy towards needy settlers,

“And since we are speaking of those who hring honour to the Ttalian
community. let us not forget that learned and charitable gentleman,
Dr Fuaschi. nor that rich, philanthropic landowner. the squatter” C,
Mirina, nor the painter Ferrarint, nor the sculptor Simonetti, Let it
be noted that our silence regarding those others who make up' the
lalian confraternity in New South Wiles, is in no wiy meant 1o
diminish their personal worth...” (1)

An interesting event which helps to throw light on the Halian com-
munity in Svdney was the general strike of 1890, during which
Australian employers threatened the unions with the introduction of
large numbers of workers from Italy to rephice local labour, (2) In its
bitter response to this proposal, the union newspaper. The Workman.
as already noted. crudely insulted wll Talians by calling them:
“brigands, vagabonds and slackers, corrupt in body and soul.. " (3)

The Ttalians living in Sydney felt justifiably hurt, all the more so be-
cause, as they suid, it was not the first time they had been offended
as an ethnic group, A certain Francesco Sceusd. together with other
represemtatives nfl the community, organised a protest meeting a1-
tended by 300 of their countrymen, However, it dppears that in order
to avoid inflaming the whole situation further, 4 small group headed
by Dr Fiaschi tried at first to prevent the meeting from being held
and later 1o disrupt it. The disagreement. which initiully was only
about which tactics 1o adopt 1o deal with the situation. degenerated
into open conflict between two individuals: Seeusa and Fiaschi.

Sceusa was accused of being a socialist, an unarchist, an atheist, a
bandit, and an ignorant and ambitous individual. Fiasehi. on the
other hand, was accused of being a “Special Constable” and of suffer-
ing from paranoid fear of crowds. In his own defence, Sceusa took
the initiative and prepared # booklet attacking Dr Fisschi entitled
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Carte In Tavola (“All our Cards on the Table™). (4) Dr Fiaschi re-
lied with a pamphlet called A Viso Aperto (“In all Honesty™), (5)
caving aside these family squabbles, such documents are important

btfcaim: ][hcy offer an insight into the life of the Italian community in
the I880s,

To begin with, in these documents we come across familiar names
such us Gagliardi. Madini, Fariola De Rozzoli, Tornaghi and Priora,
and discover other italian identities such as Pavesi. Pagani, Baldacci
and Carpena. (6) We also find that P. Coppoly and Luigi Degratta
were survey officers. that during the strike F Pisoni was the consular
agent in Sydney and that Guazzimi was a prominent emplover and
chalrman of the protest meeting. (7)

Furthermore, the Ialians in Sydaey had already created the *Societa
itihiana di beneficenza” ( ltalian Benevolent Society ) and the *Circolo
emocratico italiano” ( Italian Democratic Club ), and were plannin
10 establish the “Societd generale italiana” ( General Italian bﬁcfcly%
with the aim of looking after their interests, “Until now. an individual
hits always looked after the interests of Italians; well, the time is right

for a society to take over the work of that individual”. (8)

In his booklet Sceusa refers o several letters from ltalians, con-
gritulating him for tirelessly defending their good name. But the most
Important flem of information to be found in the baoklet is 4 refer-
ence to a newspaper, L'ltalo-Australiano, which was already being
published in 1885, When the paper ran into financial difficulties an
appeal was made to its readers, Among the letters received we read:
“Dear Sceusa, It saddens me to think that L'Tralo-Australiano may
told and 1 have proposed to Carpena that a meeting of Italians be
held to raise funds. | am ready to contribute in my own small
way...P. Pisont, Acting Consular Agent.” (9)

Several weeks later Pisoni wrote again: “If your paper should survive
through your efforts und those of Carpena 1 shall always do my ut-
most 1o help. recognising as | do its value to the Italian commun-
ity... However, even if the majority is in favour of L Ttalo’s continued
publication, there are few who could help it financially...No Italian, |
must confess, has your energy or burning passion to undertake such a
venture.. (2507 lHSSg.“ (10) Tt is not known for how long this news-
Paper was published, nor what its format was, since no copies appear
o have survived.
During the same period, the Twulian Consul, Squitti, had this to say
ihout the Italian community in New South Wales;
“Some Itulians run small fruit shops in the cities, while others are
travelling musicians or fishermen, Then there are music teachers. doc-
tors, engineets and government employees. There is a difference in
the wiy these two Ch'th!it‘!s of Ttalians adapt 1o life in Australian sogi-
¢ty The first group lives in the one neighbourhood. preserving as far
48 possible the mother tongue and the old habits and customs, while
the second group mixes with the local population and is obliged to
speak the English language for business reasons.” (11)
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The most authoritative source of information on ltalians m Australia
during this period is Federico Gaglinrdi, himself migrant and sue-
cesstul merchant and owner of the “largest importing company in the
southern hemisphere™, It is Gagliardi. as 4 resident of the colopies of
some years standing, who gives us, in a series of quick, deft strokes, a
detailed picture of the large variety of occupations taken up by
Ttalians:

“Throughout the length and breadth of this vast territory of the
colony of New South Wales.” he writes, “there is no shortage of
squatters” (sheep farmers and cattlemen) or of ordinary furmers and
wine-growers. Many work on the goldfields and in the coal-mines.
Wine inspectors are usually Italian. Other Italians are employed in
the office of public works and in the railways. In the arts there are
admirable sculptors. painters and musicians, among whom Mr De
Beaupuis stands out. Quite a number, such as Mr Pulle, work in the
fruit and canned meat industry, 1he manager ot one ol the main kilns
IS & Mr Andina. Among the professionals we must not forget the
[talian knight Dr Fiaschi, a ‘cavaliere’ and one of the best surgeons in
Australia, He also owns a vineyard which. because of the system he
has introduced and the methods he uses for wine-making, is consi-
dered a model. The four Priora brothers are very good jewellers and
watchmakers, experts at chiselling and cutting precious stones, while
others are good engravers. Many ltalians hold important positions in
banks, law firms and private schools. A substantial number of our
countrymen is involved in the yetail selling of fruit around Australia
and has a virtual monopoly of the market. This has meant incressed
financial returns to the producer. At the same time these countrymen
of ours have turned fruit into a opular item of consumption by
lowering the price for the buyer, Other Ialians have had SUCCess i
the machinery business and among these we ought to mention
‘cavaliere” A, Tornaghi, maker of scientific instruments. inventor and
government watch and clockmaker.

Few have dedicated themselves to major enterprise, perhaps because
of a lack of capital and credit from Italy. OFf these few the outstand-
ing one is the firm of F. Gagliardi & Co.. which has many representa-
tives and branches that handle numerous ltalian products and which
over many years of tireless work has made substantial sacrifices in
order to open up the most important markets in these colonies. 1t im-
ports o large and growing quantity of goods which will further in-
crease when a direct shipping route is established between Italy and
Australia.™ (12)

In 1898 on the occasion of the Tiirin Exhibition, the Itulian Forei

Affairs Minister invited Pasquale Corte. a barrister and solicitor and
the then Consul-Gieneral in Melbourne, “to use his position 1w en-
courage Italians living in the British colony of Australis 1o partici-
pate™, Despite the great distance and the many mconveniences, the
Consul managed to set up a display at the exhibition called “Ttalia
allestera” ( Taly overseas ). The large number of exhibitors and the
variety of agricultural, mineral, commercial and industeiul products on
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show, made it one of the best displays by any group of expatriate
Italians.

4y = : = -
For the oceasion, Corte also wrote a book called Tt Continente
Nuovissimo ossia I'Australis Britannica ("The Newest Continent

or the British Colony of Australia’), which contained a wealth of
mformation. (13)

[n describing the various [alian communities in New South Wales,
Corte writes: “According to the census of 1893, the number of Ita-
lians residing in that colony was 1,450, but I have reason to believe it
may be in excess of 2,000, There are Italian commercial firms of goad
standing that can  obtain credit readily; there are government
employees who draw praise from their superiors: there are music
teachers who are universally acclaimed and the same can be suid of
seulptors and painters; there are landowners (called ‘squatters’) with
large properties. whose cattle and sheep number in the thousands:
there are several famous doctors of medicine and engineers. Com-
merce in fruit and fish, furthermore, is almost exclusively under our
control. This does not take into account the presence of an agricul-
tural community on the banks of the Clarence River known as “New
Italy™, which is made up entirely of Ttalians and is prospering, despite
heing located on essentially infertile soil. “New Italy™ has a popula-
tion of some 500 people who work profitably at imber-felling, grow-
g grapes for wine. cutting sugar cane and breeding silk-worms,
Quite a few other Italians can be found #t Albury, beétween the
Murray and Murrumbidgee rivers, while others live in arcas around
Buthurst and Orange. Our countrymen can be found everywhere
throughowt New South Wales, but the majority resides in Sydney and
its environs. They have two mutual aid societies with funds totalling
several thousand pounds.

“Last September, a1 my initiative, the Ntalian community there estab-
lished a branch of the ‘Dante Alighieri Society’. In less than six
months it has attracted hundreds of members und conducts very
popular Titerary, musical and theatrical evenings.
“1 think it opportune to mention the principal Tualian importing com-
panies operating in Sydney. as well those individuals who, deservedly,
ave been able 1o make a name for themselves: G, Tirelli & Co.,
woal and hide exporters: F. Gagliardi & Co.. general exporters and
importers: G. Arrigoni, general exporters and importers; Rossi &
Villa, general exporters and importers: L. Modini. importers of fer-
het, vermouth and firearms; Ferran, importer of ol and Ttalian
toodstuffs: Cortese, importer of wine und various ltalian foods:
Pellegrini, wine exporter: Priora Bros., jewellery exporters; Drs Mog-
io0li, Marano & Tommaso Fiaschi (this last doctor gave such prool of
Vis patriotism and compassion during our African catastrophe that the
government bestowed two honours on him within the space of a few
months); “cavaliere” Tornughi, o distinguished engineer and inventor
of clocks, watches and instruments for mining metals; Me Carlo
Marina and the aforementioned Mr Finschi, for their famous animai
and agricultural produce; Messrs Scenza, Coppola and Foglietta, for
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their topographical work and drawings: Messrs Roberto  Hazon,
Emanue&-de Beaupuis and Podenzana for their compositions and the
eminent place they hold in the world of music: the sculptors
Simonetti, Sani and Fontana for their monuments: Mr Andina, for his
ceramic work: and Mr Oscar Meyer who was several times chosen to
represent these colonies at world Tairs in various countries, because of
his many talents and artistic taste, " (14)

At the beginning of the century Italian emigration siill continued in
the same spontancous way, taking above all the form of chain migra-
tion. An agent would greet the migrants on their arrival in Tﬁcw
South Wales, and bring them up to date on the local situation, If they
had relatives or friends living in other parts of the colonics lhcjy could

obtain a free ticket to reach them by steamship or rail. (15

Family groups and single persons had the right to stay on board for
tour days after their arrival in Sydney, Single women were taken to a
hostel at Hyde Park where they were looked after for eight days. (16)
Apart from this, the migrant was not protected or helped in any way.
He received neither financial help nor tools for his work. nor help of
any kind. If he ran into difficult times he was forced o move at his
own expense to one of the other colonies where economic conditions
-were better. (17)

In general, Ttalians gravitated towards established centres, swelling
the numbers in the mining and rural areas or on the outskirts of
towns, Many of those who poured into Sydney settled in the outlying
areas where they could take up intensive farming, grape and fruit
growing, or join those who worked in small businesses, like the lurge
group from the Acolian Islands,

“The centre of Nalian commercial activity.” wrote Professor G, Capra
in 1908. “is in Sydney, New South Wales, where we have a dozen
agents and representatives of Ttalian firms. A laree group of Italians
from Lipari (about 1000, including their families) conducts the selling
of all fruit. Italian settlers are scattered everywhere. There are grape
rowers from Tuscany and the Valtellina in arcas like Ryde around
Eydncy, and along the Hunter River valley and the F awkesbury
basin. There are wheat und catile farmers at Wellington, Narromine,
New England, Mirani, Tenterfield, Mount Victoria and elsewhere,
even though these do not constitute communities as such. * (18)

In addition to what we have said aboul the Richmond River district
(Lismore), there is enough documentation about two other settle-
ments for them to be dealt with in greater detail. We refer 1o the de-
velopment of the Ttalian community in the Hunter Valley district,
which we shall examine immediately and in the Riverina which will
be studied in the next chaprer,

THE HUNTER VALLEY
The Ttalian settlement in the Hunter Valley dates back 1o 1881, when

some Italians from the Veneto region who were remnants of the de
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Rays expedition. were jorced by the government to disperse over a
large area. (19) Among the Ilalyians relocated to the Hunter Valley
were Antonio Bazzo, his wife Teresa and children who were sent to
Singleton, and the three Scalu brothers who were sent to Minmi and
Raymond Terruce. Angelo Scala’s daughter, Adele, bought a farm at
Yooralong not far from the Raymond Terrace settiement and shortly
after married Faustino  Chiarelli, The Chiarelli family lived at
Wallsend (today a suburb of Newcastle) and worked in the coal-mines
al Minmi. Later they moved to Cessnock when some mines were
opened up there. Vito Loscocco, a sailor serving on a coastal vessel
and his family were already living in Newcastle. In 1883 he had met
Virginia Ros in Sydney where he had gone to receive a gold medal
for his part in a heroic rescue on the Clarence River. She was the
daughter of Pietro and Angela Ros who had taken part in the de
ays expedition, and soon after marrying her Loscocco settled in
ewcastle, He later became port pilot and in 1904 again took part in
4 rescue operation in Newcastle Harbour,
Innocente Talamini's story is altogether different. Although not part
Of the remnants of the De Rays expedition, he went to New [taly
Where he made his home and marned Annetta, daughter of Nardi.
When the New ltaly settlers began to drift away. the Talamini fam-
iy moved 10 Sydney. Soon after they bought the Hunter River Hotel
i East Maitland and in December 1924 opened a wine shop at
Boolaroo,
By the time of the First World War groups of Italians had settled per-
manently in the vast Hunter Valley, For example, the Filippuzzi,
Pirona and Movigliatti families were established in the suburbs of
Maryville and Mayfield, with the Morello family in Boolaroo, while
the Pilatti, Tonegazzi and Negri families were involved in horticulture
in the Warners Bay area, In Newcastle the Ruggero family ran a
combined fruit und vegetable and wine shop, while the Bonomini,
Ruggeri and Cardenza familics had become successful hoteliers.

Giuseppe Marolli, a young doctor, established himself in Neweastle in
1906. He served in the Australian Army during the First World War,
At the end of the wat he opened a surgery in Denison Street, Hamil-
ton. Bonofiglio built his own home at Kahibah from mudbricks which
he made himself. The house was later enlarged and still remains in
the Bonofiglio family three generations later.

The story of the Filippuzzi and Pirona families s interesting and 2
typical example of Italian chain migration. It demonstrates how, dL
Spite the fact that different members were forced by their work to live
far apart, the family unit continued 1o exercise 4 unifying influence
and provide support. This particular instance of chain migration
begin with Domenico Filippuzzi, Having emigrated s 8 very young
man 1o South America, he returned home at the start of the Great
War and joimed the lalian army. He later decided 1o emigrate 1o
Australia. On hearing that Domenico had left tor Australia, 2 young
man from a neighbouring town introduced himself to Domenico’s
wife who had stayed behind, He wanted information on how her
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husband had emigrated, how much the trip had cost and how he was
doing;
The foliowing year, when Mry Filippuzzi and her three children were
reunited with her husband, she found the young Giobatta Pirona fiy-
ing in her husband’s house in Maryville, Two years later, Pirona Wen
artantor for his brother Aldo to bring him to Australia, Both
rothers then brought over 4 large number of friends and fellow villa-
ers. Unfortunately, these villagers, together with Aldo Pirona, were
orced to abandon Newcastle because of a lack of work and moved to
the sugarcane plantations of northern Queensland, However. every
vear at Christmas they would return to the Filippuzzi house and stay
there several weeks., These men gradually brought over their wives
and children, or returned to marry in their home towns, Giobatta
Pirona married one of Filippuzzi's daughters instead. After the
Second World War Aldo Pirona returned to [taly to get married, The
following year his wife returned with one of his sisters who ended up
marrying a widower called Leonarduzzi who had four children, On
the same ship was Angelo, another of Pirona's brothers. He went to
live in Sydney with Eis brother Aldo who had found work with
Melocco Bros., the well-known terrazzo and concrete firm; they too
were from the Friuli region.

Carlo Narboni, who had been brought over by D. Filippuzzi, also
arrived on the same ship. Narboni had been a prisoner of war at Port
Scratchley in Australia from 1941 to 1943,

During that time, he had met the Fili puzzi and Pirona families. In
1950, after having married Caterina Fi ippuzzi, the youngest sister of
Maria Pirona. Narboni settled at Raymond Terrace. Later, Narboni's
daughter married the son of the Leonarduzzi. They too settled at
Raymond Terrace and changed their name to Leonard. (200)

Again through the system of chain migration many other Toups were
formed such as those from Palena and Lettopalena in I'ﬁc Abruzzi,
and others from the Giulia region. The history of these groups is
bound up with the history of those earlier migtants who came from
quite specific villages and regions. We shall see also how the Lismore
and Griffith communities, and those in other states. developed in the
same way.

From 1920 onwards Ttalians began migrating to Australia in substan-
tial and sustained numbers, making, in the main, for New South
Wales and Victoria. The Federal Government was alarmed at what
effect this growing number of Italians might have on the Anglo-Saxon
composition of the population. Tt forced the ltalian government into
an agreement through its representative, the Italian Consul-General
Antonio Grossardi. The aim was to limit Italian mmmigration to those
who were sponsored or had a considerable amount of money.

The Depression too became a factor n significantly aggravating the
situation, It reduced immigration to a trick e, Between 1936 and 1940
there was a moderate revival, but the beginning of the Second Warld
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War round it to a halt. Indeed, Italians who had been allies and

friends in the First World War, became dangerous enemies to be
locked up in concentration camps.

IUis estimated that 15,500 migrants arrived in New South Wales bet-
ween 1920 and 1940, For obvious reasons many of the new arrivals
Joined existing communities. thereby swelling their numbers, The
majority tended (o settle in rural areas like Griffith and Lismore.
Some 150 Calabrians and Sicilians took o lomato growing at Bal-
ranald.  Another 100 or so Sicilians and Veneti started growing
lomatoes and tobaceo at Barham. (21)

Others headed for the mimng areas. For example, some 200 men
from the Veneto worked in the coal mines of the South Coast, while
the Lithgow and Broken Hill mines employed 100 and 300 respec-
tivelv. (22) Migrants had begun to arrive in the mining town of
Broken Hill in small numbers eyen before the turn of the century.
Usually they did not remain long in the mines and as soon as they
could moved 10 other arcas, smong which Port Pirie and Griffith are
Mportant because of their subsequent development.

Many Ttalians worked in the railways during the Depression. For
Example, the majority of workers employed in the construction of the
Balranuld railway line between 1927 and 1928 were Italians, (23)

THE SOUTH COAST

Soon after the First World War, Sicilian fishermen established a fish-
g industry at Wollongong and then at Ulladulla, The discovery of
Ulladulla, a small South Coast lishing village. by these fishermen who
Were mostly from the island of Lipari, had an enormous impact on
the other fishermen there and on the cconomy of the whole South
Coast. The one who pioneered the industry was Giuseppe Puglisi,
Who arrived in Australia in 1919 and settled in Wollongong with his
father who had followed him 1wo years later. Not long after they
moved to Ulladulla and brought over the rest of the tamily. Thus
began that same pattern of chain migration of friends, relatives and
others from the one village. Ttalians experienced a time of great ad-
versity because of the outbreak of the Second World War and their
Hew status as enemies, The fishing boats of the PuEIisi and other
fishermen were impounded and handed over o the U.S. Navy.

After the cessation of hostilities the immigration of fellow country-
men began again, the fishing industry came to life and the district
made grant strides forward. The fishermen bought new and better-
equipped fishing boats and established an efficient cooperative. The
Started holding an annual festival, “the blessing of the fleet”, whic

attracts tens of thousands of tourists and sightseers 1o Ulladulla each
vear. (24)
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SYDNEY AND ENVIRONS

Italians settled in the Cabramatta, Canley Vale, Liverpool, Ryde and
Sutherland municipalities in what is today metropolitan Sydney, It
was still possible to find some land in these localities for intensive
farming, for orchards and vineyards,

In 1940 there were 250 residents in the Cabramatta area holdin
Italian passports, about 150 in the Liverpool arex, 153 in Sutherland,
150 in Eastwood and 100 in Fairficld, Almost all were market
gardeners, (25)

These areas developed enormously after the Second World War. As a
result of renewed migration at that time they are among the arexs in
Sydney which are most identifiably ftalian. In the actual inner-city
arcas Italians settled in Glebe,  Paddington, Chippendale, East
Sydney, Woolloomooloo, Kings Cross and Darlinghurst, Some 1,000
16 1,500 Ttalians were already living in these areas, without counting
their Australian-barn children. They made up the middie-class of the
[talian community, which consisted mainly of consular representatives
and their staff, traders and shop-keepers, representatives of shipping
companics and newspapers, the office staff and workers of the
Cinzano company and of the hatmakers Moderna & Co. There were
also hotel-owners, owners of restaurants and boarding-houses, of
terrazzo companies like Meloceo & Co.. mechanies, carpenters and
fishermen, as well as, in a more general sense, anyone who belonged
to the Ralian establishment. (26)

These people formed the backbone, as it were. of the Tralian com-
munity. Although often at odds politically, or from différent sides of
the tracks. or business rivals, they tried for their own ends 10 exert an
influence over a large proportion of the rest of the ttalian community
in order 10 peddle their own goods, deas or political philosophies.

In 1935, in Sydney alone, there were more than 20 associations and
meeting places for recreational, charitable, cultural and political ac-
tivities. The most popular meeting-places were “Roma . Venezia .
Savoia . Piemonte , La Rinascenza , Isole Eolie and lTalin® clubs,
The oldest was the “lsole Eolie” founded in 1903 which only people
from those istands could join. On the other hand the ‘Iafia’ club,
founded in (915, was popular among the doctors, company represen-
tatives, merchunts ;mlr others of the wealthy Ttalion class,

Amang the charities und welfare orgunizations were the “Croce Rossa
Italia™and the St. Vincent de Paul Society; among the cultural organi-
zations, the Dunte Alighieri Society, the umversity’s Italian Associa
tion und the "du'arolm'uro draminatico” (drama club): among the sport-
ing clubs, the % ulmlavurn sportve” (sports ¢lub), the Stella d'Ttalia”
sports club, the “Balilla” and the “avanguardista” groups and the
“giovani italiane” (young Ttalinn women). (27) There were, in addi-
tion, the “Assoctazione del nastro  azzurro' the “Associazione
nazionale combattenti” {returned soldiers) and the *Associazione
nuzionale alpini™ (mountain troops). Traders and business people in
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encral had their own association: the Italian Chamber of Commerce
ounded in 1922, Finally there was the “Luigi Platania” fascist associa-
tion. Apart from meeting-places and certain groups there was also the
Italian press that acted as a source of information about Italy and the
local Ttalian community. (28)

THE ITALIAN PRESS

After an initial attempt 1o establish it in the 1880s the Italian press
Was bom again and re-organized during this period. At the turn of
the the century Traliany began once more to feel the need to be
united and have their own public voice to defend them and bind them
together, Giuseppe Prampolini founded a weekly newspaper, in
Sydney, appropriately named Uniamoci. In the first edition statement
ol ideals Prampoling argued that his was an independent newspaper,
but right from the second and third editions it revealed itself to be
anti-clerical and anarchist. The Italian community did not receive it
Well and in July 1904 the paper was foreed to cease publication.

Mirch 1905 saw the birth of the bilingual L 'Ialo-Australiano edited
Y Quinto Ercoli and Giovanni Pulle. For four years L 'Tralo-
Australiano “fulfilled its carly promise of holding high the Itahan
anner with dignity and resolve, It also demanded that the new col-
onies be shown the respect due to them™, But L ftalo-Australiano did
POt last long either. After a while a new attempt was made, this time
With L'Oceanta, u weekly bilingual magazine. The initiative came
YRce more from Giovanni Pulle, whose associates were Antonio Folli
4nd AP, Rinoldi. It folded because of the war and a lack of finance.

The first contingent of migrants in need of help arnived in Australia
Once peace had returned. So it was that the bilingual weekly Ltalo-
Australiano was published again on 9 August 1922 in Sydney, at the
Mitiative of Francesco Lubrano, a sea captain. In its first edition it
Made this promise: “If words are anything to go by, then given the
great encouragement received by us both from fellow Ita 1ns and
Australians, this re-issue of L'Italo-Australiano will be successful as
1o other paper in the annals of Italian jousnalism in Australia. The
history of Italian Journalism in Australia is recent and mostly limited
fo the activities of the late lamented Count Pulle whose L 'Ttalo-
Australiano first and L'Oceania later, were the most important miles-
tones for journalism in our community. Many battles were fought and
Won by these two Italian periodicals, simple in design and without
any literary or journalistic pretensions, but ever-vigilant custodians of
e interests of Italians, always prepared to 2o where the battle was
thickest, .. And today more than ever there is 4 need to be alert and
totective of our interests, today when Italian migration to Australis
s grown significantly and seems to be continually increasing; today
When trude between Italy and Australia has reached substantial levels
and in Ttaly public companies are bemg created to develop this trade
further. In’its first issue, I 'lealo-Australiano, which speaks for all our
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community. sends respectful greetings to Italy - that shining light of
progress and civilisation — and assures it of the everlasting love of its
sons and daughters in Australia.” The editors of the newspaper were,
among others, Antonio Folli, for the first two years, then A.P.
Rinoldi, Porfirio Scotto, Eustachio Del Pin. Francesco Battistessa and
Fortunato La Rosa,

Despite the depression of the 19305 various associations and Organisi-
tions sprang up testifying 1o the intense cultural and social life of the
ltalian’ community. The need 1o build up a strong press became
imperative,

Two other weeklies also saw the light of day in Sydney: Il Corriere
degli Italiani in Australia (1928), whose editors were Giovanni
Boccartini; and Il Giornale Htaliano with F.A. Burilli and Francesco
Battistessa as editors and Pino Boggio as sub-editor. Further attempts
at establishing newspapers were made in other states, for example in
Queensland and Western Australia. These newspapers and mugazines
took an active part in the defence of the rights of Italian workers
during a campaign of ubuse and threats unleashed against foreign
labour by the British Preference League and the unions. “Although 1
admit that Ttaly,” wrote Battistessa, “a country 27 times smaller than
Australia and with a population nine times as large, may not have un
Italian Preference League because it has never invited foreigners in
with promises of a rosy future, nevertheless all foreigners. like all
Italians, have the same right 1o live by the sweat of their brow.

“Fortunately for Austrulia and for mankind, not all Australians are so
narrow-minded, so barbarically intolerant and short-sighted as one
Australian shows himself to be. If this gentleman would like to voice
his opinjons publicly I shall give him a free copy of I Giornale
Italiano, of which I am honoured to be the editor and in which he
can read a splendid article entitled “Fuccuse”™ by a famous Australian
writer against the British Preference League, denouncing it as bloody-
minded beyond belief.”

Another publication was Il Bolletting della Camera di Commercio di
Sydney. Before the First World War and in the 19305 and "40s Halo-
Australian publications did not generally have a long life-span.
Rather than flourish together, newspapers came and went one after
the other, on each occasion leaving the defence of the Italiun com-
munity to the ones that followed. Unfortunately, L 'ltalo-Australiano,
Il Corriere degli Italiani in Australia, La Stampa Italiana and
L'Italiano, to name but a few, disappeared without trace. The excel-
lent public libraries have no record of their existence and the papers
themselves are only remembered by interested individuals, (29)

FTALIANS IN POLITICS

Italian involvement in Australian political life has been significant, if
sporadic. In the period we are concerned with it is Interesting to note
how all those Italians who were successful in the political arena were
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‘members of, or supported by, the Labor Party. It is my belief that
the reasons for this are basically to be found in the fact that, at the
hme, the Italians who were more inclined to pursue political careers
were precisely those who had socialist and union backgrounds.

The first chronologically to enter parliament (if we exclude those
dlready mentioned in relation to the nineteenth century) were two
brothers, Camillo and Pietro Lazzarini, sons of a Florentine gentle-
man who had arrived in Australia in 1860 and had settled at Young in
New South Wales where Carlo Camillo and Pietro were born, in 1880
and 1884 respectively, Camillo Lazzarini. who already as a young
man had become involved in politics was elected in 1917 as member
for the seat of Marrickville in the New South Wales parliament, a
Sedt he held until 1932, He was Minister for State Works in 1921, was
?&tl}inmcd Colonial Secretary in 1927 and made Deputy Minister in

His brother Pictro Lazzarini also proved to be a figure of consider-
dble political stature. Once elected to Federal Parliament in 1919 as
member for Werriwa he first held the seat for 12 vears, Re-elected in
1934 he retired in 1952, Fe was Minister for Home Security in 1942
and Minister for Work and Housing in 1946, Camillo and Pietro died
M 1952, two months apart.

Antonio Lucchetti was another distinguished parliamentarian. His
Ieat-grandfather was one of the first to settle in the Lithgow and
athurst areas, Antionio was elected to Puarlisment as the member for
acquirie,

Gf'uscppc Lamaro was also for many vyears an important political
figure. Born in Redfern of Italian parents, 4s a boy he won a scholar-
ship 1o St. Patrick’s College, Goulburn. After graduating from the

Cademy of Fine Arts he joined the Education Department in
Sydney and during that time completed @ law degree at the univer-
Ay, During the First World War he fought with distinetion in France.

N his return he wis admitted to the bar in 1922, In 1927 he was
elected (o State Parliament as the member for Enmore, He was

Wister of Justice from 1930 1o 1932, when he resigned to stand for
Federal Parliament. Defeated, he retired from politics. A magistrate
Of undoubted ability, he was appointed Crown Prosecutor in 1943 and
District Court Judge in 1947, nuseppe Lazzaro died in 1951 at just
56 years of age. (30)
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THE AGRICULTURAL MIRACLE OF
1 = THE RIVERINA

Accarding 1o the explorer John Oxley who saw the Riverina for the
ISt ime in 1817 from the top of Mt. Binya, it was an immensely
sterile and desolate plain. While passing by to the south of this same
mmense plain 12 years later in 1829, another famous explorer,
Charles Sturt, wrote in his diary: “.. It is impossible to describe these
q_ll;u:cs We are crossing or the desolation of the scene before our eyes,

€ plain is flat all the way to the horizon with some gum trees scat-
tered about here and there and a sombre cypress tree seems to have
been planted by nature as a meluncholy sign of that isolated plain.

Neither bird nor animal inhabits this solitary and inhospitable region
over which there seems to reign a deathly silence...” (1) _
And so it was thought until another pioneer, Sir Samuel McCaughey,
bought a large property towards the end of the century at North
Aanco, one of the most arid areas in the State. In 1902, the year of a
disastrous drought, McCaughey began the construction of some 300
miles of canals to irrigate his 40,000 acres of which 5,000 were sown

With alfalfa and 2,500 with sorghum, while 10,000 were set aside for
pasture, He had 16,0000 sheep as well, (2)

In 1906 the State Government :zrpr:wcd plans for irrigation using the
Waters of the Murrumbidgee and its tributary, the Goodradigbee. The
Ollowing year work was begun on an artificial lake, “The Burrinjuck
Dam® and its inlets, which went on until the First World War. By
1913, 500 farms hud been established, 273 colonial homes built, 80
miles of road laid, with 6,500 acres of land under irrigation and
15,000 cultivated in all, The press publicised the project extensively,
(3} In 1912, before the official opening of the first section at Yanco,
the Irrigation Trust had sent a representative to Broken Hill 1o find
buyers. Many miners in poor physical health bought farms. A certain
number of them became successful farmers, but the majority failed.
Al the end of the war it was decided to set that land aside for
returned soldiers and their families. In 1919, 826 returned soldiers
were set up in the district of Mirool with their families, This was in
the northern part of the land under irrigation, whose main town
Griffith was then only in the planning stages. 650 of these families
took up fruit-growing, 142 raised dairy cattle and 21 bred stock. 320
other ['mmli-:s. took possession of properties elsewhere in the Yanco
district, with 176 involved in fruit-growing, 118 in dalrving and 26 in
cattle-breeding, (4)
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But the authoritics” haste ~ undoubtedly politically motivated - in
settling the veterans almost anywhere on’ the land, together with the
general inexperience and an inability to cope on the part of many of
them, accelerated the inevitable failure and abandonment of the
venture.

In 1924 W.J. Allen caleulated that only 27% of the farms be consi-
dered of high, or at least adequate standard, while 2%
comprised land that had never been cultivated, The crops of 49% of
the remaining farms were second-rate , and 22% were third-rate ,
that is, unsatisfactory or totally neglected. (5)

In the decade after 1919 the number of war veterans declined rapidly
while the Italian community continued to grow steadily. In the official
settlement blueprint no provision had ever been mae?:: to use Italian
farmers and yet they were almost the only ones left to develop the
farming land set aside for Australian war veterans and civilians.

The very first Italians settled there after having worked on building
the artificial lake and some irrigation canals. 'Iﬁrce- of these Italians,
Francesco Bicego and Luigi Gugliclmini from Rovere in the provinee
of Verona, ancig Enrico Lucco from Colamonte in Piedmont had left
the mines at Broken Hill because of continual worker unrest. (6)

During the First World War the Broken Hill mines, where quite a
tew Italians worked, were partly closed down as the principal market
for many of the minerals — Germany — had been lost because of the
conflict. As a consequence, a certain number of miners moved 1o the
Riverina und among these were some Italians: Camillo Baltieri from
Badia Calavena (Verona), Marco and Luigi Bonomi who settled at
Mirool in 1915. Cesare Augusto Bonomi, son of Luigi, remembers
the long trip from Broken Hill to Griffith very well; he was 12 years
old and the only one who spoke a little Enﬁlish. which meant he be-
came the spokesman and interpreter for the group, They took the
train to Adelaide and then to Melbourne where they were put up by
friends until the next day, when they caught another train to Al ury
where they had to change again. They arrived at Junee at three
o'clock on a freezing cold morning. They warmed themselves by a
small fire in the station waiting room until the train for Hay arrived
at half past eight later that morning. They got 1o Willbriggic at two
o'clock in the afternoon where Cesare’s fiather Luigi was waiting for
them in a gig. The road was so rough and full of pot-holes that they
kept having to get off because the horse could not go on. Finally, at
five n'cIocE in the afternoon, they arrived exhausted ut ‘farm 664 ,
The two-roomed house had @ corrugated iron roof, hessian witlls.
beds made of sack-cloth and sheepskins for mattresses. These condi-
tions did not change until their few picces of furniture arrived by rail
from Broken Hill.

Luigi Bonomi had already cultivated part of the land and had planted
corn, potatoes, pumpkins and beans. Later they built a chicken coop,
a stable and a pig-sty and began to grow tomatoes, apricot and peach
trees, and wine and sultana grapes. (7)

It seems though that the first Italian to settle in the Yanco distriet
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A piongar family e the Rivering {Photo by W.AR.C.)
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The first ltalian pioneears in the Rivenna
Francasco and Rachildre Bicego

Giuditta Balljer

Guemno Baltier

Thedr four children: Mary., Rino, Aldo and Giulio
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Was Battista. Governa who had spent several yvears at Nagambie in
Victoria where he had become very well known. Even in the Leeton
district many still remember him as a very strange character and the
Stories they tell are certainly nof flattering. He is known to have had
4 farm at Stanbridge and to have been a wine-grower. He built the
first dance-hall in Leeton and in its basement set up a cellar where he
sold wine over the counter.

AL 36 years of age he married a Turkish woman from Constantinople
but they had no children, He died of a heart attack at the age of 82
at Leeton in 1933, having been in Australia 49 years. (8)

In 1917 Antonio Fantoni and Giuseppe Fois who were from the same
town o ltaly. and Erminio Cappello. arrived from Burrinjuck. In
1914 Fantoni and Fois, who were both Sardinians, had landed in
Sydney where they set up home in a corrugated ron shack until one
day they were evicted and sent to work on the construction of the
Burrinjuck dam. There they met Erminio Cappello who had recently
arrived from Cavaso (Treviso) and for about three months they lived
In & sort of tent. Life was hard and they had 1o make many sacrifices.
After three years, even work at the dam became scarce and so the
three men moved 1o the Yanco area in search of other employment.
Cappello left almost immediately for the Griffith district. Fois, on the
other had. returned to the Canberra area while Fantoni, after wan-
dering around fruitlessly for many days. found a dairy farmer who
offered him work as a milker in the Stanbridge area.

Towards the end of 1917, when he had put aside some money,
Fantoni tried 1o purchase a small property but he was prevented from
doing so because he was not an Australian citizen, By the time he did
obtain his citizenship there was a rural recession and poor Fantoni
found himself unemploved. He packed his bags again, returning to
Queanbeyan where he met Carlo Sagagio from Piedmont, and to-
gether they founded the Zepith Works  construction compant'. In
order to keep their prices down they used sheets of fibrous plaster
and mosaic tiles. They replaced a dilapidated wooden construction
near the Queanbeyan post office with an elegant two-storey commer-
cial complex and later built another on the post office site itself, The
depression of the 1930s brought all construction work to a halt and
Fantoni returned to the Rivering, where, for several years, he worked
for the Fox family who, among other things, raised horses. Then in
1939 he bought a small farm of 15 acres with a farm-house that had
been the local maternity hospital, becoming a poultry wholesaler and
turning the farm into a citrus orchard, He was called the Gentleman
of the Riverina because of his education and good manners and was
dlways ready to help and advise his fellow countrymen. (9)

In 1916 Ernesto Ceceato arrived at Mirool with his family and in 1917
he bought uncultivated land from a certain Mr Silvester. In that same
year Angelo Pastega moved there, as did the following year Erminio
Cappello, who had arrived in the Rivering with Fantont. From North-
ern Italy came Garolamo Vardanega and Angelo Muraro and from
Naples Edoardo D' Ambrosio who fmd spent a lot of time wandering
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between South Australia and Vietoria ufter haying emigrated to
Australia in 1870. In 1921 Giuseppe Cunial also armived, (10)

Valerio Ricetti, a 17-year-old youth, landed in Australia in 1915. He
too, had wandered through South Australia and Victoria in search of
employment after having worked a little in the mines at Broken Hill.
Having had nothing but bad luck he worked for a while on a Murray
River paddle-steamer unti finally he set off 1o walk all the way to
Griffith. On arriving in the Griffith area during a storm and without
seemng any of the few modest houses that made up the new town, he
sought refuge in one of the many natural caves to the north. He
chose one and decided 1o stay there. Without any tools to work with
he made the cave liveable and on the slope of the hill he created a
tiny vegetable garden. Believing himself to be the only Italian in the
ared, Ricetti remained isolated %rum everyone, working on his garden
at night, living like a hermit and becoming known as such, During the
Second World War the authorities placed him in a concentration
camp believing him to be a spy. On his release a1 the end of the war
he returned to Griffith. This fime he warked for the Ceccato family
until 1952, when he returned to Italy. He died six months later. (11)

“During this period the arrival of ever-increasing numbers of Italians
in the Murrumbidgee [rrigation Area.,” writes reorge Pich, “was to
be attributed to a combination of interrelated factors; worker unrest
in the mines at Broken Hill which kept interrupting the work there,
the restrictions on Italian emigration 10 the United States and the rise
of Fascism in Italy.” (12)

In fact from 1909 1o 1920 industrial relations at the mines in Broken
Hill were among the most turbulent in the country, culminating i the
long strike of %920. For these reasons quite a number of talians,
cspcciallg the Veneti, preferred to join their fellow countrymen m the
Murrumbidgee Irrigation Area, During the depression of the 1930s
still more Italians arrived from Caldegno, Caltrano, Conco, Marano,
Monte di Malo, Raccaro, Sandrigo, Schio and Vastagna, (13) The
number of families from the Veneto region rose 1o 280, from Calabria
to 98, from the Friuli to 46 and from the Abruzzi to 18, Several other
families arrived from Piedmont, Lombardy, Campania and Sicily. (14)

Without the economic recovery Italian immi§m_l'inn to the Rivering
also underwent a dramatic increase. About 300 men arrived, some
with their families, others alone. From 1933 to 1947 the number of
Italians in the Riverina went from 747 to approximately 2,000, True
mass migration, however, began after 1947 and by 1954 the Italian
contingent had already risen (o 4,185. (15)

From its humble beginnings in 1915 the Ttalian mvolvement in hor-
ticulture and fruit-growing, in arcas irrigated by the Murrumbidgee,
grew steadily, They initially farmed uncultivated land and later took
over those properties abandoned by ex-servicemen. Soon the au-
thorities were forced to accept that the Italians were really deter-
mined to make the Murrumbidgee Irrigation Ares their permanent
home, even if the possibility of the involvement of Ttaliun abour hal
never been considered, even remotely, in the official plans for the
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L Bonumi, kis wife @nd son

Marile, Elld and Marcallo Corracl, surmounded by relatves and friends from thelr
home tawn an their armval in Australia on 10 \‘,.p,t.,.,m; 1932
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settlement of those vast virgin areas. .
AL first the Italians had w be content with finding casual work as
ordinary labourers or farm-hands. Yel they knew what had to be
done if they were to own their own land. Often the first 1o arrive was
the head of the family who emigrated alone or with his eldest son.
and only after having worked and saved enough money did he briug
Over his family. Once reunited, these people would use their savings
to establish small farms of one 10 five acres in size 1o grow fruit and
vegetables in cooperation with other Italians, or with their own rela-
tives; otherwise they bought existing farms, or if they did not have
sufficient money, leased plots of land or entered into crop-sharing
agreements. (16) Between 1920 and 1930 the growth in the number of
Italians in the horticultural and fruit-growing industries must be attri-
buted to the will 1o succeed of these families, If unlike the ex-service-
men-cum-farmers the Ttalians made a success of horticulture and fruit-
Browing, it was due to their general abilities. tenacity and olose family
support.
From 1920 to 1925 Italians owned and worked only some 20 farms.
During the Depression this number increased considerably  partly
because the Ttalians had the neeessary capital and partly because the
price of land had plummeted. Tn 1933 52 orchards and 1S market gar-
dens out of a 1otal of 600 were owned by ltalians. During the penod
from 1933 to the Second World War the number rose from 63 to 163
and continued to grow. Ttalians from the Vencto owned 126 of these
roperties, 17 were owned by Calabrians, eight by Friulians, seven by
icdmontese, three by lulians from the Abruzzi, and two by
Siciltans.
Throughout the Second World War the Murrumbidgee Trrigation
Area became an important centre for the production of fresh vegeta-
bles for consignment to Australian servicemen in the south-castern
Pacific theatre. The first consignment in 1942 came to 10,000 tons,
that s five times the normal annual production. In the space of two
years this was raised ineredibly to 32,000 tons, that is 16 times the
annual production.

Some 600 farmers, of whom 90% were Italians, signed @ contract with
the government to grow certain vegetables and to deliver them 1o
local cooperatives. As there was 4 lack of seed the government made
150 acres of land availuble to the Rivering Welfare %arm at Yanco to
produce it. In 1945, 760 Italian POWs from Northern Africa were
trunsterred there with the task of cultivating 200 acres of land for
seed production, (17)

“The Mistory of the first pioneers of the Murrumbidgee Irrigation
Area,” writes Sue Chessbough, “would be incomplete without paying
tribute to the Italians, They played a major part in the development
and the improvement of the arca and all worked extremely hard,
cither in lowly furm jobs, or in roud construction pangs, or as share-
farmers so that they could save enough to buy their own farms. ™ (18)
The Riverina flourished largely due to their hard work. “In (et they
savedd the area in the 19205 when many bankrupt farmers abandoned
[N



their properties in desperation...” (19)

The introduction of the art of wine-making is also due to the Talians.
Since they were accustomed to producing wine for their own use back
home. they found it natural to E*ep up this old tradition in their new
homeland.

Soon they began to exhibit their wines at local shows around the
Riverina and competed intensely with each other. For example,
Samuele Paganini won many prizes at various Griffith shows, while
other Italians, such as Vittorio De Bortoli, sturted making wine for
commerciul consumption, After working for five years in the Jones
winery al Beelbangera, De Bortoli planted some vines on 4 small
property he bought at Biltbul, and in 1928 produced his first wine. Tt
was not easy to sell wine to the itinerant workers and the Halians liv-
ing in the district, though it did not take long before the quantity and
quality of his wine was such that the De Bortoli winery became one
of the most important in the Riverina.

Many other individuals and companies followed De Bortoli's example
and there ar¢ now 18 wineries and two distilleries in the area. At
least ten of these 18 wineries are Tralian, (20)

CENMITIES LINGER ON

Everything went smoothly throughout this initial period of settlement.
Everyone wis so preoccupied with cultivating and planting their prop
ctties that they had not been oo concerned about the ethnic muke-up
of the area. However, when Australian ex-servicemen started joining
the powerful R.S.L. the wibul mentality was reawakened. They
noticed the presence of foreigners and considered it harmiul; their
fear of competition stirred up the wsual prejudices and discrimination.
Ialians were accused of beng dirty and rugeed because, to pay off
their yoperties, they led o frugal existence. “It was very rare,” writes
Pino Bost, “1o0 find a dirty or untdy Ttalian facm-house” indeed it wis
less likely among the ltalians than the Australions,” (21) (Toduy the
most beautitul hml'&c.\ in Griflith and Leeton belong o talians.)
Some Ttalians were ulso secused of cheatmg fellow countrymen out of
their properties. And if prices went up it was the Talinns fault he-
cause these "bloody dagoes™ bought derelict propertics at grossly in-
Hated prices. Finally. Haliuns were not adeepted by the general
Australian community. nor into the local organisations: they could
ot join cultural. sporting. welfure or charitable associntions. (22)
This was the kind of discrimination that olten manifested itsell. but
there wits an even worse example

All Traltan farmers in the Rivering and, naturadly, their children,
were Australian citizens, even though - because of the sgreement of
1883 between Ilitl}' and Britam ~ it was not strctly necessury 10 be
maturalised i order 1o own property in Austialin (23) On one occa-
sion the Water Conservation and Irogation Commission retused 10
allow the transfer of ownership of a farm to a group of Australinn
ctizens of Ialian ovigin. The mater ended up in court. |he
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Commission defended its refusal by maintaining that irrigated proper-
ties: should be reserved for Australians, especially ex-servicemen,
Claiming that Ttalians were not good farmers and that it was not desir-
able to have a concentration of Italians in the Murrumbidgee Irriga:
ton Area. (24) Many of the prejudices were fomented by the local
Press and by newspapers in other parts of Australia. (25) The local-
.rﬂﬂt‘r_& particutirly the Murrumbidgee Irrigator, often spoke of lta-
1ans in an unkind. uninformed, discrimiuumr)' und contradiciory wity.
Yhen writing about the presence of Halians in the Murrumbidgee Ir-
neaton Ared, the papers did not refer 1o Italian settlement but rather
0 the “Tralian problem. and to the desirability or otherwise of Ttalian
seitlement in the areas under irmgation.,
n January 1925 the Irrigator published an article entitled “1l-Regu-
lated Tmmigration™ which picked up the theme of an article in the
¢lbourne Age. The reporter said in no uncertain manner: “Each of
Us has his own particular dislikes  with regard to  other
Mitionulities... Iralians are obsessed by @ burning desire that drives
em.
Later in 1927 the same newspaper in another article painted a rather
ttering picture of Italian settlers. even though underneath it all it
Mintained a tone of racial superiority,
l'ﬂ'rcfu'ring 1o the Italians in“New Italy™ it affirmed that they were a
Ard-working community which as a consequence, became stronger
and richer and brought prosperity to the State, showing at the same
Hme how so much land previously considered infertilé could be made
Productive, The article continued its praise pointing out that “produce
rom “New [taly” are many and vaned, even though the settlement is
Small, The main ones in any cuse are railway sleepers, firewood, all
Sorts of fruit, grapes, vegetables...and children. This last product is
Very important to the settlement's ceonomy because the girls, who are
atiractive and clean, can become good maids sund nurses, while the
OVS learn early on 10 become good market gardeners and farmers.
¢it understanding of how vines grow, thetr knowledge of which
Kind is suituble tor such cultivation and their capacity for work are to
¢ admired”. (26)
But the [ollowing week, another item appeared in the same columns
Cnititled “Foreign Invasion”. with the sub-title of “Peaceful Entry
from the Mediterrancan: the United States shifts its problems to
ustralia”™. Lumping everyone together, the author of the article
Stated unambiguously that “everybody knows that Italians are not
Settlers; they {ﬁ: not blaze trails, Their particular trick is to join well-
established communities where: settlement and colonisation have al-
feady taken place through the efforts of others. Therefore, we today,
have all the evidence c.llf i gradual movement towards the antipodes
by the Latin race, which wilil. with time beeome an exodus as it did in
merica. Something is happening here now and there is no doubt
that certain BIOUPS are trving to get rid of ‘Australians and Britons
Wl)crcwr it s pl;‘lhlhlc 4] c:'m\'ingu the urigm:ﬂ owners 1o sell, h}'
Using agents spread throughout Australin as well as those means
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foreigners know best, .

“ltalians love 1o have their own picce of land, For them, owning &
jiece of land is the be all and end all of their lives, The reason why
talians went to Queensland was to buy farms, which, at that time
was not difficult... Thus they advanced and surrounded the English-
shaeaking races, The intrusion of different races and customs pushed
the English-speakers into selling to the greedy people from Piedmont
and Sigily.

“For 70 years, Garibaldi’s brothers have been in contact with the
people of the United States and yet they have retaiped their old cus-
toms and ideas up to the third and fourth generations. We have met
two generations of these people in Northern Queensland and in them.
certain things, like a love for Australia, are practically non-existent,
They miarry very young and multiply quickly, and they do not teach
their children gnglish unless they are not frst fluent in the sweet
Latin tongue. This country, furthermore, is seen as a good place to
make money, but Italy is always their spiritual home! (27) On other
occasions, it was said Italians “drink wine the way we drink tea”: or,
that some of them exploited relatives and countrymen whom they
kept virtually like slaves; or, that in any disagreements among them-
selves or with Australians, they used razor-blades and knives, unlike
the Australians who used their fists,
Those Australians who knew Italians well, or who emploved them,
considered them to be industrious and loyal workers. Others still,
considered the supposed vices and virtues of Italians 1o be of secon-
dary importance to the actual growth of the communities in the
irrigation areas,

Before concluding this sad part of our account we must mention
Smith’s Weekly, also called *The Soldier’s Advocate”. It is no exaggera-
tion to say that from 1919 to 1950 this paper felt only hatred towards
the Ttalians. It was a case of overt hatred and denigration at every
opportunity, of the paper choosing emotionalism over reason, (28)

In its 32-year history it always defended the canse of the war vete-
rans, calling them “gentlemen . the ecream of the country's young
men , our saviours® On the other hand, Ttalians were people who
lived in a state of indescribable degradation and filth. Smith's Weekly
maintained that it was proper and necessary to keep the population of
the Commonwealth of Australia 98% British...and to reduce foreign
immigration (o a minimum. (29)

With Italy’s entry into the war in 1940 the arrival of [taliuns in the
Murrumbidgee Irrigation Area practically ceased, and what began in-
stead, was a long period of suffering for those already living there,
The Australian authorities did not delay in legislating against those
residents whose country of origin was at war with the Commonwealth
of Australia. imposing restrictions on their movements and work.

On 24 July 1940 the government proclaimed the “National Security
{Land Transfer) Regulations™ which divided the Ttalians of the Mur-
rumbidgee Irrigation Area into two categories; “enemy aliens” and
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“naturalised persons of enemy origin®, (30) Those in the first categ-
ory were prohibited from buying any farms (no person was to sign a
contriset or enfer into an agreement to sell land to an “enemy alien™),

0S¢ in the second category were allowed to buy or sell land. but
only with the written permission of the Attorney-General's
Department, (31)

Suffice to say that during the whole of the war few contracts of sale
Ivolving naturalised Italians were approved. To those that were ap-
[.\mvcd the Trrigation Commission added two further restrictions: no
case or share-farming agreement was allowed 1o exceed a period of
12 ‘months; and under no circumstances could a permanent title of
evnership be granted while the “National Security (Land Transfer)
Regulations™ were in force.

The provisions of the "Regulations™ which allowed the confiscation of
Weapons and forbade the possession and use of radio transmitters and
Teceivers, were often appﬁcd arbitrarily, affecting even ltalians who
had been naturalised. Many had their household wirelesses taken
away,

The “Regulations” prescribed that an “alien” could not be in posses-
S1on of more than four gallons of petrol. diesel or benzol, or of other
inflammable liquids used on farms. The use of cars, motoreycles and
other motor vehicles was forbidden without the permission of the
local police.

Considering the circumstances, Ttalians in the Murrumbidgee Irriga-
tion Area tried to put on a brave face and accepted the government's
Measures without complaint, What they resented was having to report
cach week to the police; they quite correctly considered it humiliating
and a waste of tume. They endured the pain of not being able to
Speak their mother tongue ‘in public and on the telephone, of having
their only meeting-place closed down and of being prohibited from
travelling outside the district without written authonsation. (32) Then
tame the “Enemy Aliens Internment Policy 1941" which sanctioned

the internment of all toreigners considered a threat to national
Security. (33)

In the enforcement of the law the national interest took precedence
over individual rights, so once again the police were able to dv as
they liked. Several Italians were deprived of their frecdom for the
simple reason of having, before the war, talked in glowing terms
about Italian life and culture, The detention of (supposed) community
leaders had the desired effect; those who remained free were careful
to watch what they said. The local press gave prominence to the in-
ternment of 60 or 70 Italians in the Griffith district, several of whom
were Australian citizens. Many more would have been interned had it
not been for the intervention of some influential Australians who con-
vinced the Federal authorities that the majority of Italians posed no
threat to national security; indeed, they would prove to be more use-
ful if left free because they kept up the production of fruit and veget-
ables, so vital to the Australian armed forces, (34)
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Once more the R.S.L. assumed the role of watchdog throughout this
distressing period. It stubbornly and persistently demanded that re-
strictions be imposed on Italians. It continually warned the population
to remain wary and to keep an eye on the Italians because they rep-
resented a danger, that of subversion and sabotage. Finally, it asked
the government to prevent anyone naturalised after 1939 becoming a
landowner for at least 15 years from the eénd of hostilities.

Despite this racial intolerance, nowadays an harmonious society exists
in this area. Half the population of the Griffith district is of Italian
origin and is valued and respected.
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BRIEF GEOGRAPHICAL AND HISTORICAL OUTLINE OF VICTORIA

The State of Victoria is situated in the southern part of the continent,
between 141st and 160th degrees fongitude east. To the north it
Shares a border with New South Wales, to the west with South
Australia; the rest 15 washed by the sea. It is the smallest State in
the Australian continent, it has an area of 227,530 square miles, that
18 about 3% of the total area of Australia.

Howaever, it is one of the richest States because of its resources of
Coal, gold, petroleum and natural gas. (1)

On 11 November 1850, the colony of Port Phillip {Victoria), obtained
Its independence from the “tyranny” of the mother colony, New
South Wales, (2)

In February 1802, deputy, J. Grant, piloted the vessel, Lady Nelson,
into Port Phillip bay for the first time. He was looking for a suitable
place to establish a colony. But his choice saon proved to be a mis-
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take because the soll was too sandy and drinking water was scarce.
The few colonists had to be transported to the Island of
Tasmania to avoid dying from hunger or thirst. (3)

30 years later, in 1834, the Henty family, who dedicated themselves
to hunting whales, tried again, but this time in the extreme west of
Lhe co!onzﬁat Portland Bay, in an area already well known by whale
wnters. (4) '

They found excellent pastures and also established a cattle raising
farm. The following year, attracted by the success of the Henty ex-
penment, another person who subsequently became famous, John
Batman, arrived in the colony. Batman acquired 600,000 acres of
.;g?d from the Aborigines for an annual tax of £200 worth of goods.
John Batman was followed by another great pioneer, John P.
Fawkner, and then by others.

In 1837 the white population numbered 500 in all, who settled
mainly along the estaury of the Yarra River in Port Phillip Bay.

In the following years more and more colonists arrived and settled in
various-areas along the 1,580 miles of the Victorian coast and also in
- the interior. In 1838 Governor Bourke visited the group of houses
built along the banks of the Yarra River and called it Melbourne.

Great numbers of migrants started to flow in from England and from
the neighbouring colonies and the cost of living and of housing went
through the roof. In 1842, when the first Mayor was elected,
Melbourne had 4,479 inhabitants.

Right from the start the residents of Port Phillip developed a strong
feeling of separatism from the mother colony. Faith in the natural
resources of the area instllled a great enthusiasm in the colonists.

Moreover, the colonists did not want to have anything to do with the
convicts and on two occasions they forced two ships laden with con-
victs to leave the port without having off-loaded a single convict. (6)

In the month following the approval of the constitution of the new
colony, the first gold deposits were discovered at Ballarat, In 1852,
between March and December, the population of Melbourne
climbed to 39,000 and the population of the colony rose from 77.000
to 168.000 in all,

In 1853, 364,324 persons arrived.

On 23 November, 1855, the new constitution was proclaimed and
with it the system of two houses was instituted. Two years later the
universal vote for the election of members to the Legislative
Assembly was introduced,

The State of Victoria has been declared the garden of the South
because of the sweetness of its climate, the ertility of its soil and
the beauty of its natural scenery.



11 = THE DISCOVERY OF GOLD

The discovery of gold saved not only the colony of Victoria, but all
the Australian colonies from remaining ur:ro?ulated. Many of the
mlgranls. who had arrived in the colonies during the crisis of 1840,
had returned to their homelands. Many others had ventured forth in
4 new wave of migration, headed in particular, towards California,
Where in 1848-49 gold had been discovered. Consequently the pula-
Hon of Australia started to decrease rapidly. The government became
Worried and offered big sums of money to anyone who discovered
gold deposits. (1)

Before then it had been severely forbidden not only to publicise, but
even to reveal gold discoveries to others. The government was afraid
of losing control of the convicts. Besides, agricultural and pastoral
holdings needed all the labour forces available. Finally, however, gold
was seen as the only practical means of bringing back to this conti-
nent, and in particular to Victoria, the various thousands of gold dig-
8ers who had left for California and to attract other hundreds of
thousands from every corner of the globe.

On 3 April, 1851, Hargreaves, a veteran of the American goldfields,
discovered the first Australian gold beyond the Blue Mountains in the
Bathurst district and so received £10,000 from the New South Wales
Lovernment and £2,381 from the Victorian Parliament.

Two months later, on 29 January, 1851, JYames William Esmond,
another veteran gold digger, who had decided to return from Califor-
Ma to look for gold in Australia, discovered gold deposits at Clunes,
near Ballarat in the colony of Victoria. (2)

Esmond himself, remembers the incident in a letter to the Ballaarat
Courier. “On 29 June, 1851, 1 discovered gold in quartz and alluvial
old at Clunes and | brought it to Geelong where | showed it to Mr
illiam Patterson, then & clock-maker, and then to an analyst at the
Bank of Australia. This analyst checked the content in the presence
of Mr Alfred Clarke of the Geelong Advertiser, who reported my dis-
covery the following Monday, 8 Ju }\; Before the discovery of gold in
California it was rumoured that a shepherd from the farm of McNeil
and Hall in Pirenei had discovered a nugget of gold, which he sold to
4 person by the name of Brentani, a jeweller in Melbourne.” (3)
The shepherd, who had discovered two big nuggets of pure gold
(95%), of 24 oz. and one of 14 oz., in the Pyrenees near Ballarat,
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was called Thomas Chapman. Carlo Brentani, who had bought one of
the two nug%ets in 1_848 for five shirts, a pair of trousers, a hat and
£20, was an Italian jeweller, the owner of a business in Collins Street,
Melbourne. According to some, Brentani and his helpers drew up a
pact with Chapman to extract the gold secretly, They went to the
place indicated, but because of their inexperience, they did not find
anything and Chapman disappeared.

Accdrd'mgh to others, in a more probable version, Brentani, not con-
tent with having bought the nugget, tried, by promises and threats, to
make the shepherd show him the place where he had found the
nuggets. Chapman, however, through fear of falling into the hands of
the law, embarked on a vessel headed for Sydney. Brentani never
found out where the shepherd had discovered the gold.

A supporter of this version was a certain Mr. Bacchus, who had a
letter published in the Melbourne newspaper. The Argus. on 1 July,
1851, declaring, “Chapman is an old servant of mine and 1 don't have
any reason to disbelieve his story. In fact he insists that he never took
Brentani near the place where he found the gold.” (4)

Brentani sold 12 oz. of the famous nugget bought from Chapman, to
Captain J, White, Commander of the ship, Berkshire, who sailed
from Melbourne for London on 17 February. 1949, “whence to
demonstrate that this province truly deserves the regal title of
Victoria™. (5)

Brentani was also known for having presented a thermometer to the
ublic which remained the officia% guide of the compilers of the

elbourne weather meteorological reports for miny years, (6)

Within a very short time the news of the discovery of rich gold de-
posits in Australia_spread round the world, leading to the famous
“fald rush™ of the 50s, which changed the social and économic history
ol the country,

Al the beginning of May, 1851, the first public diggings began, in the
colony of New South Wales, 30 miles from Bathurst. Within a few
weeks thousands of people crossed the Blue Mountains and Sydney
became almost depopulated, (7)

After some months, the earlier scenes of Sydney were repeated with
even more intensity in the colony of Victoria. New migrants arrived
continually and a long procession passed through Melbourne for days
and weeks on end, leading out from the capital to the gold fields -
lawyers, doctors, shop keepers and even ministers of religion were
rushing to make their fortune. Bathurst, Ballarat. Bendigo,
Beechworth, Rushworth and hundreds of other places were invaded
by Europeans, Canadians, Americans, Chinese, Filipinos, Malaysians,
ete, (B)

Forests, bushland, mountains, water courses were sifted from one end
to the other of the colony. Tent villages and rudimentary huts sprang
up everywhere, “A dozen other camping settlements, similar to those
at Ballarat, had been erected along the roads outside the towns and
all had the same crowd, made up of gold diggers - English, Scotch,
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Irish, ITralian, who were swarming over the mud, shovelling dirt and
working the noisy and rudimentary winches...” (9)

That heterogencous crowd was composed of J)rofcssiona.ls and adven-
turers, migrants and local people, white an black, and all working
side by side. like an immense ant-hill.

As we have already pointed out in the first section of this book, the
discovery of gold in Australia, also attracted many Italians, formerly
resident within the borders and along the valleys of Piedmont and
Lombardy, near Switzerland, to migrate. They embarked on a new
wive of migration which was even further away than that to Califor-
ma. For some rime already they had found themselves attracted 1o
the same dream,

But, perhaps. more than from gnld fever, which in general left the
peasants, who were accustomed to see things in a4 more practical
sense, somewhat sceptical, the determining factors were the battery of
publicity and the personal contact by the agents of the big shipping
companies, who were deceiving the people with visions of easy Pros-
crity, with the promise of liberal salaries, of assured work and of
and for everyone.

" The brains behind this widespread propaganda, which spread through
Germany and Switzerland and arrived in Piedmont and Lombardy, as
we have already seen., were the German navigation companics of
Hamburg,

The fact was, that once having come in contact with the cruel reality,
very few gold diggers were capable of enduring that inhuman work or
of accumulating a fortune quickly,

Some, therefore, packed up and returned to the city; others, perhaps
the majority, found work connected with the mines: others, again, re-
turned to work on the fields,

The history books of many towns in Victoria, frequently mention the
presence of Ttalians, particularly in mining areas. However, they do
not help us to establish the date of their arrival or their total number.
Consequently, given the lack of definite historical dates and the in-
exactness of the secondary sources in this regard, in order to arrive at
d precise historical exactness, long, meticulous and costly research
would be necessary, which is beyond our possibilities and our means.
However, the references made hy local historians, although of a gen-
eral nature, can help to give us an idea of the ltalian presence in the
Colony of Victoria in this period. (10)

For example, “Already in June, 1855, writes J. Flett in his history of
the discovery of gold, “not far from the Sailors’ Gully Ming, one of
the richest gold mines in the area was opened and. in the following
month, 200 Malians came to work at Italian Gully, one of the main

mines of Deep Creek, near Egan.” (| 1)

At any rate, it is in the districts of Ballarat and Bendigo that we find

the greatest number of Italians, Another nucleus wis established i
the ilnrl’h-fiast of the colony. Towards the end of the century a
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further important group was formed at Walhalla in the Latrobe Val-
ley., We will now seek to reconstruct the Ttalian presence in these
places and to evaluate their role in local history.

ITALIANS IN CENTRAL VICTORIA

During the time of the discovery of gold, innumerable little towns
such as Daylesford, Hepburn, “Castlemaine, Clunes, Egan, New
Trento and Ttalian Gully were established around the two cities of
Jallarat and Bendigo. Already we have found some Italians in these
places in the last century.

A.J, Williams, recalling the origins of Maldon and Tarrangower, two
small towns which, like many others, were born during the invasion
of the gold diggers, writes, “...The Italians, who have settled in great
numbers in the district, have played a prominent part in the birth and
development of Maldon.” (12)

As we will see later, most of these Italians dedicated themselves more
10 agriculture than to looking for gold. But a certain number did
work in the mines or dedicated themselves to related work.

he evidence is varied. For example, in 1864, in the mines at Por-
cupine, still in the Maldon district, various clashes between Italians
and Chinese are verified. (13)
In another situation, a certain Novello knifed a German. The local
Newspaper reported that Novello was a respectable person, but that
he apparently had little liking for certain foreign names that were dif-
ficult to pronounce. It is not known whether he committed the act
because of prejudice or for some other reason. But the German did
not appear at the trial and the accused was acquitted. (14)
With regard to the Bendigo district, “the golden city of Victoria”, Ita-
lians are mentioned by Frank Cusak in his book, Bendigo: A History.
"Muny Ttalians, especially those coming from Ticino”, the historian
writes, “stiyed in the districts of Epsom, Huntly, Meyers Creek and
hipstick. Of an evening they would gather at Epsom in the restaur-
ant or the local hotel, Bella Italia, owned by Mr Gariboldi, and in the
years following they used to meet in Mr Muaggetti's hotel at
Millers Flat,” (15)

Their presence in the gold fields was also verified by the names given
o towns, such as "New Trento” and “[tahan Gully™ and to mines like
“Italia Lead”, "Garibaldi Reef”, “Montebello Reef™, “Magner Reef”,
and “Iralian Company™ of Crooked River, ete. “Ordinarily, such
names,” recalls Tames Valling, President of the Miners” Association,
“were chosen from the titles of the miges or from other miners to
indicate their city of origin, or, as in the following case, the trade
they practised before hecoming gold diggers™.
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“Towards the middle of 1853." writes J. Vallins, “I and seven other
companions, commenced 1o explore the arex looking for gold bearing
layers. Of the cight of us, six were sailors, in fact, we were known s
‘the sailors’. The gully where we were digging in search of the yellow
metal, was called “Sailors” Gully™, (16)

One of the most numerous and most fortunate groups were the Cana-
dians. The place where they were chgging was known as “The Cana-
dian Gully™. If this was the origin of the names of the mining zones,
one must conclude that in the Ballarat district, and in the gold fields
in general, a considerable number of Ttalians were working. One ex-
eeption could be made for the mines or places which bear the name,
“Garibaldi”, Garibaldi, the hero of two worlds. was in fact, also well
known by gold diggers of other nationalities, At least half & dozen
mines bear his name, but not all had been given by Ialian miners.

Finally we know that the gold diggers were working in groups with
three, six or more companions. T *y worked in this way, not only
because the very conditions of work demanded it, but also because,
for most, nnlz in this way could they obtain the loan necessary to
start the work.

In 1854, a certain Giovanni Tartaglia, with other companions, disco-
vered a modest gold deposit near Jim Crow, which he called “Deep
Creek Diggings". Another gold miner, a certain Scarpi, opened the
successful mine, “The Italian Reef™ on 15 May, 1856, the east of the
town New Chum, known today by the name of Steiglitz. (17) Various
Italians worked in the mine, “Tralian Hill Lead”, opened in 1857 near
Daylesford. In that district many lalians from Piedmont. Lombardy
anJ Ticino established themselves, because, as the chronicles report,
the arca was rich in water and the countryside was very similar to
that which they had left in Lombardy.

“At Hepburn,"” writes the Consul Biagi in a report to the Minister for
Foreign Affairs in 1869, “a Lombard has found a rich gold bearing
vein i ti;c quartz, that has rendered 50 to 100 grams of gold per
ton,” (18

Again in Atlﬁust 1860, Giorgio Antagnini discovered n gold bearing
deposit that he called “Italian Diggings” on the eastern bank of the
Campaspe River. about one mile north of Piper's Creek. The discov-
ery immediately provoked a new gold rush to the area, which became
know as “Falls Diggings Rush™. (19)

In March of 1982 a certain Ross Hercott of Wedderburn obtained a
licence to dig for %nld in land situated opposite his own house. He
wis convinced of the existence of a vein of gold bearing quartz, al-
ready discovered for the first time in the fifties of the previous cen-
tury by a certain Teodoro Cerchi. Convinced that the thread con-
tained still more gold, Hercott bought the two properties from the
Cerchis next to s own house situated in Wilson Street, (20)

Actually the name of Cerchi is not new in the history of the gold
fields. It is not known, however, if there were one or two srsons. At
times Tea Cerchi is mentioned, at others, Vittorio Cere 1, and vet
again we read of T.V. Cerch,
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In 1872 a certain Vittorio Cerchi found some gold dust in waste mate-
mial thrown away by one of J.R. Gray's workers. Together with a
friend, Richard Ball, he bought the claim from Gray and commenced
W work the quartz, extracting 360 grams of gold per ton. In 1888,
Cerchi and Ball, helped by the “Sandhurst Syndicate”, opened a mine
Which they called “The Champion Reef”. Tt was near the place in
Which another Italian, Umberto De Marchi, had started a mine to-
gether with a Mr Hall. They, Cerchi and Ball, were repaid with a
Bood quantity of gold,

In 1889 they opened yet another mine 0 the north, called “The
Come-age Reef”, but they were not successful. (21)

We meet De Marchi again in 1864, when, together with two compan-
1ons he bought “Tinpot Gully”, At a depth of 23 feet they found a
fnud vein of quartz which produced 216 grams of gold per ton. In
875 De Marchi came into contact with a certain Dickman and
started excavations on “Peep-O'Day Reef”. They pushed ahead to a
depth of 135 feet, but the result was very modest. (22)

We could continue to cite names and events, but we want to canclude
With two statements made recently by direct descendants of these first
ltalians in the gold fields.

A. Ferrari, in a typescript prepared for the “Historical Society” of
epburn, said, “Among the miners it is said there are about 15,000
ltalians and Ticinesi, some of whom still five in the district of Hep-
urn, like Messrs Boff, Pozzi, Ferrani and Rossi.” (23)
Joseph Andreallo, nephew of Giacomo Lucini, takes the figure up to
20,000 of the numbers of Italians who lived in the district of Hep:
bum Springs, but it seems neither of the two can manage to prove
the veracity of such figures. (24)
In conclusion, as Cusak affirms, “Few of these became rich from the
!lgln gold dust of Whipstick, even adding the success of gold diggings
M the layers of quartz. Many of them dedicated themse ves to wood
Cutlilulz and making vegetable charcoal for the mines. Gold digging re-
?F’Uéil'et. in fact. a major input of human resources and equipment.”

EUREKA STOCKADE

At this point we cannot permit to pass unnoticed the event and the
r-_.-rsnmlgc involved in the most extraordinarily famous incident in the
Ustory of the discovery of gold. We refer to the miners' rebellion at
Ballarat and to Raffaelo ‘arbom, the ltahian considered the most
Popular in the history of Australia. (26)

Raffaelo Carboni was an educated person, good at languages, a fer-
Yent patriot and impetuous, He was born at Urbino in 1817 into an
old Roman family; he attended the University of his city and in 1837
he entered the seminary of the Holy Trinity in Rome. He wanted to
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become a priest, but, attracted by revolutionary movements, he
joined the Young Ttaly movement and fought alongside Garibaldi in
the Roman campaign of 1848749, during which he was wounded
thrce times.

In 1850 he had to go into exile, first in Berlin, then in Paris and
finally in London, where he taught languages.

When, in 1852, the news of the discovery ot gold in Australia reached
Great Britain, Carboni set out for Melbourne, together with tens of
thousands of Englishmen.

In the beginning he worked in the mines at Ballarat, then in those of
Bendigo. He also became a shepherd and lived with the natives for a
short time. But for the Easter of 1854 he refurned to Ballarat, where
he became involved in the tragic revolt at the Eureka Stockade.

Overall the gold miners were a peaceful and law abiding people, but
factors which brought their hearts and minds to breaking point were
the chaotic conditions that governed the miners, the inept administra-
tion, the abuses and the arbitrary methods adopted in the case of
wrong doers, the heavy taxes for licences, the continual inspections

and the oppression and corruption of the police.

In 1853, when the Governor of the colony, Sir Charles Latrobe, tried,
with the aim of covering his administration expenses, to double the
amount of the tax for a licence to dig for gold, the vialent demonsira-
tions by the miners forced him to révoke such a regulation. Besides,
alarmed by the general discontent that abounded among the gold dig-
gers, the Governor suggested to the Legislative Assembly of the col-
ony fo substitute the tax on a licence, for one on the exporting of
gold. But the Committee of Enquiry, created especially 1o study n
detail the guestion, recommended simply 1o reduce the tax. In fact, at
the end of 1853, the tax on the licence was reduced shghtly, but no
action was taken on all the other causes of discontent.

The situation became worse with the arrival of the new Governor,
Charles Hotham, a naval official. trained in the rradition of strict
discipline and in undisputed obedience.,

In fact, after 4 visit to Bendigo and Ballapat, Hotham ordered that
the inspection of licences be stepped up. The first o suffer the con-
sequences was a crippled Armenian, John Gregory, who spoke sev-
eral languages. The Catholic priest, Fr Patrick Smythe, used to take
him along on his rounds in order to communicate with the Catholies
of different nationalities. Gregory was badly treated by the authorities
and fined £5 for ot being able 1o produce the necessary licence.

Only two months later. another grave incident happened at
Ballarat, A miner by the pame of Scobie was killed near the Fureka
Hotel. The owner of the hotel, an ex-conviet and a sinister figure,
wis taken in custody but released after several days, despite the
heavy evidence against him,

Immediately o protest meeting was organised. One group of miners
set fire 10 the hotel, razing it to the ground. As a reprisal three
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miners, taken at random, were put in prison. When it was demanded
that they be released, the Governor not only refused to listen to such

ﬂ:q;:(csls. but ordered the police to carry out checks on licences every
week,

At this point Jer us see how Raffaelo Carbone reconstructed the facts
of those tragic days in his book. The Eureka Stockade, written after
the trial to which he was subjected, having been accused of treason.
= ednesday, 29 Noyember 1854, was the day of the mass meeting to
hear the report of the delegation sent to Governor Hotham. All the
Egings on the gold ficlds were deserted. The miners were taking
Part in the most important assembly of people that had ever been
en in the colony, At two o'clock in the aftt-rnuun not fewer than
10,000 people were gathered, The report of the delegation, which had
met with the Governor sceking the release of the three Frie.(.mcrs. was
Istened to in silence but with growing unrest.” Raffaclo himself,
When usked to speak to the assembly, invited all his miner compan-=
100s, “1o salute t'l:-: Southern Cross, refuge of all the oppressed of all
the nations of the land,, " Then a resolution was approved to burn all
the licences and to free. with force If necessary, those who may be
Imprisoned as a result of this action. “A controlled volley of revolver
Shots took place and then there was a fine bonfire of licences.”

On Saturday evening, 2 December, Raffaclo Carboni tried to see
Peter Lalor, but this was not possible as Lalor was exhausted and was
resting for g couple of hours, So Carboni went to his tent and threw
imself down on his stretcher and slept. “I uwoke at dawn on the
Sunday of 3 December. The light was still pale. A volley of mus-
kets, the sound of a bugle, a loud command of ‘Forward' and then
anather volley of shots reached my ears in the space of two minutes.
Perceived then that about 300 red Jackets were advancing along the
Valley on the west side of the barticade. The shots were whistling all
around my tent, I leapt from my camp bed and sheltered behind a
Mack of bricks that overlooked the barncade and lhrm:jgh a gap I was
able 1o observe the scene. I estimated that the armed miners could
Ot total more than 150 at that moment.” (27)
“I think," writes the American author, Mark Twain, “that it could be
Called the most beautiful event in the history of Australia. It was a
fevolution, very small in size, but big politically. It was a struggle for
ficedom; it was 4 fight for o principle, & stand against injustice and
Oppression,” (28)
Henry Lawson sums up the revolution at the Eurcka Stockade in the
ollowing munner, “Our companions died for a cause that was won by
the battfe they lost.” (29)
Licences were abolished and a tax on the exportation of gold was in-
Uoduced. A new regulstion was adopted, called the “Miner's right™,
that not only gave the miner the nght 1o dig for gold but also gave
m the electoral vote.
Raffuclo Carboni was exonerated from the charge of treason and
reed from prison,
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Geoffrey Serle, of Monash University, presenting Carboni’s book
writes, “The Eurcka Stockade constitules an a.\ﬁjcct of curiosiy
among historical Australian documents. There is no question of its
importance, It is a most complete account by a Furlit':ipzi_m at
dramatic event, important and tragie, in the history ol Victoria and of
Australia, and it was written by a man who had just been acquitted of
the charge of treason.” (30)

‘Carboni returned to Italy and died in Rome in 875,
THE ITALIANS IN NORTH-EAST VICTORIA

Several Italians from the first intgke of migrants established them-
selves in localities to the North-East of the colony; including, between
the Murray and Ovens rivers, towns like Beechworth, Bright, Chil-
tern, Rutherglen, etc.

The chronicles of the time relate how, even in those arcas, the [irst
alluvial gold was found in February, 1852, 1t was discovered by a cer-
tain James Meldrum, a young lad who was caring for the flocks of
sheep belonging to & pioncer of the place, David Reid. (31)

By November of the same year there were already 1,200 gold diggers
in the arca. They continued to arrive every day in their hundreds, in
an uninterrupted procession. They were “lrish, Scotch, English,
French, Italian, German, Spanish, Polish and even Chinese”. (32)

The first %mup of Italians, from what we have been able o ascertain,
was mainly composed of Valtellinesi from Tiruno and Piedmontese
from Grosotto, During the 1800's others were added, having arrived
through the usual slow but continuous chain of migration which at-
tracted relatives and fellow townsfolk. Some of these took up the
search for the yellow metal, others preferred to find work with the
mining companies, still others dedicated themselves 1o wood cutting
and to the production of charcoal, There was a pressing demand for
charcoal as it was used for the purifying of gold and for the making of
various utensils used by the gold miners.

The majority, however, as soon as they possibly could, as we will see
in more detail later on, acquired large plors of bushland and trans-
formed these into flourishing agricultural holdings,

A journalist, a certain John Stanley James, correspondent for The
Argus, when roaming through the more remote places in the Colony,
met some of these Italians and described them thus, “When I arrived
at Harrietville, near Bright, T met three Italians, Giacomo, Bernardo
and Battista, They were splendid examples of men, like the Piedmon-
tese from the lower Alps, robust mountaineers, with robust skills,
with broad chests, clear and flashing cves, real pictures of health, of
strength and perseverance. From the snows of the Pennine Alps they
have inherited their fortitude to bear with difficult elimates and it is
this quality that makes them laugh at the winter of Cobungra and
Harrietville, which chases away many Englishmen, with chattering
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teeth. These Ttulians are faithful and steadfast in their principles. We
ought 1o welcome them as colonists. Leave them be so that they may
settle down and unite themselves in marriage with the daughters of
our land and they will bring a new clement of strength to the future
of Australia. Ahove all they are patient workers here, as in their na-
tive villages, where they worked for a “franc” a day.

“Giacomo and Battista do not look back to their homes with regret.
They are happy here and are not intérested in the politics of their
Italy. They think that Australia is the land of all lands. Everyone,

they say, is so Kind to them: an Ttalian is considered the equal of any
man.

"When the snow is too deep to be able to work the mines of
Cobungra, some of them descend to the valley below and take on any
available work. They always satisfy their employers, who often testify
to their ability and industriousness and praise the steadfast qualities
of the peoples of Northern Ialy." (33)

THE ITALIANS OF WALHALLA

In Fanvary, 1863, a small group of prospectors, led by Edward
tringer. found alluvial gold on the bed of a river, in a mountainous
and inaccessible area to the South-East of Melbourne, which they
christened “Stringer Creek™. Very soon, along the narrow valley and
on the slopes of the mountains @ new town was born — Walhalla,
In its 50 years of mining activity, the town came to have a population
of about 4,000 overall. We find the first indication of the presence of
Italians in the report of the first ltalian Consul in Melbourne, Com-
mendatore Biagi. and also reported by Dr Giglioli,”.. and so a
Livornese was manager and shareholder of various mines at Walhalla
0 Gippsland ™ (34)
We do not know of any more but it is almost certain there were other
Italiong in the area. In the last decade of the century the news of
their presence becomes plentiful and, at times, detailed, We must re-
member first of all Lou De Prada, son of one of the Italian Walhalla
Pioneer fumilies, who wrote a pumphlet, My Walhalla, for the prom-
oters of the historic museum at Walhalla, where documents, photo-
graphs, utensils used by the miners and dozens of other small items of
great historic value are collected.

In a register with the title, Pioncers, early residents; approx. 186(-
1920, among the home owners we find the following Italian families
listed, with the profession exercised by the head of the family
Specified, “Stefano Armanasco, wood cutter, North Tram: Bertini
senior, Left Town Hill; Boserini senior, wood contractor. Left Hand

ranch; Boserini, wood contractor, North End; Giovanni Cabassi,
wood catter, North Tram; Campagnola senior, brewer and carrier,
Left Hand Branch; €. Della Torre, wood contractor. Left Hand
Branch: Pietro De Bondi, wood cutter, North Tram: Giovanni De
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Prada, splitter. Mormon Town, Black Diamond; Giovanni Guatlu,
wine saloon and wood contractor: Luigi Paravicinl, wood cutter,
North Tram; Bernardo Plozza, wood cutter, North Tram: Giovanni
Raffacle, miner, Left Hand Branch; Giacomo Rinoldi, miner, Left
Hand Branch; Campagnola, wagons, Left Hand Branch: Pietro
Pianta, wood cutter; Pictro De Campo; Rev Panclli, minister.” (35)

In another register, dated 1908, we find once again. names of the re-
sidents of Walhalla and the trade they exercised, Among the Italians
we find new names, while some of those that we have already met
are missing, We see that, at that time, some had already left the min-
ing distriet to dedicate themselves to other activities, and at the same
time neweomers had arrived. We report here the further list of names
we have collected, “Guatta, Giovanni, contractor: De Luis, contric-
tor; Danesi, Domenico, splitter; Ferrari Bartolomes, labourér; Moli-
nar, Pietro, miner: Fantalini; Giovanni, splitter; Fermio, Filippo.
labourer; Plozza, Bernardo, contractor: De Prada, Gilovanni, spiiucr.;
Bertozzi, Luigi, splitter; Armanasco, Stefuno, splitter; Ferrari,
Andrea, splitter; Amedi, Giuseppe, splitter; Iseppi, Giuseppe,
farmer; Bertino, Lidio, farmer: Merlo, Antonio. contractor; Rinuﬁii.
Domenico, splitter; Battaglia, Roberto, splitter; Canali, Matteo.
publican Hotel.”

Finally, to complete the list, we find the following [talian names at
the cemetery at Walhalla, with the date of death, “Guatta, B.,
LV6/1905; Guatta, G., 12/2/1912; Guatta, G, 25/10/1912; Guatta, G,
25/6/1913; Guatta, Jack, 4/6/1940; Bonazzi, John. 1/2/1900; De Prada.
Maddalena. 1/2/1900; Fermio, 16/12/1902; Fermio, 18/12/1902; Mastri,
Robert, 5/7/1897; Plozza. Antonio, 20/2/1905; Pelassi, C,, /271610,
There were also six who drowned in the Thomson River, 28 Jamuary
1900, Novali, Pietro (36 years); Ferrari, Giovanni (34); De Moroni,
Giorgio (3); Pelusi, Giuseppe (27): Bonazzi, Luisa (13); Bonazzi
Luigr (11).

The drowning of these six Ttalians was a tragedy that moved everyone
in Walhalla and which 1s still remembered today, It happened in the
late afternoon of 28 January, 1900, Four Italizns were enjoying a boat
trip along the Thomson River, when they saw Lwisa and Luigi
Bonazzi on the river bank. They invited them aboard and Luisa and
Luigi accepted with the hesitation of those who have never climbed
into a small boat. Unfortunately, after some minutes the overladen
craft, which had quite low sides, sank in 17 feet of witer. No-one
could swim, Their bodies were recovered during the night and were
taken to the home of Giovanni De Prada,

The following Tuesday the six coffins, followed by a long cortege,
were taken in procession through the streets of the town, to arrive
finally at the cemetery, which was situated on the steep slopes of the
mountain where they were buried. During the inguiry that followed,
the following persons were questioned, Giacomo Mcnghiui. Roberto
Geneoli, Bemnardo Ferrari, and Carlo Pelusi. Domenico Maratti,
leader of the Ttalian community, acted as interpreter. (36)

The Ttalians stayed at Walhalla, still in considerable numbers, until
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1914, when the work in the mines came to a definite halt. After this
ttme, some stayed in the area o look after their affairs, or because
they had acquired some propetty on the surrounding tablelands. The
majority, however, became scattered throughout Gippsland, from
arragul to Sale and from Morwell to Bairnsdale.
Even if many Italians in Victoria, fike those in other colonies; poured
ito the gold fields struck by gold fever, we must bear in mind that,
for most, this was a compulsory decision, On their arrival they were
able 1o find work only in the mines, mostly as wood cutters and deal-
ers in charcoal. In fact, for more than a century, it is precisely in the
cutting of wood and the production of charcoal that we find many of
them employed.
Before the discovery of mineral coal and gas, everything depended on
wood. Therefore, throughout Australia in the last century, the wood
industry has been not only tmportant, but indispensable. Because of
distance and the lack of means of communication, wood continued to
¢ used, even after the discovery of mineral coal, because it was the
Most accessible and economic fuel,
“The Ttalians,” writes De Pradu. “came from Northern ftaly, where
many of them had worked as wood cutters. It could be that many of
them were recruited by the owners of the mines precisely because
they were woodsmen. {'/cry probubly they came to Australia of their
OWn initiative, with the aim of making a better life in a new and rich
Country." (37)
John Adams, in his book, Mountain gold: a history of Baw Baw and
Walhalla country. endeavours to throw a bit of light on the lives the
ltatians lead. Because of the constant and pressing need for wood,
the mine authorities first had 2 railway line constructed to transport
the wood, By 1890 this railway line was wending its way for several
Miles through the heart of the mountains to reach the bushland
situated far from the town.
Al the same time the mine owners engaged many Halians as wood
Cutters. “The sound of their singing,” writes Adams. “was often
deadencd by the explosions at the mines, Moreover, they took part in
the social life of the town, They were well respected and usually very
industrious. For the Jubilee of Queen Victoria, in 1897, 4 great picnic
was organised at Walhalla, with the traditional parade, in which a
large group of Italians, with their own band. took part. In this town
they were well respected and popular t0o, because they were rmvsd-
ing the population not only with wood, but also with vegetables and
Other products,” (38)
Even at the start of this century some ltalians continued to work in
the mines, However, quite a large number dedicated themselves to
the hard work of cutting wood, to provide wood for the mines, for
domestic purposes, and in particular, for the construction of the
growing railway network.
Between the two wars, therefore, the wood cutters plaicd.n major
role in preparing the vast linds for agricultural use, after having freed
them from the grip of the forests,
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THE ITALIAN RURAL
COMMUNITIES OF
1 = VICTORIA

In the preceding chapter we told the story of the Italians in the gold
fields and also of their contribution as workers under the authority of
the mining companies, or as emplovees in independent works which
Were connected with the mines.

[n this chapter we want to trace the history of other Italian com-
Munities who settled in the agricultural districts of the colony. during
and after the period of the gold rushes.

We wish 1o state at the outset and emphasise the fact, that the rural
Migrant played an important role, economically and culturaly, in this
Country. In the tismal solitude of the inland, in a land apparently in-
hospitable, the firt colonists, using the materials at hand — trees. clay,
Tocks - were able to produce a veritable richness of functional and
useful articles, either made by hand or with simple tools and all de-
vised to improve living conditions and to colonise for the first time,
the land of this new continent.

AL that time, rural life in Australia depended largely on the creative
ability of the man and on his capacity to resolve immediate and prac-
tical problems. In a short time these pioneers became experts at im-
Provisation. Not one of them would have hesitated 1o make himself a
Bate or a door. an enclosure or anything whatsoever in wood, or to
devise a mechanism for o ning or shutting a door, to carry water
Where it was most needed, or to make a wooden plough to till the
soil, They were able to do everything themselves, to make ropes, o
transform tree-trunks into drinking vessels and into water troughs for
domestic animals, to construet ruc imentary windmills to extract water
from wells, to make utensils and even “bocee™ for the ever popular
Eame of bowls of a Sunday afternoon. (1)

Faced with the stark reality of the sterile diggings and with the hard
work that, after long months, left them with hittle or no profit, many
Italians left the mincs. Some went on to cut wood in the bush or to
Produce charcoal, while others dedicated themselves to the buildin
trade or to small commercial ventures, Most returned to agricultura
Pursuits, Many did not leave their present places, “that with their
Water courses, were o reminiseent of those Ecﬁ behind in Italy and
Switzerland", but several moved from one place to another, because
they were unable 1o find the well-being they were seeking. (2)
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In the Ballarat area, around Daylesford, Yandoit, Hepburn, Maldon,
Castlemaine, up to Bendigo and Ararat, much evidence is found of
their presence. Still today, one can find evidence of their skills and
even meet their descendants. “Near Daylesford," wrote Andrew
Garran in 1886, “in a place known as Hepburn Springs, there are
some houses inhabited by [talian migrants, coming from Lombardy.
Lake Maggiore and from Canton Ticino.™ (3)

“This town of Daylesford,” writes Oscar White, “was founded in the
days of the gold rush and there are still some traces of the architec-
ture favoured by the miners and ltalian colonists and by those from
Canton Ticino.™ (4)

Already the first ltalian Consul to Melbourne, Comm. George Biagi,
in his first report to the Italian government in 1896, when writing on
the conditions of the Ttalians in Australia, wrote, “... there is also
among the agriculturalists whom I've met at Yandoit in the centre of
Victoria, a family from Bergamo who have built a colonial house in
this distant land clearly in the Lombardy style.” (5)

Also, some years later. on 10 April, 1877, Ferdinando Gagliardi, in
one of several letters he wrote to the Gazzerta d'Ttalia said. “1 was
treated splendidly by Mr Fabrizio Crippa who has property and a
beautiful vineyard at Hepburn, a town two miles from Daylesford.
Here you see many houses of Italians who have been here for a long
time. I knew many of them in that area and they used to beseige me
with many questions. They never tired of seeking news of their dear,
distant, homeland.” (6)

“These pioneers from Piedmont and Lombardy,” added Andrew
Garran, “still kept dear the memory of their land of citrus and bilber-
ries and their hearts warmed to the stranger who spoke to them in
their own language, of their Lombardy plains and of the beautiful
shores of Lake Maggiore.” (7)

The family of which the Consul George Biagi spoke, was that of
Carlo Gervasoni of Yandoit, a town which remains as a monument to
the capacity for work and to the adaptability of those pioneers of
ours. Yandoit is an aboriginal word which means, “where the parrot
makes his nest”.

One of the first Italians to settle at Yandoit, as reported in a leafiet
for tourists by the “Spa centre: Tourist Development Association”,
was the Italian, Carlo Gervasoni. After having resided for a certain
time at Hepburn, Carlo transferred to Yandoit, because the coun-
tryside resembled Italy more. Here he built a grand house, of two
floors, in the European style. This house is still standing and can be
visited today.

Then Carlo was joined by his brother, Luigi, Lwgl built his house di-
rectly opposite his brother's. Today his grandson ’(’incenm lives there
with his sister. The house was called “Bergamo” from the name of
the city from which they had migrated. The Gervasoni family was not
interested in gold. They were agriculturists and they had rendered
their farm selt-suthicient. They produced their own brand of butter,
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which they marketed under the name of “Acorn™. their own honey
and various other products that they sold to the residents of the
place. In fact, almost all the Italians in those places had created for
themselves their own little world and had made themselves indepen-
ienl i almost everything. They cultivated grain, vegetables, vines
and fruit trees; they made their own bread, wine, butter and cheese.

incenzo Gervasoni's property consisted of 700 acres of land with
several houses, which had belonged to the first colonists of the area.

he production of wine was 4 great affair for those colonists and for
the town of Yandoit. Every farm had its vines and every colonist bot-
tled his own wine. In the area about 2,750 gallons of good wine were

Produced and about the same of brandy. most of which was exported
Lo Ireland.

In 1901 the taxation officers swept through the area and confiscated
Cverything that related to the production of brandy and also the
brandy itself! But the news of their coming travelled ahead of the of-
Iers, so that the colonists had time to stow away almost all the
machinery and products in a sale place. Vincenzo Gervasoni relates,
Lo, the story of that terrible day when 45 gallons (about 180 litres)
of good brandy had to be thrown away. “Tears of blood were shed
that day " recalls Vincenzo, “especially because the brandy was
75.1% aleohol.”

A favorite pastime of those first Ttalian colonists at Yandoit consisted
of the traditional game of "bocce”. Vincenzo Gervasoni still keeps a
Small private museum, in which he has collected many relics of the
Past. In it can be seen objects that range from the rudimentary
Michinery for the distilling of brandy to the lamps; from the bottles
to the “bocee” and many other primitive utensils for work and for
cooking, (8)

The mobility of these migrants was extraordinary. Before establishing
themselves definitely in a place, they would mave from one place to
another in the colony, perhaps driven by the needs of their particular
'rade or by news and rumours promising easy earnings elsewhere,
Early in 1860 the three brothers. Giuseppe, Pietro and Stefano
Saligari arrived from Tirano (Sondrio), Stefano died soon after his ar-
fval in Australia, at the young age of 17 or I8 years, Pietro moved to
North-East Victoria, to Mudgegonga, near Stanley and bought some
tand from a certain De Piazza. On this land the Tirst fittle school at
Mudgegonga was built. Giuseppe, instead, stayed in the distnict of
Castlemaine, where in 1870, at 23 years of age. he married Mary
Kane, After that he bought a large farm in the district of Cavendish,
16 miles north of Hamilton, where today his descendants still raise
umerous breeds of cattle and sheep.

It appears from the shipping list of that year, that three of their
cousins, Giuseppe, Martino and Pietro Pianta arrived in 1860 on the
ship, Red Jacket , and that they also were from Tirano.

According to the grand-daughter, however, such data would render
the gramﬁ'ﬂlllcr too old. It would be that, in reality, they had arrived
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when they were much younger, returning after some vears for a visit
to their homeland. Then in 1874 they set out on the Northumber-
land for Australia. Once in Australia they didn't settle in the same
district. Like many others, they too, passed from one job to another
and from one place to another,

Martino headed towards the western part of Victoria, He worked
near Stanwell, where he married. He bought his first farm at Rictella
and then a second at Concongella, where he also built a house. These
Properties are still managed today by Martino's grandchildren, all re-
sident in the same house built by the grandfather. Martino died in St.
John of God hospital at Ballarat on 29 April, 1943,

Giusoppe was the one who moved most often from one part to
another part of Victoria. He spent two years at Spring Hill, two years
al Bullarook, one and a halfl years at Walhalla, 25 years at
Goldsborough and eight years at St. Arnaud. He died in 1917 at the
age of 72, From his marriage to Anna Fraser he had four daughters
and two sons, who are scaftered in Western Australia, Queensland
and Victoria. (9)

Another mobile migrant was Andrea Della Vedova and he too, was
from Tirano where he was born on 28 March, 1848. He was the first
of the family to leave for Australia, Later on his sister, Caterina, ar-
Mved, married to Pietro Omodei and mothér of two children. She
¢ame to join her husband who had migrated seven years eatlier in
885. In  Australia another five children were bom. Today their
descendants still live around Newcastle, N.S,W.. and in various parts
of Queensland.

Andrea had embarked from England on the S.S. Somersetshire on 30
Mairch, 1870, Of the 193 passengers, 28 were Italians. On his depar-
ture Andrea, then a 21 year old, had declared his profession to be a
"Ft)ld digger”. The ship arrived at Port Melbourne on 30 June, 1870,
alter 90 days of sailing.

From Melbourne Andrea took himself to Ballarat and then to Cres-
Wick. As his first job he made charcoal in the bush at Bullarook, at
cight shillings a week. From Bullarook he went to Chinaman's Flat,
near Maryborough and then 10 Alma where he cut wood in the bush
for two years. When he heard of the discovery of gold in Queensland,
he left that job and embarked on the first ship headed north.

When he arrived at Sydney he heard bad news of the gold diggings in
the north, so, without pausing to think twice he re-embarked on the
first ship headed back to Melbourne and returned to cutting wood at

dryborough. On 14 February he married Catherine Saig Wilson in
the Catholic Church at Carisbrook. The two witnesses were Pietro
Ognho and Angelina Canale. Soon after the wedding he moved to
oldborough where he commenced to supply the Queen’s Birthday
and other mines with wood.

Then because his lease for cutting wood at Homebush and Avoca had
run out, he returned to Alma, where he too, tried s luck at gold
digging, working on o mine 300 feet deep, but with little success. He
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then moved with his family to St. Arnaud, where he commenced to
supply wood to the local saw-mill, and, having won the lease, also to
the famous Lord Nelson mine. Finally he bought a farm at Millet,
WO miles from St. Arnaud, where on 1 April, 1937, Catherine died
al 76 years of age and on 17 July, of the same year Andrea died too,
al the age of 89, Their 16 children, 11 girls and five boys survived
them. (10)

Another nucleus of Ttalians settled in the district of Maldon. Con-
vinced that the place offered good possibilities for establishing a
flourishing wine industry, they started energetically to plough the land
and to plant several thousand vines. Unfortunately. a prolonged
drought frustrated their initiative. However, they did not leave the dis-
et On the contrary, they took an active part in the local commun-
1y, taking part in musical groups or entertaining as wandering
musicians and harpists, (11)

One of these Ttalians, a certain Les Merlo, the son of a miner, was
O at Maldon in 1906, He was one of 10 brothers. His grandfather
had been @ “brave Italian who had come to the colony to try, among
Other things, life as an agriculturist”, (12)

A traditional pride of Maldon is its brass band. Les Merlo took part
N it and for more than 50 years played first the cornet and then the
€uphony or bass trumpet,

Another, 4 certain Giovanni Merlo, from Turin. perhaps from the
same family, arrived in Australia in 1861, He successfully tried his
uck in the mines at Ballarat and then marned an Englishwoman,
Mary Tuddenham. in 1867. He then moved to Alexandra in North-
East Victoria. Here he opened a mine at Puzzle Ranges. With the
tiakings from the mine he bought 350 acres of land, which he cleared,
Iranstorming part of it into pasture and part into a vineyard. He also
built his house from tree trunks and bark. Giovanni Merlo died, after
a long illness, in 1912. His property was sold in 1924 and later
Mooded by the waters of the artificial lake Eildon. In the drought sea-
sons his house appears still solid, even if it has lost its bark roof. (13)

At Sandy Creek, in 1860, a certain Antonio D’Orsa bought a large
Prece of land and built g beautiful stone house on it. In 1864 he
bought a second plot of land and in 1871 he added a third.

The experience of the Italians at Ararat, or more precisely 4t Rhym-
mey, was somewhat different. The brothers, Pietro and Giovanni
Pola, established themselves in this area, commencing by ploughing
the land and cultivating grain, planting orchards and vines. Within a
penad of 10 years their vinevards were amongst the best known in
the distriet and in full production. (15)

A curious thing happened to one of the Pola brothers in 1886. During
the night he heard someonce in his fowlyard. He rose and through the
gliss of his window, saw two Chinese stealing his fowls. He crept out
very stealthily and managed to seize one of them, tied him up, focked
him in the cellar and returned to bed. In the maorning when he went
to fetch the fellow and hand him over 10 the police. he saw that not
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only had the Chinese disappeared. but also his collection of bottles of
wine and spirits was gone. The Chinese had been freed through a
tunnel that his companions had dug during the night. (16)

John Stanley James, the “roving English journalist”, as he liked to
call himself, recalls having met at Ararat, among other Ialians, an
“old revolutionary, a certain Jaco Marocca from Piedmont, who had
fought with Garibaldi in the days of the Roman Triumyirate”. (17)

MERCHANTS AND ARTISANS

The presence of hundreds of thousands of gold diggers in Australia
brought a building boom not only to Melbourne and Sydney, but also
to the provincial cities, giving rise to numerous building firms.
One of the first to be formed in the gold mining areas was that of the
“Stambuco and Fortuna Co.”, of which two works are remembered in
particular — the construction of a church at Bendigo in 1857 and of
another at Ballarat. When the chronicles speak of Stambuco they
ahways refer to him as “Signor Stambuco”™, Afterwards, together with
Spadacini, Stambuco became the building appointee of the Catholic
Bishop of Goulburn in New South Wales

Another two builders of houses were Battista Righetti and Sartori,
While Sartori was known as a bricklayer. Righetti was renowned as a
versatile architect, an entrepreneur and also as a chief builder.
Righetti made a gift of 90 acres of land on which the first Catholic
Church at Yandoit was built, “the littlest church in the Colony of Vic-
toria, built on the largest piece of land”. (18) Righetti was also the
treasurer of the committee for the construction of the church. (19)
Also, when it was decided to build a new church at Daylesford, the
treasurer of the committee for the church was another Italian, a
certain Lavezzolo.

Another well-known Italian family, most probably of Milanese extric-
tion, who had pushed towards the west in the Ararat district, was that
of Giorgio Grano. Even Grano had preferred, when fuced with the
uncertainty of finding gold, to dedicate himself to the more secure
and continuous work of the building trade, Because of his varied in-
terests, his name appears often in the local newspapers of the time.
In 1858 the local priest, Fr Bartet, called a meeting of the Catholics of his
vast Parish for :ﬁc constitution of & committee for the construction of
4 new church. The following were elected — G, Grano, D. Mu hy
and M. O'Callaghan. The church, dedicated 10 the Immaculute Con-
ception, was consecruted by Bishop Goold on 7 February, 1864,
Grano also built the first school at Ararat and the hotel of the town,
Today the place is still marked by a vine that Grano planted. Giorgio
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Grano had two sons, Teodoro Giorgio who, in 1867, became a lawyer
and practised as a barrister and solicitor in his ¢ity for more than 40
cars, and Tommaso, a hotel proprictor. Tommaso is remembered
ceuuse, in the long dispute about the closing times of hotels, he
along with others, refused to close his hotel on Saturdays. (20)
Another builder in the area was Antonio Davico. remembered for
aving built Antonio Gervasoni's house, which is still in existence
today, (21)
Towirds the second half of the 1850s, Alfredo Mantegnani appeared
HOF @ short time on the scene at Ballarat, He had arrived in Adelaide
1N 1849 from Mandrisio (Canton Ticino), where his family had moved
from Lombardy. This was after the popular insurrection in Milan on
10 April, 1814, during which the Minister for Finance, Prina, was as-
sassinated. On 25 June, 1855, Alfredo married the youngest daughter
of Robert and Mary Thomas, founders and owners of The Observer.
the first newspaper of the Colony of South Australia.

In Melbourne. meanwhile. an American firm called Cobb commenced
1o import light-weight carriages, very different from those then in use
W Australia, which offered a very rapid means of transport.
Alfredo Mantegnani was appointed general agent for Cobb. He left
Adeluide and moved with his wife and two children to Melbourne
and then 1o Ballarat. Towards the end of 1859 he became ill and his
illness was deemed incurable, He left evcrylhin,g and returned to
Adelaide where he died in 1861 at the age of 33.

Some of the Ttalians and Ticinesi, when the opportunity arose, dedi-
cated themselves to commercial activities. It is interesting, leafin
through the Almanac of Daylesford of 1889, 1o find in the yellow ad-
Vertising pages, various ltalian names. which not only testify once
again to the Tralian presence i the district, but also demonstrate how
they had established themselves successfully, in the space of a few
Years. Leét us look at some of them:-

A certain P, Foletti is the proprictor of the Jockey Club Hotel, where
the “best wines and spirits™ are sold. The hotel is even provided with
stables for horses. Maurizio Sartori is the incumbent of an hotel, of a
general store, including a butcher's shop whete the “best meats,™
foods of every type, oils and preserved goods are sold.
Giacomo Monico is the baker and pastry cook of the town and his
read is of the “best quality”. Moreaver, he supplies bread and cakes
for special functions. trips and “tea meetings”.
B. Quarti sells shoes and work boots of every size, type and quality.
As well, he has renewed his stock with pew styles of shoes for
Women, children and young people. Luigi Togno is the owner of the
hotel, “Star™,
Finally, in the fist of Italian names, inserted in the yellow pages of
the Almanac, there is also the name of an accountant, a certain
Gigcomo Menotti, who works on 4 commission basis and is the debt

Collector. for debts in the districts: of Daylesford, Hepburn and
Benerdin, (22
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THE ITALIAN COMMUNITY IN NORTH-EAST
VICTORIA

With the discovery of the first gold nuggets in the north-east of the
Colony in February, 1852, the tisual "gcﬁﬁ rush” broke out, Gold dig-
gers of 12 different nationalities were noted on the gold fields.
Among them several Italians were also mentioned.
Very probably, Gaetano Pastorelli was among the first to arrive in
the area. As reported in The Ovens and Murray Advertiser, on 20
July, 1857, he married Catherine Boylan in the Catholic church at
Beechworth. Two years later another Ttalian, a certain Giacomo Ber-
tane from Mondovi' Breo (Cunco) married Margaret McMahon of
Newmarket, County Clare, Ireland, in St. Joseph’s Church, (23)
Leafing through the Register of Baptisms of the Parish of Beechworth,
which at that time was quite vast, numerous other Italian names are
found. Such documents are important because they demonstrate first
of all how the Italians, having arrived as bachelors, married local girls
and settled permanently in Lﬁc district. Moreover. they show us how
the Italians, as they gradually established themselves, moved towards
- the best localities. For example, the first son of the Pastorellis was
born at Nine Mile Creek on 6 July, 1858. Maryanne was born at
Stanley on 9 April, 1863 and James was born at Frenchman's Creek
on 28 March, 1868. The first-born of Antonio Dominicis (or
Dominici) and Mary Gallagher, named Salvatore Giuse pe. was born
at Buckland on 18 October, 1864, James, instead, was born at Moses
Creek on 19 August, 1866, while Mary and Margaret were born re-

ectively al Crowler Creek on 16 June, 1869 and at Crowler on 28

ebruary, 1871. (24)
Other Italian names that are encountered often in the Beechworth
area are those of Giuseppe and Bemardo Costa, Giacomo Zanotto
g;r Zanetti), Robustelli, Stella, Cunico, Battista Donchi, Pini, Trinea,

¢ Piazza, De Campo, Garrone and Crameri, Many of these came
from Grosotto (Sondrio) and from Tirano and they were inter-refated
by marriages, (25)
It is exciting when a piece of information is found, to be able to re-
construct with a certain exactness the life of those pioneers of ours,
and through their changes of abode and their various jobs. to
appreciate their courage.
We see a splendid example of this in Battista De Piazza. Having left
Grosotto at only 21 years of age, he embarked a1 Genoa in 1863 with
two cousins, Trinca and Robustelli, on the S\M. Vittorio. The voyage
lasted three months, during which time they received food rations.
Battista did not drink tea and so saved his rations and when he dis-
embarked in Australia he sold them in Melbourne. They were the
first few shillings he earned in Australia. Not finding work in Mel-
bourne. Battista, his two cousins and a fellow from his home town
who had travelled on the same ship, walked from Melbourne to Wan-
diligong, a distance of 170 miles, where they found work in a gold
mine.
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After a little while Battista became a carter and was put to transport-

Mg quartz from the mine to the crusher, on account of a certain Wal-

lace.” As soon as he could afford it he bought a horse and cart and

Worked for himself. When he left the mines a1t Wandiligong he went

to work in a saw-mill at Ovens. From Ovens he moved to

Beechworth, where, with another two Italians he bought a vineyard.

Having put aside enough money, he sold his share of the vineyard

and bought a saw-mill, in partnership with Trinca, his cousin.

The saw-mill, situated in Stanley. turned out to bhe a real bargain.
ater, however, after a disagreement with his cousin, Battista also ac-

juited the other share and took as partners, Crameri and Pietro Pini.
n 11 October Battista De Piazza married Caterina ('Brien in the

Catholic church at Beechworth,

The partnership with Crameri and Pini continued for some time.
ey sold wood in Newtown, Beechworth, Basin Creek and
horoully, Not satisfied, Battista acquired a second saw-mill on his

OWn secount. In the meantime a good opportunity came his way and

he bought 320 acres of land at Mudgegonga, where in 1878, he built a

house which he called "Orange Grove™,

Other Ialians who had bought land in the area at one shilling an
acre, were Stefano Galigan, Giuseppe Osmetti and Pictro Pini. Pini's
land was bordered by that of Battista. Battista and Caterina had 14
children, who. though still of tender age. helped their parents to clear
the land, erect fencing and milk the numerous cows. In those days
machines did not exist to separate the cream from the milk. The milk
Was left to settle over night and in the morning the cream was skim-
med off. The De Piazza family produced 200 pounds of butter a
week. Every week they loaded (E\cir cart full of vegetables, fruit, eggs
and butter and went to the market at Beechworth.

De Piazza was the first in the arca to buy a separator from Batran

and Company. It was the famous “Alfa Lava®, made in Sweden.

La_ler he bought & butter-making machine. worked by hand. He even

Printed the paper that was used to wrap the small “pats” of butter,

With the initials B.D.P. superimposed on an “M” for Mudgegonga.
¢ also planted the first cﬂcalnul trees.

De Piazza possessed a vast orchard and orange grove, but cultivated a
litthe of everything from maize to tobacco, from hops to various
cereals and also produced a great quantity of hay, He raised draught
horses and thoroughbreds ang at the same time, dairy cows. He intro-
duced short-horn cows. Finally, with other d'air¥ farmers of the area,
¢ pressed for the establishment of the "Myrtleford Butter Factory
Cooperative Co.™, which opened in 1903, He bought several farms in
the ‘area, including those of Saligari, Osmetti, McQuillons, Byers
Murphy and “The ic—ck“. becoming one of the biggest land-owners in
the district,
De Piazza died in 1909 of pneumonia at the age of 66. His wife,
Caterina, died in 1939 at the age of 87. They are buried, along with
several of their children, in the cemetery at Myrtleford, but their
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descendants continue to wotk the properties that once belonged to
their grandparents, (26)

Already in 1868, other Ltalians resident in that district, had embarked
on commercial activities. For example, of the two Costa brothers. one
managed his own saw-mill and the other was a dealer in timber. A
certain A, D’Alberti was the owner of a tailor's shop while My Cap-
palla had a shoe business. Alessandro Dell’Oro was 4 brick-layer and
Pietro Garbalini worked in agriculture. (27)

On 28 January, 1887, Antonio De Campo arrived in Melbourne and
he. too, came from Tirano. He had embarked at Brindisi on the ship,
Prensen Brem. Having reached Beechworth, without losittg time in
looking for gold, De Campo commenced to cultivate vegetables,
using Chinese: labourers, and he also produced vegetable charcoal.
Moreover, being an expert in agriculture, he planted vineyards and
fruit orchards. In the space of a few years he became known as 4 pro-
ducer of good wine. (28)

Other names of Italian familics worthy of mention are those of
Begon, Capriotti and Carroni, who dedicated themselves in u particu-
lar way to ploughing and cultivating the land. In the same places
today one can still meet their descendants 1o the third and fourth gen-
eration. Some of them have held down and continue to hold down
positions of responsibility, both in the civil and religious fields. For
example, the grand-son’ of Antonio De Campo, Bishop F.P. De
Campo, is the present day Bishop of Port Pirie.

North of Beechworth, between the two big rivers that have their
source in the nearby mountains and which are the only ones to be
covered with snow during winter, new towns were formed, like Chil-
tern, Rutherglen and Wodonga. To the south. along the fertile
Oven's Valley, we find the towns of Wangaratta and Myrtleford,
where the ltalians continued to pour in, in the new century und in
particular after the Second World War.

In the old cemetery of Chiltern, under crosses and headstones eroded
by the years and by their abandonment, many of these Italian
toncers are resting. Here we read such names as Balsarini. loli,
antelli, Fontana, Donchi, Ghisoni, Capini, Lanfranchi, Bageui,
Porta, De Piazza, Commensoli, Marengo and others.

We also wish 1o record here the two well known families of Tosi and
Commensoli, Bartolo Commensoli emigrated from Edolo, Brescia, in
1880. After having worked for some years, he returned to see his
family and then returned to Australia, bringing with him his two el-
dest children, Marco and Giovanni. In 1892 he brought out all the
family, his wife Francesca, his three daughters, Antonia, Maria and
Eve and his youngest son, Pietro.

For & time they settled at Mt. Pleasant on the South Coast of New
South Wales. 'lxhen they moved to the mining district of Morwell in
Gippsland, Victoria, where they remained for a brief period, They
left Morwell and moved to the” Chiltern Valley in the north-cast of
Victoria, where they worked in the gold mines. When he arrived at o

[



pensionable age, Bartolo retired to a small farm where he rémained
until’ his death,

His grand-daughter, R. Moroney, recalls even today, that before the
construetion of the Catholic Church at Chiltern, a priest used to come
from Beechworth to celebrate Mass in Grrandfather Bartolo's house,
where all the Catholics of the area would gather.

“The Commensoli family was a good and solid family,” Mrs Moroney
recalls, “and the [talians of the district used to come often to pay
them & visit. Among them were bachelors and married people with
wives and children in Italy. who felt very much alone. They enjoyed
immensely the family atmosphere with the grand-parents. The grand-
mother had the habit of reciting the family rosary every evening at a
set time, It didn't matter who was in the home. She would announce,
‘At this time we usually say the rosary. Those who wish may join
With us, the others may leave until we've finished.” The grand-mother
Was an exceptional woman, extremely charitable; who was like a
bush nurse’.

“T remember very well a poor Indian who was camped near our
house, He was seriously ill and had no-one to care for him, The
randmother looked after him, gave him food to eat and cared for
nm until he resumed good health.™

Of the Commensoli children, Antonia married Joseph Ramus. From
the marriage four children were born. Eva married Luigi Tosi from
Alessundria and she had ten children, Two of these, Luigi and Fran-
cesco, hecame priests, who were all known in the Archdiocese of
Sydney. John marriecd Minnie and he too had ten children. The
families moved to Carrimal in New South Wales in 1914, where one
of the Commensoli sons became a priest in the Diocese of Wollon-
gong, (29)

Some miles further north, in the district of Rutherglen, other Italians
were dedicating themsleves to cultivating vines - in fact, a certain
G.B, Federli became manager of the “Rockbarton Vineyard™ of
Messrs, ), & C. O'Grady. Mr Federli was also the promoter of a
movement for the creation of u school of viticulture in New South
Wales, similar to the one conducted in the Colony of Victoria in Sep-
tember-October, 1888,

Mr Federli maintained and championed even with the State Wine
Commission, the necessity of improving the guuantity and guality of
the vines to ensure a better wine production. He gave lessons in vine
management in varous localities, (30)

Originally G.B. Federli had migrated to New Zealand with the idea
of creating a colony of 800 Venetian families, “very skilful agricul-
turists, active and sober beyond question” at Jackson’s Bay in the
distriet of Hawst in the South Westland, These Venetian families at
one time were 1o have settled in the Roman countryside but the pro-
jeet had fallen through and it was thought New Zealand would be a
good alternative.
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With this plan in mind Mr Federli visited Jackson's Bay in April,
1876, and together with the Tralian Consul of Wellington, C.J.J.
Johnston, hidprescnlcd a detailed document of his agricultural pro-
jects to the Minister for Immigration. At the same time he presented
an official request to obtain a grant of land along the Okura river,
Mr Federli insisted on the necessity of utilising agricultural experts.
“How can a boot-mender, a barber, a tailor or a sailor,” he main-
tained, “put Jackson’s Bay under cultivation with good results? It is
impossible, absolutely impossible!™ (31)

But the government of New Zealand preferred to find employment
for those who were already living in the country. Consequently, in
1875, the government stopped all assisted immigration from l:;zlly.
Switzerland and Tirolo and made the allotments of land at Okura av-
ailable to any Italian already resident in the country and out of work,

The first group of Venetians set out for Wellington in July, 1875, and
in March, 18‘7;')7. found there were already 53 Ttalians, (27 men, nine
women and 17 children) on the place. Their stay, which was hard and
bitter, lasted only two and a half years.

‘Notwithstanding their stubborn determination, they found the land
wiis not suitable at all for vineyards and orchards, A third of the land
was marshy, the rest was virgin bush. The rains were too heavy and
too frequent; moreover the colonists had to devote three working
days a week to building roads for the Government, rcceivinfg as re-
compense for their work. only a quantity of food sufficient for their
families, but no payment in money.

To add to their woes, the crops were going from bad to worse, In
1879 the agricultural experiment in New Zealand, so strongly sup-
ported by Federli, was wound up, and all the Italians together with a
group of Poles and Scandinavians, left Jackson's Bay forever. It was
as a result of this unfortunate experience that Federli transferred 1o
Australia. (32)

In this century the Italian migration, particularly that which occurred
between the two great world wars and also that which took place im-
mediately after, was concentrated predominantly along the fertile val-
ley of the Ovens River, in the localities of Wangaratta, Myrtleford
and Bright.

Our fellow countrymen initially were attracted to settle in those areas
because of the possibility of finding work in the tobaceo industry, In
fact, their hopes were not in vain as most of them dedicated them-
selves to tobacco production on their own properties. Their success
was promising cnou%h to constitute a most plausible reason to invite
other relatives and friends from Italy to join them.

In 1922 Christopher Magnabosco, Giuseppe Piazza and Salvatore
Sciuto arrived; in 1924 Remigio Cavedon and Carmine De Grazia ar-
rived; from 1926 to 1930 Elio Corte, Antonio Vaccaro, Guido Dal
Bosci, Alberto Michelini, Cobbe and Mattison arrived and later on
Pasquale Tucci also arrived. These names are just some of the many.

(33)
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These Tralian migrants were not coming exclusively from one region
or from the north only. In the last wave of migration, in fact, almost
all the regions of Italy were represented.

As with these recent arrivals, the process of settling was very similar
to that encountered in other rural zones. The migrants comménced by
working for a boss, almost as apprentices, then they started working
in a crop-sharing system or in company with others und finally they
bought a farm and became cultivators and producers of tobacco in
their own right.

The story of Giuseppe Piazza is typical. He emigrated from the valley
of Pasubio in Vicenza when in his early twenties and was joined by
his family in 1924, After five years of living in Meélbourne, it the start
of the great depression he moved to Myrtleford. He started to culti-
vilte tobacco in company with other Ttalians until in 1931 he acquired
his own land,

It must be remembered that in those days the tobacco industry was
still in its infancy on the Ovens Valley. In fact, during the decade
preceding the arrival of our Italians, the number of tobacco growers
frad not ever been greater than 30 and the majority were Australian.

The Ttalians of the new migration understood immediately the pro-
ductive capacity of the soil and the potential of the growing industry.
S0, as a result of their industrious efforts, in the space of a few years
they mana‘t]ged to acquire the greater part of the lnd and the busi-
ness. As old Mr Piazza alfirms, “They collecied the fruits of theit
labours when the tobacco *boom™ arrived after the Second World
War." And in fact, it was due 1o the Italians that every year an aver-
age of £8,000,000 poured into the town of Myrtleford,

Giuseppe Piazza continued to plant tobaceo until he retired. Today
his son Dino, who married Maria Rigoni of Asiago and has five chil-
dren, besides being a tobacco grower, is also a municipal councillor of
Myrtleford and a member of the Control Commission for the water
supply. For ten years he was also the head valuer of the production
of tobacco in the State of Victoria. He is also involved in the cattle
business and has investments in agricultural businesses in Victoria and
New South Wales. (34)

ITALIANS IN THE GOULBURN VALLEY

The first traces of the presence of Ttalians in the Goulburn Valley
came 10 light in the seventies of the last century. In September, 1875,
for example, the first big transport barge was launched on the Goul-
burn river, 80 ft. in length, 22ft. wide and 4 ft. deep. It could trans-
port 50 tons in weight and carry up to 170 tons of wood, It was called
Emily Jane, after the daughter of the builder, T. Buzza from Valtel-
lina who was also the owner of the saw-mill at Echuca. (35)
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In the following year, 1876, at Dhurringile, on a little hill, along. the
road that leads o Tatura from Murchison, a fine castle of 65 rooms
was built by James Winter, owner of a large estate of approximately
250,000 acres of land. The small castle was built by Italian artisans.
Unfortunately their names were lost in a fire. (36

In 1876 4 certain F. Egli, who lived six miles South West of Tabilk,
received quite a deal of recognition at the annual agricultural show at
agambic for his red wine. (37) Mr Talichino. instead, is remem-
ered for having designed and built the imposing gates and many of
the tombstones at a local cemetery, making it “a dignified final rest-
ng pliyce™, (38)
Other Ttalian names appeared in the tug o' war sporis leams. mclude
- Venturini; Giuseppe Morelli, Giuseppe Guigetti and M, Salli, (39)
N more recent times Giorgio Comi became the right arm of Erick
urbrick, owner of the winery, Chateau Tabilk, in the production of
wine. (40)

The development of this first group seems to be largely due to the
“rmval in 1886 of a certain Battista Governa. After having worked as
4 shoemuker and having owned the Commercial Hotel at Nagambie,
Governa changed trade und became a wood merchant and, as such,
Rathered together and gave work as woodcutters to many of his fel-
low Tralian countrymen, Governa had a saw-mill where he produced
sleepers for the State Railways and wood for burning for domestic
PUrposes. For some years he provided wood for the engines which
Pumped water for drinking or for irrigation. Twenty tons of wood a
month were consumed, but instead of asking the set price of nine
shillings per ton he asked only five shillings and eleven pence a ton.
verna was also remembered for his steam beat, which he used for
feereation on the Goulburn River and on the lake at Nagambie.
WOwever, misfortune struck and a fire destroyed Governa’s shed and
his supply of wood was burnt. (41) He then moved to the district of
Leeton, New South Wales.

AL the start of our century, thanks to the introduction of new and
More practical systems of irrigation and to the consequent increase in
#gricultural holdings, the number of Italians in those districts in-
Creased rapidly. This was due in particular, to the increased cultiva-
tion of tomatoes and fruit trees and 10 the building of the “Sheppar-
on Preserving Company™.

Among others to arrive were Giuseppe Bertoli (1902), Attilio Cop-
Pede (1013) and Giovanni Piastri (1913) who came from Tuscany. In
the Baptism Register of the Church of St. Brendan, Shepparton, the
tames of many other Italian families are found, including Gervasi,
Baldi, Cappelli, Reni. Buttacavoli, Costa, Tricarico. Zanelli. Della
Vedova and Pianta. Some of these families have ésﬁrcad like a bush
e and are very numerous. For example, the Della Vedova family
a8 pow extended to the fourth generation, the Baldi family to the
third, the Bau to the third, the Pianta to the fourth, the Anselmi and
the Ferrari families 1o the fifth and the Boschetti to the fourth
Eeneration. (42)
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Luigi Boschetti arrived from Tuscany in 1888, His wife, Clotilde
Draghi, with their children, Dargenio, Luigi, Adalgisa and Basilio
joined him in 1901 at Sandy Creek near dagambic. In 1913 they
shifted to Orrvale, near Shepparton. The Boschetti's had another
three children, Albert, Jack and Rosa, Luigi, the second-born bought
his farm in 1915 at Arcadia, where he lived with his family for 60
years. Luigi was very active in the local community. He was leader of
a musical band for many years and distinguished himself as a violinist.
He was a councillor of the community for more than 30 vears and
was mayor three times. Moreover, he was president of the fire
brigade and of the school committee. He died at the age of 90, leay-
ing ten grand-children and 16 great grand-children. (43)

After the First World War various other Italian migrants arrived in
Shepparton and in other districts in the valley, from various [talian
regions, such as Veneto, Calabria, Puglie, Campania. For example,
there were already around 200 in the Tatura district and more than
200 in the Shepparton district. Several Italians found their way 1o the
districts of Cobram and Kyabram,

The following names indicate the places of origin of some of the mig-
rants, Collodetti, Magnabosco, Panozzo, Marino, Segafredo, Palma,
Care’, Rendina, Tassoni, Franze'. Many of these lalians. who #rrived
between the two world wars, found life in Australia very hard, par-
ticularly because of the shortage of work, because of racism and be-
cause of the language. “My arrival in Australia,” Giuseppe Buasile
affirms. “was a tremendous disappointment. | had to be appy with
irregular work out in the country.”

“When 1 arrived in Melbourne in 1927 continues Fiorino Cavic-
chiolo, “1 couldn't find work. On payment of five shillings a certain
‘G." who claimed to be from an employment agency, sent us - mysel(
and three friends - to Junee, N.S.W.. telling us that a certain fellow -
he gave us the name of a big farmer in the place - had need of farm
hands. We bought a train ticket and set out for Junee. When we ar-
rived at the place we were told that the farmer had not requested
workers and that he had no work for us, Thus we were isolated, with-
out work, far from Melbourne, with little money in our pockets and
very hungry. We put together our few shillings and the five shillings
that the Catholic priest of the place gave us and managed to huy «
train ticket for one of us to return to Melbourne in search of help.

“We remained at the place and slept under the stars, while waiting
for help. When I returned to Melbourne after three months, I founc
work at Piangil, near Swan Hill, clearing land for 30 shillings a weck.
I worked for two months, then because the work had finished 1 had
to return to Melbourne. After another two months of unemployment,
I was sent to work in the salt flats at Kerang, carning four shillings a
ton. Through that terrible work I managed to esrn up to £2 a day.
When that job was finished 1 was out of work for another month,
then | was sent to work on the roads at San Remo (Phillip Island) for
six months, Once again 1 was out of work.
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“Finally my brother-in-law, who had come out with me and had
found work as a farm hand on a farm at Benalla, called me and
found work for me with W.J. Ginivan, another big farmer in the
dreg, "
Cavicchiolo worked with the farmer for six years. In the meantime he
drranged for his fiancee, Maria Cecchin, to join him and then they
married. “The property owner,” recalls Cavicchiolo, “was a good
man, but the rest of the family was very hostile and they ordered me
round as jf I was a slave. Not only did they never invite me into the
ouse for a cup of coffee or tea during those six years, but they even
forbade me 1o enter the garden eneﬁ)sure around the house, Of a
Sunday 1 used to g0 to the church on a bicycle and they in a car.”

In 1933, Cavicchiolo, helped by his brother-in-law, bought a picce of
Partly cleared land in the hills at Boho South, far from civilisation,
Where he remained for 16 years. Finally. after the Second World
Wiar, with his wife and five children, Giuseppina, Johnny, Gina, Lina
and Emma, he sold everything and shifted to Tatura, where he
huughl a fine dairy business. (44)

In the history of the town and of the district of Tatura, W.H, Bos-
sence gives some impressions of the Italians who deserve to be re-
Membered. “The Ttalians have carned a good reputation for hard
Work and scrupulous honesty. Already in the thirties they had culti-
Vated tomatoes in the Tatura district whose quality was such that
Lveryone was wanting the Italians as share farmers. The f:-_1_mily was
Very important to the [talians and their devotion to the fifth com-
Mandment was an example to the society they had adopted.

“Numerous relatives and fellow countrymen took part in family celeb-
rtions, which helps to explain their apparent lack of interest, at
times, in the affairs and organisations of the rest of the community.
-Nc\'crlhclcss. in Tatura the Talians ook part in football matches and
Other sporting events and were part of such organisations as the
‘Rotary Club™ and the *Agricultural Society'.

“Family celebrations, like baptisms, birthdays and funerals are re-
membered for several years. 'icir weddings dre spectacular and it is
MOL unusual to have up to 500 guests. The church ceremony is not
dttended by everyone, but at the reception, where there is an ex-
travaganza of food and drink. adults and children all take part, 1t is
an emotional event that is not experienced or seen at an Australian
Wedding. The cost of a wedding is often equal to that of a house.
Often, therefore, the newly married couple is obliged to live with the
Parents or parents-in-law. In the past, marriage expenses were often
shared by both sets of parents, but today that practice is no longer
Common.

“The Ttalian children are dressed in lavish style and are photographed
Often by professional photographers. The parents expect much from
the education of their children and consequently they often show a
vely interest in their children's schooling. Finally, the houses of the
talians are decorated in a style contrary to Australian taste. They
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make excessive use of wrought iron and of strong colours. Inside, the
family photographs are displayed in great profusion in every room,
together with holy pictures of the patron Saint of their village 1o Italy,
Typically Italian vegetubles are cultivated in the house gardens and
are eaten after having been seasoned with olive oil. Their attachment
to the soil brings its rewards,” (45)

“The story 15 well known,” writes P. O'Toole, “of un agriculturst
who was incredulous when an ITtalian grower declared that he could
extract a crop of tomatoes worth £1000 from an acre of land. An scre
of land was measured out and the Ialian obtained, in fact, a crop of
greater value than £1000. Every inch of land had been used.” (46)

THE ITALIAN COMMUNITIES IN GIPPSLAND

In the first decade of the new century, the mines at Walhalla, as
clsewhere, started to slow down production and to dismiss workers.
As a result the need for wood also lessened rapidly. Many Halians
had to abandon the town. They lived in the area of Poverty Point,
. along the Thomson River, where they had built beautiful houses with
stone fireplaces and had already cultivated beautiful orchards. They
had also some cows and goats for milk, butter and cheese.

Only a few like the Guatta and De Prada families, remained al
Walhalla or in the immediate vicinity. The way of living of these Ita-
lians, their adaptive spirit, their industriousness and frugality is con-
veved to us by Lou De Prada, who spent his infancy at Walhalla,
where he was born in 1904,

“My father ceased to be a wood cutter around 1907 to become a
small agriculturist. We left our house at Poverty Point, near the
Thomson River, to move to a cottage built on our small tarm of four
acres of fertile vulcanic land on the steep slopes of Black Diamond
Hill. My father had bought the lease for the farm for £50 from
Johnny Miller, well known timber contractor. The lund belonged to
the mining company, however, and we had to pay 50 shillings rent
per year. Our new house offered many more advantages than the one
we had left, The little farm gave us the opportunity to keep two milk-
ing cows, two pigs, a little orchard and a vineyard, We dug & new
cellar in the rock and erected a steel tank for the provision of water.
“With our production of milk, cheese, butter, meat, fruit and vegeti-
bles, we had little need of buying many things from the shop in
Walhalla. Kerosene for the lamp, an occasional sack of flour and
naturally some clothes, were the few things we had to buy, Of a
moming, before going to school, we would sell milk to the families of
the town at three pence a pint. My mother used to prepare bacon and
butter for immelﬁatc use and would salt the remainder for our
supplies.

“My particular task was to kill the wallabies, wombats and rabbits on
our property. I would use traps to catch them. The wombats were
boiled and given to the pigs, while the wallabies and rabbits were
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roasted and provided good meat for the family, We also dug a wéll to
provide sufficient water for an orchard. Although we were on the top
of a4 mountain we found water at a depth of 15 feet. Our whole or-
chard was dug by hand and everyone helped. My father saved the
Seeds and also the potatoes for the following vear. We would sow
fodder crops to provide sufficient hay for the cows during winter.

hen it was time we harvested the crop, dried it and thén trans-
ported it on our backs for 100 yards before placing it under the cover
of the hay loft.” said Mr De Prada.

He went on, “Our family lived a good life at Walhalla, a happy and
healthy life. At that time the daily pay for a worker was 7}% which
could give the impression that the standard of living was very low.
But goods didn’t cost much and life was simple an healthy. There
were few of today's commodities, such as radios, telephones, washing
Machines, cars, carpets and chinawire for the house etc. Money, on
the whole, was used for essentials, for food and clothing,

“Lleft school in 1917. There was little work in the district, so 1 had to
look elsewhere. T went to Maffra where I worked as a labourer on an
agricultural property, milking the cows for ten shillings a week plus
board and lodging. Milking the cows was a very hard job. Later |
Worked in a country area where they grew sugar beet and then in
1930 I commenced fo plant my own on rented land. In 1942 I started
my own dairy farm."” (47)

Coming down from Walhalla, across a narrow and steep valley, one
artives in the heart of Gippsland, a vast region of rich, fertile lands,
South-gast of the city of Melbourne. Gippsland is also called the
centre of the dairy industry in Victoria. In tact, most of the milk con-
sumed in Victoria comes from that region.

The first Italians to arrive in Gippsland were those who left the mines
at Walhalla, prior to the First World War, For example the Merlo
family hought a shop at Baimsdale; the Plozza and Biccia families
bought agricultural farms between Moe¢ and Trafalgar, while others
were scattered in other agricultural areas in the various towns, Previ-
Ously the Russo brothers had arrived in Bairnsdale. Following in the
footsteps of their Acolian countrymen, they opened the first fruit and
Vegetable shop and milk bar of the town.

“For us,” writes Porter, “there wasn't any reason to go and spend our
money on scotch broth, fried fish, brains cooked in breadcrumbs,
roust pork or sweets of rhubarb and custard, all things that we could
al 4t home at any time of the vear, without spending anything.

here was, however, more reason (o go to Russo’s. First of all they
were the only ones who had a “Soda Fountamn®™. In the twenties, the
"Soda Fountain” had the same attraction that espresso machines have
In more recent times, The Russo shop was not the only one of its
Kind in the town, but theirs was the best equipped, the most pictures-
que and the most grandiose. There were more than 20 basket-ball
stzed “witchballs” hanging from the ceiling, which reflected the clients
in i distorted fashion. But even these decorations were rendered less
attractive by the presence of the “Soda Fountain®. Because of this we
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were attracted to the Russo shop, but not only for this reason. Their
fine gelato also attracted us, made with bananas, maraschino,
raspberries, crushed nuts, angelica and piled high with cream.” (48)

In 1924-25 larger and larger groups of Ttalians started to pour into the
district. They found work in the milking sheds. in rearing pigs, in
growing crops of peas, beans, maize an hops. Others became hor-
ticulturists and at the same time bred cows. They grew such work in-
tensive crops as peas, potatoes, onions, carrots. etc,

In her book, The Pea Pickers, Eve Langley relates the story of two
sisters (herself and her sister) who assumed 4 different name and
dressed themselves as boys. They ventured forth in Gippsland to earn
their living, working where they could at various agricultural jobs,
alone or among men. Later, one of the sisters wrote a book and
themes in the book include work in the country, hunger and poverty,
also meeting with people of different nationalities. their peculiarities,
their solitude, their manner of dressing, their conduct, their way of
living, their virtues and defects.

As we have stated, the authoress of the book was none other than
one of the two girls and here we relate her comments on the style of
dressing and conduct of some lalians, all bachelors with families in
Italy. “They wore trousers of corduroy velvet, dark green socks,
floral shirts and dark felt hats. Their beautiful shirts of soft, fine
material enchanted us with their little red Howers and green leaves,
We liked. too, those heautiful Latin faces. those mnocent and ingenu-
ous brown eyes and their courteous manners,” (49)

These people, who were living in a primitive manner, were called
“bushmen™, In the evening, after a day of back-breaking work under
the sun or in the rain and cold, they would come together to relax
and ease the burden of nostalgia for their distant families, and also (o
fill in the long hours of solitude, far from civilisation

“At the start of this cameraderie,” continues tlie authoress, “it
seemed we had gone down a step in the seale of our race. The
Italians didn't mean anything to me, hecause | considered them 1o be
primitive, children, animals or half dumb. 1 liked their faces, but the
vague awareness of the racial difference kept me distant from them.
The beauty of one called Antonio Crea was not the dangerous and
melancholy beauty of the Indians, Kelly and Macea,

“The ones who were really livening up the gatherings of an evening,
however, were the Italians. They alone were distinguishing them-
selves because they knew how to play various musical instruments. to
sing and to entertain themselves with what little they had 10 hand,

“Peppino extracted an harmonica from his pocket and commenced to
play as I've never heard anyone play, before or since that evening. He
played folksongs, marches, Fascist songs, love songs and old dance
music, all with the same free and easy style. He stopped anly when
he couldn’t go on any longer because his throat was sore,
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“One cven-ing, the owners of the farm invited the workers and friends
10'supper. When the meal was finished the usual improvised concert
egan and on this occasion, 100, the principal actors were the [ta-
lians, in particular, Peppino and Domenico Gatto. Peppino took
centre stage’, smiling brilliantly and calling out in a loud voice. After
him came a tall man, dantesque. refined, with olive skin and dressed
m dark velver. He lived alone in a little hut, built of bark from trees.
not far from the owner's house, He came from Northern Italy and his
family was still over there. For this reason, perhaps, the Italians took
him 1o their hearts. 'Go on, Domenico,’ said the owner. 'sing us a
song!’

Without further ado, Domenico burst forth with aria upon aria, from
Donizetti to Bellini to Mascagni and then going on to the best
Neopolitan songs." (50)

At Bairnsdale, the ftalians left not only the memory of their beautiful
music, but also more durable things that can be admired even today.

The Monument to the Fallen of the First World War was made by an
lalian sculpror by the name of Romanezi and the alfrescoes at the
Catholic church of Santa Maria were done by the Friulian, Francesco
Floriani, During the depression of the thirties, Floriani worked for six
years to paint all the mside of the great church, It is not a Sistine
Chapel, but it is the only work of its kind in Australia and is the goal
of tens of thousands of tourists who come every year to visit it. (51)

Another two Ttalians, P. Danielo and S. Delmastro, are remembered
ecause they lost their lives in the building of a water tower, 100 fi.
high. They were buried together in the same grave on which was writ-
ten, “Acecidental Deaths, 27th May, 1927 (52)
During the years of the depression, some Italians worked with com-
panies employed i the construction of roads, For example, the Prus-
¢ino brothers from Benevento, worked on the construction of the
road to Omeo in the middle of the Australian Alps. “We worked like
slaves,” recalls Antonjo Pruscino, “we were not even permitted to
stop for a drink of water or to smoke a cigarette. One day a youn
Italian, who was not accustomed to working with a pick and shovel,
arrived. By midday the palms of his hands were already raw. Seeing
the young man in that condition, another Italian, who had worked
With the compuany for some time, went to the head of the gang of
workers and asked him to send the youth to the infirmary at the
camp, or even to the hospital to be treated. In answer, the two were
sicked on the spot.™ (53)
Another Ttalian community established itself in the Latrobe Valley, in
particulur, in the Upper Latrobe Valley, This community had its be-
ginnings af the turn of the century and became firmly established bet-
ween the two Wars, It developed even more after the Second World
War.
After 1920, many Halians started to flock into the district to Narracan
now Trafalgar), und surrounds, but the Plozzo. Senini. Biccia and
Jella Torre families had already been in the area for 10 years or
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more. Girolamo Dodorico and Francesco Luvison were the first to ar-
rive at Narracan. Girolamo Dodorico was from San Quirico in Por-
denone, in those times in the province of Udine. and he arrived in
Melbourne in 1924, He found work in a stone quarry at Walhalla,
then he went to a saw-mill near Erica where he rented some land and
commenced 1o raise milking cows, In 1928, with the money he was
able to put together from these first two jobs, he bought 228 acres of
land ar Walhalla, from another Ialian, Carlo Della Torre, whom we
have already met carlier. Before the war, Della Torre had originally
bought 500 acres of land to the cast of Narracan Creck.

Dodorico was the first 1o settle permanently to the east of Narracan
Creck, better known today as Newborough. Here, in 1929, he built
his first house near the Princes Highway, on land cleared from the
forest. (54)

In the Depression, during the day he worked on the roads and in the
evenings he milked the few cows he already had. He also worked at
clearing his property,

Francesco Luvison, instead, worked first in a saw-mill for some fime

and then managed to get a job with the State Electricity Commission,
(55)

A little later Parise, Padovan and Polo arrived. and snother group of
families, Turra, Faoro, Moscato, Grigoletto and others too.

While the Italians of the pre-war period were from Piedmont and
Lombardy, these latest families were from the Veneto region. As a
result of the laws governing sponsored migration. chain migration in-
creased. Around some of these families the first nuclei were formed
and these developed even further after the Second World War,

That is why almost all the Italians on dairy farms or mixed farms at
Trafalgar today are from the Veneto region, coming almost exclu-
sively from two localities, either from Altopiano or Astigo in the pro-
vince of Vicenza or from Arsi in the Belluno province. The same
oes for the Ttalians of Wonthagei, while the Ttalian community al
airnsdale is made up of some families from Benevento, Foggia,
Calabria and Sicily, who arrived in Australia between the two World
Wars. We had the good fortune to meet many of these pioncering
Italian families and to listen first hand to their stories of many years
ago,
Almost everyone in these country aress commenced their life in
Australia doing casual work, sometimes after weeks and months of
anxious searching, then moving on to agricultural work. either share
farming or renting. Finally, by dint of hard and constant work. they
came to own their own property, If they had no relatives or friends
from their home town wﬂo might give them a hand or point them in
the right direction, they had to make do by themselves. Mr Parise,
who embarked unsponsored from Naples on the Orvieto on 11 Feb.
ruary, 1923, had to provide himself with reserve funds of £25 sterling
in case of enforced repatriation, after he had already paid £40 for the
voyage.

202



Alter 40 days of travel he disembarked at the little port of Dickens,
north of Innisfail and 40 miles from Babinda in North Queensland.
He took lodgings at a boarding house run by Italians, but after a
week, together with another Italian, he left to go and live in a hut. In
this way he was able to save the 30 shillings a week that he would
have paid for board. After two months of looking for work, he found
d Job as a cane-cutter on a sugar plantation, earning 17/2 per day.
There, he cut cane for two years before leaving Queensland and mov-
e 1o Victoria. He cut wood in the bush at Baliba, sleeping under
the trees on a mattress of grass and branches of trees. He caught rab-
bits for an Australian land-owner for 30 shillings a week, plus the
skins, board and lodging. He harvested grain with primitive machin-
ery drawn by six or eight horses for £3/10/~ a week.

On 27 April, 1927, he brought out his fiancee from Italy and they
married at St. Ignatius” Church at Richmond. He moved to Colac,
Where he was engaged to spread tar on the roads, while his wife
Managed a boarding house. In the town there were already several
Italians employed in the cultivation of onions and in other agricultural
Works, in government jobs or on a contract basis.

In 1928 Parise was sent to work on the roads in Gippsland at Yarra-
g8on. but the work did not last long, Then he and a nephew, G,
Moscato, bought 94 acres of land owned by the State for £657 to be
Paid back over 30 years, It was almost all virgin bush and hilly into
the bargain, Parise could buy the land nnlg because he had already
taken out Australian citizenship. He spent the next two years living in
4 hut with bag walls before the government built him a house.

Alter six years of work he parted from the nephew giving him £12.
“IE T had not had my wife 1o encourage me,” said Mr Parise, while a
tear trickled down his cheek, “1 would never have been able to
continue. ™ (56)

Mr Parise's story is not unusual, rather it is the norm among many of
our migrants. Even if migration has its rewards. the price that the
Migrant has to pay is high. Up 1o a certain point, the first migrant
generation is always a stranger in his adoptive country, And the path
that the migrant must pursue before reaching a certain level of
Success, 15 studded with enormous sacrifices, humilistions, discrimina-
tions and terrible loneliness,

The biggest sin that Australians have committed is that of never hav-
ing understood the remendous sacrifices that are imposed on the
migrant and of having abandoned him in his attempts 1o get ahead. It
IS true that every migrant knows that he will encounter some struggles
and that he will have to weigh what he has, whether it be little or
much, against a future fraught with problems, He must leave his fam-
ily und friends and even his national heritage, The pressures and un-
certamnties that he must confront and overcome in a new land, where
he does not have family or friends to call on for support, require
enormous reserves of resourcefulness and courage.
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Migrants have made a great contribution to the Australian way of
life. Until some years ago, the national diet consisted of fish and
chips, bacon and eggs. smoked ham, steak and egas. Hotels closed at
6.00 pm, fashion was basic. Newspapers were not published on Sun-
days, you could buy only one t_i(pe of bread and that half baked.
After 6.00 pm there was no social life 1o speak of, Not even sporting
activities were permitted on Sundays and the picture theatres were
closed. Even today if you eat out in @ restaurant, in Ny ¢ases, you
must bring vour own bottle of wine,

One of the first impressions that a migrant formed was that the
Australian people were still searching for their own national identity.
Whatever Iﬁcy did became a personal challenge. In their work or in
their sport they had to be the best. It was not enough for an Austra-
lian to build a boat, it had to be bigger and faster than his
neighbour’s.

On the fringes of Gippsland there is a big area called Koo-wee-rup,
which was once an enormous swamp, It was an Italian, Carlo Catani.
who, at the start of the century, planned and brought about its drain-
age. In 1925, when the work was almost finished, Koo-wee-tup at-
racted many migrants, who commenced to buy properties abandoned
during the preceding vears of heavy floods. In 1926 an ltalian bought
land to the value ulgﬁﬂ,l'l{l(l. In July of the same year a group of real
estate agents reported that they had sold 28 farms to Italians in the
Garfield-Bunyip area alone. It was said that such farms were worked
on a communal system, that is, several families lived on each farm
and while one or two men went ahead with the work of the farm, the
others looked for work on other farms harvesting potatocs.

In January, 1927, ahout 400 [talian potato diggers were working in
the “swamp”. They were so industrious that the majority of local far-
mers preferred the Italians to the nomadic -Auslrajli:tns,

A group of Italians rented 650 acres of land at Marewood Mains. near
Delmore. They used 350 acres of it for growing potato crops and the
rest for cultivating barley, maize and omons., T cir-mcthuv.ruf labour
intensive rosters of work and their intention to build an Italian colony
in the “swamp”. alarmed the Australians and caused resentment in
the area.

The rivalry between the two groups became more hostile and the
Australian agriculturists who employed Italian labour were insulted
by their neighbours or accused of employing the Italians for lower
wages,

By March, 1927, the Italians already owned 5,500 acres in the
“swamp” and many potato diggers had Eoughl some land of their own
to plant potatoes on their own account. Then the depression came
and prices fell dramatically. Furthermore, a disease destroyed the en-
tire crop and & ¢loud of misery settled on the district.

The Ttalians who had rented land abandoned the place, those who
owned their land invested their last savings to buy potato diggers and
other machinery, In the following years, prices returned to normal,
but the boom years had gone, Many decided to diversify and planted
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cotton. grain and other vegetables, Koo-wee-rup came to life ‘again.
A factory was built to work the cotton and the Ttalians returned in
reat numbers (o the district, this time developing vegetable gardens
or the big Melbourne merchants and for the Australian armed
forces. [57%

When a migrant, by dint of hard work, managed to put himself on
the same level. or even higher than a local, he became the subject of
criticism, His honesty was doubted; he was criticised for not knowing
how ta live or for living in u dirty, miserly fashion. It was as if people
expected him to kiss the ground that had provided for him and to
thank the native born for all that he had acquired.

The Australians did not understand or appreciate that the person of
the migrant is worth more than any consumer goods he may happen
to display. They were not asking at what human price such presumed
comforts had been won. It is true that at the beginning life was lean
and fimes were hard in the camps, the bosses were demanding and
there were times of poverty and depression, but on the other hand
there was the courage and the will to get ahead, to make a new life,
€ven at the cost of eruel separations and sacrifices. Then at the end of
the line, they often found a world quite different from the one of
their dreams, a world bristling with unexpected difficulties, humilia-
tions, confusion, insecurity and isolation.

ITALIANS AND THE SILK INDUSTRY

The contribution made by Italians to the development of the silk in-
dustry in Australia and particularly in Victoria. is worthy of mention.
In 1873 the new Italian Consul for Melbourne, Cav. Luigi Marinuect,
an energetic and keen man, had hardly taken up his new position
When he commenced to mvolve himsell deeply in the conditions of
the Ttalian community. He wanted to give Italians a social direction,
10 encourage them to value their human potential and 1o stimulate
their economic activities,

Moreover, he used his position to influence the local authorities in
order to place Ttalian professionals in the various government offices
of the State and the agriculturists in the country. But in 1876 he was
invalved in a serious scandal, due most probibly to excessive zeal and
£ood faith. Some time earlier he had recommended an ex-Captain of
the Cavalry, the Tuscan Ausgusto Bruno, to the Ministry lor Crown
Lands, that he be assigned vast pastural lands near Benalla,

In September, 1875, Bruno had already commenced to build the
houses necessary for the farm und to plant 40000 mulberry plants on
the said Tand. “Tt seems. that it was his intention.” writes Bartolomeo
Galletti, “to raise silk worms, not so much to make the cocoons and
1o extract the silk as they commonly do in Ttaly, but to produce the
€Ees and to sell them in boxes s is the practice in Japan, In one way
Or another we are referring to 4 important and quite new industry in
these distant lands, for which Captain Brung met with approval and
general good will.”™ (58)
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But the following year a scandal broke that also involved the Consul
Marinucci. Because of the agrarian reform in process at that time. the
pasture lands were not permitted to be in excess of 130 acres of land.
runo, however, managed to obtain more than 2,000 acres thanks
precisely to the pressure and contrivance on the part of the Italian
Consul,
The reactions were not slow in making themselves heard, first on the
part of an En&;lish pastoralist, who had seen his unlimited holdings
broken up, and then by the usual press reports. The situation, alrcus’y
serious, rapidly became worse when Bruno and a certain Montagret(i
founded 4 society for action with the aim of setting up a silk industry
works.
“Montagretti was a Tuscan,” writes Bartolomeo Galletti, “who had
resided in Australia for many years: he was a man of means and had a
good reputation.” Ameng the directors of the society the name of the
Consul Marinucci appears.

The scandal could not be buried; the Minister had to tender his resig-
nation and the Government instituted a Commission of Enquiry. The
Consul excused himself, declaring that his name had been included in
<he Society without his consent. Bruno and his partners lost land and
capital.

The silk industry, although common in Europe, especially in North-
ern Italy, was only in its infancy in Australia. The Italians had been
the first, or among the first, to introduce it to this country. In fact,
according to the Consul G. Biagi and others, “The lawyer Martelli
from Turin was the first to extend the culture of mulberry plants with
the aim of establishing a silk industry in Australia.” (59)

Martelli, along with some other Italians from Piedmont and
Lombardy, who had settled in the Ballarat district. commenced silk
production, an occupation that they had learnt in their home towns.
The Ttalians who founded the Colony of New ltaly did the
same. They were mostly Veneti and were the survivors of the ill-fated
expedition of the French Marquis de Rays. As soon as they had es-
tablished themselves on the plots of land that they had reclaimed
from the bush, they commenced, among other activities, the culture
of the silk worm, which was an important purt of the tradition of
their home towns also,

As a consequence of this experience and the knowledge acquired
from their home town industries, also the fact that the mu berry
plants were growing rapidly because of the temperature and climate
of the new place, the government of New South Wales decided fo
help these new pioneers financially and to encourage the new indus-
try. In 1890 these Italians of New ltaly had already planted 25,000
mulberry plants and were selling the silk-worm eggs in various parts
of Australia.

On 31 March, 1894, at the initiative of an Italian and a Ticinese.
Leonardo Pozzi and Boldini, and three others, Perrott, Somerville
and Brown, a public meeting was called at the Melbourne Town Hall,
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during which the great majority decided to form “The Victorian Silk-
cualture Association™. The aim of the association was to encourage silk
culture, to teach those new to the industry, to find markets for the
sale of the cocoons, 1o subsidise the planting of mulberry plants and
to encourage the construction of spinning mills.

One of the more convinced supporters of such an industry was, with-
out doubt, the Cav. Professor F. Gagliardi, who later became vice-
President of the association. At the start of the nineties, on his own
property at Hampton, near Brighton, Professor Gagliardi commenced
10 plant mulberry plants and to raise silk-worms,

In the January, 1896 issue of the monthly of the association, The Silk
Grower, an article was published under the title of "A model silk
farm™_ 1t ran, “At Hampton, near Brighton, you can see one of the
best efforts made in the State to date, to establish a mulberry planta-
tion, with regard to rationale and efficiency. The owner. Professor
“erdinando Gagliardi, an Ialian gentleman of culture, who knows in-
mately the culture of the mulberry plant and the raising of silk
WVorms, proposes to construct a model plantation on his five acres of
land. In fact, he started last summer and has planted two acres. He
Wwill continue until all his property is planted up, At the moment 300
lants are developing vigorously with their dark-green leaves. And
etween one plant and the next, for now, Gagliardi has planted vines
of the Hermitage type. Fifty mulberry plants have just arrived from
Lombardy. Professor Gagliardi hopes in four or five years time to
Produce from 50 1o 100 kilos of cocoons and eventually about 15 kilos
of eggs.
“Al the moment the eggs are imported from Lombardy and include
the following varieties, Italian yellow, Poly yellow, Monzint, which is
4 Cross between the Ttalian type and the Asiatic type, and finally
White Chinese.” (60) Many of the cocoons produced in Australia
Were sent to Italy to be processed.

Mr Giuseppe Merlo from Alexandra, Vietoria, writing also in the
monthly, El’he Silk Grower, after having referred to his own experi-
ences with the culture of silk worms acquired from his own town in
Lombardy. said he is convinced that. because of the good climate of
this country, the silk industry should be a success and added. "My ex-
perience in Northern Ttaly leads me to plant the mulberries two
metres apart in rows and distance the rows nine metres apart from
cich other.™ (61)
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THE ITALIAN
COMMUNITY OF
13— MELBOURNE

As we have already seen, the fiest Halians to respond to the ture of
2old reached Vietoria towards the middle of the last century. But
Yuite saon, when the vision of gold had vamshed, they moved out
Mo the surrounding countryside near the mines, or moved to the city
Of Melbourne. Here the Ttalian community, initially not very numer-
Yus, gradually became firmly established. Most of the ltalians dedi-
cated themselves 1o the retail trades. but there were also those who,
aving assumed positions of 4 certam stancing, tred to organise the
Sl community. For cxumplc. ong of the hirst [alian dentities o be
fecorded in the colonial lstory of Victoria was Giuseppe Bosisto
[tom Como. Haoving graduated in pharmacy at Leeds and in London,
W emigruted 1o Australia in 1846, He stayed for a time in South
USIEalGL, then like so many others, he moved to Melbourne at the
Sart of the “pold rush”. Indéed it has been estimated that, by the end
Ol 1851, more than 15,000 people had moved from the colony of
South Australia to the gold fields of Victoria,

We do not know if Bosisto had been caught up an “gold fever”, bt
certiinly. if he had, it did not last long. Bosisto was an active man of
Sreat initiative. so, having established himself at Richmond. he did
Nt confine himsell 10 the preparation and dispensation of medicines,
Put became interested in polities, in community administration and in
Mdusiry, He became the third Mayor of Richmond and wis Liter
Clected as representative for the constituency of Jolimoent i the Stute
atliament, 2 seat that he held for 20 yeurs. A century was o pass
lore another Ttalian was elected Mavor of Richmond.
Bosisto founded the first Pharmacy College in the State ol Victora:
1€ Wis President of the Administration Committee for the Melbourne
Nemational Expo < it was said that the gigantic dome of the Exhibi-
Hon I'iuihling wis s jdea, Fle was also hcad of 31 cultural and trade
mission 1o India and Great Britain.
In 1883, 1w London. he had ingistedd an the absolute necessity of
Miking Australia one united nation,
On his return from Europe. he financed a public campaign against
Phylloxera, a plant disease njurious 1o vines from California. Unfor-
tunately his advice was heeded only after his death and by then the
Phylloxera mite had destroyed most of the best vines in the colony.
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Bosisto made his most significant contribution to Australia in the field
of industrial chemistry with the foundation of the “Eucalyptus il in-
dustry”. His brand (:-IY “Bosisto’s Eucalyptus Oil” was exported world
wide, (1)
Around 1880, a small group of Italians was already asserting itself in
the business world. Besides Bosisto, we would like to cite the jeweller
Brentani, whom we have already mentioned in Chapter 11 and the
Campo brothers who founded a flourishing factory for making mir-
rors, employing about 20 Ttalian workers. There was also a certain
Bartolomeo Dardanelli, a successful merchant who managed a shop
at Nine Flinders Street. The Lucini brothers are also remembered as
producers of all kinds of spaghetti and pasta, as are Luigi Pascira and
uigi Perrea, who were restaurant owners. Aristite Cattabeni man-
a%::'d a billiard saloon at 85 Bourke Street. Then there was Masina,
who came out from England and was the owner of a printing works
at 44 Bourke Street. Luigi Manucci had a shoe shop at 143 Little
Lonsdale Street, and ﬁnaﬁy there was Mangarini who made plaster
casts al 140 Latrobe Street. (2)

These are only some of the names that bear witness to the Italian
- community of Melbourne and, indeed, of Victoris in general. The
Italian community was always active, enterprising and hard working -
and closely allied to the fortunes of Italy, according to the testimony
of many of their contemporaries. In fact, in 1861, on the initiative of
the lawyer and architect, Alessandro Martelli, and the merchant, Bir-
tolomeo Dardanelli, who were two of Garibaldi's supporters living in
Melbourne, a committee was formed which opened an appeal to buy
a sword to present to Giuseppe Garibaldi, almost as a protest against
his forced retreat to Caprera before the whole unification of Italy,
and also as a memento of his voyage in Australian waters some years
previously. (3)
This incident made such an impression on Garibaldi that, when he
was exiled in Caprera, he still remembered it with feelings of warmth
and nostalgia. Like so many other exiles after the disastrous Roman
campaign ol 1849, Garibaldi. by 1853, had wandered from one coun-
try to another and from one continent to another. He even landed on
the Hunter Islands in Bass Strait 1o take on fresh water. He had
taken a load of grain to China and was returning to Chile.

“We sailed,” wrote Garibaldi, "towards the Indian Ocean and left the
Indian archipelago for Lombok Strait. We had tacked with some diffi-
culty in those Straits, having found the South-West monsoons still in
force. In the Indian Ocean, outside Lombok Strait, we quickly found
the steady breezes from the East. We were tacking to the left, that is
receiving the wind from the left side while holding the bow, as much
as possible near the origin of the wind and continued to do so. Then,
with the aid of the west winds, we sailed through Bass Strait, between
Australia and Van Diemen's Land. In this Strait we landed on one of
the Hunter Islands to take on water, There we found a settlement,
recently abandoned hr‘ an Englishman and his wife, because their
companion had died there. We established this when we found his
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grave and on aslab the l’ollowing story of the colony was written. The
couple, according to the inscniption, were frightened by finding them-
selves alone on that deserted island and had abandoned it and moved
10 Van Diemen’s Land,

“The most importang building was a modest, but comfortable little
house, carefully built, where we found tables, chairs, beds, etc., not
luxurious, certainly. but with that stamp of good living, so natural to
the English, For us the most useful find was an orchard, where we
found fresh potatoes and plenty of other assorted vegetables, which
replenished our stores.

“Deserted island in the Hunter Islands, how many times have you so
deliciously stirred my imagination! When 1 became fed up with this
civilised society | would transport myself in imagination to your pretty
cove, where, on landing for the first ime, I was greeted by a flock of
partridges. and where, among the centuries old trees, the clearest and
most poetic littde stream was flowing, in which we [reely and joyously
?ucnc 1ed our thirst. We then took the necessary provisions of water
or our voyage”. (4)

The committee for the "sword appeal” collected, not only from the
talian community but also from the Australian community, the ex-
traordinary sum of £358 sterling. The majority of the donors were
from Melbourne, but there were also those who lived far from the
Citv, in Ararat. Clunes, Bendigo, Heatheote. Deniliquin (NSW),
Beechworth, Ballarat and Chewton. Martelli and Darﬂanclli had a
bonklet printed with the ttle, "List of subscribers to the Sword of
Honour - presented to Giuseppe Garibaldi by his admirers in
Australia”, with all the names of the donors,

In the preface to the booklet, which took the form of an open letter
to Ganbaldi, dated 5 May 1861, they wrote, among other things.
“The donors of this sword are anxious to offer their homage (o' that
Italian hero who has done so much for the umfication of Italy and for
the expulsion of foreigners from the garden of Europe.” (5)

Giuseppe Garibaldi received the sword from a British delegation, sent
for that purpose to Turin, on the 8 August, 1861, the year of the
Wnification of Ttaly and the year in which the first two Italian Consuls
10" Australia were nominated,

He immediately sent an official message of thanks, which was dis-
played in the Colonial Library in Melbourne. Immediately after. his
assistant wrote a letter addressed 1o the architect, Alessandro
Martelli, in which Garibaldi’s sentiments appear much more spon-
taneous and genuine.

“Tell our friends in Meclbourne that the General was very pleased
with the fine appearance of the sword. That lItaly which has broken
the chains - not all however - of foreign domination, that wants to
crush those vipers who have gnawed at her heart for centuries, bran-
dishes aloft the sword of Spartacus. That Italy truly reborn, is ex-
tremely pleasing to him, And he said, “This is our Italy, the true
Niobe of the people who call their sons to arms. It is not a puma as
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the French are used to sculpting on their swords andd which our ser-
vile artists have imitated when miking those they have given 1o me,
But fa people born free can guess the thoughts of one that has freed
itself.

“Don’t you agree? | wanted to tell you what I couldn't in the reply 10
your letter, you will understand” (6)

In the sixties other Italians settled in Melbourie. They are listed in
the Melbourne Directory of 1866 and in the Post Office Directory of
1869. For a start, we sce that in the first half of the 1860's various
Italians had set up a variety of business enterprises, For example,
Giacomo Bonelli opened a printing works at 74 Spencer Street, S,
Donnelli opened a spaghetti making factory in Sydney Roud.
Brunswick. “Probably,” writes Fr. Luciano Secolari, “the Donnellis
were the only Ttalian family in Brunswick when the Catholic Church
was built in 1874,

"However, it seems that Donnelli. from Milan, suggested to the then
Parish Priest to dedicate the new church to St. Ambrose, Bishop and
Patron Saint of that important northern Italian city. Many vears later.
in 1930, the Donnelli sisters donated the land in Sydney Road,

* Brunswick 1o the Salesians for the construction of a hostel and'a Don
Bosco Club.” (7)

Other Italians we found in the Melbourne Directory were — Cutolo,
the famous Neopolitan singer, Giovanni  Grimoldi, maker of
meteorological instruments at 81 Queen Street, Polisani, producer of
wines in Cgalrnline Street, South Yarra, Antonio de Basto, manager of
a restaurant at 77 Flinders Street and Riccardo La Fonte. owner of a
grocer’s shop in Church Street, Richmond.

From the Post Office Directory we see that in the following years,
other Italians started businesses of their own. A certain Luigi Bog-
giano opened a photographic studio, Bonella had i building company,
T. Canna had 4 taxi business, Canobbio had a joinery business,
Cortino a mechanic’s business, Giovanni Edami a wine shop, Luigi
Prerira a café, Sanguinetti a tailor’s shop, Pirani had a shop and
Tommaso Verga a factory.

We uncovered further proof of the development of the Ttaliun
resence when, on 4 May, 1867, the first Italinn ship arrived in Mel-
ourne, the Corvette of the Royal Navy, called the Magenta, a ship

of 2,500 tons, which was completing a scientific and commercial ex-
pedition around the world. The Magenta remained anchored in the
port of Melbourne for two weeks and was the centre of attraction for
many visitors, The personnel of the mission, which included the
philosopher Enrico Giglioh and the zoologist, Senator De Filippi,
were able to meet the suthorities of the Colony and to visit the city
and its environs,

The local authorities exercised the most exquisite courtesy towards

the guesis, who were the first representatives of a united Italy. The

controlling body of the Victorian Ruilways granted free transport on
all trains in the Colony 1o the entire crew of the Magenta, To the
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Captain and his Officers, the local authorities offered a reception at
the Melbourne Club, the most exclusive club in Melbourne. More-
over, they were made honorary members and guests of honour during
their time ashore. (8)

A delegation of fellow-countrymen presented a rophetic document
signed by 190 Italians, resident in the capital of Victoria, in which
they stated, among other things, “Your visit to this port, whilst it tells
us that Ttaly is now a great nation, united and free, also convinces us
that Traly's flag is to be protected and respected in all parts of the
world... We believe it is our duty to ask you to draw the attention of
His Majesty’s Government in Florence to the possibilities of commer-
clal trade between Tialy and Victona.™ (9)

Enrico Giglioli, a professor at the Institute of Higher Studies at Flor-
ence, who was appointed to compile a report of the adventurous voy-
age, recalls, when referring to our fellow countrymen in Melbourne,
“Many Italians who had settled in' Victoria, rushed to greet the first
National ship to land in Victona, to enjoy for the first time the sight
of our glorious flag and, because they were so far from their beloved
fatherland. to experience the absolute rlcaSurc of being able to set
foot on a picce of Ttalian territory.” (10)

In order to stay linked for a few more hours to that little piece of
Italy, many Itafians wanted to spend the last night that the ship was
n port, in company aboard ship.

THE FIRST CENSUS

The vear 1871 marks the first census of the colony of Victoria in
Which Ttalians were included in a category of their own. This showed
that the Italians were no longer @ negligible group, as they had been
considered up till then, nghtly or wrongly, Without counting those
Naturalised Australians, the census result of the pumber of Talians
was 772 persons, 718 males and 54 females. (11)

In that same year, 1871, the Ialian Vice-Consul, who was running
the Consular office during the absence of the Consul, sent a report to
the Italian Government on the Italisns resident in his own district,
and added that, “Because the Iralians were so widely scattered, [ had
10 resort, almost exclusively, to the postal method of sending out
orms. The result of the Consular census showed a figure of 714 Tta-
linns, However, the number of Italians effectively present in the Con-
Sular district of Melbourne, according to information collected by the
'lonsuinlcq is considerably larger than this census figure indicates.”
What interests us greatly in the above-mentioned census is not o
mueh the number of our migrants resident in Victoria in that period,
but rather the characteristics peculiar to them, listed in their answers
[t the guestions posed on the census forms, i.¢. age, place of birth,
evel of education, marital status, language spoken, religion. etc.
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With regard to the place of birth, at the head of the list we find 327
from Lombardy, followed by 95 from Ligunia, 59 from Sicily, 52 from
Piedmont, 39 from Tuseany. 20 from Emilia, 15 from the Murches, 13
from the Veneto, 12 from Campania. five from Lucania, four from
Lazio, one from Calabria and two omitted to state their birth place,
70 were born elsewhere. (13)

The Italians resident in the consular district of Melbourne were
distributed. thus; 569 in the Colony of Victoria, 17 in the South
Australian colony and 128 in New Zealand.

Of these 714 Italians, S95 were over 17 yemrs of age and 119 under 17
years of age. 462 could read and write. 227 were illiterate and 25
were infants. In the field of religion 651 were Catholic, one was
Jewish, 62 were Evangelical, Lutherans and Protestants. Finally, 283
spoke Italian, one spoke German and 430 spoke English. (14)

A considerable number of migrants settled in the colony of Vietoria,
particularly in Melbourne. Besides (he great musicians, Zelman,
Cutolo, Cecchi, Giannone and artists like Sani, Del Vescovo and
Nerli, we must remember the stron group of Tuscans, which in-
cluded Catani, Baracchi, Checchi amf Gagliardi, who contributed so
“much to the development of the colony. We will look at these
talented men in more detail in another section of this book,

We mention also two companies who arrived in Australia, They sold
Tuscan statuettes and came, in the main. from Barga. “You see them
in the streets of Melbourne with a basket full of their wares and they
go from house to house. from shop to shop and from office 1o
office.” (15)

THE FIRST COMMUNITY STRUCTURES

In June, 1877, the first Italian Club in Australia was constituted in
Melbourne. It put forward the following aims -

(a) to promote a convenient mcc{in;r{ place for Italians resident in, or
passing through Melbourne, and for those persons of any other
nationality who may wish to associate with the same.

(b) to represent, promote and defend the interests of Ttulians in this
colony and in all the other colonies of Australis.

(c) to assist and advise Italians who are ill o out of work. (16)
The Italian members wanted to celebrate the “drawing up of the
constitution™ with a dinner given for the foreign members,

“It was hoped that this would conserve the national character as
much as possible. The Consul who presided at the reception made a
toast 1o the newly constituted club with a patriotic reminder of ouy
nation and a warm salute o our liberty, ..

A likeable fellow called Baracchi then wanted to liven up the even-
ing with poetry full of spirit and good fun. Tt was a most enjoyable
evening that also included plenty of music.” (17)

The following year, 18 October, 1878, also in Melbourne, the firss
colonial commitice was constituted. It was composed of Riceiotti
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Garibaldi, Giovanni D'Adami and Pietro Baracchi. The commiittee

ad the task of providing information and giving useful advice 10 all
lalians wanting to “move to this rich region”, The address of the
ommittee office was, ltalian Colonial Committee, Russell Street,
Melboumne, Australia. (1K)

The writer, W.H. Newman, in his book, Melbourne: the biography of
@ city, furnishes further information on one of the above mentioned
persons. “To the East, at the end of Bourke Street. at one stage
Franceschi’s baker's shop attracted attention. It took pride. ot only
S products. but also in ity employees, Once it boasted that a
philosopher and three anarchists were among its workers. Moreover,
s seeretary was Ricciotti Garibaldi, son of the great Ttalian liberator.
I¢ was born in 1847 in Montevideo, the son of Anita. Ricciotti ook
Part in the battle of Bezzecca in 1866, in the battle of Mentana in
o and wrested the only flag lost from the Prussians at Digione in
3710,

“Apart from these few heroic episodes, Ricciotti Garibaldi was a cor-
fupt, intractable man and an anarchist. In London he had scandalised
the English high society because of the kind of life he led, In 1874 he
Married the Londoner. Constance Harriet Hopercraft and in 1877, to-
gether with his wife and three voung daughters. Constance, Rosa and
Abita [talia, he migrated to Australia, Here he continued the SUme
ort of existence, drifting from one job to another. There was little
B00d blood between Giuseppe Garibaldi and his son Ricciotti, Once.
When he heard tell that his son had been put in prison. the father was
‘eported to have said, “If I come to know that Ricciotti has been put
N prison, T will drink a glass of wine to the one who sent him there.'
Later,” continues Newman, “Ricciotti became an employee of the
Education Department of Victoria. Then he bought a fish shop where
ousiness was so poor he had to sell a sword belonging to his famous
father in order to taise sufficient money to return to Taly.™ (19)

THE MELBOURNE INTERNATIONAL EXPOSITION

“Our country,” writes Gagliardi, “on this occasion has expressed
Breat interest in this exhibition”. (20) Because of the great quantity
and vanety of goods to be displaved - 9,000 articles ranging from
VS, manufactyred goods to craft goods - 40,000 square feet of space
was assigned to Ttaly, Ttaly had now the fourth largest display after

Ngland, France and Germany. Interest was such that the Italian gov.
Crnment, over-turning an earlicr decision. not only agreed to be offi-
Cally represented by the Consul General of raly i Melbourne. Cav.
Alessandro De Guyzueta, the Marquis of Toverana, who was nomi-
fated (he Commissioner for the occasion. but also made available an
tlian ship, the Pullice, 1w wransport the articles to be displayed: The
talian section was divided into two big pavilions. one was situated 1o
the east of the big central aisle. entering from Nicholson Street, and
the other to the north-west along the western avenue. Both exhibis
tons had been prepared with taste and style and were the result of
painslaking work by Olivieri and Gustavo Scargatti from Venice. (21)
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During the last 20 years of the century the Italian migration to the
Colony of Victoria, and in particular to Melbourne, increased consid-
erably. There were three main reasons for the increase -
(a) the International exposition in Melbhourne which attracted the at-
tention of the Ttalian public with regard to Australia and made many
aware of the opportunities available to our workers,
(b) the publicity given to the request for man-power for the construc-
tion of various. railway hines, and finally
(¢) the reduced travel prices offered by various shipping companies
which: travelled the Australian route,
And so it was that, in this period. the Southern lulian migeation
commenced. in particular from the Acolian [slands, 1S, McDonald
called it the "Acolian exodus™, because. after the unification of ltaly,
between 880 and 1890, many Acolians chose the path of migration
and availed themselves of the chain migration system: The first 1o ur-
rive would establish thémselves and then invite other members of
their same family, relatives, friends or fellow townsfolk 1o embark on
doone-wiy voyage. (22)
The Acolians, a sea Joving people, were accustomed 1o sailing and 1o
moving from one country to another, but almost always it had been
treated as a temporary migration. Muny of these people had made
more than one ocean crossing to North America or to Argenting and
some sdilors had even been to Austraha in the 1850%,
Then. as often happened, the tales of prosperity, related by those
who had retumed from the south lunds, or stories of success written
by someone already living down there, enticed many others 1o take
the step of emigrating. At times, children of tender age were sent by
parents to relations already established in the country, so that they
too could have the same opportunities of a better life,
The Acolians were different from all the other regional Italian groups
in a particular way, While those from Lombardy and Piedmont, for
example, dedicated themselves to heavy work such as wood-cutting,
charcoal production, working in the mines and in sugar cane planta-
tions, the Aecolians monopolised the fruit and vegetable retuil
businesses. (23)
“In the city of Melbourne,” wrote the Consul Squitti in 1891, “there
are some hundreds of Malians who live and prosper within the
frameworks ol their professions observing the laws of the country and
enjoying the I'ricndurnip and esteem of the populace. ¢xcept in rare
cases where religious fanatacism or racial prejudices, nourished by
ignorance, create o barrier aguinst clear and impartial judgement.
“In some cases the migrant made the error of leaving himself open to
public ridicule by going around playing the strect organ with a
monkey as an added attraction: these people don't have any
shume..." (24)
“In 1889 the first Talian Mutual Aid Society was formed with the
nime of “Society’ Mutua Ttaliana™. The members of the society num-
bered more than 100 and it had the aim of mutoal assistance for its
component members.” (25)
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Al the end of the century, another Consul reported in more detail on
the professions exercised by the Italians resident in the city of Mel-
bourne. “The lalian community of Melbourne.” wrote the Consul
Pasquale Corte, *is generally loved and respected and enjoys a good
Standard of living, although our fellow countrymen who havée accumu-
Liteel great fortunes are few. The community 15 composed of Sicilian
fruiterers, musicians from the province of Naples, terrazzo workers and
labourers from Lombardy and Piedmont, pedlars of statueties from
Luces and Carrara, but also includes several artists of merit.
seulprors, painters, doctors of medicine, lawyers, naturalists, business
men and especially distinguished engineers who occupy some of the
best positions in the administration of the colony. Professionals who
warrant special mention are the astronomer Comm. Pietro Baracchi,
director of a very important observatory, the engineer Catani.
director of public works. the engineer Checchi, director of the Water
Supply and Cav. F. Gagliardi, director of the National Library.
Several professors of music and song also merit special mention.
Because of their talent and mastery of music they were able to assure
themselves of an honorahle position despite the fact that Italian music
had been neglected beeause of the very strong promotion of German
music.

“First of a1l we have Alberto Zelman, an orchestral director and dis-
tinguished composer and his two sons who are warthy followers in
their father’s footsteps. Then there is Giulia Tamburing Coy and her
diughter, Alice Rebottaro and her husband and brother, Buzzi, Mr
and Mrs: Stafani, Mallet and various others.

The fine arts are represented by the excellent Venetian painter,
Sigismondo Zacutti and by Brun from Triest. sculpture by the Pelleg-

nni brothers and by other sculptors who did not settle permanently in
Melbourne.

“ltalian industry is represented by o few firms: the one which merits
Special attention is the mirror factory of the Campi brothers. Also
commercial firms are not numerous, although several enjoy good
credit, like the firm of the Natali brothers, which is involved in an
import-export business, the firm of F. Gagliardi & Co. managed by
Maniachi, the Italian Trading Company directed by L. Porens. the
firm of Galli, which deals in wines, the Pellegrini firm which deals in
Marble and the Victorian Railways Cushion Company directed by
Tessero. This does not include a large number of well established fruit
shops, fish shops and restaurants, which are owned by our fellow
Italians.” (26)

From the dawn of the new century to the Second World War “numer-
Ous Ttulians found themselves either in Melbourne or in other
centres”, wrote Capra in 1909, “and all in good circumstances. ™ (27)
Capra found the ltalians of Melbourne, in general, living in good
Economic circumstanees, above all because there were no great
Erowds of migrants in the same place and because of the favourable
social conditions in Australia which provided o good, secure base tor
the individual.
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The migrants who settled with their families in the established centres
and in the metropolitan areas “are mostly owners of shops or market
gardens,™ (28)

Besides the bits and pieces of information we have already
docuimented, we know very little of the Iralinns who settled in
Melbourne. We know, for example, that in 1891, most ol these mig-
rants lived in the East Melbourne district, an arca which comprised o
part of Fitzroy, a part of Carlton and Gipps Ward, They were scat-
tered over a wide area but with a particular concentration in that part
of Carlton to the south of Pelham Street. (29)

Among the Italtans resident in this district there was a significant
group of wandering musicians from Viggiano. They formed “a pic-
turesque itinerant group of harpists and violinists who were accus-
tomed to travelling round the world from infancy, 1o earn themselves
a living. These musicians, coming from Viggiano and nearby towns,
arrived in Melbourne in the 1870°s. In 1885 on¢ of them had settled
permanently in Melbourne and by 895 they had formed quite a large
community,” (3()

Before the First World War between 35 and 50 families had estab-
lished themselves in the inner city and lived close together in Argyle
and Cardigan Streets in South Carlton. In the same area another
greup of Italians from other parts of Italy had tormed. For example,
six of the 11 residents around Landsdowne Square were Halian, The
marriage registers at the Sacred Heart parish in Carlton reflect a simi-
lar concentration and all those. except one, who contracted marriage
in that Church between 1890 and 1914, were residents of that part of
Curlton. (31)

About 20 marriages were celebrated in St. Brigid's Church, which in-
cludes North Fitzroy and North Carlton, bul the addresses of the
spouses were somewhat scattered. (32)

From these initial nuclel, who in 1914 numbered a few hundred, the
Italian population increased rapidly between the two wars.

From 1921 to 1947 the Ltalian colony in the inner city. even il it-is not
possible to ascertain the exact number, was scattered through Fitzroy.,
Collingwood, South Melbourne, Brunswick and North Carlton. The
group in Carlton and North Curlton increased appreeiably in number,
and there were more migrants from Northern Traly than from the
South, (33)

o the period between the twao wars, 1920 1o 1940, in St [gnatius’
Church at Richmond, 160 marriages between laliuns were celebrated
and 320 baptisms were performed. Not all were residents of the area,
but almost all were resident in the metropolitan area of Melbourne,
(34)

In 1933, in the area outside the inner city. but still within the met-
ropolitan area or just beyond, numerous groups of Halians were
already  settled,  for  example m Dandenong,  Ferntree  Gully,
Frankston, Lilydale and in particular, Werribee, (33)
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Also these nuclei avoided the problems common to many new - arri-
vals, In the preceding period and during the economic depression of
the 30°s many Italian migrams who could not find work in Mel-
bourne, especially those who belonged to the category of unskilled
workers, were forced to moyve away from the city and find work in
the country, Those who established themselves in Melbourne were
the ones who already had some support who were qualified in cer-
tain, particular jobs. The Fruilani, for example. were expert termuzzo
workers and introduced their art 10 Australia. So 100 the Veneti. who
mostly came from the high plains of Asiago and who had spemt the
POsE-war - years  rebuilding  their  ruined  villages. were  mainly
dricklayers, stone workers and carpenters. Moreover, several of them
drrived with sufficient capital fo start up their own businesses or work
N association with fellow countrymen. (36)
ILis true the occupations pursued by these fellow countrymen of ours
were rather uniform, but a strong pattern of continual progress and
variety was emerging,
In order 10 view briefly the range of oceupations in which the ltalians
Were involved, we could divide the workers into two categories, (a)
those resident in the city including the inner city and (b) those resi-
dent in the mewropolitan area or just beyond. Among those in the
first category (a) there were the professionals — teachers, some uni-
versity professors. priests, musicians. doctors ete; those in commerce
- importers, fruiterers, restaurant owners, hoteliers., travel agents and
Yusinessmen in general; the skilled workers — bricklayers, terrazzo
and marble  workets.  stonemasons,  black-smiths, carpenters,
Mechanics, fishermen, ete.: other trades — tailors, shoemakers, hair-
ressers, barbers, photographers, ete: unskilled labourers — “bricky’s”
abourers, road construction workers, delivery ‘workers, builders’
labourers, might watehmen, lift aperatars, ete. (37) Several were con-
nected with small catering services, restaurants and hotels - cooks.
Waiters, barmen, shop attendants, ete. Others started up restaurants
Which, over the years, have been known to serve the best Italian
cuisine. Today, several of these still attract the clite AMANE LOUTmEts.
hey are Ernesto Molina's Café  d'ltalia (1916). Guuseppe Codog-
NOLLO’s  restaurant (1924), the Café Bella that became Camilio
Iriaca’s Cafe Latin (1924), Rinaldo Massoni's Cafe Florentine (1926)
and the Club Hotel that became Murio’s in Bourke Street and was
owned by Mario Vigano (1932), (38)
Among those in the second category of workers () we find horticul-
lurists, citrus and other froit growers, owners of small properties
Where o little of everything was cultivated, sl dairy farmers and
Mg farmers, cte. (39)
Because they were always seeking to better their situation, the Tta-
lians would move from one job 1o another, from one commercial en-
terprise to another, We could cite numerous examples but we shall
limit ourselves to the most typical and signilicant.

Many of the prosperous fruiterers we know todday. commenced selling
their fruit and vegetables in hand-carts us “barrow-boys™, so 100,
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many of the jcecream manufacturers started our as “ice-¢ream
cartmen”. Among those who moved from one commercial venture 1o
another we remember Felice Ciuleo, who was born in Sydney in 1899,
His father had emigrated from the Acolian Islands in 1880, After
working as a frutterer, in 1926 Felice moved with all his family 10 Sea
Lake in Victoria, where he opened a general store and established a
catering service for weddings and other celebrations. In 1927 he
moved 10 Melbourne where he managed a café - a restaurant und
cake shop - for a little over # year, After that he apened o lurge fur-
niture shop, “Essendon Home Furniture”,

Another Aeolian, Felice Carrii, belonged to a group of pioneer Ita-
lan migrants in Victoria. They were a group of men and women who,
at the start of the century. arrived in these remote lands after o Voy-
age full of discomfort, to search for the well being and security that
the inhospitable Acolian soil could not offer its inﬁahilanls. In 1902,
al 16 years of age, Cared had embarked on the ship, Oroia, with a
friend, Antonio Bongiorno, 10 join his father and a younger brother.
Giuseppe, who had emmigrated to the city of Melbourne some fime
earlier. With his brother, Felice started 10 sell fruit, vegetables and
flowers in the streets of the city, in the busiest centres.

When the brothers had scraped together the necessary capital, they
opened a fruit and vegetable emporium at Brunswick, in partnership
with their father. Felice then married and moved 10 l--IursLum in the
Wimmera district. where he and his wife managed a pastry and fruit
shop. Mry Carra became well kKnown in the Horsham district because,
assisted by her daughters, she actively contributed to the work of as-
sisting Italian migrant families in the district.

In 1920 the Card family returned permanently to Melbourne with
their seven children and settled in Svdney Road, Brunswick, where
they opened a wine, beer and spirits. shop.

Those who emigrated after the First World War, found life in
Australia very hard, above all because of the searcity of work. Be-
niamino Braida, from Frivli, arrived i 1924 and beeause he could not
find work in Melbourne, moved to Bendigo to take up the arduous
work of a wood-cutter, work 1o which he was not accustomed. As
soon as he had saved a little money, he returned o Melboarne and
tounded the “Granolithic Company™. This undertaking increased its
activities continuously. Among the thousands of works garried out,
the firm could boast of having completed the flooring and terrazzu
works in the principal hospitals of Melbourne, including the new
Royal Children's Hospital, the Royal Melbourne Hospital, Prince
Henry's and the Dental Hospital.

Ernesto Cester, who arrived i 1927, worked s8 4 shoesmaker, o farm
hand and a cook wandering from town (o wwn in Quecnsland, New
South Wales and Victoria. In 1933 he brought out his fumily and set.
tled down to cultivating twobaceo wt Myrtleford, After the war the
Cester fumily moved permanently to Melhourne.
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In the suburb of Moorabbin, the Cester family embarked on a com-
mercial enterprise which, in less than 20 vears, succeeded beyond all
Expectations, They commenced by cleaning poultry by hand and
supplied three outlets in the city. The work seemed quite promising
S0 the Cesters decided to establish a factory on five acres of land ac-
Yuired at Noble Park, but had to move immediately to Springvale,
because they could not obtain a licence at the first site for the killing
and plucking of fowls. At Springvale they established the "Cester
Poultry Supply”. which, with the installation of new plant and
machinery, grew from 200 to 300 fowls per week 1o an output of
1500 per hour, In 1958 they discovered. by chance, an enormous bed
ol sund on their property. To markel it. they created the “Cester
and Py, Ltd.” In 1965 the Cesters acquired an agricultural property
of 72 acres at Lilydale, where. in the hi ly part they planted a magni-
ficent vineyard and on the lower part they raised fowls and igs. The
ollowing year they created the “Coldstream Rurgl Enterprises™ and
upened shops to sell fresh poultry and chicken on the spit, direct to
the public, That was the start of a chain of I8 shops which sold chic-
*en onthe spit all over Melbourne. The shnrs were grouped together
by the company name, “Spiedo Chic Pty Ld.” (40

These. fike so many others of our migrants. set foot on Australian
SOl with very linle in their pockets, but had the wealth of plenty of
2ood will, initiative and the will to succeed.

Al the conclusion of this historical trip across the State of Victoria,
We wish 1o emphasise two aspects, which indeed are relevant to the
Other Australian States in the life of the ltalian community. and
Which happened duting the fascist period and during the difficult
years of the Second World War,

During the period of Fascism, the community was torn apart by a
multitude of divisions, With the advent of Fascism in Ttaly, groups
and counter-groups were also formed in Australin. The people broke
Up-into fascists, antifaseists, radicals and anarchists. And during the
Second World War all these divisions increased the sufferings, the
Uiseriminations. and, it could be said, the hatred towards the Ttalians,

The outbreak of diseriminution was not unexpected, given the tradie
tionul antipathy of Australians towards Southern Europeans. This wias
“orne out by skirmishes in the city. The Casa d'Ttalia in Carlion was
orced 1o elose, after having been ransacked by vandals, Many shops
Owned by Italians had their windows broken. Italian children were
mocked in the schools,

Several Ialians who worked in industry, in government works and in
the mines. Jost their jobs. So too, in the big emporiums such as
Myers, few Ttalians could work withowt some harrassment. In the
Country the il feeling was even more apparent, However, most of the
miners at Wonthaggi voted to work alongside the Ttalians in the coal
Minges,
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In 1941 certain Australians tried to chase the Iralians away from the
Werribee arca. claiming that they were a danger to national security,
because of the presence of the RAAF at Point Cook.

In July. 1942, the Vietorian Department of Agriculture expressed
concern at the continual increase of foreign agriculturists {I-taliims}.
and at their cooperative method of acquiring E;lid. a method which
“struck directly at the Awustralian agnculturists and put the wage
structure at risk.”

Notwithstanding the denials and reassurances of the authorities, angry
protests arrived from various agricultural centres such as Mildura.
Colac, Lilydale and Shepparton, Smith's Weekly claimed that already
a quarter of the land in Victoria had fallen into the hands of foreign-
ers. "Without doubt,"” Broome asserted. “hidden resentment was at
the root of all this discrimmation.” (41)

As a consequence of all the bad feeling, many Ttalians lost their posi-
tions of employment and were interned under the accusation of being
fascists or f»ccausc they were suspected of being a danger (o the
nation.
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BRIEF GEOGRAPHICAL AND HISTORICAL OUTLINE OF
WESTERN AUSTRALIA

“The State of Western Australia is the 'bfﬁg&ﬁf {eight times bigger

than Italy), but the least developed of the Australian States.

"Topographically it is divided into six regions - the Kimberleys, the
East, the Central and the North-West, which are mining regions and
almost unknown, while the South-West and the Eucla are agricultural
regions. The traveller has only to go outside Perth, the capital. to
immediately have the impression of being In a pioneering country.
immense, emply, dry and hostile.

“Only In the South-West can one admire the great forests of
gigantic Jarrah and Karr trees, which form the basis of the wood
industry. This is also the most suitable region for agriculture, be-
cause of its fine climate, the quality of its soil and the plentiful
supply of water — the climate and the temperature because of the
s?a !bree}zas- Drought is unknown and rain falls regularly and plen-
tifully. “ (1)

Those who travel towards the West and the North-West experi-
ence, for hundreds and hundreds of miles, the monoteny of the
bush, uniform and barren and of the salt bush or spinifex with few
oases of dark green colour,

These are the mining zones where, in 1887, gold was discovered
for the first time. at Kimberley and Yilgarn and where, some years
later, the quantity of gold discovered was greater than that of all
the other Australian States.

This served to put the State on the path, which stil continues
today, of rapid development.

Histonieally, the first European to land in this part of the continent
was the Dutchman, Dirk Hartog, in 1618, After Hartog. other
navigators landed or sailed along the western coast, receiving very
negative impressions of the land. (2)

In 1826, because of fear that the French might occupy that part of
the continent, Darling, the Governor of New South Wales, with or-
ders from London, sent 44 convicts and a group of soldiers to take
possession of the so-called “New Holland” under the command
of Major Lockyer. (3]

In 1827 Captain J. Stirling, also under the arders of Governor Darl-
ing, explored the Swan River and chose the site to construct a
town. He wrote enthusiastically about its possibilities because of
thehf%rtwty of the soil and the possibility of a port for commerce
with Asia.

In principle the British government showed reluctance to open a
new colony in the Swan, but when it came to know that a group of
capitalists, with Thomas Peel as its leader, was ready to finance a
colony of 10,000 ermgrants, it withdrew all reservations.
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On 2 May 1829, James Stitling was nominated. as the first Governor
and the ternfory of New Holland was elevated to the level of a
Colony with the name of Swan River Colony,

But, because of its isolation, the new colony progressed very siowly
and at the cost of many sacrifices

300 migrants settled at Perth and Freemantle. By 1848 the residents
of Perth had increased to 1,148, while those outside the town
Numberad 1,400,

f}y 1856 the population ol Perth had climbed to 3,000 and in 1871 to
2,000,

The Swan River Colony. later called Western Australia, received full
independence from the other colonies in 1890 — only ten years
before the Federation of the Australian States 4)
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THE ORIGINS OF THE
ITALIAN COMMUNITY IN
14 — WESTERN AUSTRALIA

It is customary to trace the history of Italian emigration to Western
Australia back to 1846 and 1o the arrival of the Benedictine Fathers,
some of whom were [talian. But this is not entirely accurate as some
Italians, such as Dr Giustiniani. a nobleman and physician. were to
be found in the new colony as early as 1836. (1)

According to the writer Mury Durack, it was a certain Captain Irwin
who during a visit to England, encouraged the doctor and Methodist
minister, Luigi Giustiniani, to emigrate in order to care for the souls
of the whites and the Aborigines along the Upper Swan River in the
north of Western Australia.

Still according to Mary Durack, Giustiniani arrived in 1836 and set-
tled into a house built especially for him in Guilford where he had a
Small church erected also. The settlers were perplexed to hear that
English was not one of the many languages the minister spoke
fluently. They further discovered that he was a moody character given
1o uncontroliable outbursts of rage and that he had been a Jesuit
priest and Lutheran minister, (2)

On the other hand, according to a more plausible version of the facts,

¢ Giustiniani abandoned the priesthood and the Jesuit order after
gaining a degree in Rome and went to Germany where he converted
to Lutheranism and married a woman who was herself a Lutheran.
Then having moved to Great Britain he became an Anglican. Giusti-
niani was a man of many talents, fluent in English, German, French
and Italian. He could converse in Latin and Greek, knew Hebrew
and Syriac and was a qualified doctor, (3)

Within a few months of his arrival in the colony he had established
large vegetable gardens and had begun to raise cattle which he then
left to the Aborigines to look after. He also took to defending the
Aborigines against the large landowners, cattlemen and sheep-
farmers, Indeed, in 1837 he was the first white man to defend the
Aborigines in the Perth court where, as C.T. Stannage tells us, he
was ridiculed and censured. (4)

Towards the end of that year the Western Australian Missionary Soci-
ety fired him. Thus he %eft the colony but not without first having
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published an account of his discoveries in the Swan River Ciuardidn
and having denounced the treatment handed out to Aborigines. (5)
In 1846 the first group of Ttalians arrived, together with several Be-
nedictine monks, Their Superior, the legendary Rosendo Salvado,
had been given the task of founding & Benedictine abbey and under-
taking the conversion of the Aborigines.

During a visit to Rome 1o be consecrated the first Bishop of Perth it
was Bishop Brady who encouraged Don Salvado, José Serra, Angelo
Confalonieri from the shores of Lake Garda in the Trento region,
and Canon Aldo Raffacle Martelli from Ancona, together with 24
other priests, seminarists, nuns, and catechists, 10 come 10 Australia
to dedicate themselves to apostolic work in his vast diocese. Another
of the group was Nicola Caporelli, a layman from Rome.

There were only about 300 Catholics under Bishop Brady's care but
he was looking, above all, for missionaries to convert the Aborigines.
(6) The group set sail from England on the frigate Elzabeth on 17
September. 1845 and arrived at Fremantle on 8 January, 1846 after

113 days at sea. (7)

Father Angelo Confalonieri was given the task of starting a mission
for Aborigines at Port Essington, in the far north. (8) Canon Aldo
Martelli went o work for Bishon Bradv. the local bishoo. (9) We
shall look more closely at these two priests in the third part of this
book when we deal with the ltalian contribution to religious life in
Australia,

Nicola Caporelli was sent by Pope Gregory XVI = on his own request
— as Honorary Pontifical Consul General of the Papal State, a title
which was never recognised by Earl Grey, the Briush Colonial
Secretary.

He must have made some inappropriate remarks soon after his arrival
because in 1847 he apologi'sccp through The Inquirer newspaper for
comments attributed to him about the Catholic Church in Perth. (1)
He was also an expert viticulturist and wine-maker, As soon as he
arrived in the colony he leased a vineyard near Morgers Lake from
William Leeder and in March 1847 he produced some excellent wine.
On 13 March, 1847, The Perth Gazette published an article on
Caporelli saying, among other things: “The unflagging perseverance
and the praiseworthy efforts of Mr Caporelli in promating the cultiva-
tion of vineyards since his arrival in the colony 14 months ago, de-
serves the most heart-felt thanks of all the community, " (11

It seems though that Caporelli left the eolony on 25 November. 1848
headed for Waterlilly in Tasmania. He must have invested some
money in the Western Australian Mining Company before leaving be-
cause it is known that he lost shares in the same company in October
1850,

The second group to reach Western Australia was assembled by lose
Serra who had returned to Italy 1o be consecrated Bishop Co-adjutor
to the Bishop of Perth, It was an extremely critical time, not only for
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the Catholic Church, but also for the entire colony of Western
Australia which was close to collapse.

This group comprised eight Spanish Benedictine missionaries. an Irish
one ~ Fr. Domenico Urquhart — and Fr. Salvatore Marino from
Naples, together with 32 lay religions brothers who were craftsmen,
of whom 25 were Spanish and seven Neapolitan. Those from Naples
were Bonaventura Alsino. Giuseppe Ascione, Agostino Balsamo,
Ql’icola Filomena, Muauro Rignasco, Raffaelo Rizzo and Francesco

entura,

On 6 October, 1849 they embarked on the Ferrolana at Cadiz and
armved at Fremantle on 29 December after 85 days at sea. (12)

There were good stonemasons and builders among the Benedictine
brothers. The most famous was Brother Giuseppe Ascione, He took
charge of the construction of the Santa Maria (Eathcdral after having,
In I8S8, completed a period of work in Bishop Brady's office. (13)

These events in the lives of the Benedictines of New Norcia are re-
counted by Don Salvado in his Memorie Storiche dell’Australia.
here is very little other information about Italian emigration in
that part of Australia until 1877. We know only that a certain Bar-
tolomeo Argenti, a sailor, settled at Albany in 1855,

Giovanni Marchetti, himsell a sailor from Venice, arrived in 1856,
and in 1867 Giuseppe Marselli, “conviet no: 95177, came out on the
convict ship Norwood after having been convicted of murder in Edin-
burgh in 1865. Some years later he was pardoned and settled in the
colony. Giuseppe Marselli from Leghorn was a wood-cutter and ship-
wright.

A certain Antonio Pettini was married in Greenough in 1868, (14)
The Benedictines opened a station in the same year at Marah, about
80 miles north of New Norcia, which was run by an Italian, Brother
Benigno. for over 25 years. (15) Some small rural communities that
mmeluded Talians sprang up in the south-west. Names such as Della
(from the Valtellina district) and Aquilia (from North-Eastern Sicily)
Appear among them in the 1870s. (16)

In 1877 the Superintendent of Police reported to the governor of the
Swan River settlement that there were only 13 Ttalians living there,
although some had done so for 20 years, The report, prepared at the
fequest of the Italian Consul-General in Melbourne. confirms what is
already known about the period in which the first Ttalians arrived and
also that there were few of them, but it furnishes us with no other
details. The figures, as we have seen elsewhere in our account, should
not be taken too literally. In fact, according to other historians,
another group of Italians arrived between 1840 and 1850, some from
Grottaferrata and other from Capo d'Orlando, (17) This group was
praobubly the first lot of Sicilian fishermen who were joined, towards
the end of the century, by a large group of fishermen from the Pug-
lie. Unfortunately it has been impossible 1o find any evidence of their
presence. Of the 13 mentioned in the Superintendent’s report, only
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one, Giuseppe Marselli, was a fisherman, and he was also a boat-
builder. The Neapolitan Gaspare Ferrari, on the other hand. was a
botanist: he had arrived on the same ship us the Benedictine monks
und had taken up wine-growing. Four others were religious men, four
worked on ships and three were farmers. Iy appears one of these was
Giovanni Battista Demas. from Padua, who in 1880 owned vast
stretches of grazing land at Greenough Flats. (18)

One must conclude as does Carlo Gamba (hat. in reality, “it is not
clear how many Italians there were”. (19)

It has 10 be another 10 years before the number of [talians had grown
sufficiently so that more reliable figures could be collected.

Large scale inter-colony and foreign immigration to the West took
place in the second half of the 1880s. It oceured as a result of the
great demand for labour in public works, such as the building of rail-
ways, roads, waterworks and ports, and also because of an economie
cnisis which struck the eastern colonies. particularly Victoria and New
South Wales. There was also the discovery of rich goldfields and the
creation of farming laws (1892) that were considered the most liberal
of any in the colonies. (20)

Many Italians, especially from Lombardy, moved to the colony of
Western Australia attracted by the opportunity of making money.
There are many examples of this internal migration of which the fol-
lowing are but a few: Eugenio Vanzetti and Lodovico Gianini moved
there from Broken Hill: Giuseppe De Piazzi arrived in 1893 after
having worked for two or three vears in Victoria; Giulio Davini ¢mig-
rated to the west in 1894 after having worked in New South Wales
and New Zealand; Pietro Zappa moved 1o Kalgoorlie in 1899 after
having left Italy in 1877 and then worked in Victoria, Queensland and
New South Wales. (21)

From 1885 to 1892, and again in 1895, the ltalians of the alpine val-
leys in Ttaly experienced particularly difficult times because of the
harsh prolonged winters and poor crops, The cold and the torrential
rains made their already miserable lives even more precarious, and
the spectre of hunger was ever present.

So it was that the most courageous among them decided to join their
relatives and friends living in a distant Land. With fime it became
more common for people to leave. This is how that tradition of chain
emigration, that lasted many yeuars, began. Among those who came
from Ttaly were Emilio, Carlo and Angelo Genoni, brothers who
arrived together in the late 1880s. Another brother. Giovanm Bart-
tista, joined them in 1894, Two of the Armanasco brothers emigrated
in 1894 while the third brother, Agostino, arrived in 1898,

From 1888 to 1896 a total of approximately 244 Italians came to the
colony, 32 of them from New South Wales, 107 from Victoria and 97
from South Australia; the rest came direetly from lialy.

Another large group of about 853 reached the colony between 1896
and 1900; only some 183 of them came from the custern colonies, all
the others arriving from overseas, (22)
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ROYAL COMMISSIONS IN THE EARLY TWENTIETH
CENTURY

From the beginning of the century Italian immigration to Western
Australia grew substantially. From™ 1900 to 1905 about 2,450 [talian
migrants arrived directly from Italy or other countries, only some 30
coming from the other Australian States, From 1905 to 1915 another
5,478 ‘men and 486 women added to these figures. However, the
8reatest increase occurred between 1911 and 1915; it appears the
Main causes were the war with Turkey of 1911 and imminent world
conflict, (23)

These migrants had made Australia their second choice after the
nited States because it was rich in land and mineral resources, but
¥ the time they arrived mining was on the decline. It became even

more difficult therefore to finc wark, while money was needed to

take advantage of the much publicised farming boom. Thus they

Moved into the numerous mining centres in search of work or cleared

bushland for landowners. or did other farm work in the Lawlers,

Southern Cross and 1averton areas, They also worked on the con-

struction of railways, roads and waterworks, Some small groups of

Italians obtained permission (o start up their own mines. In the
anowna district, for example, six Italians obtained a licence to open

d mine. Others spent their lives as solitary, wandering prospectors;

their exact number is not known but according 1o the cvewitness

dccounts of some elderly citizens it must have been quite high.

Some worked as manual labourers in the South-West of the State, or

carned their livelihood as green-grocers, fishmongers and wholesalers

Or organ-grinders. (24)

This sudden influx of lalian migrants into the mining areas once

More alarmed the unions and Labor politicians who did not delay in

calling for 4 government ingquiry to ascertain if these Italians were

being brought in under proper employment contracts, or secretly,

With nothing more than verbal agreements. Their demand was based

on the “Commonwealth Immigration Restriction Act 1901 which

Prohibited “any person from performing physical work in the

Commonwealth of Australia under a contract or an agreement”. Con-

Sequently a Roval Commission, known also as the oe Commission

after the Commissioner who headed i, was set up to investigate

“Furcign Contract Labour in Western Australia™. (25)

The Commission was not able to establish the truth or otherwise of

the claims. It merely compiled a list of the various accusations made
Y the unions and those who had sold out o diseriminatory union

policies.

Among the Ttalians questioned Giovanni Genoni had this to say

about himself: “1 am a carter by trade and have been in Western

Australia seven years. | came of my own free will to see if 1 could

fiake some money and was willing to do any work at all. My first job
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after 1 arrived was carrying out maintenance work on the Greal
Southern Railway. Then [ worked in a sawmill...and [ am saving
money to buy mysell a farm. There are many Italians who save up to
buy themselves some land, Some of them in fact are already looking
for good land on which to plant vineyards, In their own.villages they
did not have cnough to survive; and since there are just (oo many
I:eoplc there they prefer to come 1o Australia where many of them
ave seitled permanently.™ (26)

Another witness, Agosting Armanasco, owner of a hotel in Kalgoor-
lie, said: “I know of no man who signed a contract in Italy to come
here. They come here because they need to make a little money to
buy themselves some land, as others have done. When they arrive
they have little money but no Italian comes here to starve, There is
always a friend to meet them at Fremantle or Kalgoorlie or Coolgar-
die... There is always someone who can give them work... Austra-
lians don’t work out in the heat and therefore that work goes to
[talians.” (27)

The Commission realised that lalian migrants came to Western
Australia quite independently without being bound by any contracts,
They were motivated purely by economic necessity and often turned
to their compatriots already living there for help in finding work.

The Commissioner in his report stated that “it is absolutely clear that
these foreign workers receive the same pay as British or Australian
workers, whether in the mines or out clearing the bush™.

But what the Royal Commission did not perceive, or did not want to
acknowledge, was the need to help and protect migriants when they
first arnved. As the migrants did not know the language and were
ignorant of union regulations and the marketplace, they were often
exploited. It was not unusual for some middleman to turn up to greet
the Italians as they disembarked. This person would offér o find
them work in exchange for small compensation for himself and £5
sterling for the foreman, to be deducted from the migrant’s pay-
packet at the rate of £1 per week. Often, however, once the agreed
amount was paid, the migrant would be sacked in order 10 make way
for someone else to be exploited. (28) In this way [talians and other
migrant groups fell victim to these jackals. The Tralians were hardly
treacherous schemers working against the interests of the unions and
local workers!

Even the union represenatives who ealled for the Royal Commission
had been careful to point out that their opposition to foreign labour
was based principally on economic reasons. The General Secretary of
the Goldfield Trades and Labour Council stressed that as far as he
and the majority of workers were concerned anti-Italian sentiment
was not based on racial considerations, “As long as it avpuars these
people come to Western Australia with the ides of settling and be-
coming citizens and assimilating, we have no objection 1o their
coming.” (29)
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Hardly two years had clapsed when, in 1904, the Nalian communit
found’ itsell ‘once more under attack, not from the Commonwealt
Ihis time but from the State, It was 4 case of Similar accusations made
by the same people. Ialian workers were accused of accepting below
awird rates, of receiving preferential treatment from employers to the
detriment of Australian workers and of immigrating on the basis of
seeret or verbal contracts. (30)

The State Royal Commission headed by the Minister for Mines. A.
Montgomery, found the charges were without substance and, as the
Previons one had done, limited itself to making recommendations. It
Sugpested, for example. that Italians should not be allowed to work
Where explosives were used, The inqguiry’s report also stated that
“there are rumours about the supposed violation of wage rates by
lalian workers, but this Commission has been unable 1o find any
convincing evidence that such i state of affairs exists. The depositions
M support of the abovementioned rumours have been misleading and
Mot worthy of credence. We have noted that a certain preference is
shown for lalian workers in some mines, but the reason indicated by
Employers is that the ftalians, unlike the British, do not reveal how
Work s proceding to 4 company’s competitors or how the plans for a
Mine dre developing. (31)

The British Consulate in Genoa helped to prove the Italians were not
Wing used 1o force wages down. It brought to the attention of the
Commission articles that appeared in numerous Italian newspapers,
18¢ouraging or indeed condemning emigration 1o Australiy. (32)

The mine owners #nd managers made no secret of their preference
Or [talian workers and gave their reasons quite openly, The manager
Of the Grear Boulder Mine at Kalgoorlic explained the reasons for
employing Italian labour as follows: “"We cmplo& Italians in our mines
10 increase our efficiency. 1 think a4 man must be free to do what he
Wants. The unions want to control all toreign workers and 1 think
there is no advantage for Italians in belonging 1o unions. T am pot of
4 mind to have too many Ialians in any one mine. Their cfficicncy
?ﬂ))cmis on being few in number and mixed in with British workers. ™

The same thoughts were expressed by the manager of the Western

Ustralian Firewood Supply Company; “If only & certain percentage
Of cach nationality is represented und no group is allowed to domi-
Ntate then work is done more efficiently: if a group is allowed to be-
COme strong it starts to control everything ™ (34)

A |")erind of quict followed the 1904 inquiry. Ttalian miners continued
10 be employed and appreciated by everyone except the unions, But

€ war of nerves continued and the hostility towards migrants did
Mot abate, Neither the Commission nor the statements hi- employers
or unionists succeeded in dispelling the myth of the lialian as a
Job-stealer’.
From 1901 10 1946 the situation remained more or less the sume. For
this reason it is difficult 1o accept the often repeated and convenient
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argument that the apposition to migrants was motivated purely by
economic considerations. The Australian historian 1D, Pike is more
likely to be correct when, after having examined Italian immigration
to this country, he concludes that “the labour movement always con-
centrated its efforts on attempting to keep ltalians away from
Australia or away from work™, (33)

Even the Consul Zunini in his book ['Australia attuale  denounced
the different {orms of tacism directed towards Malians in Australia.
“According to the working masses, Italians occupied a place some-
where between the Chinese and the blacks. | am not exaggerating at
all when I say thit they were often called ‘blackfellow’. In fact the
case of the Irish womun who refused 10 go 1o Ttaly after having mar-
ried one of our countrymen is typical. To the judge who asked the
reason for her refusal she answered, caught between astonishment
and indignation: “But Your Honour, do you believe a British subject
could consent to living in a country of blacks?' These were her very
words.” (34)

“It seems strange,” continues Zunim, “that feelings of hostility were
nurtured towards Italians when our community was always composed
.ol respectable, hard-working and industrious people. These feelings
of hostility seemed to be a mixture of dislike and disdain, Italians
were despised because they were Ttalians and because they were
workers,

“The smaller local newspapers certainly did not help create a more
favourable climate, Attacks against foreigners. and ltalians in particu-
lar, had become commonplace, Any pretext was good enough to lash
out at the abhorred “dago’.” (37)

Two years later on 26 August 1909 the Federal Labor Member for
Kalgoorlie resumed these attacks in Parliament, though fortunately
they did not come to anything. He said: “These Halian rogues who do
not know a word ol English arrive in groups of six or a dozen people
and go directly from their ship to the mines, where the British look
for work in vain.™ (38)

ITALIAN EMIGRATION AFTER THE FIRST WORLD WAR

The beginning of the first global conflict brought & halt to immigra-
tion by ltalians and other national groups untl 1919,

In 1919 the first Australian servicemen 1o ever serve in a European
wir returned home.

Once more the proverbial powder-Keg went off in Kalgoorlie. During
an argument with two ex-servicemen an Italian drew a knife Killing
one of them and seriously injuring the other. The old hatreds which
had never subsided flared up and groups of young hooligans, ex-
servicemen and vandals began terrorising the Ilahnn community,
breaking into their shops and homes. They took over hotels owned by
ltalians, stealing money, looting and” destroying  furniture  and
equipment.
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A deputation from the Returned Soldiers League announced that all
lalians withour families had five days to get out of Kalgoorlie and
Boulder. Terrified women and children were forced 1o seek refuge in
El;garhy bushland where they stayed until things settled down a little,
10)

There were those who defended the Ttalians. The Kilgoorlie Miner

itterly censured the authorities and the: police for not having pre-
vented the attack against the foreigners and not offering them any
Protection,

A Kalgaorlie lawyer wrote a letter 1o the Colonial Secretary in de-
fence of the Ialians: “Without doubi vou are aware of the raids
against Italians and of the looting of their belongings &t Kalgoorlie
and Boulder ten days ago, and of the destruction and plundering of
their properties by the mob. In addinon to having lost their personal
¢longings, these people were fareed to abandon their homes and the
Olels they own to spend a very cold winter's night out in the open.
WO men among these claim that the police made no effort 1o pre-
VNt the destruction and the theft of their goods. Furthermore, the
et that there were no arrests, or perhaps only one or two. and that
there was na official inquiry Into these events seems 1o show, without
the 5iighwsl doubt, that the worst suspicions and accusations are
TRe. ™ (40))
In response the Under-Seeretary said that the Government did not
recognise any claims for compensation. To add insult to injury, the
'eweties required the Ttalian owners to repair their hotels as quickly
48 passible, under threat of having to pay for any repairs carried out
 the breweries themselves. (41)

Many left the district and the work in the mines to go 1o Perth or
Went into the bush searching for work as timber-cutters, Their
amilics followed them, gradually moving to localities where they
could settle down to live in dignity and peace.

Ttalian emigration to Australin recommenced the year following these
Violemt events on 4 much larger scale than before the war. Between
1922 and 1926, 2,413 lialiuns artived in Western Australia. In the five
Years between 1926 and 1930 the arrivals inereased 1o 4.533. The
Great Depression of the 1930s, combined with the new Ialian policy
o0 emigration, reduced the numbers of migrants from Italy between
931 and 1935 1o 1,930, and to 1USK in the five years immediately
efore the Second World War. The total number of arrivals was

Erefore 9,950 for the period between the two wars, (42)

Man._v of the newcomers went directly to Perth and Fremantle and the
Surrounding district. But once more the majority settled in the farm-
W wtreds, especially along the coast, near the Swan River and around
larvey, There was o decline in the numbers going to the Coolgardie,

algoorlic and Leonora districts. In conclusion, & though there was a

St towards the towns, 57% of new arrivals stll preferred to live in
fural greas.
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THE GREAT DEPRESSION OF THE 1930s

The Great Depression of the 1930s brought unemployment, hunger
and suffering and re<awakened the hostility towards migrants. Iis eof-
fects were felt by everybody, but migrants were especially hard-hit,
Many of them had neither family nor friends to turn to for help.
From 1929 the number of homeless continued to grow and fumilies
were turned out of their homes because they could not pay the rent,
Furniture and personal clothing were impounded and sold to pay off
debts. Many migrants without families did not even have an address
where they could receive mail. Unemployed migrants were denied
normal government assistance,

“The Italians,” writes C, Gamba, “did not seek this help, but rather
did any work at all to obtain food and 4 roof over their heads.™ (43)
During the Depression only those mines wprnrtcd by American in-
vestment continued to operate and grow. Gold was the only markel-
able resource left. The unemployed poured into the mining arcas
from every corner of the State and from South Australia. Kalgoorlic
wis swarming with people in search of work. The local residents were
lost among those who arrived from the city and surrounding coun-
tryside. Those who spoke another language stood out, as did those
who were readily identifiable like the Italians with their black felt
hats and peculiar shoes and their own particular mannerisms, or like
the Yugoslavs with their high check-bones,

These Italians and Yugoslavs soon became targets for the hostility of
the unemploved, as though the migrants were the cause of their ills.
If the migrants had jobs, then suppressed hostility exploded into overt
displays of hatred because it was felt that the work, by rights,
belonged to the Australian unemployed,

So it was that in January 1934 another bloody incident took place,
once more at Kalgoorlie: the most serious and shameful in the history
of that mining town. There had been other disturbances before but
nothing like this, It ull started with an argument, (44) A popular
Australian Rules footbull champion called lordan refused to pay for
the beer he had drunk at the *Home from Home™ hotel, run by
Claudio Mattboni, an Italian from the Valtelling,

When the Australian was thrown out of the hotel he challenged the
Italian to a fight which the latter refused because the challenger was
drunk. However, after a torrent of abuse from the footballer the
hotelier responded with a blow, which was all it took to make the
other man bite the dust. Unfortunately, as he fell, the Australian hit
his head against a rock and died a few hours later, The night Jordan
died the local riff-raff burnt down the hotel and the wine shop, then
they poured into the streets and continued setting fire to houses, The
following night they burnt down other hotels in Boulder. By that
Stage the situation had reached fashpomt. During a gathering in
Boulder's Burt Street, the decision wiis taken to never again work
alongside foreigners, who were accused of every manner of thing.
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Coming from that rabble of miners and unemployed who were mostly
drunk. could be heard phrases the like of: ..now we'll clean these
dagoes out once and for all; we'll burn them™. By the third night it
Wils obvions something was about 10 happen. Indeed, after having
burnt down the foreigners” hotels and shops only their homes were
Clt. The small but neat houses had not been built in twwwn but on
land Jeased from the Ivanhoe mine. Whilst they were not very sturdy
and had not been constructed according 1o building regulations., they
did grear credit to their owners who had started from seratch,
A second Turge pathering took place in Kalgoorlie’s Richardson Street
of that same night, during which the first dynamite explosions and
Lunshots were heard. Under the influence ol aleohol, the locals burnt
down the migrants’ social club and then attacked the European quar-
ter, burning down 50 of their houses and once more lerrorising
Women and children who were foreed to seck refuge i the bush, For
Three duys men armed with guns and “molotoy cocktails™ hunted
digoes” “Two people were killed and many injured while more than
£65.000 worth of damage was done. Eight people were arrested al-
though several were later set free. However, despite the condemni-
lon by the press and the lack of support from the politicians, the
miners stood firmly by their decision not to return to work unless all
Southern Europenns were first sacked. The mine owners were faced
With a dilemma: they were convinced that i was not right to sack
Workers because of their nationality.
Therefore. as had occurred before in similar circumstances, they sol-
ved the problem by putting the poor Italian and Yugoslay miners
through a dictation test, which was certainly not going 1o resolve the
problem of whether to employ them or not, Naturally most of the
oreigners lost their jobs, and the few who passed the dictation test
relerred to leave voluntarily. “It is sad.™ observes the author Wendy
Ovenstein at the conglusion of her secount of these events at Kal-
goorlie in 1934, "how the most unexpected things can happen to a
Fﬁlccful community. And those attacked were really good people,”
)
But the iribulations of these unfortunates did not end in 1934, The
war alienated the Italians from the Australians even further, Friends
ecame enemies and Halians were at tmes interned indiscriminately.
The officers and crew of the ship Remo which, at the outbreak of
war, happened to be in Fremantle, were arrested and imprisoned,
¢ movements of Ttalian farmworkers: and commercial travellers
were restricted, Fishermen had their fishing licences revoked and
their boats confiscated. Some Ialians working in the mines were
itansferred to Perth for security reasons, Ttalian soldiers made
Prisoner in Northern Africa were transported to Austradia,
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ITALIANS IN THE
15 - GOLDFIELDS

The events that took place in the colonies of New South Wales und
Vietoria between 1850 and 1860 were repeated with the same inten-
Sity at the end of the century in the colony of Western Australia. The
discovery of abundant alluvial gold was like honey to bees. And. in-
deed. those who came from every part of the Australian continent
and the world in sepreh of their fortune were truly as numerous as |
s around a honeypot. It was an overwhelming flood of human
beings of every race and class, of prospectors and opportunists, They
moved from one place to another at the slightest news of the latest
find, at tmes leaving thriving centres looking like ghost towns.
The first discovery of allvial pold which was made by Charles Hall in
the Kimberleys (1) sparked the first actual gold rush in the West.
Other discoveries were made in the Pilbara district; gold fever, how-
ever. did not last long. In 1887 some smaull gold deposits were found
In the Yilgarn district, 330 miles cast of Perth. But the first proof of
the fabulous wealth hidden in the desert came from Arthur Bailey
and Williim Ford when they discovered the rich deposits at Coolgar-
die in' September 1892, In the Spuce of o few days they collected 534
Ounces of gold dust. (2)
In June 1893, three Irishmen, Paddy Hannan. Thomas Flanagan and
Dan Shea collected 200 ounces of gold in small nugeets over two or
three days in another locality called Kalgoorlie-Boulder (known also
s the Golden Mile). They did not even have 10 dig for it. Over cighi
Yeurs £20,000,000 worth of gold was dug out of the Golden Mile. (3)
The colony’s populstion went from 27,000 in 1891 1o 100,000 in 1895
and to approximitely 200,000 by the end of the century. The ltalians,
as dlready mentioned, were among the first 1o arrive and continued to
Uo 5o in growing numbers, Even though it s suid that ltalians are not
ddventurous by nature and believe more in hard work and » steady
1ob, there were, those who, struck by gold fever. sought to follow the
risky and ough life of 4 gold digger. These Italians set off with a
swag over their shoulders, a water bottle around their necks, o billy-
can, o few provisions, their pick and gold pan, to endure hardship
and privation as they Iruwllmr;tcnm the limitless and still unexplored
plains, {4) The majodty though was drawn to the mining area be-
Catise ‘there was o t‘u:mnml for labour and because they were hoping
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to find other Ttadians there to help them get work quickly, sinee they
themselves did not speak English and had no one else to turn to, The
mines were alwiys in need of extra hands. They relied entirely on
timber o strengthen mine-shafts and pussages, as fuel for engipes
praviding eleetricity and compressed air, to power drills and create
ventilation, 1o draw water and work the mills and sift the gold.
Not all Ttalians were prepared. or able to be. wood-cutters, To begin
with It was worse than miner's work; it meant the wood-cutters had
ta live in the bush, often far from town, with litthe water and in un-
healthy conditions.

Another job at which Italiuns, particularly from Lombardy. were ex-
perts was the processing of coul used extensively by blucksmiths and
incpurilying the ore,

The mining ares began 300 miles east of Perth at the Jminl where the
officially recognised rural zone ended and it continued on for another
300 miles. Along this areq the famous gold-rich centres of Southern
Cross, Coolgardie, and Kalgoorlic-Boulder sprang up and develop-
ment then moved northward as far as the Kimberley region.
Today muny of these places seem more desolate than ever: onee the
bush was cleared only a few shrubs were left here and there, Towns
which had been once full of life are now uninhabited and abandoned
ghost-towns,

“Sadness, solitude, the sense of an oppressive weight,” wrote G,
Capra in 1907, “this is what one feels passing through these places.
Here and there the land has been disturbed, dug up...at other spots
iles of earth indicate the ‘prospect’ had appeared good and attempts
Lud been made w work the location. Elsewhere one can see aban-
doned mine-shafts, flattened corrugated iron shacks, the remains of
the tables on which thoughtful and feverish workers had caten, empty
Jam, meat and milk tins scattered about, broken bottles, battered
pots and pans, all testifying to a period of inense but short-lived ac-
tivity, the spent bullets of 4 lost barttle, evidence of a life endured
with pain which had com s abruptly to a halt, the humble leéft-overs of
wasted hopes. A stone with an inseription, a rough wooden cross,
often stood out to indicate that under that arid carth, which only
spring covered in green and flowers, a digger. a miner, an Ttalian was
at rest waiting for eternal resurrection, perhaps dreaming of another
life of well-being and splendour, withour the worry of survival,” (5)

SOUTHERN CROSS

The town of Southern Cross sprang up in the district of Yilgarn fol-
lowing gold discoveries in the arca. It grew rapidly and, just as
qui-:kﬂ-. fell into obscurity. [t had. however, opened the door to the
cast for tens of thousands of prospectors. Tt was the first stap on the
way 10 the grear ficlds of Coolgardie, Kalgoorlie-Boulder. Broad
Arrow, Menzies, Leonora-Gwalia and Laverton further north,
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Several mines in the Yilgarn district to the south of Southern Cross,
such as Marvel Loch and Parker Range, remained active for many
years,

The Yilgarn district was the first gold centre to attract a large number
of Italans and a few made their fortune in a short time.

The first was certainly Lx‘zhi}i Jacoletti who on 23 Tuly 1889 left South-
e Cross together with William Ford and George Withers and made
for the south in search of gold. Having lost their way, they followed a
flock of migrating birds until tht:El reached a small pasis where they
decided to camp for the night. While they were inspecting the terram
around the spring they discovered some alluvial gold dust. The fol-
lowing morning, as they moved along the dry creek bed, they found
plenty of gold nuggets and gold dust. They marked off the area with
ickets, calling it Elalivc's rave, and left to stake their ¢laim. They
ater sold it for £300. Ford and Jacoletti stayed on a while to work for
the new owner. Meanwhile Jacoletti found another large deposit near
Marvel which he called the Jacoletti Mine (6) and which turmed out
1o be so rich that it continued to yield gold right up to 1944, In 28
years 42.000 tons of earth were crushed to produce 6,000 ounces of
fuld to the value of £2,800.000. Together with a few others, the
acoletti Mine became legendary in the history of the Western Au-
stralian gold rush. (7)
Eugenio Vanzetti, a metallurgist and prospector, was another pioneer
who contributed considerably to the development of the colony, After
having worked until 1892 as a mining engineer at Broken Hill, Van.
zetti moved to Western Australia in search of gold, He formed anc
ran a London-based company which controlled the Golden Pig anc
Haddon mines, as well as others, all situated in the area arounc
Southern Cross. The biggest problem there was the lack of water,
needed 1o wash the crushed stone. Vanzetti came up with a plan to
transport the stone to where supplies of water were abundant. In
1895 his company bought land at Seabrook in the Mortlock arca and
there he built a water reservoir and a plant for cleaning the gold, The
Government agreed to provide him with cheap rail transport for his
gold; in exchange his company would dlso use the government rail-
ways to transport all its general provisions, materials for the miners
and, above all. the water for the mine workers and their families. The
plan though came too late, because soon after, a pipeline was laid all
the way to Kalgoorlie.

Vanzetti also bought some large farms where he employed 25 families
brought out from Italy spccif%caliy for that purpose. (8)

The most well-known and admired Italian was Eric Carnicelli, the
owner of cight gold mines, He was reputed to be a millionaire at the
age of 50. His parents, who were among the first Italian settlers in
Western Australia, owned @ property in the Southern Cross district,
about 30 miles from the town. When he was mine, Eric used to travel
ten miles a day to and from school with his younger sister. They
would put their shoes on when they were within sight of the school
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and on their way home in the afternoon., wrapped them in a sack and
hid them in a bush. Their mother told how she too had to walk ten
miles in order to meet the butcher who passed through those parts
twice a week. There were no refrigerators then and one can imagine
what happened to the meat in summer,

The lack of water was another problem. In summer the Carnicellis
were entitled to only 200 gallons of water a week which had to be
brought all the way  from Southern Cross. (9)

In 1908 several miners and wood-cutters had settled in the district
with their families and had either bought land, small shops or mines.
Others worked on the construction of the Perth-Kalgoorlie pipeline.

The 1911 Postal Directory offers some valuable information, although
we must not forget that it lists only those who owned houses, busines-
ses or farms. Therefore, labourers in the bush or those who lived in
hotels, guest-houses or tents are not mentioned, At Yilgarn we find;
G. Antognoli, H. Bertali (or Bertelli). A. & L. Della, G. Massa and
B. Pelosi; at Parker Range: G. Depaoli, R. Filamatti, A. Fomicatti
and D. Negri who owned two mines in partnership with a certain
McMahon; at Democrat, near Marvel Loch where Carnicelli was
well-known, Pasini had his own mine, The Lady Agnes. (10)

In 1938 a certain R. B. Panizza settled in the Southern C ross distriet.
After, having worked in the Mt Isa mines in Queensland for six
ears, Panizza bought 400 acres of land at Southern Cross, H.A. De-
labasca instead bought a business neur Yilgarn, Finally, Pietro Mazza
in 1946 became owner of the Christmas Gift Gold Mine where he had
found a rich mineral deposit.

COOLGARDIE

In 1892, Coolgardie, where Bailey and Ford had found their first
golden nuggets, was the scene of a new gold rush. The usual flood of
Erospecmrs poured in, arriving on foot, on horseback. b camel, on
ikes, in wagons — by any means possible. The ignored exhaustion
and privations, of which the worst was the lack of water. (11)
The fossickers laboured in their thousands on the plains  around
Coolgardie, planting the characteristic stakes or pegs, a piece of red
cloth tied to them, at regular intervals to indicate their claims, which
in many cases (but not always) offered 2ood refurns,
In just a few years, almost magically in the midst of these comings
and goings, a graceful town grew up, Tents and bush dwellings were
quickly replaced by equally simple structures made of corrugated iron
or timber, which in turn were replaced by timber and stone dwellings.
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The numerous Ttalians who had come had also eéndured the tough
conditions of a prospector’s life. They travelled through those vast
tnd desolate plains tormented by an unending and feverish anxiety.
(12) They became even more numerous when drilling work began in
search of veins of gold. Large gquantities of timber were needed as
mine supports and %nr fuel to dnve motors. The surrounding forests
were cut down and the Italians showed themselves to be the best at
this type of work. (13) The story of their life at Coolgardie, as in all
the mining and gold-digging areas, was among the most dislrcsit:ig

ecause of the solitude, desolation and neglect in which they lived.
Accidents on the job were also quite common, the chronicles of the
day telling of several cases,

One accident that cost the lives of three Italian miners in the Jacoletti
mine left an indelible mark in the minds of the local population. (14)

Another three men, among whom was Pletro Mozza. were buried
alive 220 feet below the surface during a cave-in at a Boulder mine.,
One was killed instantly while Pietro Mozza and his other companion
saved themselves by seeking refuge in a pocket without being able to
escape, The rescue team worked for 94 hours to save them. (15)
One Sunday morming, Mr D. Harper, the father of the Western
Australian gold rush, saw an Italian who was patching up his boots
and told him not to be so miserly but to go and buy himsell a new
pair which cost only four shillings and sixpence. The Italian told him
that that pair had to last one more shift. In fact they did, because
once down in the mine he was killed instantly by a rock that fell on
his head. (16)

It was in a Coolgardie mine that the most sensational accident in all
of Western Australia’s mining history occurred. Modesto Varischetti
gus buried in a flooded mine 1,000 feet below the surface for nine
days,

The 19th March 1907 was a particularly hot day at Coolgardie. Mod-
€sto. Varischetti went down alone to escupe the heat and at the same
ime to be ready to begin his four o'clock afternoon shift; he slowly
Mmade his way to the tunnel at Level 10, On the surface a sudden
storm broke. The creek beds flooded and began to overflow till a
great raging body of water made its way in through the mouth of the
mine. Before any one realised it, the water had, in no time at all,
filled the Level 10 tunnel. The workers who were going down for
their four o'clock shift took refuge at Level Nine and struggled to
make their way back to the surface. Only Varischetti was missing.
Fortunately for him he had found refuge in a passage connecting
Level 10 with Level Nine where an air pocket had formed. That
something of the kind had happened, was also the one ray of hope
the rescue crew had as they began their work. The following mornin
the mine's manager took charge of the operation after having alerte
the Department of Mines. He went down into the mine himself as far
as tunnel number Nine where, once he had gone 365 feet further on,
he began striking the rock floor at intervals with a hammer. After a

240



few moments a weak tapping sound was heard in response; Varis-
chetti was alive. There were two ways of trying to rescue him; by
pumping out the water, which would have taken time. or by using
divers. The rescuers chose the second option. Inspector Grabbe tele-
graphed the Department of Mines in Perth requesting divers be sent
immediately; they arrived by train at four o’clock Friday morning.
Meanwhile., Varischetti’s Italian friends kept in constant contact with
him using a sort of motse code that was common in the zine mines in
Italy. Nine days later, after several attempts and at grave risk to him-
self, one tlf.tﬁ divers brought him to the surface, safe and sound
although suffering from shock and exhaustion. Enthusiastic and grate-
ful applause broke out among the crowd as it greeted his courageous,
bold and generous rescuer. “As soon as they heard of this COUTAZEOUs
act, our miners at faraway Charters Towers in Queensland had a
commemorative gold medallion struck and given to him through the
Italian Consul in Brisbane.” (17)

KALGOORLIE

In June 1893, the year following the discovery of gold at Coolgardie;
the famous Patrick Hannan pusﬁcd on with two companions a further
40 miles to the east and made the most sensational gold discovery in
the history of Australia. Without pick or shovel, and in only three
days, these Irishmen collected 200 ounces in small nuggets which lay
glistening in the red sand of dry creek beds in the middle of o
frighteningly desolate country. (18)

At the news of the discovery, published in Australian and overseas
newspapers, the usual wild rush took place, and just as Coolgardie
had overshadowed Southern Cross so Kalgoorhe-Boulder  over-
shadowed Coolgardie, turning it into what is now perhaps the most
famous of Austrafian ghost owns. There are only a few stone build-
ings that recall the past of this once beautiful 1own, full of life and
movement, with a population of 20,000 people today reduced to little
more than 500. 34,000,000 ounces of gold were extracted from its
mines.

Despite the race towards these new discoveries a good number of
Italians stayed in Coolgardie. Among them were wood-cutters and
miners such as G. Gherardin, J. Lampi, and S. Buttini, butlding con-
tractors such as L. Borseria and C. Magetti, cokemen such as L.
Rodegari. hotel-owners such as C. Boco of the Grand Bar Hotel and
Mrs E Godenzi of the Freemasons Hotel, shop-owners such as C.
Lardi and bakers like M. Bigliotti. (19)

250



By the end of the same year more than 2,500 prospectors were mov-
mg through that “immense, arid, sandy, rocky and treeless plain
Which was the district of Kalgoorlie.

In 1895 the first mines such as the Great Boulder and the Wealth of
ations were opened and within 14 years prosperous town of 25,000
People sprang up. In 1907 the mines had increased to nine and had
dlready yielded 9,495,000 ounces of gold. (20)

Between 1896 and 1902 more than 500 Tralians were working in the
algoorlie-Boulder district, But their number fell away because they
4d no union and the native-born Australians were. as usual, hostile.

Post-First World War migration again saw an increase in the size of
the Dtalian community which, however, precipitated the terrible
events of 1919 and 1934, In any case a strong contingent of Italians
femained in the district. By the turn of the century several of them
were self-employed and were already very well-off, Others spent their
tme looking for gold having obtained their own licence. We do not
MOW their names, only that six had obtained miner's rights and that
ey were working in the Kanowana district, several miles north of
dlgoorlic-Boulder. Of the prospectors at least two became well-
known figures in Australian history because of the riches the
ACCumulated. One of these Halian pioneers who certainly did not lag
& Spirit of adventure and a love of danger was Giulio Davini.
Davini, born near Luces on 12 June 1846, emigrated to Australia at
¢ dge of 23, Having arrived in Sydney, he was sent to work in the
“Opper mines at Cobar, a small town 723 miles to the north-west. A
car later he went to work on the construction of the Bourke railway
Me. From there he moved north-east to the Richmond River where
W grew sugarcane for seven years. Giving this up he spent a short
fme in New Zealand, then returned to New South Wales and em-
drked on a ship for a visit to Italy where he remained for a year. On
I8 return he settled in Western Australia and worked on the con-
struction of the Southern Cross-Coolgardie railroad. Once the trunk-
e was finished he let himself be lured to the mines where he
Worked for various companies, after which gold fever drove him and
A friend to prospect on their own, Early in 1899 they struck it rich
and he bhecame co-owner of the Hidden Cross Mine with Lodovico
Gianin;. (21)
Lodovico Gianini came from Montagna, a small town in the province
Of Sondrio, and he arrived in Melbourne in 1887 at the young age of
- As soon as he had disembarked he was put on 4 train andgacnt to
the Broken Hill Mines, more than 1,000 miles from Sydney and dee
N the heartland of the colony of New South Wales. He stayed until
1892 when news started to filter through itbout rich gold discoveries
N Western Australia. Dropping everyt ing he took off in search of
US fortune. In Western Australia he worked firsi at the mines in
Oolgardie, Lake View, Boulder and others in the Golden Mile.

Then with George Mayman he set off to look for gold. He was one
Of the first to arrive at Kurnalpi where he spent a couple of years. He
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backed the development of the Hidden Secret Mine discovered by
gg;'ini, becoming its principal shareholder in 1899, It made him rich-
Almost all the Ttalians who had been living at Kalgoorlie-Boulder for
several years had their families with them by now and owned their
own homes; their wives were [talians or first-gencration Australians.
The new arrivals and the majority of miners were bachelors and
therefore led a nomadic existence: they lived in poor encampments or
boarded in Italian hotels, (23)

The Ttalians living in Kalgoorlie-Boulder féll into the followin
categories: six were hoteliers (four in Kalgoorlie, two in Boulder)
employing some 30 others of their countrymen: four were mine-own-
ers, six shop-keepers and businessmen, one was an engineer, two
were bakers, one the owner of an eating-house and one a carpenter.
There was also a commercial agent, a doctor, a statuette vendor and
just over 150 miners and mining company employees. as well as three
single women (one from Romagna) who ran a dress-making shop and
a laundry. (24)

“The four hotels owned by Italians in Kalgoorlie,” wrote G. Capra in
1907, “were all situated in Hannan Street, the main thoroughfare and
meeting-place for the [talians of the town and the nearby working dis-
tricts, 1 called a gathering of Italian families in Robustelli's hotel and
we took the opportunity of celebrating the engagement of a Tuscan
miner to an [talian girl born in Australia.

“In the Sandonini hotel, which was the most popular, T arranged two
meetings of Italians which finished up being very festive and cordial,
reminiscent of gatherings in our distant homeland.™ In the account of
his visit to Western Australia G, Capra also noted that: “Dr Spina is
waiting to practise his profession and is the head of the ltalian com-
munity in Kalgoorlie, a head without a body because unfortunately
nothing unites the Italians and many do not even know cach other,
Mr Vallono, a Neapolitan, sells Italian foodstuffs, particularly oil,
noodles, cold meats and the like. Two men, one from the Valtellina
and the other from Val d’Aosta, work in the Catholic school and at
the convent. Indeed, quite a few Ttalians work for religious institu-
tions, especially as gardeners or purveyors." (25)

TOWARDS THE NORTH

Numerous mining centres had sprung up for 1,000 miles beyond
Kalgoorlie-Boulder. They were most evident in the Menzies and
Leonora-Gwalla districts (1898) and to the north-west around Mt
Magnet, Cue and Day Dawn (on the Great Northern Highway) and
around Lakeside.

Before the end of the century the [talians in the Menzies distnet
(1895) were very numerous but by early 1900 their numbers had
dropped dramatically because work in the mines had either slowed or
had ceased altogether, At Woolgar, for example, the Ialians were
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not to be found in the mines but instead felling mining timber deep in
the bush. (The area was not suitable for farming because of a lack of
rainfall), “The lives our countrymen led,” wrote Capra, “were sad,
incomfortable and lonely. Similarly, the Italians at Kookynie (1900)
could be recognised by their shabby clothes and the characteristic
absence of a tie." (26)
Murrin Murrin (1897), M. Morgan (1899) and Mi. Prat were all ac-
ive mines, The closure of a mine in 1907 put over 200 Ttalians out of
Work. Further north-cast the mining centre of Malcolm, near
Leonora-Giwalla, (1897) had sprung up. There were about 20 Italians
ving there. two of whom had their families with them. East of Mal-
colm, there were some 60 other Ttalians scattered over a distance of
miles who had no contact with each other. They were mostly
Wood-cutters. (27)

THE LEONORA-GWALLA DISTRICT

Many mines were to be found at Leonora-Gwalla, among which the

ggest was the Sons of Gwalla Mine; it could easily have been called
an Italian mine as it employed so many of these migrants, almost all
of whom wer¢ from the Valtelling or Bergamo.

Within six years the mine, which opened in 1896 at the height of the
%old boom ‘in Western Australia. had produced gold to the value of
27,500,000,

The mine was discovered by Welsh migrants and was immediately
Pought by British companies. But all the miners were Italian, and the
mine manager was a young American. (28) Over 150 ltalians were
employed at Gwalla, yet only 10 had their wives and families’ with
them: the others had wives in Italy or else were bachelors. Two had
either married local women or were living with them anyway. 110 of
these Ttalians worked in the mines and the rest at felling timber.
“About 15 were unemployed because of the general mining crisis that
also affected Gwalla at the turn of the century, The Talians suffered
calse employers. to their own detriment, preferred to employ
ntish workers.™ (29)
However, the Italians remained a1 Gwalla and raised their own
Himilies, This made their lives more stable and helped them integrate
INto the local communities. so much so that by 1936 they and their
descendants made up 40% of the population. The Sons of Gwalla
ine continued to provide work for the people of the district for over
60 years, although at first the mine had been very dangerous to work
. Several Italians who Jost their lives in it were buried in the cemet-
€ry on the other side of Mt. Leonora,
The following families formed the nucleus of the Ttalian community
for many years: Mazza, Columbo, Calneggia, Valli, Pozzi, Piandalh,
Zappa, Richeiti, Varischetti, Mosconi, Patroni and Tagliaferri. The
uarti family was among the most well-known and respected in the
ey,
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In Leonora itself there were only the Pelletti and Fannett families.
both of whom were market gardeners, while six miles out of town the
Giudici family had a well-established poultry farm.

That part of Gwalla where Italians lived was called “Italian Camp’,
and in its time was divided into two areas: those from Bergamo lived
down below, while those from the Valtellina lived futher up the hill.
Like almost everyone in Gwalla they too lived in modest corrugated
iron houses, covered in a rough hemp cloth, either whitewashed or
sometimes painted in blue or pink.

Beside their houses many Italians erected a canopy 1o provide shade
in which to rest out of the hot summer sun, or ander which they
gathered with friends 1o play cards, (30)

THE ITALIAN COMMUNITY IN DAY DAWN AND DISTRICT

he next mines to be developed after the Kimberley, Ashburton and
Gascoyne gold mines were the ones at Peak Hill and Murchison,
which were still active in the first decade of the twentieth century.
Several hundred Ttalians worked in the Day Dawn and Lakeside
mines, and in the bush at Nallan Nallan. There were also others scat-
tered about the mining areas and elsewhere in the bush,

The size of these districts was equal to the size of Northern and Cent-
ral Ttaly and they were ideal for prospectors in their frantic search for
gold.

From 1887 to 1895 many Italians worked at Yalgoo until the mines
there were closed and abandoned, and allowed 1o return to nature.
Yet, within a radius of 60 miles, there were 14 other mines. A
number of Italians who lived and worked at the Boolardie mine be-
came very rich,

Another 300 or so Tralians were employed in the mines at Thunder-
larra and Yuinyurri where they also cut timber. And although the Mr.
Margaret, Lennonyille and other mines eventually shared Yalgoo's
fate, Italians not only worked one of the mines at Lennonville but
actually owned it. “Day Dawn..might casily have been an lalian
towh because the streets were full of Ttalians and the majority of
workers were lalians, und the air resounded with the babble of
different ltalian dialects.” (31)

G. Capra is not the only one to testify 10 the presence of Ttalians in
the Day Dawn district. The Australian author H.H. Wilson confirms
it in her book Gateways to Gold and, perhiaps painting an overly dark
picture, describes the poor working and living conditions of these
immigrants

For various reasons, the Great Fingal Mine in the Duy Dawn district
drew hundreds of Italian miners who all gathered to live in 4 quarter
known as *Sky Town"
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Italian migrants, forced to leave their homeland because of difficult
fimes; were known as ‘eveties’ in Australia. But despite earning more
money, many found their new lives to be even more cruel. The heat
Wis unbearable and that vast treeless and waterless landscape seemed
like hell on carth,

They had to adapt to living in miserable shacks without any basic
necessities or comforts. Enteritis and dysentery were common ail-
ments which killed many of those who avoided miner's phthisis
(silicosis), a slow death.

The Italians were so desperate to work and make money to send back
1o their families in Italy that they accepted work that Australians re-
fused as being oo dangerous.

The mining authorities did not always provide water to keep down
the dust in the mines, and ventilation was bad. However, many
ltalians did not use water even when it was available.

After 4 long and suffocating shift underground these men returned to
the surface where they had to endure nights of stifling heat. The Ita-
NS were not physically equipped for this kind of work, although
they were always prepared to work hard. It hardly needs to be said
that they dropped like flies.

The “eyeties* were pleasant, hard-working men but the members who
died were frightening. They occupy a scction of the cemetery near
Ut and sections in cemeteries in ltaly. Manr Italians returned to
their home towns and their loved ones, only to die soon after.
espite the wealth and the adventure associated with the Great Fin-
&al these deaths took the shine off the gold.

The Itatians did not only carry out heavy mining work. Day Dawn
Owes them a vote of thanks for the construction of its beautiful and
istinguished stone buildings, so irresponsibly demolished or allowed
1o fall into ruin, The offices of the Bewick Moreing Mining Company,
Which are still stunding, the stationmister's cream-coloured stone
louse, the post office and - most impressive of all — the railway sta-
ton “were all built in 1898 by Ttalian stonemasons”, says H.H. Wil-
Son, “many of whom had come to work in the mines but had found
the work underground too hard... Not only was their stonework per-
€Ct but the overall design of the buildings was attractive”. (32)

G, Capra, during his visit to the Ttalians in Western Australia in 1907,
also makes a point of mentioning the large number of injuries among
ltalians who worked in the mines and the even greater number of
those who became ill as a result of the work. Af Day Dawn there
Were two hotels run by Italians: the Cosmopolitan, owned by Mr
SB. Fango and the BCX Garbora, owned by Mr Garbora from
Ortona. There was also a general store run by ltalians. (33)

Before concluding this section on the Western Australian gold mines
We should mention those other Italians who worked for the Murchi-
son Gold Company in the gold mines along the Murchison River.
Having been opened in about 1891 they still yield 10% of the State’s
total gold production,
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Al the end of the last century an ugly incident took place precisely in
the Murchison district. Leslic R, Menzies recounts it in his book Gold
Seeker’s Odyssey: "The manager of the mine brought in some Ttalians
prepared to work for lower than award wages. The other miners felt
wronged and when the Ttalians armived at the mining camp they were
confronted by a violent demonstration. The more extreme members
of the group, armed with pistols, rifles and butchers' knives marched
towards the Italian encampment und began to shoot wildly. Several
Italians and other miners were killed. The government was forced to
intervene and ordered the mine manager to sack the Ialians
immediately.” (34)

WOOD-CUTTERS AND COLLIERS

There were always large numbers of Ttalians who worked as wood-
cutters, work which was worse than mining as it transformed them
into brutes. Wood-cutters lived in bush camps far from other human
communities, with little water and often in unhealthy conditions.

The vast Australian bush can be a grassless desert of eucalypts,
acacias, tamarisks, and deathly oppressive silence, It is also often a
treacherous labyrinth in which an unwary traveller can be lost, never
to be found again. This happened 1o some Italians who worked as
wood-cutters, — ‘choppers’ - or wood carriers.

The south and south-west of the colony have become famous for pro-
ducing timber for construction and export. “This area has always
been very rich in those timbers which are particularly valuable build-
g materials because they are resistant to white ants, parasites and
other pests, The greatest demand was for Jarrah and Karri, the
former especially for wharves, bridges, railways and roads, These
trees reach 260 feet in height and have a circumference of 39-42 feet.
Tuart, Redgum and Wandoo are other trees of the eucalyptus family
that provide timber.” (35)

Already at the beginning of this century, there was large scale clear-
ing of forests to create rich farmland and the ltalians took part in this
work, their numbers inereasing considerably right through the first
decade, particularly because of the mining crisis. It was easy to go
from clearing bush to farming,

ltalian wood-cutters were to be found in the areas of Yarloop, North-
chiffe, Shannon River, Karridale, Jarrahwood, and in the districts of
Nannup, Manjimup, Pemberton and elsewhere. At the beginning of
this century Italian wood-cutters came from every part of Italy, but
with time the Southerners constituted the majority. However, there
was 4 solid representation from lower Lazio, Tuscany and Lombardy,

Al Yarloop. for example, the Italians,who were mostly Tuscans, Ven-
etians und Sicilians, worked as wood-cutters transporting timber with
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the aid of 15 or 20 bullocks set in pairs or in a line, and which later
Was loaded on to trains. About 30 worked in the saw-mill at
lliamsburg.
At Greenbushes, another 50 or so Italians under a foreman from the
Valtellina, supplied fuel to the local tin mine and cleared land for
arming. In the mining arcas Italians were the sole suppliers of timber
o the mines,
“The wood-cutters live in groups of five or ten, in clusters of tents.
and in the morning they leave in groups of four or six, going off in
Various directions with an axe over their shoulder, a sack with provi-
S01s around their neck, and in their hand the usual billy-can for their
€4, They return at sunset when they are tired, to light the fire to
Lok their own food.” (36)

What 4 strange sight they present at night, The groups are set apart
O their own fires which they light near their tents and which that
MEht were blazing awesomely high reaching up to the clear and starlit
southern sky. Italians from nearby tents gathered around the closest
Tes, An amazing gathering. It seemed a nocturnal meeting for God-
Nows what dark and terrible conspiracy. But the bronzed counte-

ances of those gentle men who conspired together only to carn a
TSt sparkled wit joy, and the red flickering flames lit up the smiles
the expressions of rapturous wonder on the faces of those lost

fothers who were happy to see me, hear me talk in that wild and
istant place about their homeland, their families and their loved
ones, What ity T felt for those poor Italians reduced to little more
than begsts y their oppressive toil and solitude. About 50 Italians,
a’_nc‘leg them two young women from the Valtellina, had already col-
L?:‘e around the last fire I stopped at; one woman was recently mar-

0 and had arrived in Australia one month before me. She was still

BSorignted and cried a lot in disbelief at finding herself in such a de-
Solate place, lacking the most basic and ordinary comforts, and with
2V 4 tent and the naked earth as its floor for a home, This change is

Yery hard for a woman to accept, especially if she has to be on her
own all day.

They filled the air with Ialian songs and | politely urged them to be
vose, exhorted them to help and love one another. For even in the
PUsh Tralians do not bother to get to know each other and vet if there
'S one place where knowing and helping one another and staying to-

Ether 18 necessary, it is precisely in this deserted and lonely bush.

N told them to do honour to themselves as Italians, especially b

=Eping away from drink and gambling, and after bidding them good-
Might T retired to my tent, Their shout of ‘good night' was an answer-

N8 chorus in the bush which echoed in the air, carrying to the fur-

ay encampments, from whence an answer in kind seemed to re-
rn. 1t was an emotional moment and I saw many Italians furtively

'PC away a tear as it furrowed their moist checks, perhaps their first
Fiperience of such sweet emotion in o many years of rough and

“avy work which would brutalise the most civiised of men.” (37)
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THE 1908 WOOD-CUTTERS' STRIKE:
THE ITALIANS DEMAND JUSTICE

In the first months of 1908 quite a lot of Italians were sacked becausé
of an oversupply of timber and because the mines were cutting back
production, These Italians were forced 1o look for work elsewhere as
did about a dozen of them who were forced to leave Lakeside; others
faced the same fate. It was said that this was in retaliation for the
strike by the wood-cutters at Kurragang which had spread to othef
centres, threatening to close down the mines,

The strike ended with the wood-cutters winning a pay increase and in
addition obtaining the free supply of water to their homes,

This is what G. Capra, a witness to the strikes, says: “T questioned
Mr Collins who is in charge of the wood-cutters, and Mr Coughland
who handles provisions for the mines, and showed my concern at how
my fellow countrymen who were without work — some since their
arrival from Italy - were being treated,

“They reassured me and asked me to reassure our countrymen that il
was only a passing crisis and that no preference was given to the
other workers — as the Italians feared — nor were the Italians being
sacked so that native Australians or the British could be hired io-
stead. It happens though, and unfortunately it happened at Lakeside,
that some unemployed British miners were hired to work in the bush
while at the same time several Italians were sacked on the prétext
that there was not enough work.

"1 was told that this injustice, which Mr Collins admitted existed, was
not always easy 1o redress because there were oo many complications
and too many local interests involved, and because our countrymen
would find the powerful workers' unions against them. The same Mf
Collins would not be as free in future 1o luﬁc on foreign labour, even
less Italians,

“Our friends — Mr Collins said to me Kind-heartedly - are too de-
fenceless.™ (38) This was sophistry: pretending the Italians were the
cause of everything, making them out to be innocent and defenceless
victims only because there was no one to protect them. On many
occasions, the Italians were accused of taking work away from others,
of working like negroes and at lower than award rates. Here 18
further proof for the blind men of the unions who have never wante
to see, and even less, admit the truth of how Italians are treated.

“In July of the same year,” continues Capra “the wood-cutiers from
Nallan Nallan 30 miles from Day Dawn, of whom about 200 weré
Northern Italians and some were Southerners. presented a petinion
for better pay and improved working conditions, The petition was
knocked back and in August they went on strike. Conditions in thé
bush around Nallan were worse than those in the bush around Kal
goorlie. The wood-cutters had to provide their own water, ofteft
travelling five or six miles to fetch it. General foodstuffs cost a third
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more than at Cue with a two pound loaf of bread being six pence
rather than four pence, meat nine pence and tea one shilling and 11
pence,

“They asked especially for five shillings and sixpence per ton of wood
Cut instead of fa&c shillings and made it known that in order to obtdin
the asked-for improvements they would have been happy with five
shillings and threepence. Those who loaded the timber received
cightpence and were asking for one shilling. For on¢ and a half
months the mine managers held firm while the small mines were clos-
Ing down and the big ones were using up their coal. Then, when the
big mines were thréatened with closure because of a lack of coal and
increased operating costs and because there were rumours of all the
Other wood-cutters in Western Australia going out in support, the af-
fair was referred to the Arbitration Court. Its judgement left matters
as they were, except for a threepence increase which raised the price
of loading each ton of timber 1o 11 pence. At a large meeting it was
decided not to accept this offer. however much lh’crﬁrilish. who were
mainly loaders #nd therefore the ones manly favoured by this judge-
ment might have wanted to accept it. Evervbody declared themselves
o be of one mind in this.

"The strike leaders were u Briton, an Italian and an Australian, rep-
fesenting the nationalities that made up the bush workers. The lTta-
lans, who were the ones most in need of justice and the most intrans-
igent, (they wanted to show that the accusation of working for lower
Fates and of not being loyal 1o their workmates was false) stood guard
In the bush to stop work starting up again, even if it involved simply
the loading of timber which had already been felled, More than a gw
Britons had tried to cart timber away, failing to show that kind of
worker solidarity they had promised. In the meantime. deliberately,
Slanderous rumours were circulating and found their way into the
newspapers. They were meant both to frighten the Italians and to
show them in a bad light.

“Supposedly, those who did not return to work by the Monday were
10 be considered unemployed vagrants without visible means of sup-
port and would be made to leave, There were stories about armed
threats, about the Italians possessing explosives, about bloody deeds,
about dangerous characters who would not balk at committing a
Crime, stories about foreigners who stole other people’s jobs. They
Were rumours which respectable people gave credence to...” (39)
The strike was kept going for another month, especially by the [ta-
ans who suw thcmsefvc& often being betrayed by the British. All the
mines were closed down at different stages, until the intervention of
Mr Moore, the Western Australian Premier, fully supporting the
strikers and the Ialians, settled the matter.
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THE GROWTH OF
1 — FARMING AND FISHING

Between 1905 and 1921 most of the Italians left the mines and the
ush to o into farming or start & business. This trend increased to
;‘;rj' point that by 1930, 57% of all Tralians had made the transition.

Rarely could recently arrived Halian settlers buy land, even when
they arrived during the farming boom, The majority had to find work
0 the mines or in the bush as wood-cutters or with the Government
0 public works or as farm-hands, Dejected, many decided to return
ome, although before the end of the nineteenth century a lof of -
Nans had already invested their savings in farms. As well as the three
Or four farmers mentioned in a4 police report aof 1877, a few years
ater we find other Italians buying farms in the Jarrahdale district a
few miles south of Perth, One of these was the only market gardener
'(‘," the area, and had previously been a wood-cutter for several years.

-

Some Italians had already settled at Kalamunda in the last decade of
€ nineteenth century. Among them was a man whose name was Ar-
Uino and who came from Ormea in the Ligurian Apennines. He and
15 brothers had become very successful having planted an orchard
at extended as far as the eye could see and a vineyard which was
CVen bigeer: it was like being at Monferrato, A little further on there
Was another Italian and his son who had vineyards and land under
INtensive mixed farming, (3)
Further north-east in the district of Northam, a town situated in the
Avon Valley, 107 miles from Perth, a certain Robustelli had bought a
Mhacre property some time before 1890, He had emigrated in 1880
With his' family from Grosotto in the province of Sondrio.

The land around Northam was gnod for gmwing gmin and fodder, for
raising cattle and, as well, it was rich timber country. In 1890 some
substantial gold deposits were found there and these attracted several
thousand prospectors, That same Robustelli had worked in gold
Mines before buying his farm.

The Consul Zunini visited the Robustelli family in 1890 and made the
following abservations: “Robustelli made up for « lack of money with
hard work and sobriety. In a few years he paid off his debt and truns
formed his fand into an oasis,” (4)
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In 1908 G. Capra also met Robustelli at Northam during his visit to
the Ttalian community in Western Australia. “Mr Robustelli from the
Valtellina is a well-loved and respected person, saomuch so that when
I went with him to his farm T noted with satisfaction how everyone
greeted him by name. This sign of respect in a foreign land, especially
m one inhabited by the Britsh, who often believe they are the only
people in the world capable of achieving anything, gladdens us and
remedies somewhat the unwarranted concept of us that has been
given by ill-informed persons. Besides, this gentleman is a model
Australian settler whose example should be followed by all,

“He worked on the great water pipeline between Perth and Kalgoor-
lie and he used his savings 1o buy uncultivated tand, At first life was
bitter and difficult for him as he lived in a hovel covered with leafy
branches and bark, His good wife from Luced, who was the daughter
of one of the labourers working under Robustelli on the pipehne,
shared his squalid existence and was a source of consolation to him.
He had become engaged without having met her, relying on what her
father told him about her; and she came out from Italy immediately.
bringing her mother and two other sisters who married Robustelli's
. brothers; both of whom were miners at Kalgoorlie. He owns a vast
farm of over 250 hectares where he was everything that honest work
can provide: wealth and respect. He also has another 400-acre hold-
ing where he employs a team of Italian workers to cultivate it, His
house is a haven, especially for those ltalians who are without work.
They are always going to Robustelli’s place; 1 mysell met two of them
who were on their way there, But, wise man that he is, Robustelli
always tells them, even if they are Italian: *If you want money, work
for it. I shall give you work for two days, for a week, although [ do
not need more workers, and then 1 shull pay you what you are owed,
You will find food and lodgings here with me and my family’.

“His property was one of the most beautiful thereabouts and yet he
wits not very happy this year because of the lack of rain. In fact he
wrote to me that t.frc previous year [1907] he had harvested an abun-
dant two and a halfl tons of wheat per acre, while this year he had
only got one and a half.” (5)

The construction of the Perth-Albany railroad and of the South West-
emn and Greal Southern Highways opencd up the southern part of the
State 1o agricultural development and land subdivision.

Much of this land was assigned to native-born Australians or to
British migrants who immigrated on assisted passage. believing the
land set aside for them was similar (o English soil. ‘I'Fc_v soon reulised
though that it was quite different: not very fertile, rather sandy and
arid, and received hule rainfall.

Discouraged, many of them abandoned or sold the land. und cither
poured into the towns of Perth, Fremantle and Geraldton or returned
to Britain, Much of the land was bought by Southern Europeans,
particularly Ialians. Accustomed 1o long hours of hard work they
transformed it into a green oasis of vegetable gardens or pasture for
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dairy cattle: “The districts of Osborne Park, and further south of
alcatta, Wanneroo,” writes Carlo Gamba, “are perfect proof of the
excellent work done by these Italian migrants.” (6)

A number of Italians who had helped build the railroads and high-
ways went south after having saved enough money to buy themselves
a little of that virgin land,

In 1897 Emilio, Carlo and Angelo Genoni, brothers who had emig-
rated from the Valtellina in the 1880s and had worked on the con-
Struction of the Albany-Berverley railway and then in the Cool ardie
2old mines, bought 3.000 acres of uncultivated and uncleared land
near Bromehill. (7)

By the end of the nineteenth century several Ttalians had settled to
the south-west of the town in areas such as Kojonup, Bridgetown,
ardarup, Katanning and Tambellup. A certain Pietro Paini was
dmong the first in the area to open an account with the National
Bank, (8) Others from the Valtelling - A. Ferrari, Giuseppe Imberti
and Angelo Marinoni - settled in the distriet in the first decade of
this century.
In 1906 P. Zunini, the Ttalian Consul in Perth, chose some large
tracts of land in the same area to be given to ltalian families to clear
and cultivate. “The Consul's plan did not come to fruition for various
reasons: because of the opposition within the Italian Government o
the Southern deputation [which supported the scheme], the opposi-
ion of the Labor Party which threatened to greet the settlers with
uns and because of the poor impression the general Australian popu-
ation had of Ialian migrants. They had been described not as settlers
but as vulgar individuals and were called all the usual things that our
people generally are.” (9)
Italians had bought properties along the Great Southern Railway;
affesconi, Moretta and Togno ut Tambellup, and M, Negri at
Wagin, and Canali at Cuballing, (10)
Similarly, Italians settled in numerous districts along the South West-
e Highway, “You could see the expert hand of our peasants at
Work™ in the farming districts of Pinjarra which were under full
cultivation and beautifully developed. 811]
“About 15 years ago, around 1896, three small houses belonging to
ltalians from the Valtelling — Gunelli, De Pizzi and De Marco —
Sprang up almost magically 12 miles from Bunbury which is a small
seaport and one of the main larming towns in the farming districts of
the south-west. Tired of the hard work in the desert mining regions
ind being lovets of freedom and the greenness of the ficlds. they
wme (o settle here where they hought some private, and some
Crown, land.” (12) Others such as the Valle brothers from Teglio, to-
Bether with Resta and Mammone, followed their example. (Mam-
Mone was such a strong worker that he spent his youth in the
Queensland and Western Australian mines.) In the early 1900s there
Were some 10 Italian farmers with families who owned properties
ordering on cach other. Some had brought over their elderly
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parents, There were 17,000 acres of prime land under cultivation,
equal to 688 hectares, almost all under intensive farming. Vines,
peas, potatoes and fodder were grown and some land was lelt as
pasture. (13)

Mr Gemelli, who worked tirelessly (the only bachelor, he cultivated a
good 200 acres on his own), tried to grow mulberry trees but found
they did not do well and they produced too few leaves for the
silkworms. (14)

“Every farm has a name. Some named their farm aler their home
town: for example, “Teglio’." (15)

Waterloo, about 16 miles porth of Bunbury, had a small [talian com-
munity. Out of a total of 39 Italians there were 11 men, eight women
and 20 children. The land was vast and fertile, and given the favoura-
ble climate the Italians had transformed it into & luxuriant garden,
(16) Even today certain names linger on: Barbetti, Bertelli, Damiani,
Della, Del Marco, De Piazzi. Di Zotti, Garbellini, Gelmi, Giumelli,
Marconi, Morgllini, Pedrettl, Reata, Vellw, (17)

The districts of Donnybrook, Balingup and Newlands also attracted
ltalians for muany years. They were all miners or wood-cutters and
came from the Valtellina area, from Tuscany and Piedmont in par-
ticular. (18) Today the Italian names still found in those districts,
such as Torrisi, Cavallaro, Patané and Licciardello, are maostly from
Norther-Eastern Sicily. (19)

Still south of Perth and in the dense Karri (Eucalyptus diversicolor)
forests. there were some Italian families who had given up wood-cut-
ting to raise dairy cattle. Another large group al Coorianup worked
as share-farmers, having been given houses. sheds and enough pas-
tures for 20 cows und two draught horses. In exchange they had to
raise calves until they were eight months old and clear a certain area
of bush for the landowner every yvear. The family could use the land
they eleared and would be given more cows. After five years these
families had generally saved enough money to buy their own farm.
Already by 1911 the two Recapoli brothers and a certain Gervasmi
owned properties in the Kuling district west of Lake Jilakin. (20)
Quite a few Ialian families or families of Tralian descent hought prop-
erties in the Kalgarin and Pingaring districts, They were a close-knit
community. helping each othér on the farms, spending their leisure
time together, sharmg common religious observances, and eventually
marrying within their own community. (21) The number of lalians in
the district continued to grow especially because of the presence of
Italian POWSs during the war. Many of these prisoners returned after
the war, sponsored by the same Australians they had worked for as
labourers, this time coming a8 free men to work on the railways or
again on the Australians™ farms. (22)

One of the families iy this urea were the Belli. "It is said,” writes
author H.H. Wilson, “that during the first seven or eight years, when
goods and provisions were brought from Hopetoun by horse-driven
cart, a Catholic priest would come by boat from Albany and then
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Vould ride on Mrs Chambers® supply wagon to Ravensthorpe in order
' celebrate Mass. During those times when a priest was not avail-
avie, the Catholics of Ravensthorpe were helped by Tom Soranson
and the Belli family who for several years had owned a property at
Kundip,* (23)

Orth of Perth, about 60 Ttalian families had moved to the edge of
Geraldion where they mainly grew tomatoes. Some 50 other families
Wved in the Murchison district along the river where. it is said, the
Most fertile land in the State was to be found.

There were also Ttalians at Guildford, the most ImMportant wine-
roducing centre in Western Australia. Among them were a Mr
\OSSL, - wha managed a large tavern, and two qualified Ttalian
Viticulturists, (24)

loser 1o Perth the ltalians worked as market gardeners. For many
s market gardening in Australia was usually associated with the
Snese and yer the Italians also managed to carve out a niche for
Emselves in the business, by importing and growing a large viriety
o vegelables more typical of European tastes and not yet known in
this country, such as certain types of lettuce, cauliflower, artichokes,
cehini and green beans, For obvious reasons market gardening de-
Woped near towns and large centres such as Perth, Geraldton and
Kz."gt'-'nriie, One of the main problems was finding the right type of
SOIL, same soils being more swited to growing celery or beetroot tharn
tiuce. Consequently some market gardeners initially worked for [it-
l,c Teturn. The best known Ialian market garden areas were Osborne
Park. Wanneroo and Baleatta,
Amnng the carliest fruit and vegetable growers in the Perth district
were: Guelfi (1903-4) in Osborne Park: Muasengo and FA,M-arscng_o
(19034 Fomiatti (1908) and Antonio and Miiria Grisafulli (1912) in
anneroo (wmong the first omato-growers); Torris (1909) a vegeta-
o grower in Beaconfield and Sprearwood: P.L. Vica in Armadale
(1911} ¥ Piaggio in West (iuiltlll‘urd: Maria in Swan; A. Menebrea,
4N orehardist in Durlington; P. Zanetti, an orchardist m Heidelberg
Pietro Zanetti a strawberry farmer in Kalamunda; Armando
ndelli ynd Giuseppe Busato, wine-growers in Toodayay. (25)
The sucoess of the Italians in the areas around Perth brought others
MO the business and market gardens sprang up evervwhere. Around
1940, out of 750 market gardeners 250 were Ttalian and 150 Austra-
an, while the rest were Yugostavs, Macedonians and Romanians,
While (he rest were Southern European countries, Another larg._c
Sroun of about 350 Talians were potato-growers in rural and semi-
Mral areas. The best-known potato-growing districts were Harvey,
Aroony, Hamel, Donnybrook, Branswick, Junction, Dardanug.
cojimup, Benger, Marybrook und Pickering. Potatoes could be
?2?;”" in the drier areas in winter and in the wetter areas in summer.
Sl
Few Ia);
thl:}l I'e

ans sertled i the wheat-belt or ran large cattle stations as
quired large amounts of capital which Italian migrants certainly
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did not have. They were happy to own their small intensive or mixed
(wheat and dairy cattle) farming properties.

Ialians owned properties in many different localities, not only along
the coast but a%so inland, to the very edge of the great desert. For
example, the Camicelli family property was situated 50 miles south of
Southern Cross and 1012 miles fru‘m Marvel Loch.

ITALIAN FISHERMEN AT FREMANTLE AND GERALDTON

In an article entitled “1846: Primi italiani nell’Australia Occidentale, 1
siciliani di Nuova Norcia™, published in a Fiamma supplement on the
occasion of the visit to Australia (25-29 September 1967) of the Ita-
lian President, Giuseppe Saragat, we read: “We have 1o go back to
1846 for the arrival of the first group of [Italians| at the mouth of the
Swan River in the newly established British colony.

“The story of these 200 Halians is unique and it was, thanks to their
initiative, sense of adventure and courage, that after having overcome
initial sct-backs and difficulties, they were able to settle successfully
in Western Australia and contribute to its development...”

Some of these 200 ltalians, who according to the author of the article
accompanied Dom Salvado, the Spanish Benedictine who founded the
New Norcia abbey, came from Grottaferrata “...where news of the
imminent departure had spread, attracting members for the expedi-
tion, while some were from Capo d'Orlando (Sicily), the last Italian
port of call before the ship set course for Australin, After having:
iven some assistance to Dom Salvado these Sicilians settled at Point

eron (about 20 miles south of Fremantle) and took up fishing, which
wis a risky and unprofitable occupation.

“Life was a struggle as they did nov have the right kind of fishing
equipment and needed to sell their perishable commodity quickly...
l.qftcr [in 1877], a group from the Puglie joined the carlicr arrivals.’
(27)

As already noted, it does not appear that this story about the arrival
of the first Italians in the colony of Western Australia can be verifie

by historical sources, though the same account 15 given by other wril-
ers and historians. If the 200 [alians had in fact left with Dom Sal-
vado he would undoubtedly have mentioned them in his diary; -
stead he lists only the names of Ialian priesis and Neapohtan
tradesmen.

The well-known student of Ralian immigration to Western Australi,
Carlo Gamba, makes no reference o them either in his small book [
pescatori italiani di Freemantle, nor in his thesis Limmigrazione
italiana nell’Australin Occudentale.

The first detailed information about Italians in Western Australid
comes from Dom Salvado. Other, more sketchy information, is avail
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able from o despatch dated 28 August 1877 from the Governor of

:l-he calony informing the Nalian Consul in Melbourne of the numbers
of Ttatians living in Western Australia.

'&Pa_ﬂ' from those fishermen who settled at Point Peron around 1881
Ie was another small group not far away at Rockingham.

From 1881 to 1891 other fishermen arrived from [taly; it seems that
the first really Jarge group started forming in 1885,

“In the absence of historical documents,” writes Joseph Gentilli, “the
ANOWn descendants of these first fishermen were interviewed. Mr
-0no Glorioso confirmed that his grandfather, also called Cono after
the Patron saint of Naso and Capo d'Orlando, emigrated in 1885 with
En or 12 companions. Other interviews confirmed the presence of:
Ao Basile, Francesco Camarda, the aforementioned Cono
Jloriose, Antonio and Cono Jannello, the four Minuta brothers,
8. Paparone and Santaromita.” (28)
“One woman also confirmed that during her childhood in Rocking-
Wm, between 1896 and 1904, there was a small group of cottages at
Point Peron where Italian fishermen lived. Her father. a baker, made
read for them three times a week and cach time took them a
tartload. It is impossible to estimate precisely. but by the amount of
tead consumed it would seem that there were between 50 and 100
18hermen.” (29)
Between 1901 and 1904 the number of fishermen grew to about 400,
of Whom 190 were Ttalians - Sicilians from Capo o' Orlando ~ 90 were
Ralive-born Australians while 64 were Germans,

They almost totally monopolised this industry because the Austra-

ans were not able to compete with them given how frugally our
Countrymen lived.” wrote the Consul Zunini. (301

e fishermen formed two associations, one Sicilian and the other
Puglian, which controlled the actual fishing and the selling of the
“atches in the markets of Fremantle, Perth and surrounding districts,
¢ Sicilian association was set up by 4 certain Glorioso, who was
IS0 ity first President, Only Sicilian fishermen could join and as a
Broup they all ook their instructions from one Santaromita. The as-
Sociation had about 70 members and 25 boats and its assets of £1,200
Were invested in those hoats and other equipment. The size of the
amnual haul was 250,000 pounds weight which was worth £6 250 a
g';illr- It was not much but allowed their families 1o live tairly comfort-
Y.

The Sicilian fishermen had a well-run #ssociation whose membership
45 very unied.

Thc Puglian association had 80 members und 35 boats, and assets of

EL600. "While the Sicilians took up deep-sea fishing, the Puglians

:’g‘cn; after smaller fish although their annual haul and camings were
stmilyy, .

'"i,'(iW_c\'cr. the Puglinn association was poorly orgamised and in-
ficiently run, Consequently it folded after only a few months. (31)
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There was bad blood between the two, mostly because of their diffe-
rent ways of living. The Sicilian fishermen lived on shore in groups of
three or six in houses rented near the port, and were self-sutficient:
they did their own washing, their own housework and cooking. | he
Puglians lived instead on their boats, sleeping, cooking and washing
on board. Thus a certain animosity grew up between them. The Sici-
lians considered the Puglians to be dirty and disorderly. Furthermore,
in 1906 the Australian fishermen began to complain about the Ita-
lians, accusing them of ruiru'nF, the industry by continually fishing the
same grounds and selling the fish at artificially low prices. The leaders
of this hate campaign were the five Stirling brothers. They were the
ones who burnt the Italians’ nets and when the Tralians went out (o
fish, having to Fass under the bridge, the Stirlings would pelt them
with all sorts of refuse. Once an [talian, having sighted a school of
mullet, was about to put to sea when he was stopped at gun-point:
then his antagonists went out and made a good catch instead.

All this enmity had its roots in the same racist attitudes that existed
elsewhere towards the miners, the wood-cutters and the cane cutters.
_Australians could not compete with Italians and so were always afraid
of losing their jobs.

The fish was sold to agents and merchants who supplied the main
hotels, restaurants and trans-oceanic cargo vessels,

Much of the fish was prepared for export, some of it smoked. “It is
very difficult to know how many fishermen there are in Fremantle,
When | returned among them on Sunday,” writes the Salesian G.
Capra, “1 saw a large number, more than 100, and that was not all of
them; many had lcﬁ that same morning to go fishing. Ten fishérmen
had wives. Almost all came from Sicily amﬁg many were very young,
and unfortunately, like their fathers, little edueated.™ (32),

“Apart from the rough life they lead and perhaps their rough
background, and a lack of care in their appearance, and the places
where they live, nothing can be said against them. They are all worth-
ier of respect than many other classes of Britons and Australians.
They are upright, honest, industrious and never any immorality dis-
turbs the peace of their camp or guarters. They are often the victims
of petty theft at the hands of non-ltalians.” (33)

O;Hmsite Geraldton, at a distance of about 60 miles, lie the Abrolhos
and Hontruay reefs forming the Wallabi, Easter and Pelsort groups.
Dutch ships sent to explore the Australian coastline and the land,
foundered there between 1605 and 1652, and all that remains of them
are some small cannons, instruments and various bronze objects.
They were found in the guano deposits of marine birds who. except
for when Italians came to fish and disturbed them, were the sole tran:
quil inhabitants of those islands. “These fishermen who are Sicilians
and are divided into two groups, are about ten in number. Every
Sunday morning, they leave in Jarge sailing vessels after having
stocked up with bread, flour for their ‘tagliatelle’ and 'maccheroni’s
and wine, tins of sauce, and water. The voyage lasts four or five days.
even less with favourable winds, They return home with hall a ton,
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Sometimes even a whole ton of fish, which they sell to an agent at
threepence a pound, irrespective of the type of %:sh it is: truly a low
price. They earn S0 [talian lire a week which is reduced to 30 or 35
when deductions are made for the cost of provisions and the hire of
boats (few of them have their own). They lead & hard bitter life, al-
Ways at sea, enjoying no spiritual or intellectual Fur‘suils. nor any
female companionship because they do not speak English; many do
not know how to read or write,” (34)
There are fishermen — one is a Spaniard - who operates off
Geraldion, but they are not part of the Sicilian or Puglian groups.
If one adds the Ttalian fishermen in Fremantle. Rockingham and
Geraldton 1o those scattered elsewhere, we find that there wits a total
fishin community in Western Australia of over 300 Sicilians, Puglians
and Iscapulitans, with others from Romagna and Le Marche.

ITALIANS IN OTHER EMPLOYMENT

At the beginning of the twentieth century only a few Italians had set-
tled in the towns. mainly in Perth and Fremantle. There were still
sufficient numbers of them though to form a small nucleus around
Which larger Italian communities were later to be formed. This occur-
red on a smaller scale in a few of the mining and farming areas as
Well where the Ttalians tried to scrape together some money in order
10 start working for themselves, and, with their families, whom they
brought out from Italy or raised in Australia, they laid the
foundations for their future.

In this period there were already many Italians m Fremantle where
IWo of the hotels and two general stores were owned by them. Other
ltalians were office-workers, some were travelling fruit and fish ven-
dors. Still others carted fish and supplied the fishermen with all they
Needed in the way of bait, ice, equipment and so on, In Perth there
Were Ttalians who transported vegetables. Many of the Northerners
100K up heavier work as bricklayers and terrazzo-layers, stonemasons,
Carpenters and joiners. (35)

In Perth there were four taverns whose owners were from the
altellina, Val d'Aosta, Novara and Liguria,

“In one of these taverns”, writes G, Capra in 1907, “1 found 31 Ita-
ans of whom 1S were about to return home, ten were off to the
Mines, four were staying in Perth and two were moving to Victoria,
“In Perth 1 met more than 100 Italians who did not present them-
Selves well because they found themselves in such ¢spairing cir-
l(-';n;&tanccs and were withour any emotional or material resources.”
(§]

Oldrini, the owner of a small hotel. was one of the first Italians to
Seltle in Western Australia.

Ezio Lusini from Terni emigrated 1o the stale in 1909, After having
Worked as a wood-cutter at Worsley near Manjimup until 1920 he
bought a tavern in William Street and, a little time later, a vineyard
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at Warmeroo and a haberdashery. Luisini became a benefactor and
adviser to many ltalians.

Luigi Ramacciotti was one of the editors of the Perth Mornin,

Herald. Other ltalians had set up prosperous businesses, One owned
two noodle factories and another ran a large vehicle repair shop.
There were numerous tailors and shoemakers.

Among the Italian professionals there were two doctors and three
university lecturers, as well as a doctor of Italian descent. There were
several music and organ teachers,

Another Italian worked for many years with Customs while the De-
pariment of Public Works employed a good Italian engineer.

In the streets one would meet the usual musicians; a group of them
became well-known in the city by playing outside hotels and at road
intersections.

Yet another lot of Ttalians, mainly Northerners, lived and worked in
country towns, generally as mechanics, printers, tailors, hotel owners
or managers, barmen or waiters, labourers, jockeys and stable-boys.
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Situated in the North-Eastem part of the continent it extends across
the Tropic of Capricorn between the 1st and 29th paraliels and bet-
Ween the 138th and 154th mendian. [t has a length from North to
South of about 1,300 miles and a width from East to West of about
900 miles. It js a third of the size of Europe, three times bigger than
.Fra_:?ce and Germany, almost six times bigger than Italy and Norway
and seven times bigger than Great Britian,

In 1824, Governar Brisbane sent a detachment of soldiers with a
g"‘.’UD of prisoners to take possession of the Northern part of New

0uth Wales. They tried to establish themselves at Redeliffe, but be-
“ause of the hostility of the Aboriginal tnbes, they had to retreat
further south along the estaury of a great river that they called More-
ton Bay. Here the capital of the State was founded with the narme of
T;:Sbana’; im honour of the Govemnor,

ere they erected a palisade, some barracks, a guard house and a
Prison. The aim was fc):d initiate the-colonisation of the North and to
attract free colonists and migrants to settle there, But the distance,
logether with the scarce and precarious means of communication,
Made the place a receptacle for the worst prisoners and because of
g;ﬂ“ﬁmfess disciplipe imposed, it seon acquired infamy as a hell on

r Ll

In 1830 there was about 1,000 prisoners and 100 soldiers at the
Place. The only benefits they enjoyed were a school attended by 33

Childrap, 4 chaplain and a doctor

n 1832 the Gov e f ners to 300, the
; avernor reduced the number of pnso :

Majority being women who had been sentenced for the second time

N the colony of New South Wales.

In 1830 64 — Glenelg of his intention (0

vernor Gipps wrote to Lord Glenelg of his.
ffose_ the prison, to sell the 900 head of cattle and the 4,500 sheep,
= employ women in agricultural works, to divide the land and to
PErmit squarters 1o enter :
Ve years ldter the squatters startéd to head towards the: north,
'?CCUpwng extre’nﬁ'{y !arge ar&as Of )‘Hnd_ On.’ then d!d mfk
W;?mance aof forming a new colony, separate from New South
Vales,

"N 1859, the Brinsh Government consented. to the formation of the
8w walony in the tropical part of New South Wales, commencing
from the 2g1 parallel. with the name of Queensland in honour of
Queen Victoria, The population. of this immense colony was harely
23,520 ‘whites, The new colony, completely devoid of financial
"eSourges, passed through an extremely difficult pernod,
Soon, however, the explorers commenced to take coastal surveys,
Procesd into the estaunes of the great rivers, to inspect the sur-
aunding lands and then to transport colomsts with cattle and sheep
thar with equipment to clear the land and ta build his.

&N explorers of another kind commenced to scour the land looking
or gold and  mineral deposits. And they, too, founded new
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colonies, They set up gold and mineral mines; they laid out roads
and immense pastoral lands and cultivated large areas of land.

So. in 1863, cane sugar and cotton were introduced, Later gold was
discovered in great quantities and this attracted many fortune seek-
ers,d‘me colony and its development gathered pace and progressed
rapidly.

THE WHITE MAN CONQUERS THE TROPICS

Doctor Cilento, whom we have already met, a Nobel Prize Winner
and specialist in tropical diseases confirms in his boek, “Triumph In
the Tropics”, that the history of Queensiand s essenually the
triumph of the white man aver his environment and his conquest of
the tropics.

At the time of colonisation it was believed almost as an article of
faith, that it was impossible for the white man to work at such &
latitude.

The scientist, Willem Bosch, wrote in 1844, "We are absolutely
certain of the accuracy of our hypothesis. Every section of the
hurmian race (s given his particular place by the God of creation, This
1s his native land where all the tihyngs which are necessary to him in
particular have been placed and thus his race is preserved. He car:
not pass beyond the length and breadth of his boundaries without
causing grave damage to his health and danger to his life.”

Such an idea and theory was shared by many doctors, who believed
that the tropical climate could cause typhus, malara, dysentery and
smallpox,

Queensland, the first tropical territory to be colonised by a whité
man, put to rest Willem Bosch's theory.
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_ THE FIRST PIONEERS IN
17 = QUEENSLAND

Some of our fellow Italians, perhaps in an éxcess of patriotism, have
eclared that North Queensland was made by the Ttalians. Even if
SUCh an assertion seems somewhat exaggerated, we will see that, on
the whole, the ftalians contributed in no small way to the conguest of

¢ Tropies and to the development of the sugar industry, as, indeed,
did no other group. The Italian presence in Queensland traces back
IS Origins to the foundation and there we find ltalian explorers listed
4mong the explorers and Italian pioneers among the pioneers.
Therefore, we can see that the Ialians were 4 determining factor in

€ economic development of Queensland and to them goes the credit
Or having saved, with their labour, the sugar industry, whilst at the
SAMe time, inspiring other white workers to grow sugar cane,

We dedicate this chapter exclusively to those Italians who lived
through the pioneering era of the colony and who, before that,
¢lped to build roads and railway networks.

In the following chapters we will relate in detail their contribution to
e growing of sugar cane. This account of our pioneers in North
ueensland could have happened in any colony in this great conli-
nent, Indeed. if we want to Entl Ttalians, we have to look for them in
¢ frontier histories at the beginning of colonisation and in the
Caviest work areas. The colonisation of North Queensland, in faet,
Was no different from that of the other Colonies and the Ialians were
Second 10 none.

-‘\mung the many absurdities that have been sard and writlen against
the Ttalians of North Queensland, there is the specific accusation that
they were not true pioneers, but sim ly cunning buyers of farms and
Of concession lands, which had already heen cleared and prepared for
Qiltivation by the labour of their Anglo-Australian predecessors, It
IS Our task to demonstrate just how false and unfounded such an
SCeusation is. '

We will commence by documenting how the Italians first took part in
the work of exploration, and then in the construction of railways and
ouds, working as charcoal makers, wood-cutters, miners and packers.
We will record some numes and events, then leave 1t to a famous
Journalist, born and bred among laluns and coming from the ex-
reme north, to record in two articles, the events of these pioneers of
ours: he is the journalist AF. Wadell.
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It is necessary 1o keep in mind that, for the person who has always ]
lived in European countries such as Italy, the word “distance" has i
meaning relative to his own experience. A century ago, for example.
the trip from Rome to Milan, was an undertaking, upon which few
had the courage to embark. To move a whole family was seen as
almost impossible,

In the Australia of the [800's, a land still not complerely explored,
without roads. without swift means of transport, where horses were
used as transport as were stage conches or, in cértain areas, carts pul-
led by oxen, and where the distance between one colony and another
was hundreds and hundreds of miles, the idea of embarking upon
such a journey would have discouraged even the most stubborn
person.

And yet, the more we research, the more we find Ialians in places:
that even today, can only be reached after many hours in the car or
acroplane. Were these men pioneers or just fortine hunters? Perhaps
a little of hoth, but certainly they were courageous!

In North Queenstand as in the other colonies of the Australian conti-
nent, the IMalian migration commenced much sooner than the official
statistics indicate. The historians of the colonisation of Queensland
made sporadic references to the presence of groups of Italians. These
men dedicated themselves to the production of vegetable carbon and
wooden cross-beams for the mines. They worked in these same mines
and transported materials and foodstulfs on mules or horses.

The descendants of the Tognola and Di Muzi families. who still live
in Queensland, confirm that their ancestors arrived in the colony to-
wards 1850 and that some streets in Atherton have been named in
their honour. Already in 1845, the Italian Passionist Fathers had been
sent by Archbishop Polding of Sydnev to Stradbroke Island to
convert the Aborigines.

According 1o Lyng, at the time in which the district of Moreton Bay
was elevated to C(ll()n)’ Status m 18S9, “The ltahans were an unknown
quantity north of the 29th parallel” (1) An unknown quantity. but
present all the same. These were the Italians who had already ven-
tured into the tropical colony. even before it was separated from the
mother colony, of which it formed a part snd on which it depended
for everything.

AN ITALIAN WOMAN WAS THE FIRST “FIRST LADY" OF
QUEENSLAND

The wife of the first governor of the new colony of Queensland was
an Italian, The writer, Glenville Pike, when reporting on the arrival
of the governor, made particular mention of the fuscinating beauty of
his wife, in contrast to the harsh reality of the the fronticr country.
which Brisbane, the capital of the new colony, was at that time.
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“On 10 December, 1859, the Royal colony of Queenskind was consti-
tuted. His Excellency George Ferguson Bowen, an Irish-Latin, was
the happy choice as first governor of the pioneering colony, although
his wife.” (he Countess Diamantina of Rome, of sontillating beauty
and daughter of a noble (talian, was completely out of her element in
*Heh & primitive environment. Without doubt she impressed the ladies
o Brisbane when she presented them with her fashionable clothes
dnd the fatest models in crinolene. In truth, the Countess was proba-
Y even more amazed than her husband at the sight of the little,
Jduabid bush town, similar to an American frontier town, and upon
Seeing that mixed crowd of citizens lining the wharves, while the
Meam-ship Breadalbanc wis puffing up the muddy river on that hot
Clember day in 1859.” (2)
In 1864 there was serious talk of organised Italian emigration. At the
Ume the ltalian Vice-consul of Sydney, Assolini, presented to the
talian government a certain plan to have: Teatians emigrate 1o the
'ropica) colony of Queensland. (3) But the time was not ripe and, ac-
Cording 1o the Italian authorities, the guarantees given for the protec-
o1 of the emigrants were not sulficient, therefore the plan did not
80 ahead.
In 1869 we find two families already well established — the Regazzoli
mily who hecame large producers of sugar cane, but who, in 1869,
Were il working in the mines, and Luigi Borghero, head of a
umerous elan at Ravenswood, about 900 miles north of Brishane,
“l' €1 he discovered the first deposits of gold. (4) _
The discovery, immediately after, of nuggets of gold (I872) near
Charterg Towers and south of Townsville by an Aboriginal boy, Jupi-
T Mosman, who was looking for his horses who had run off during a
lerce storm, produced a sudden “gold rush”, atiracting more than
30,000 miners. including several Italians, to the place. The Catholic
Priest who cared for the spiritual welfare of the miners and colonials
M the early 1870's was an Hlalian. Fr Balangero. Later, in answer 1o a
W by Bishop G.B. Scalabrini, Fr Balangero became a Scalabrinian
m'“i“nur_\', I-E}

THE EXPLORERS

Fhe [ollowing year, an Italian sailor, Marco Dominico, a mmﬁbe{ 0{
1€ expedition led by the famous explorer, Dalrymple, had t ;:Cas
of exploring all the estauries of the rivers north of the Tr.upllt R AR
1OM to the sea, to see if they were navigable: he was also ;:onjlmsi
Moned to study the nature of the soil near the rivers with the aim o
EVentually establishing colonies. (6) | Wl -
In that same year another young Italian of 22 years of agc.'arer:::}vn}
Nuecensland, according to some, fo take part in the Sun Arl_zll F" i 3
Townsville, but according to others to work with a fami )'I “‘:go
ark Christian, owner of a big sheep station. But very soon, \c" O
Caught “gold fever” and left everything to dedicate himse

279



searching for the elusive yellow metal. This young man was called
Christopher Palmerston Carandini, son of the famous singers and

artists, Maria and Girolamo Carandini. (7)

Soon after, having run foul of the law - according to some he was
accused of having Killed a Chinese, but this was emphatically denied
by others — Christopher fled north of the Tropic. where he give him-
sell to exploration to open up new ways of communication with the
mterior, and to searching for gold and other mineral deposits.

In 1880 Christopher, with Mullins and McLean, opened a route sc-
ross the thick bushland of the high plains of Atherton, 1o transport
machines and construction materials from Port Douglas 1o the plains
of Granite Creek, which were impossible to cross during the rainy
season, to then elimb to the high plains of Heberton.

Two years later, Christopher again left Innisfail, with two Kanakas
and three Aborigines. Following the southern bank of the Johnstone
River, he reached Heberton via Nigger Creek, covering 60 miles in 12
days. He explored the length and breadth of all the vast area from
Port Douglas to Heberton and the Tablelands, from Cairns to the
Johnstone River. from Mourilyan to the Barron Falls, It is said he
employed 300 Chinese in his'mines on the Russel River. He became a
legendary figure in his own time and many stories about him have
been passed on. (8)

He was the forerunner for the Italians of North Queensland. the first
of many thousands of others who would transform those wild and im-
penetrable jungles into cultivated and intensely productive lands.

In 1886 Carandini returned to Townsville o marry the talented
violinist, Teresa Roony, from whom he had a daughter, Rosina, born
19 June. 1889. He dedicated some places in North Queensland to his
wife, Teresa, and to his daughter.

For a short time h¢ owned both & hotel and a shop at Ross Island,
but then. on the invitation of the government, sold everything and
went first to Borneo and then to Malaya, where he died of an
intestinal illness. on 15 January, 1897 at the age of 45,

We also recall here the scientific expedition to Bellenden Ker, in the
extreme north of Queenstand, undertaken by Podenzana and Schiffini
from La Spezia and led by A, Meston and three Kanakas. The exped-
ition started in carly December, 1891 and returned to Cadrms on 18
January. 1892, Later, while A. Meston returned to Brisbane, the
Italians pushed still further north to colleet other scientific data, (9)

THE PACKERS

Before and during the construction of the railway hne which was 1o

unite all the towns such as Heberton, Atherton, Mareeba ete. to

Cairns, in the interior, where many mines had been opencd, the

transporters of construction materials, machinery and combustibile

minerals came to form  the so.called “packers”. They were
t’ﬂw}



Characterised by caravans of horses, mules and at times even camels.
Without them the development of this vast district would have been
impossible. The older folk still remember the caravans of mules and
1orses which would wend their way down the sides of the mountains
aden with ingots of zinc, headed for Herberton, Cairns or, later, for
areeba,
Bernardo Lesing is remembered as the packer who, with 100 mules,
the largest team of animals walking through the streets. (10)

The Lesina family numbered five children. Bernardo Ior. had his legs
rushed when he slipped and ended up under the wheels of the cart
that he was leading, The doctors managed to avoid an amputation,
but Bernard's legs stayed crippled for the rest of his life. (11)
M. Borghero, one of the clan already mentioned. is remembered in
the chronicles as having the fastest mule team in the early days of
icherton. He was also entrusted with the distribution of the mail. He
knew, better than anyone. all the roads and short-cuts from Port
Ouglas 1o Montalbion.
Wl'i_c':_l the Trvinebank Mining Company closed its mines and sold its
Frcsllginus mules. Borghero bought, together with other mules, the
amous mule called Jumbo who could pull six hundredweight (300 k.)
b)’_himsclf while the others could not pull more than four hundred-
Weight (200 k.). A team of mules, on average 48, generally managed
O transport 10 tons of goods. (12) Glenville Pike, in his book,
oncers Country, recalls a certain “Sam the Roman™ (Salvatore il
Romano). but we do not know anything else about him. (13)
A brief history of Heberton says the men were suntanned and
carded, as honest as the sun and as strong as steel. Loading and un-
Oading 48 mules morning and evening was all in a day's work for
these giants of the past. (14)

THE BUILDERS OF RAILWAYS

In' 1855 {he Queensland government gave permission to recruit a
group of Italians from Piedmont and Lombardy, expert in tunnel and
Mulway constructions, ta construet the line from Cairns to the Table-
lands, which even today 15 considered the most famous engineering
leat of those carly years. 1t was built on the sides of mountains, on
Columns of steel and through 15 tunnels along the enchanting valley
O the Barron River

We do not know exactly how many of the 300 workers on the railway
were Italians, but we found veports of incidents and accidents, of
some deaths including names and dates, The construction of 12 miles
Of railway took four years and cost the lives of 20 workers. (15)
On 24 September, 1888, a landslide in tunnel Number 13 claimed the
lite of Raffacle Antonia and on 26 September a certain Giovanni
Zappa was killed instantly when he put a foot wrong and fell to the
bed of the Barron River from a height of 500 feet (167 m.) Three
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days later on 29 September, another two workers, Ametico Citroni
and William Rose fell into a gorge 25 feet deep. The Tralian reported
only superficial wounds while Ros¢ was taken 1o hospital in an
uncertain condition,

The following year, 1889, another Italian, Giacomo Citroni, brother
of Americo, was killed instantly under a massive land-slide in o
tunnel. (16)

It is said that, towards the end of the most difficult part of the rml-
way construction, an Ialian patriot climbed to the peak of the moun-
tain and raised the ftalian flag, where it remained for ANy years
until it was ruined by the rain and weather, as a reminder of the role
of the Tralians played in the copstruction of the railway on the
mountains.

When the work on the railway was finished, several Ialians remained
10 the area and dedicated themselves 1o agriculture. Among them we
remember the grandfather of Martin Tenni, State Minister and
member for the seat of Barron River. (17)

WOODCUTTERS, COKEMEN AND MINERS

The historians do not give us much information, only briefl pointers or
some reminiscences. with regard to our first Italian migrants. It
seems, for example, that a member of the Borghero clan worked in
the mines at the start. It was, as we have said. a Borghero who, in
1869, was the first to find a vein of gold at Ravenswood,

It is certain that at the start of 1870, some Ialians worked as cokemen
and miners in the "Dee Cooper Mine” to the south of Mount Mor-
gan. But after 1877 the work at the mine lessened and many miners
were transferred to other mining centres. Several Italians remained in
the place and raised cattle or horses and carted wood. (18)

The biggest deposit of zine in North Queenslund was discovered in
I583, by a group of Halian woodcutters, who sold it for £2.000 sterl-
ing and returned to Italy for « holiday. (19) In I888 there was a
toup of Ialian cokemen in the bush near brvinebank in North
%)uecnsland. a pold mining area.

Already in 1890, writes G.C. Bolton. the Italians had started to take
the place of the Chinese as cokemenand wood-cutters in the mining
areas. In fact, at the start of the century, the charcoal for the smelt-
ing works of the Chillagoe Company at Mount Gamnet, was trans-
ported by the caravan of camels belonging 10 Abdul Wade and teams
of Italians worked for him. (20)

All around the foundry there were piles of charcoal, 20 1o 25 feet
high and weighing about 300 tons. Fipally it happened that i group of
Italian woodsmen and miners established themselves in the western
part of Queensland, in the district of Cloncurry and in the Mareeba
district, along the coast to the west of Cairns,
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WRITINGS OF A JOURNALIST

The journalist, A.F. Waddell, in two articles published in the North
Queenstand Register on 9 August and 4 October, 1952, recalls the
Italian woodcutters. cokemen, miners and carters of Irvinebank and

¢ mining districts nearby, and the method of smelting the metals
used ar that time.

“In the Campfire ~ E.P.H. recently published reminiscences of cer-
tin Halian woodcutters and of their women. I believe that he was
Nght when he said you could count the women on the fingers of one
dnd, beeause over the years 1 can recall, with Mrs Paganini, only
WO other women, Mrs Leonie and Miss. Maria Mollanari.

“His comments pushed me to fook again at my notes on ‘wood and
Woodceutters’, which 1 had collected several years ago and what fol-
OWs as @ brief extract from those notes.

Al we elderly folk remember very well that all the meltings of zinc,
Silver, lead and copper were, in those days, done with charcoal. It
Vas only much later that the Cairns railway reached Marceba (1893)
and the Chillagoe railway arrived at Chillagoe (1901) and it became
POssible to transport the natural coal from the south, thus lessening
the demand for charcoal,

“But, if we go backwards in time, we find the smelting of the silver
and lead at Montalbion, Muldiva and Newelton or Silver Valley: the
*opper, silver and lead at Chillagoe and the tin at Irvinebank and
|l-.ewisc‘ the copper, silver and gold at Mt. Gamnet, were all done
with wood charcoal.
“However, as soon as the raitway line reached Mt. Garnet, thanks to
the famous camels of Abdul Wade. natural coal commenced (o be
used,
"Documents and old photographs still exist at Mt. Garnet. which
Prove the existence of at least four caravans employed in the trans-
fation of materials and each of these caravans was formed by at

cast 70 camels. Later on these animals were replaced by motorised
methods.

“Today, one of these vehicles still lies abandoned in the yard of the
Sawmill of Lawson and Son in Mareeba. Another was used in the
yime district to clear the tand on which tobacco would be cultivated.
=Yen it, by now a useless wreck, lies forgotten at Cattle Creek, some
Miles north of Parada, on the Chillagoe line,

We note that E.P.H. says: ‘Mazzichelli and Paganini were two chief
Woodcutters,” but 1 believe they were carters. Both already had pairs
Of horses for longer than | can remember, and 1 knew them very
Well. Another who had a herd of horses in those carly days, was

Wseppe Marranta, who had the misfortune to lose Some of his
horses after they had drunk water from a dam, The name. Marranta.
Was heard at (imes, in Brisbane and 1 have no doubt that these
People were descendants of Giuseppe Marranta,
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“1 remember another name, of a carter who used 10 transport miner-
als. Jack Moscardi, and 1 believe that he. too. transported materials
from various mines. Much of the fre-wood in the Irvinebank district
wias cut into four feet six inch fengths, which was the size for the fur-
naces ‘of the Comish boilers used at the Vulean Mine and at the
smelting works,

“In the early days there were very big furnaces at Montalbion and
naturally, as much as possible, wood of the right size wis used. One
man who performed that job for many years was Pietro Genetti. He,
along with his companions at Irvinebank, continued in that work until
the day he died. Photographs of the big furniaces ot Mt. Garnet still
exist today, but we don't know who destroyed the furnaces,

“At Irvinebank all the coal passed over rollers to render it suitable
for the furnaces at the smelting works and at the blacksmiths’ forges.
“When I was a boy,™ continued Waddell, “1 remember the [talians'
houses at the entrance to Target Gully and the beautiful oranges and
bananas where. in later years, the Shepherd and King families settled.
Later on, these places all became part of the great warchouses for the
mining refuse.

“I can still remember Mrs Leoni and very often, the beautiful song
which emanated from that place.

“It has been mentioned by E.P.H. that old Pictro Bombardieri. in his
time, was a prominent figure and 4 leader, friend and general helper
of his fellow countrymen. He came from Lombardy, with many other
Halians who worked in the mining arcas and had been woodcutters,
cokemen and stonemasons in their own country.

“"Also there were the youths, Pietro and Domenico Bombardieri.

“Another man from the early davs was Carlo Cetinni who transported
minerals to the furnaces and had shares in the amous Vulcan tin
mine, which he discovered. Cetinm offered my fathers <hares in the
mine for £100 but my father rephied that he had barely 100 pence to
his name at that time. Cetinni wanted o return to Ttaly, he said, and
thut seemed 1o be the object of many Italians, 10 go back several
times and to bring out their relatives with them.”

“The following woodeutters and miners are remembered for many
yeary ~ Carlo Carrara, Jack Mollanar and his daughter, Maria, Pietro
Zampatti, Paolo Pianta, Babondi, Giascomo Bonuzzi, Bartolo Ricetti,
Jack Rinaldi, Omader, Gucomo Pozzi, Con Bassi, Michele Cabassi,
Della Veceha brothers, Falehetti, Poletti brothers, Ferrarl and Salvo
Spuagnola.

“Jack Mazzanchelli bad a son called Pico, who helped his father with
his team ol horses, and was a good friend to our young people at that
time. Three other well know men were Carlo Tonta and Bartolomeo:
and Andy Pedrotti. These three carted wood and were stokers at the
furnace, while the Pedrotr brothers were also good marksmen.

“lokn Molfat’s successor at the furnace. however, seemed to have
taken o dislike towards these three men and sacked them without
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lusther ado, All three returned to Traly, but later Carlo Tonta re-
tmed 1o his old stamping ground and related how he and Bar-
olomeo Pedrotti had heen taken prisoner by the Austrians during the
First World War and that Pedrotti had died because of all the depri-
vations he suffered. From the last news we have of Carlo Tonta it
Seems that he settled in the El Arish district. and if he is still dlive. he
wotld have to be very old indeed.

“Another Italian was the stonemason, Frank Rusconi. Some of his
WOrk can still be seen in good condition at Irvinebank and his initials,
“FLR 19077, are still very clear. carved into the stone of the railway
Station Li'-latfnrm, I' think that this Frank Rusconi wis the same man
Who did some good stone work at Canberra many years later.

“Giuseppe Robello, a teamster, wis well known in North Queens-
land, He would load his mules a1 Cairps and would cart many loads
of fodder for horses and foodstuffs along the old mule track at
Mulgraye to the miming districts, He also carted sugar from the refin-
ery at Ripple Creek, which has since closed down.

“We must record the names of two other Halians who were hotel
R}l'ﬂpricmrﬂ at that time — Antonio Severi, who had an hotel at
Ontalbion in the carliest times and who appears in a faded old
phom‘gmph tuken round 1890 with some merchants of the town, now
deceased. The other was Balsarini, il my memory serves me correctly,
Who had an hotel at Silver Valley (Newelton) in the days in which a
gll?rm'an company was active in the place and worked in the Lancelot
ine,
" The register of those buried at the cemetery at Irvinebank includes
the following names — Pietro Generti. Domenico Benoli, Stefano
Tontaini, A. Preseu, Luigi Seneni, Mis  Paganini and a child, Ber-
1oni. We must not forget old Mr Borghero, grandfather and great
2rtandfather of the very well known Borghero families of today.
‘T remember old Mr Borghero and his children very well; the best
known were Manny and Tony, Manny is buried at Irvinebank but
Where Tony is buried 1 don't know. They say that old Luigi worked
N the mines at Cape River round the 1860 and in more distant
Umes, at Ravenswood and Charters Towers. Manny was very well
known ut Watsonville, before he settled at Irvinebank. In certain
dreas where there was water and suitable land, some of these men
had beaynful orchards where they also grew vegelables, cultivated
Passionfruit vines and, at times, raised fowls. They liked prosciutto
Yery much, tasty cheeses and sidads with a dressing of olive oil, which
1 those days, arrived in bottles with i rippled neck and the label, C.
& k. M(_lrtnn,
“Many  settlements had grinding stone and @ rudimentary
blacksmith's forge. which Liter was replaced by a portable ‘Buffalo’,
Big wedpes were necessary Lo split the biggest trunks and the big
links of iron.
“As wood for catting becume scarce within an-economic distance for
Carting. many men went o work on the raiiway lines (in 1907), while
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others went on the old age pension, as fossile charcoal gradually
replaced that obtained from wood. More than 50 years ago, |
remember, woodcutters were paid four shillings and sixpence a trunk
and the carters received eight shillings per ton. The woodeutters
helped with the loading and prepared the way for the carts to pass.
“The descendants of certain Ttalians, ‘New Australians’, mentioned
above, were well prepared in those days to play their part in the work
of pioneering, because it was still a pioneering era and in doing this,
they were assisting in the progress of their uhnp:iw country. Today
we find them in the sugar cane plantations. bul the woodeutters and
thccok;:znilen-whu produced. charcoal for the mines are things of the
past.”™ (21)
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THE ITALIANS REPLACE
1 = THE KANAKAS

Ihe Sugar cane plants imported from the island of Mauritius were
Planted on Australian soil for the first time in 1861, by 4 certam John

uhot, who, in duc course, ground them n 4 rudimentary fashion
and extracted the first sugar from them. (1) But the first person to
Plant the sugar cane as 4 commercial ventire, having cleared 20 acres
ol tropical bushland, was Captain Lewis Hope, who also built the first
mill, [y 1864 Captain Hope, because of a shortage of labourers capa-
e of Withstanding the tropicul heat, had to employ 44 Kunakas, who
Nad been introduced to the Colony as cheap libour by Captain
Robert Towns, who then put them 1o work in his cotton plantations.
(2) This proved to be so successlul that soon many other pluntition
OWners used the same labour source,

The government of the colony, as a sign of recognition and encour-
agement, assigned 2,560 acres of lund to Captain Hope, at the same
fime giving him the use of Polynesian workers. who had been re-
Cruited with a contract of ten shillings a month, plus board and
i"dgjng\.

In 1865, the price of cotton on the world marker fell so much that the
“lture of cotton was rendered ceonomically impractical, while the
Mgdr cane became a more and more profitable industry, In a few
Years all the best part of the cosstal area was transformed into an im-
Mense sugar cane plantation. As a result the need for labour became
Yer more acute and the hiring agencies without scruples increased,
Sowever, the number of Kanakas decreased and it became
mpossible o find others disposed 1o come [reely to Australia.

The yystem of recruitment became more and more cruel. Atrocities,
ppression and forced labour using arms, became the order of the
Y. This slave trading was known as “black-birding”.

I the space of u few years. 60,000 Kanakas were transported to the
Dueenslind plantations and sold for £50 cach to the big land-owners.

¢ autharities and even several plantation owners realised that this
State of affairs could pot continue for ever. The way of recruiting
heap labour was cruel and the islands were almost depopulated of
Men and besides there was the danger of creating a racial problem as
N the United States,
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On the other hand. as we hive already said, popular opinion had it
that the English were not physically capable of carrving out such
heavy work in the enervating tropical climate, Therefore u solution
had to be found and found guickly. The anly alternative remaining. if
such a necessary and lucrative industry was fo contimue, wis 1o find 4
substitute for the Kanakas amongst the white migrants, who were
used to heavy work and long hours of toil. and eventually w put the
industry in their hands,

In the meantime. the controversy surrounding the waorking conditions
of the Kanakas reachied the government benches in Brisbune. and n
January, 1885, g Royal Commission of Inguiry was constituted 1o
investigate the methods used to recruit workers from the islands.

In April of the same year the Commussion reported 1o the Parliament
that the natives were being enticed wboard the ships with (alse
promises. that the method ol recruitment was ctuelly deceptive and
Cleatly illegal and that in order (o attract the more able nutives to the
work, fraud and violence were systematically and deliberately used.
The Commission. without mincing words. spoke of the “terrible
indictment of deceit, cruelty, treachery, deliberate Kidnapping and
cold-blooded murder™. (3)

The government of Sir Sumuel Griffith. speaking strongly on the data
collected by the Commission of Inquiry, presented and had approved
a law which prohibited, after 1890, the recruitment of Kanaka labour-
ers or inhabiants of Polynesia. of any race whatsoever. As an alter-
native. he proposed @ government programme 10 have assisted migs
rants come [rom Europe, migrants who could withstand the climatic
conditions of the tropies and who wanted to settle in Queensland.
According 10 the Premier, Sir Samuel Grittith, o good judge and
admirer of Italians and of Italy, practically the only ones who could
revitalise such a troubled industry were the Ttulinns, who were accus-
tomed to hard work and frugal living and were an indostrious and
persevering people. Moreover, the Tralian worker had already gained
a good reputation in the territory of Queenstund, over several veurs.

The 1871 census gave the first faint official awareness of the Talan
presence in the tropical colony. It was a somewhat numerically small
presence, but certwnly more pumerous than that reported i the
offical statistics,

It is necessary 1o noteé the tollowing chiarpereristics of our migration (o
the sugar cane plantations. When the conditions were tnvourable, the
Iahians did not go there in any great numbers, but when the condi-
tions were not considered good. they arvmved there in their thousands.
In the first stages, the colonial government was well disposed towards
the Ttalian migration to Queenslind and there were not vet any anti-
lalian feclings among the population. But some plintation owners
were against the idea of replacimg the Kuanakas with the Trdinns and
the shipping companies were apathetic. Later on the opposite wis
true. The government did not encourage the Halan migrition 1o
wurds Queensland, bBecause tt increased unemployment and beciuse,
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they suid, there were already 100 many lahans there, BY now the
Ostility against the Italians” had become. common place. Towever,
SOME sugar cane growers were Tavourably dispased towards [talian
Warkers G the shipping companies were interested i transporting
them In this second stuge the Ttalians armived in their thousands. (4)
For a Jong time the Tralian migration to the SULAT cane areas was the
Object of studyof worries and ol hostilities, of pros and cons, of var-
1Ous proposals which were never Tully realised, That notwithstanding,
they “were precisely the proposals 10 guarantee: continuity of the
Ttaliay migration
For example, ut the start of 1872, the Agent-General for Immigration
N Queenstand wis urged to suspend the reeruitment of Germin mig-
Fants, officially giving the reason that the conditions abourd the ship
Used fo transport them 10 Queensland. were not satisfuctory. In real-

Y, the true motive was connected with the prohibition by the Pruis-
’t‘g;ﬂ BOVEIMMENt ngainst recruiting nugrants from Ciermin termtory

hus another plan was clabarated to replace the Germuns with the
Liliuns and 1he imamgration agent, Dantree. was instrugted O recruit
Whans from Piedmont and 10 take steps to see that they deéparted
'm Genos, But even in this case, because of difficultics. encoun-
ered in the il phase of the plin, the given instrugtions were e.
Voked even before contact with the Iudians had been established 1o
fL\k‘Urlz:iaa their availability. (n)
'rh*lrei't::'c. when 4 certain Tornatis from Picdmont. wrote 10 the
AUstralian authorities in the same year. saying, “Lund other agricul-
Wrists almost all from Piedmont. are willing 10 CIMIEIALe 1o Queens-
0d and to dedicate ourselves 1o agncultural work or to stock breed-
Mg, in populated or isolued areas”, the proposal was aceepted
lmmcdiu{cl)‘
wen on this oecasion, ot the moment of departure, when the contin-
N wirs already in Genon, contriry order stopped everything. It
Ve precedence to the English agriculturists who, as & resulf of # bud
SEHESON, were hit by famine Only i 1877 could the first contingent of
talian agriculturists reach Queenstand. They were almost all from the
VN of Maonferrito in the Plodmont region. In all probability they
WA been reeruited by & certain Count Franceschi. It scems he had
€ task of ucquiring vist aress of land 1o experiment with new
Hming methods. (7)
his faet was yiso reported by I Gagliardi in one of his letters 1o the
srzzena d'Tralin (the Dalian Chzzette), on I8 December, 1877, ]
have read” wrote Gaglinrdi, “in the colonial newspaper of Roma,
ated 13 October, 1877, that o ship from Hambure berthed at
1‘".\'hn1'-ulmh, a port on the Mary River, 180 miles north of Brishane.
A 40 Tralians disembarked who would be followed by others . and
o Breat colony wus founded there. which amed to introduce to
f-'].lllt‘cns!un-.l aeertin wumber of firming technigues from Southern
WY (R)
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Despite all the sethacks of the following ten yeirs, the Ttalian populi-
tiop in Queensland was increased (our fold. 1883 was 1 decisive vedr
when the government condemned the ceeruitment of Kanakas and
proposed to try its luck with the Tulian migrants

PARLIAMENTARY BILL FOR ASSISTED IMMIGRATION FOR
ITALIAN WORKERS

The Parliamentary Bill proposed:

(4) to establish contact ‘with the Ttalinn authorities to ascertain the
availability of ltalian workers,

(b) to commence. on an experimental basis, o program of assisted
migraton, at least for a first group of 400 Halians.

(¢) to give them, after two years of employment in the sugar cane
plantations when they would learn the methods of growing sugar
cane, the opportunity of buying plantations ol their awn.

(d) to provide a salary of 11 shillings per week for the fiest year of
employment and 12 shillings a week for the second year, plus board
and lodgings,

The law in itself wus clear:

“These migrants had o come o Oueenslind with assisted plissage
and a contract of work. At the end of rwo vears they could rent or
buy a farm on favourable conditions. The sugar cane growers had
been invited to forward their requests for labour to the agent for im-
migration, and to-contribute 1o the payment of their transport costs.”
(9

But. uccording 1o the Agent-General of Immigration in London, #
certain Coghlan, the growers had not been copsulted before the law
was passed dnd moreover some of them were of the opinion that the
Italians were not suitable at all for the work of the sugar cane
plantations, (10)

According to Willurd, others took the initiative of having o statement
circulated throughow Europe. partcularly in Germany and Denmark,
which stated that the work in the sugur cane plantations was not suit-
able for whites and that the contricted pay would reduce the migrants
to a state of servitude, thus the government plan was subotaged. (11)
On the whole. the majority of the plantation owners declared them-
selves in agreement with the Bill, whilst retiining some reservations.
They did not want 1o lose everything and clung to the ill-concesled
hope of even exploiting the women and children,

From the following letter to the Prime Minister. Samuel Griffith,
written by the Young brothers, who were big sugar cane plitntation
owners from Ayr. it appears that the government had certanly asked
the cane growers (o let the government suthorities Know what lahour
they required and only at a later stage had they asked their opinion
on the government's immigration proposals, We report the letrer in
full a5 it was recorded by the Acts of Parlinment of the government
of Queensland, (12)
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“Kathamia., near Ayr. vin Townsville,

12th Seprember. 1890

We have the honour of informing vou that Mr Nobt Philip has
_s.uhmillu.i_ Aoreguest for S0 Piedmontese 1o be brought out on our
account. Luter we were informed that you swould like 1o receive our
opinion. oy this matter, The reasons which led the owners of this
Plantation to present a request for a group of workers from Piedmont
A as follows:

o Ve extremely  ecopomical and  profitable use  of groups  of
Polynesian workers will soon be banned.

=17 1 cconomically preferable 1o abandon the plantations rather then
Y o save them by employing the white fabour presently availuble jn
the cology. _

= The workers (rom Piedmont would find the cultivation of sugar
Cane profitable thanks to the low cost of the services of their women
and children,

= The workers from Piedmont could, after having experienced the
seasonal  cultivation cycles, buy the plantations by taking out a
Moertgage. thus allowing the present owners 1o leave the sugar
ndustry,

-~ We point out that we are not expecting exceptional efficteney from
the Piedmontese workers i question while they are working for us,
Their capabilitics will adequately be put 1o the test when they are
Working on their own behalf. Therefore, we hope that they will
quickly Jeurn the principles of sugar cane cultivation and that they
Will provide # source of low cost workers, so that the cane can be
SOld to the manufacturing plants at u reasonable price:

= IUis the wish of the owners of this pluntation to quit the cultivation
O sugar cune us soon as possible. To stop everything now and close
the :ﬁ:mul'nulllring plants would mean a terrible loss, because. in the
st place. no longer would dnvone buy plantations. To ' transter the
4d 1o men who would use the low cost labour of women and
children seems to us to be the best way of quitting the industry with
the least possible Tass.

Young Bros, & Co

Per Charles Young, Manager”

It scems reasonable 1o consider that this letter might reflect the opin-
00 0f the majority of sugar cane growers. They were convinced that,
ice having lost the Kanuky staves, all would be jrreparably finished
und in tuins. As we have already said, they had neit er the physical
Ot moral strength to advance their industry. They considered employ-
Mg Tocul fabour 10 be out of the question and thit it was more prict-
cal 1o abandon, not sell, everyihing - supar cane and property.
Therefore, the only hape for the growers liy in sccepting the coming
Of the Piedmoniese, to teach them the seasonal cyeles of sugir cane
“ultivation and 1o sell their properties (o the newcomers in order (0
OXIL with as little Toss as possible.
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“Itis & phenomenon that repeats itself in different times and places,”
wrofe Nino Rundazzo, “but always with the same basic scheme. Be-
cause of their frugality and propensity for hard work. the Itilians rep-
resent the ideal economic solution when un industry, or a country,
finds itself out of its depth. Italians will work where others won't or
can’t work. They make lands abandoned by other colonies fourish:
they save while others waste. they accumulate while others give up,
TI_1ey are, therefore. a real providence in moments of necessity and
CrISIS.

“When it is a question of respecting the needs and social traditions of
the Italians. the natives of the place withdraw the carrot and produce
the stick ... That the proverbial barrel is always full and the wife
drunk is a constamt claim of the politics of immigration in Anglo-
saxon countries, In Queensland, neither the obtuse trade-unionsts
nor the preedy growers walked away winners, because it was 3 fact
that, in practice, the Italians knew how o work longer and better
than the locals and in the end became owners of the most ProsSperous
plantations, preserving and strengthening a vital indusiry for them:
selves und the nation. In Brisbarie, in the 1890's. the achicvements of
the Ttalians required a high moral price and imposed many sacrifices
and humiliations.” (13)

But let us advance one step 4t a time g8 we teport the phases ol this
sad migratory episode, which marked the end of an era “when Ita-
lans were considered bearers of civilisation, art, culture and science
m Australia™. This period gave way 1o one in which “the Stigmir of
illiteracy and criminal tendencies would taint the Ttalian migration [or
the next 50 years.™ (14)

THE POISON OF RACISM DOES NOT RESPECT ANY
CIVILISATION

Everything seemed to proceed according to the established plan. The
Agent-General of Queensland ind London, Ernest Hunter, took him-
self to Rome. On behall of Governor Griffith he made an agreement
with the Halian government for assisted passages for the first 400 Jta-
lans who wanted to emigrate to Queensland. Meanwhile C.V. Fraire.
a respected Italian businessman and owner of “a drapery business of
note”, who had arrived in Townsville 22 years earlier, was sent
to Turin “on behalt of the Queensland government and certain
private glr:rsnns". with the task of recruiting and transporting mig-
rants, (15) The trade-uniomsts, the newspapers and the Labor Party par-
liamentarians, however. started a defamatory campaign against Taly.
They described it as a breeding place for illiterates, secret societies.
the malfia, criminals ete, It was a pitiful display of ignorance. They
even forgot that the little civilisation that Australia enjoy at that
time was largely due o Halians such us Catani, Checchi, Zelman,
Fiaschi, Marchesini, Simonemi, Giorza and dozens of others. “The
protests, the meetings, the strikes, the denunciations in the press, be-
came more bitter, more numerous and piled up in an stmosphere of
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Sicial upheaval. 972 residents of the districts of Crovdon and
Etheridge and 7,347 in the rest of Queensland signed three petitions
10 the sovernment calling for the immediate suspension of the plin
for assisted emigration”. (16)

WHEN PARLIAMENT LOSES ALL RESPECT

The group of rrade union representatives, taking advaniage of the
Currett anti-Ttalian opinion, that they themselves had helped 1o
Midpe, riised the “Malian question™ again i the benches of the
Dueenstand Parliament. which, only a few months carlier had ap-
Proved the assisted  immigration  scheme  and the  relative
APpropriation.

I was the first putliamentary debate on the Italians. (17) It assumed
4 fundamental significance in all State nigration pohey and Sub-
sequently in Federal policy. 1t paved the way for racial diserimina-
0N, at times ably concealed under various rationale and cconomic
Ctiteria, at other times open and extremely offensive. The most volu-
NE spokesman in all this denigration was Charles Powers, the trade-
mnjon tepresentative for the seat of Burrum. When moving the
Motion presented to Parliament. “that in the opinion of this Itzlrlia-
ment it is not desirable 1o introduce migrants from Italv”, in the heat
Of the argument he declared:

“ that he had never met anyone in the colony who was not against

€ coming ol the Tralians to Queensland,

- that the Ttalians would not resolve the problems of the sugar
hdustyy
1

Cthat 1o introduce Ttalians would be aguinst the interests of
1S colony
- that the presence of a great number of Italians would constitute an
“ement of social danger for the colony:
Alter having accused the Ialians of every sort of crime, as if they
Yere the most criminal people in Europe, of causing problems in the
Utiited States and of having been the cause of the crisis in Argentina,
1€ concluded. “1 wish to state unequivocably that no matter what
HHppens 1o the sugdr industry, I am of the opinion that the Italians
MUt be kept away,”
“The insults by the Honorable member 1o all the Italians,” the Prime
mister Griffith attempted to explain, at the same time revealing his
OWn prejudices, “because of those infamies committed by that secret
Society that goes under the name of the ‘Mafia’, are as uncalled for as
M€ insult a  Buropean government would give if it refused
ENtrance to a Victonan citizen because of the illegal actions of some
Citizens from Queensland.

“The same relationship exists between the citizens of Northern [taly
nd the Mafiosi of Sicily as that between the Mafis and the ordered
Saciety of Queensland, yﬂm government has given an undertaking to
decept as assisted migrants all persons responding t© our needs
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whether they come from Germany, from Scandinavia or trom North-
ern laly. no lurther south than Livorne, ™
The member for Mackay. Dalrymple, also veplied 10 the strong ac-
cusation of Powers, saying, “Nothing could be more absurd than to
charge the bankruptey of any pation to the Haliins. Personally, 1
don’t have the honour of knowing 4 greater ind more worthy persone
age than that of the present lalian Bishop of Nopth Queenstand,
Bishop Cani. It is monstrous to insull an entire nation,”
However. another trade-union representative asked, “What will hap-
en to the colony if we let the Ttaliuns come?™ Another declared, “l
Euvc always been against the employment of Kanakas and blacks, but
I would & hundred times rather see them here than teams of [alian
women and children.” And Black added. “1 think it would be better
Lo continue to import Kanakas, rather than run the risk of bringing in
migriants who could put the interests of this colony in danger ™
[t s very true that the pride and convietion of belonging to u superior
race can blind a person to such an extent that he can no longer see
the reality before his eyes.
The Itahans had worked for years at the side of the locals, i little in
all fields of work. They were admired and respected for their con-
tribution, their honesty and perseverance. The member, Smyth, who
had worked in the mines with the Ttalians, gave the {ollowing
testimony. | don’t know who the Piedmontese or the Lombards are,
but I have worked with Italian miners and 1 can say that they are
among the: best miners in the world. I say, without discrediting our
own race, that they are first class men.” But immediately after he de-
clared, *I hope that the Prime Minister will not permit more than 400
ltalians to come until the experiment bas been proven. 1 hape that
there might still he people of our own race coming 1o Queensland,
What do we see in our city? Almost all the fruit shops are manpged
by Italians. The ice-cream vendor is Ttalian, likewise the musicians in
the streets are all Italian; they ure chasing everyone else away L0

THE ITALIANS BREAK THEIR CONTRACT

Despite all the invective, the fears and the doubts, in October, 1861,
the ship Junna of the British India Company. berthed &t Geno.
where 335 Italians - men, women and children embarked for Queens-
land. Frairé had not managed to gather together any more, not even
the 400 who were to have made up the first group of the experiment.
But the political authorities were not happy until they received 4 mes:
suge from the Captain of the ship, from Thursday Island, where they
had berthed. The message read, “All going well, we have 335 lalian
passengers and six English, with & circus of monkeys, dt?’..‘_«. horses
and & lion. Mr Frairc¢ is also with us. The ship's officers have been
excecdingly pleased with the conduct of the ftalian passengers during
the entire voyage,” (18)
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It was & relief for the authorities to receive such a 'message. However,
1o avoid any possible wdcts of violence on the Filﬂ of the population of
the place, who had even been praised in Parliament as an example of
evil hehaviour as benefits a superior race, (he ship with its load of
“dubioys, uncivilised and eriminal® people, was made 1o change
LYourse and land at Townsville, # small town lost in the tropics,
Instead of at Brishane.

From Townsyille the Italians were quickly distributed through the
various agricultural centres — 135 were destined for Ayr and Burde-
kin, 115 to Ingham on the Herbert River and 65 to Bundaberg.
_ '!:tving arrived at their destination the Ttaliins heard 1k that the pay
ey would receive in a week, the others could carn alter one chay’s
Work, Likewise. those who worked in the mines or as woodentters
Were earning from £3 1o £3.10 a week. A group ol them broke the
COntracts they had made in Taly and went 10 Cairns, 150 miles away-
They arrived in such a miserable state that they had need of im-
Medhate medical attention. At Cairns they were feceived with Suspi-
cion and hastility by the local workers. A miners' strike had not beep
Sccessful in August of that same year because. it was claimed, some
Nalians who were resident in the pliace and who were not trade union
members, had aceepted to work for lower wages, It was feared that
211{3 same thing would be repeated al Cairns with the new arrivals.

)

On 12 February. 1892, the Prime Minister Griffith, having just re-
turned from an’inspection tour of North Queensland, gave orders to
fesime temporarily the traffic with the Kanakas, because the Ialians
Would not “fill the shoes” of the Kanakas, that is to say, they would
Never become slaves of the English owners in the tropics, not even
Or & period of only two vears. (20)
-‘\t:c.urding 0 an enquiry. the weekly cost of a Kanaka to the
smplover, above the price of engaging him, which was really the price
that the owner paid 1o buy him, plus bourd and lodging, was 12 shil-
lings and fourpence at Mackay and 13 shillings at Cairns which cor-
esponded 1o about 40% of the cost of employing o white worker,
Of the Italians the contract stipulated a wage of 11 shillings 4 week
for the first yeir and 12 shillings for the second year, plus board and
Odging. A free worker, working on a contract basis. could earh up to
or 12 shillings in one day.
Far evervone the lodgings consisted ol corrugated iron huts: the food
varied little because of the diet (o which the locals were accustomed.
Ihc redl difference was only that after three vears, the lalinns were
fee and could, if they had the money. iequire some small property
4nd set themselves up,
The Ialians were willing to work hard, for long hours. but on the
Sime conditions as the other whites and were only claiming a just
emuncration for their lubours.

herefore the experiment aborted, not because the Italians did not
Wiint 1o work, or wanted to work for less money or agaimst the rules

-
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set down by the trade unions, but only because they would not agree
to become, like the Kanakus, slaves of the plantation owners.

“After some months of experience & good number of these Italians
returned to work on the plantations, some to work for so much a
week, others to lease land,™ (21)

Despite all this initial mistrust and hostility, in a short time thev were
able to gain the esteem of the plantation owners by their work and
their honesty.

Even without the hélp of the government. Nalians continued to emig-
rale to Queensland. At first it was @ movement brought about by the
reunion of families but then it changed to chain migration with a
broader scope which reached a peak in the period after the First
World War up until the Depression.
One historian conveys to us the success of that famous and deluded
guup of migrants of "91; “The ltalian migrants, whose arrival in
ccember, 1891, had seemed like the arrival of birds of bad omen,
turned out to be, through their own initiative. strenuous workers and
successful colonists,”

“Having obtained land along the Herbert River and later in the
districts of Cairns and Innisfail, they acclimatised themselves and
adapted to the surroundings. In the space of a few years they found
the means to bring out their relations and friends, thus founding an
[talian community which played such a_prominent part in a develop-
ment of the sugar industry in North Queensland.

“We should add that the Ttalian migrant. generally without funds. but
with the innate determination to find security for himsell and his tam-
ily, accepted poor conditions and lodgings without complaint, simply
to keep himself in work.

“And, in geperal, he was liked as a worker and in many cases was
preferred, just for those qualities which drew the most eriticism. Even
during certain economic recessions, the Italian worker was never long
out of work. because he knew how to adapt and 10 do a liule of

everything,

*That quality of being *a Jack of all trades” that annoyed the employ-
ment agency clerks so much and at times even the employers, 1s an
inborn quality of the Italian. He may be a person without qualifica-
tions or financial backing, who lives in the midst of 1,000
difficulties, but he is willing to learn and then to succeed.” (22)
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ITALIAN MIGRATION TO
- QUEENSLAND BETWEEN
19 = THE TWO WARS

After the mterruption because of the 1914-18 World War, Ttalian
Meration to Queensland resume quickly and was more numerous to
T.Ut:enﬁ[‘dntl thin to any other State in the Federation of Australia.
hese new migrants had lived through the terrible experience of war.,
a0y of them hud witnessed the destruction af their villages and the
_E}""dt‘.r of their land, and in more than a few cases even the massacre
*Weir loved ones by the German forces.

U the war, whilst it took them away from the isolation of their
:::W]‘_S- and from their countryside, taught them to suffer and to live
o Cther in a life of comradeship in which one had to depend on the
w.‘?l' even for their survival, At the resumption af migration there
S no more than 2,000 Italians in Queensland. Tn 1923 alone 1,344
ATived of whom 1,152 were men, mostly biachelors and 192 women.

Ter 1925 the influx of Malians decreased. In faet from 1926 1o 1930,
only 1,938 Italians arrived i the State. Between 1931 and 19361212
‘cn_'l\fed_ and in the years leading up to the Second World War. 1.407
i e, lhe Italians who moved to Queensland from the other States
& lh_c' Federation are not included in these figures. The seasonal
Mgration 1o Queenstand was always more numerous.

":;,r 4 Lertain time there was little or no opposition to their coming,
3 'Ehc_r from the cane growers or from the cane cutters, because the
Ugar mdustry was enjoying a period of prosperity and there was no
Cmployment. The continuation of the embargo on sugar had in-
; sased considerably the demand for the local product, so that many
rcf'.m Which had remained uncultivated for years, were once again put

Cr cultivation. Such a situation gave the opportunity to a certain
Gtheer " O Italians to buy their own u%riculturui huldiuizs and to
e IS, 10 put together enough capital to be able. eventual y. to also

fOme Cane growers,

Wte soon, however, the nopulation of Northern Queensland was
H_tcd With a new situation, %\Icw apprehensions 4rose, and, as was to
r:"“_ll‘lt'n:tqd. the usual hostilities started up again, although the cur-
5 b situation was a result of the different cireumstances of the time,
;" the people of the place the Southern Europeans, who took the
Plce of the coloureds who had been eliminated by the White
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Australia Policy in order to protect the standard of living, constituted
a new danger. Therefore it was considered necessary to control and
limit their coming and to force those who were residing in the place
to observe the conditions of work laid down hy the trade unons.
Their apprehensions increased still further when the United States im-
posed a quota on Italian immigration and as & result migration 10
Australia jumped to about 4,000 in 1925,

The fear of a real invasion by Southern European migrants pushed
the Commonwealth Government to negotiate an agreement with the
ltalian Government to limit the issue of passports only to “sponsored.
migrants”, that is, only to those who were requested by relatives or
fricnds already residing in Australia and to those who possessed 4
liquid capital of at least £40 sterling.

Moreover, as a result of the lowering of sugar prices, the State Gov-
ernment of Queensland tried to place a himit on the numbers of new
SUgdar canc growers,

The ggcwcmmcnt had not made any arrangements to welcome the
non-English migrants, nor to house or find work for them. No form
of assistance was available to them either from the government OF
from private sources. Many had to cross the whole continent, on the
advice of a friend, in search of any type of work, and often only to
find himself accused of being the cause of unemployment and ol
ruining the economy of the country.

[t was the price the migrant had to pay for the simple fact of having
emigrated. He had to overcome the unequal treatment, the conflicts
and the adversities, and to work hard if and when he had the good
fortune 1o find work straight away.

Osvaldo Bonutto, in his book, A Migrant’s Story. relates his first ex:
periences as a migrant. He arrived in Sydney on the Christmas Eve ot
1924, with hardly a penny to his name, and went to a fellow country
man's house in Lithgow, who had sponsored him as a migrant. Her¢
he heard that the possibility of finding work ar that moment was
somewhat remote, but that things would certainly be better the next
year. After having tried everywhere for weeks without success for any
sort of 4 job, he took the train for Queensland, together with anothet
migrant called Giuseppe. When they arrived in Brisbane they fount
the situation no better. With no work and little money, they were
forced to sleep under the stars in public parks.

During their enforced stay in Brisbane, they met an Italian and, o
his advice, they decided to go further north 1o the district of Isis,
where they hoped to find work 1 the sugar cane industry. But theif
friend added, “The sun is so strong you can cook an egg in the sand.
The flies abound in swarms; they get in your eyes and cause infee
tions; they attack your food as you're cating it; the rivers are infesies
by crocodiles; there are enormous hizards (goannas) who come out at
night and even enter the houses: there are snakes that can swallow #
whole buby or a lamb!" (1)

And, as if he had not said enough already 1o frighten those two podt
souls half to death, he concluded, “Believe me, if vou value your hile,
12



don’t go north. Go back before it's wo late, During the night you will-
10ss and turn in bed soaked with sweat and if you don’t have a net to
protect you from the mosquitoes, they will eat you alive.™ (2)
espite the heat, the mosquitoes and flies, the crocodiles and snakes
and all the other horrors, the two migrants with their last remaining
Shillinps bought tickets for the train to Childers, a place in the district
2 Isis, about 350 miles from Brisbanc.

hen the train stopped at Kowbi, some miles from Childers, an
Australian traveller pointed out a vast sugar cane plantation not far
aWay, where they could look for work. When they arrived at the
lace, however, they were told that the owner was not taking on
"ther workers. Some Italians who were working for him told them
!‘al not far from there, there was a group of Ttalians who were cut-
N8 Wood for the saw mill and making sleepers for the State railways.

The 1w migrants received instructions on how to reach the camp and
Started walking with their luggage on their backs, across paddocks
arely cleared, through bush and waterways. After having walked for
Some hours they threw themselves down on the verandah of a little
2untry school {o pass the rest of the night there and fell asleep with
fearfyy thoughts of the terrors that their friend in Brisbane had
scribed to them.

!{' the morning, hungry and stiff, they set out wilking once more.

'€t some hours they started to hear the first sounds of axes striking
Y0od. They had arrived. At the camp they found their first work in
Australiy, -

“-'Fi“ﬁﬂy I'had found work and a house. At that moment I was proba-
the happiest man in the world. 1 would have regular and plentiful
Mmeals, even if they were not much to my taste, and | would earn a
little. money without the humiliation that 1 had suffered in Lithgow. 1
vever held an axe in my hands before then and 1 said as much to
my cmployer, He told me not to worry as I'd learn in & hurry. And
Mdeed 't et so well that | became an expert wood cutter and ac-
WMired an expert knowledge of wood. Cutting wood to measure is
\ery hird work, much harder than 1'd thought. Cutting wood is hard
Otk at any time and in any cirermstances but in our case it was dou-
bl tard, because none of us knew the trade. We were all new and
Unskilled wood cutters, brought together by circumstance. However,
¢ conditions in Australia lhun. convinced me that the person who
Ve his all, who was prepared to work and wanted to work, would
ever die of hunger in this land.” (3)

":f‘ides accepting whatever huppened, the migrant had o sccept to
o

M4 primitive manner, devoid of every elementary commodity
Dur tent was set up on sundy dunes near a river. The first night |
slepy iy the tent | felt that something was biting me and stabbing me
Every part of my hody: At first I thought it was mosquitoes ... then
It was ants. In the morning my companions laughingly told me
that they were fleas and that the ground was infested with them.
CTe Wis nothing to do but accept the situation and not 1o WOITY 100
Much abour those hungry hittle monsters.” (4)
(1K)



“The Ttalians,” wrote Jones, “were never long withoul work.” (5)
And it is true, They have never been a drain on government finances
and have never crowded the agencies for social assistance, They have
always undertaken some kind of work, At times they have worked for
board and lodgings only, waiting and hoping for a more remunerative
job to come their way, Some have cleared bush land preparing 1t for
the planting of sugar cane, and waiting until after the first crop to
receive remuneration for their labours,

The first unrest occured in 1922 when on the occasion of the arrival
in Queensland of the cruiser, Libia, commanded by Captain Enrico
Burzalli, some thousands of Ttalians went enthusiastically to greet it in
the tropical ports. The Australians, on secing so many [alians,
started to ask, “How come there are so many Italians all of 4 sud-
den?” “The government,” explained the members of the Labor Party.
“must have negotiated a secret pact with Italy to have us over-run by
"dagoes’!"

The Premier of the State hastened to clear the situation in Parlia-
ment. “The Italians are not encouraged as the British are not discour-
aged. There is no official treaty nor secret pact with Ttaly. The Ta-
lians who came to Queensland migrated under their own free will and
at their own expense.” (16)

Many Italians had gone directly to Northern Queensland at the re-
uest of relatives or of fellow countrymen who had been living there
or a long time. Others had gone there because they had heard that it
was easy to find work there. Innisfail. where the Chinese had aban-
doned the banana plantations leaving the land free for sugar cane cul-
tivation, also attracted a considerable number of Ialians. (7)

Another district favoured by the Ttalians was Ingham, where an lta-
lian collective was already established. Some people living in the
place started to comment that Innisfail and Ingham were becoming
two European towns in a foreign land. Between 1920 and 1924 the
numbers of English plantation owners at Ingham rose from 174 1o
192, while the aumbers of Ttalian owners increased from 114 to 179.
At Innisfail the English population increased from 251 to 362 and the
Italians from 143 to 254. At Cairns the English population grew from
265 to 436 while the Ttalians increased from 29 to 69.

Of the cane cutters at Ingham the numbers of English men dropped
from 61 in 1921 to 13 in 1925, while the Ttalian numbers increased
from 153 to 575 in the same period,

In the Johnstone River, district, the English cane cutters numbered
151 in 1924 while “the others™ numbered 626, (8)

The Townsville Chamber of Commerce deplored the reluctunce
shown by the Australians of the place to dedicate themselves to the
cultivation of sugar cane, thus leaving the country open to
foreigners, whose will to defend the extreme north from invaders wis
deemed very doubtful,
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Suon after, the Australian Workers® Union made it officially known
that the unions were di(sjpm'ed 1o dccept the Italians in the sugar
tane plantations, provided. they had had previous experience in cane
Cutting and that they were union members, (9)

Through fear of economic recession, but more than that, through fear
of heing repliced by the new arrivals who worked very hard,
the unions again tried to contain the numbers of ltalians i the cane

Fjl;mmtinns. denying them membership of the Australian Workers’
nion. (10)

Moreover, they negotiated an agreement with the employers to

mploy only those who were union members, also 75% of the posi-
tiony in the slantations and in the mills had to be reserved for British
Migrants .-mlj the rest for Southern Europeans. The Innisfail Chamber
O Commerce also passed a motion in which it condemned the influx
of Italians into the district. (11)

AS if this was not enough they commenced to divide the Italians into
Wo groups, those from the north and those from the south,

Attually, as we have dlready seen, it was the Brisbane Parliament in
1891 which divided Italy into two parts, creating in the public mind
the idea that all the good came from the north and all the bad from
the south; all the northern Italians were “honest. frugal and hard
Workers™ while those from the South were “good-for-nothings,
mafiosi, criminals who always had a knife up their sleeves”. (12)

But it js imleresting to note that in reality, they could not distinguish
the Ttulians coming from the north from those coming from the south,
Sre we relate what happened to @ certain Salvatore, one of the
More prominent cane growers: in the district of Innisfail. who had
Cmigrited from the province of Messina in Sicily,
“He told me.” writes G. Luciano, “that 4 very important personality
Of the district confided to him one day that he had a very fow opinion
of Sicilians. Salvatore asked the gentleman if he knew who the Sici-
ans were in the district and he mentioned & dozen names. Some
Were from the north, others from Sicily. ‘Fine," said Salvatore, ‘and
What do you think of so-and-so. and this other and that other? to
Which the gentleman replied, “They are some of the best elements in
¢ districi. Northerners, aturally!” “Naturally they are not norther-
ers.' said Salvatore, ‘they are Sicilian and perhaps you would be sur-
tised 1o hear that 1 too. am a Sicilian!" 1 would not have wanted to
¢ i that gentlemun's shoes, ™ concluded Luciuno. (13)

THE ROYAL COMMISSION OF ENQUIRY
(THE FERRY REPORT)

The “4nti-forei ner” sentiment and unti-lalian laws prevalent in
1924, burgeoned into violent unrest in the following year. The Ttalians
“ontinued to buy land and the aviilable man-power commenced to

OXeeed the demand.
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Anti-Ttalian meetings and campaigns were organised, at which union
members and returned servicemen, supported by the press, occupied
rominent places. They wanted to prohibit the sale of properties 10
talians and to prevent the cane they produced from being accepted
and ground by the mills. In fact the workers at the Plane Creek,
Sarita mill, refused to handle cane grown by the Ttalians and accused
them of lowering the level of prosperity and conditions in the sugar
cane industry.

This state of affairs forced the Labor Government to institute another
Commission of Enquiry which was also known as the “Ferry Report™.
to invcsligate and report on the social and ecomonic effects of the
considerable increase of foreigners in the sugar cane districts. The
enquiry was to include all the foreigners in the tropics, but, as the
spokesman for the enquiry, Mr Ferry, noted. “The question of foreig-
ners in Queensland is essentially an Ttalian question.” (14)

At the outset the enquiry found that the numbers of Italian cane
cutters were far greater than those of the Anglo-Australians in the
Herbert and Johnstone districts. On the other hand, the majority of
plantation owners were still of English origin. but even in this sector
the numbers of Italians were increasiang rapidly and had already
become the majority in the Ingham district.

The report recognised, although somewhat reluctantly, that overall.
the It.arian workers were conscientious, sober, trust-worthy, keéen to
work and to save for their own agricultural property and thus acquire
independence,

It revealed, moreover, that in certain cases the Italians were exploited
by the land owners. In exchange for the promise of a contract (?f
work to cut the cane. plus board and lodging, they employed them m
clearing new areas of bushland. The report then passed on to refer 10
the antagonism and conflict between the Australians and the ItalianS.
declaring that these problems arose because the ITtalians wanted 10
work from dawn to dusk, Saturday and Sunday, without respecting
the rule of the eight hour day established by the unions, therefore
everything  rose  from  ¢conomic  factors and  economic
competition. But the report also recognized that the ltalian workers,
once they were cognisant of the laws of the place, observed them and
became good union members,

However, some leading union members of the Australian Workers'
Union stated to the Commission of Enquiry that, in their opuon:
(a) the Italian worker knew how to defend his rights, he worked well
and was as good a union member as any other worker,

(b) the ltalian members of the Australian Workers' Union were loyal
to the union, in solidity with other union members; they knew how to
conduct themselves well and their tenor of life was equal to that of
the English,

{e) the Ttalians did tot accept a lower rite of salary from that estab-
lished by the sugar industry unions,
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The same report, however, revealed deep prejudices, criticising the
Outhern Europeans harshly and excluding those from northern Italy,

“It is worth noting.” the report says, “that those coming from the
cold valleys and high plains of Piedmont and Lombardy are much
superior to their fellow countrymen from the southern regions and, in
general, from all the Mediterranean races. Unfortunately the majority
Of the new migrants who have arrived in Queensland come precisely
from southern Ttaly and many from Sicily. The Italians coming from
the southern provinces are more inclined o group together than to
mix in and become part of the generdl population of the State,™ (15)

“A close examination.” says Borrie, “indicates clearly that fear,
Tather than a deep analysis of the situation, was the driving force that
Prompred many of the findings of the Commission of Enquiry, fear
that many of the migrants coming from the south could not be
assimilated. ™ (16)

Fcljry. therefore, made some statements and arrived at conclusions
which were based more on prejudice und simple-mindedness than on
SVidence based on the facts. His report reveals his ignorance of the
Migratory history in Queensland, more than evidence of fact, He
could not have Lccn unaware that the southern ltalians, so harshly
Cniticised, were passing through the first migratory phase und that
fecessarily the poorest, while those of the north, so praised by him
Were in the third or actually, the fourth migratory stage. In a few
Words, they had had plenty of time to organise and integrate them-
Selves into the population and head calmly towards economic
Prosperity,

Ferry, rather than stating point blank judgements founded on preten-
S1oms of racial superiority, attributed defects that were only his per-
Sonal convictions, 1o those considered inferior by him. He also exag-
Crated the number of southem Italians present in Queensland, with
the wim of demonstrating, indirectly, his theory that the southerners
Were more inclined to group together, (17)

Despite his arbitrary statements and his inexactness, the Ferry Report
Wits accepted and it influenced the migratory policy in the years to
Come and imposed severe restricions on those admitted  into

Ustralia, excluding those who were not able to offer valid
EUarantees of their ability to integrate rapidly.

What was most important 1o the migrants wis the attitude of the
Population with regard 10 them. This varied from one place to
nother and from one minute 10 another.

“In practice.” writes Bolton, “racial hostilities were contained until
the thirties, partly because in 1925 an agreement between the
ustralian and Tralian governments restricted immigration by the Ity-

Hns, because of the net of sponsorship and the possession of a capital
OF £40 sterling.” (18)
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THE STRIKE AT SOUTH JOHNSTONE

In June, 1926, at South Johnstone, north Queensland, another centre
of the sugar industry, the Auwstralian workers declared a strike.
According to the press it was to protest against the use of foreign
labour, espectally [talian and Greek labour, in the sugar plantations
and in the refinernies.

In reality the strike had quite different origins. It was caused by the
conflict “between the umons and the management of the South
Johnstone mill. The management had passed from State control (o 4
cooperative of growers. The new management, for CCONOMIC TEASONS,
believed the time was right to reduce the number of personnel
employed and to replace about 30 workers, The unions demanded
that the substitutions be made with workers who had been employed
at the mill the year before,

Therefore, the Italians had nothing to do with the quarrel with the
unions, “also because none of them was working in that mill."* (19)

However, after having given assurances that there would not be “any
discrimination because of the nationality of the worker involved in
the dispute and that everyone would be helped and protected in the
same way”, the Australian Workers” Union insisted that if [taliah
cane cutfers did not participate in the strike they would lose their
union membership. (20)

The arbitration court had to decide on the question of whether the
manufacturers at South Johnstone could employ workers who were
not union members,

But on the evening of 6 July, 1926, some workers, members of the
union who were picketing the mill 1o prevent the entrance of “scabs™.
happened to quarrel with an unknown person who, by his accent
seemed to be a foreigner, The fellow, thoroughly scared, fired some
shots from his pistol, killing one of the sirikers. The frightened
worker then fled into the bush and remains unidentified even to this
day.

Word spread that the Killer was a Maltese and the strikers started 10
seek out the Maltese. The government sent police reinforcements and
ordered the confiscation of fire-arms, muninons and explosives within
a range of 20 miles.

The Malians remained calm. The arbitration court rejected the de-
mands of the manufacturers, who immediately made it known that
they were resolved to resist the union proposals. The strike con:
tinued. A week passed, then all the month of July and the situanon
had not changed at all.

On 22 August the Australian workers at South Jfohnstone held 8
meeting during which the great majority decided to continue the
strike. The old grudges against foreign labour reared up again, In &
short time the union struggle changed face and it turned with re-
newed vigour against the foreign labourers employed in the sugar
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tane plantations. Thus the eternal problem was rekindled in full, the
Problem which has always exasperated the hearts and minds of the
Various ethnic groups and the relations between them, all to the detri-
ment of the economic well-being and social relationships. The
tampaign of hate was unleashed with great violence, aimed at the
nnisfail region, which included South Johnstone,

There was a great outery for the dismissal of foreign workers
employed as cane cutters, of whom the majority were Italians. How-
ever, the growers did not want to accede to these requests. Therefore
the unions decided to extend the strike to include the railway work-
Ers, who now refused 1o load the cane from the Innisfail plantations.

In the meantime the Prime Minister, MacCormack, had returned
from London. An energetic and decisive man, he did not hesitate to
IMpose an ultimatum on the railways union. If the workers did not

eed the advice of the authorities, “the entire railways personnel
Would be dismissed,” except for those who had signed a declaration
Pledying themselves “to follow the orders of the authorities clected by
the government.” (21)

The railways union refused to obey the injunction by the government
and so 17,000 railway workers were sacked paralysing all Queensland.
But immediately all the clerical staff and then the railway workers
themselves signed the pledge to obey the railway authorities, Finally,
by 13 September, all the railway workers had returned to work and
the plantation workers decided that same day to resume work im-
Mediately with 368 votes i favour and 11 against.

The Australian newspapers were not backward in claiming a victory
Or the government and State authorities.

INTERVENTIONS BY THE ITALIAN GOVERNMENT

Following this wave of hostility, the Italian government declared that,
With regard 1o emigration to north Quct:mﬁﬁﬂd. chain migration will
¢ grunted only to relatives, such as parents, children, brothers, ete.
BY this means we hope to avoid, as unfortunately happened in 1925,
simple, irresponsible workers signing sponsorship agreements for ac-
QUntances or even strangers, as soon as they arrived. This was
Sometimes done for profit and sometimes to please the recipient, al-
though they were aware they could not fulfil the obligations
Undertuken™. (22)
The Queenstand Consul, in a typically Fuscist way, in giving the news
10 the Talians, expressed it thus, “Let it be known to those con-
“erned, that through the explicit directive of the Royal Government
Of Traly, emigration of ltalians to Australia, is definitely closed. The
“oming 10 Queensland will be permitted only and exclusively to per-
Sons who are sponsored by their own relatives and linked to them by
the closest of relationship ties and always provided that the person
Sponsoring satisfies special conditions, such as, for example, that he is
Capable of mamtaining the sponsored person, of guaranteeing work
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for him, etc. Excluded from such catégory however, are the cousins
and the brothers-in-law and sisters-in-law, so that in the future only @
few dozen Italians can be considered able to come to Queensland.
Moreover, the requests from those fellow countrymen wha intend to
return to Italy will be supported and favoured.

“The provisions relate not only to the no longer tollerable exploita-
tion of the Italian migrant in general, but in particular, to the barely
friendly welcome reserved for the same, 10 the most avoidable
obstructionism meted out to him, to the lack of esteem in which the
Italian worker is held, although with his sweat, with his sacrifice, with
his self denial, he has enriched and rendered immense areas of land
productive in Australia, and especially in north Queensland ..

“From today Italians guaranteed contracts of work, will only set out
for those nations, in which, although much more populated than
Australia, the [talian element 15 wanted, requested with insistence,
welcomed as a brother, while here in Australia he is considered al-
most as unfair competition and singled out hy the disparaging term of
‘dagoes’...

“I wish that all Australians could have the same love of work. the
same tenacity, the same attachment to the soil as those Italians whom
they call "dagoes’. This term, reflecting less than the most element:
norms of hospitality. was pronounced a few days ago in Ric_hmu:{i)f
Queensland, when 1 was on the point of leaving thart city, Considerin
that I had gone there to institute a migration centre... T was surprise
to hear that my presence in Richmond could be “approved’ for a night
or two, that the Italian was a dangerous clement to the Australian
worker and that they had had enough of ‘dagoes’.

“These statements gave me some idea of the great incommensurable

ignorance of those who made such pronouncements and was an exam-
ple of the unjustified aversion towards the Italian community.” (23)

LOCAL REACTIONS

Many voices were raised in defence of the Ttalians on that oceasion.
Among the most authoritative and significant was that of the
Archbishop of Brishane, Bishnﬂ 1. Duhig, As reported in an nter-
view with a representative of the newspaper, the Brisbane Courier,
on 18 December, 1925, he said, “No nation which has any self-respect
can do this. The Italians who migrate here must have equal rights
with those of other migrants.”

His Grace stated that “he had read with concern the article published
yesterday morning in the Courier, which said thar the alian govern:
ment had adopted measures which practically mean the closure of Ita-
lian migration to Australia.” He considered that it would be unfortu-
nate for Australia if these measures were put into practice, because
Italian migrants, together with the English und those of other nations
were accomplishing great work for the well being of Australia,
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“There is such a variety of work to be done in this country,”
Archbishop Duhig continued, “and evidently it can be done by vari-
ous peaple, This country will never be able to be fully developed
until there is a large increase in the population. It is absolutely wrong
10 consider that an increase in the population will impoverish the
“ountry, The labour market will pmhab[y be saturated momentarily,

Ut the result will be an increase in production to supply the needs of

¢ Increased population. America, the largest nation in the world,
Would never have become what it is today if it had, in its early stages,
‘sf"‘:rc]y restricted immigration,

We cannot wait for Italy to go down on its knees and beg us to take
her cople.” His Grace added. “No pation with any self-respect will
do thar, Italy has the right to have her migrants treated o _uallf with
those from other countries, when they arrived in Australia. It was
natural for a preference to be accorded to the English, given the spe-
“la conditions and arrangements for migration, but when Italians dis-
embark here, at their own ex_};mnsc. they must enjoy the same rights
that other migrants enjoy.” (24)

FROM THE DEPRESSION TO WORLD WAR

Towards (he end of 1929 the already mentioned economic depression

Ommenced with consequent widespread unemployment, which in

1931, louched 37.8% of the populativon. Of the Australian States,
ueensland had the lowest rate of unemployment. In fact. in 1932,
ile the rest of Australia had an unemployment rate of 34%, in
Ueensland the rate averaged around 18.8%.

The gmlcﬂionisl laws on sugar imports ensured a constant demand
for the focal product and the price remained rather high.

“1e was sufficient work for the residents of the place and durin
the Depression the cane cutters were considered the aristocrats o
WOrk, They were able to earn more than £10 per week, when the or-
Uinary farm-hand was being paid ten shillings per week plus board
and Todgings. Therefore, thousands of unemployed workers poured
Mo northern Queensland, from every corner of the country, with the
Ope of finding work. .

'he Continued influx of new migrants and the high proportion of Ita-
W08 into the districts of Ingham, Innisfail and Cairns, combined with

& Consequent competition with the Anglo-Australians for _thc same
Vork, led once more to an explosion of open racial conflict. Once
More there was talk of alien penetration, once more giving rise to
*Uspicion, intollerance and prejudice. '

I this new hate campaign, three groups in particular could be
distingyished: ¥
) The Australisn Natives Association started to blame the Ttalians
for Possessing agricultural holdings already under cultivation _and lhu.s:
YCOming a danger. Moreover, because of them, the “whl}c man
Would have to work hard tor an equal number ol hours to compete,
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foreigner should undergo an English education test and that those
who did not pass it should be deported or punished in & manner 1o be
determined. (25)

(b) The British Preference League, which came into being as a result
of the English policy of giving preference to products made in Bri-
tain, became a driving force in the atmosphere of labour unrest and
in the expressions of intollerance towards foreigners, especially
against the ltalians. At that time it gave vent to a%l its rage. (26)

(¢) And finally, as was to be expected, the Returned Soldiers’ League
put its weight behind the Preference League. It supported the policy
of always giving preference to the British in every circumstance, For
example, in May, 1930, the R.S.L. branch at Innisfail approved a pet-
ition to the State Premier, requesting that foreigners be prohibited
from buying sugar cane plantations. On that occasion, one member of
the R.S.L., Mr Morgan, declared, “This land is our natural heritage,
yet we find that certain concessions of land are given to foreigners
and are refused to our “diggers™ and 10 others of our race.” (27)

One of the bosses, a certain Murg%arroyd, even suggested that every

Such declarations by the R.S.L. caused indignant reactions from the
Italians. In a letter to the Johnstone River Advocate, they expressed
their feelings against the R.S.L. saying, “It would be a very good idea
if the members of the R.S.L. asked the Italian government to send a
large Italian ship to Innisfail to carry all the Italians back to Italy.
The members olPlhe R.S.L. would then have the opportunity of tak-
ing over all the agricultural properties of the Italians, less expenses of
course. This could be done, but then, would they be able to cope?”
(28)

Three weeks later, strongly surported by the R.S.L., 100 British mig-
rants met in the municipal hall at Inmisfail and founded the Far North
Queensland Branch of the British Preference League. The aims, once
again full of discrimination and racial hate, were stated thus;

(2) to request the replacement of foreign (Ttalian) workers by British
migrants in the cultivation and cutting of sugar cane,

(b) to support the policies of the League in all their endeavours,
(¢) to support the League in the professional, commercial and indust-
rial life of Australia,

(d) to ensure the implementation of the White Australia Policy,

They decided, mareover, to insist with the Federal government that
migrants be not granted Australian citizenship if, after at least ten
vears of residence and a rigorous test, the candidate could not de-
monstrate an adequate knowledge of the English language. (29)

Finally they forced an agreement with the plantation owners of South
Johnstone that 75% of the cane cutters had to be Anglo-Saxon. (30)

These discriminatory and wholly arbitrary sentiments were a tradi-
nonal characteristic of industrial relations in northern Queensland,
but the economic erisis of 1929 and the artendant wave of uncmploy-
ment, brought them into the open. in all their cruelty,
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The Italian community and its representatives reacted spiritedly, In
the first few days of June, 1930, tﬁe Italian cane cutters met in fnnis-
fall and asked the authorities to concede to them, from the moment
they were permitted to settle in Australia, the same treatment as was
Biven to the Anglo-Saxon workers. They also pointed out that, in the
tase of those naturalised, they had the same rights by law that the
British and other Australians had by birth.
Al the same time, C. Danesi, instigator of the meeting, urged the Ita-
lians to oppose, always in an orderly manner, the British Preference
ague, so that their economic interests might not be damaged. (31)

In 1930 the racial tension, already high, was aggravated even further
When contracts for cane cutting were renewed. In the district of
Goondi. of 277 cane cutters, 208 were Italian and the others were all
Southern Europeans. No Englishman was taken on. The British Pre-
ference League, beside itself with rage, telegraphed Prime Minister
Seullin, reporting the situation,

The League expected that the povernment would maintain the de-

fence of the extreme north with native British citizens, thus ensuring

that the sugar industry would remain completely in the hands of the

Anglo-Australians, but the cane sugar cutters continued to work at
oondi and in other northern areas.

The British Preference League received its worst blow in 1932 when
the plantation growers of South Johnstone threw out the agreement
Of 1930 between the Australian Sugar Producers Association and the
Queensland Cane Growers' Council which stipulated that 75% of
Cane cutters in that district had to be Anglo-Saxon, (32)

This racist tug-o-war continued for a further few years. The openly
hostile feelings increased still further when the Australian Workers'
nion requested that all cane cutters be members of the union.
Clearly that was an attempt to limit the Ttalian influence in the sugar
industry and a direct attack on their economic position in the area
The Foreign Cutters’ Defence Organisation reacted immediately with
a cireular in which it stated that a cIg_ro\\rt:r had the right to employ an
Person whosoever that he pleased, that cane cutting had to be left
free to any person whosoever was capable of such work and that the
ritish  Preference League was acting in an improper manner,
damaging all the ethnic groups and causing racial hatred, (33)

Some wanted to resurrect the two episodes of racial hostility in which
the coat of arms from the Consular residence of the Italian Vice Con-
sul, G. Luciano, was removed, The first occasion was during the
Christmas celebrations of 1928, The crest was later found in front of
an old Chinese shop. On 21 January, the crest was put back in its
Place. On the second occasion the coat of arms at Innisfail was re-
Mmoved from the building one night between 18 and 29 May, 1030,
and once again protests were made to the Queensland and Federal
governments, Some days later the crest was found, damaged, in a
bush along the banks of the Johnstone River and was returned to the
alian Vice-Consul, who put it back in its place.
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Many Ialians considered such happenings as insults (o [taly. The
V;cc-(;ansu_l. G. Luciano, stated, “To rémove the Consular coat of
arms 15 an insult to the Italian nation because it is the offical nsignia
of Italy.” Such actions aggravated still further the divisions. (34)

But even the ltalians, in one sense, contributed 1o the tense atmos-
ﬂhcre or, rather, they aroused the suspicions of the people of their
Ost country. This was brought about by the creation of an Ialian
Club, which gave rise to the suspicion that the Italians wanted (o
segregate themselves. to maintain their own customs, traditions and
language and that they did not mean to have contact with the British.

The ftalian Progressive Club, also called the Alessandro Volta Club,
was founded at Mourilyan by a group of Italians to give moral and
economic assistance o our fellow country men and to foster good re-
lations between Italians and Australians. Quite soon it became the
most authoritative mouth piece, and for a long time the only one, in
defence of the Italians in northern Queensland.

We recall some oceasions, among the many, when C. Danesi. S.
Pagano or E. Ciampi spoke out in protest against perceived wrongs,
in defence of the Ttalians, In 1925 they protested against a motion ap-
~proved by the Chamber of Commerce of Inmisfail, against the influx
of Italians into the district. Again in 1929 they protested against the
accusation that the Ttalians were all Fascist: in 1930 they were again
engaged in a long struggle against the British Preference League! in
1932 they founded the Foreighn Cutters Defence Organisation. (35)

The Australians became even more suspicious because that was the
time in Italy when Fascism was advancing rapidly. People were con-
cerned that the Nalian club would become an outpost for [talian
Fascism, thus becoming a fifth colony,

On the other hand, the policies of the Fascist government, with its
statutes for branches ubroad, were trying to preserve and strengthen
the national conscience of the Nalians and 1o discourage any desire
they may have had for requesting citizenship of the countries in which
they resided. This served only 1o arouse further reservations in the
minds of the Australian authorities, worried as they were about the
possible social consequences of Faseism.

The consular and diplomatic representatives, eager 1o cnrrly outl or-
ders from Rome, opened Fascist branches among the Ttalian com-
munity and tried in every way to restore the ties of the migrants with
their fatherland, encouraging them not 1o renounce their Italisn
citizenship, In this way they contributed 1o Turthering divisions among
the migrants and creating further suspicions among the people who
hosted them.

It 15 necessary to point out, however, that the Ttalians now hal, for
the first time, someone 1o defend them. their interest and their
reputiation.

The Italan Fascist representatives in fuct, often made their voices
heard in defence of their fellow countrymen. cven if, at times,
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they mixed problems of work and prejudice with political problems.
ey re-awakened in the Ttalians their dignity as men and Halians.
While helping them to assert their rights. For example. in 1927, the
Jalian plantation owners in the Mackay district ran the risk of seeing
1C cane rot in the fields because the mills refused to grind it. The
tdlian Consul intervened immediately, preventing any loss for his fel-
OW countrymen. Moreover, he obtained the satisfaction of having
dpologies presented o him by the Queensland government.
Wil.h the inauguration of the Fascist branch at Innisfail in 1929, the
talian club and indeed, the whole community, became once again the
jects of suspicion. On that occasion, G. Luciano, Consular agent,
Clared that all Tralians in the district were Fascist or sympathisers
With the Fascist ideal,

T_hq Anglo-Australians reEliecI_ with an announcement that read, “The
talian Consul organises Fascism in Innistail. Italian workers, we do
D0t want Fascism here!" (36)

THE BLACK HAND

Crime is (0 be condemned always by every good citizen who respects
e faw, but especially when itis perpetrated against innocent people.
S owever, it is also necessary 1o avord condemning a whole commun-
Y or ethnic group because of the eriminal acts of some mdividuals. Tt
Would be absurd, for example, to accuse all the Irish cople of bemng
4 eriminal race, only because the bushranger, Ned elly, was Irish.
Infortunately, right here in Australia, the popular conviction has
cen created that Iralians have criminal tendencies.
The cases can be attributed to:

(1) the tendency 1o generalise about the few isolated crimes
‘ommitted by Italians in Australia,
(b) the grear contribution brought about by certain detective novels
and thriller films, where the American gangsters bear Italian names.
IUis true that, in some cases, the heads of these delinguent organisa-
10ns were of Italian descent, but it is necessary to remember that, for
¢ main part, they were products of that very same American soci-
“1y. For example, even Al Capone, like many others, was just 4 babe
M arms when brought to America by his parents and what he became
Wis the fruit of the American situation,

In Australi the medium of social communication has much 10 answer
T i ieuleating preconceived opinion and encouraging racial pre-
Mdice. For many years the Nalians had 1o suffer beeause of motives
devoid of comprehension by the press.

M.'my ltalians sull remember with disgust the regular anti-ltalian
ltacks by Smiths Weekly, now, thank heavens. dc:ufaml buried. The
MOSL tivial transgressions committed by ltalians muade front page
News, in capital letters, with all the publicity possible. So 100, in the
Wly newspapers and in magazines, just i suspicion was enough, or
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even the colour of the hair and the stature of a person, to hurl ac-
cusations, exaggerate facts and circumstances and to gencralise, ac-
cusing the entire Ttalian community of misdeeds.
And yet, it is common knowledge that the rute of criminality among
[talians is one of the lowest when compared with other ethnic groups
and with Australians,
What we have said 1o date does not aim 10 excuse the crimes which
were perpetrated by some [taliuns to the detriment of their fellow
countrymen in Queensland between 1925 and 1928, We condemn,
without reservation, the crimes committed by them, but at the same
time, we want to make known that it is just these deeds which have
shown that the average [talian does not have an inclination towards
criminality and that he does not bow easily to it.
The ltalian victims of some such outrages lost their lives because they
did not want to give into blackmail, to threats, to the loss of their
livelihood or their crops. Here are some examples of what happened.
The activities of the “Black hand” commenced near Innistail, It seems
that for three years a small organisation extorted sums of money from
some rather wealthy farmers in the area, who were afraid of reprisals.
In 192§ a certain Alfio Patané received, three times, a notice to pay a
certain sum of money and three times Alfio refused. On 1 August,
while he was returning home, he was mortally wounded by a lucky
shot, und the day after, he died in hospital. Three years later his
widow married a certain i Salvo. She too, in 1933, received a re-
quest to pay £500. Di Salvo did not bow fo the request. One night a
rifle shot, fired from behind a bush, wounded him in the face. Soon
after came another request 10 Di Salvo 1o pay up or else, but he re-
fused again, The following day his horses were found dead, poisoned
0 their stables.
Instead of surrendering to these new demands, Di Salvo decided o
finish with this band of criminals once and for all. However, on 5
January, 1934, while he was working in his sugar plantation, both he
and his wife were gravely wounded by two nifle shots fired from a
short distance away. Even this time Di Salvo managed to save himself
and his wife and from that day on they were not disturbed any more.
But the families of the arca lived in fear of thetr lives. (37)
The next vichm was a certain Giovanni Tacono, He was accosted on
11 February, 1934, by three members of the “Black hand”, Nicols
Mamone. Giuseppe Beuti and Giuseppe Parisi and asked to write in-
timidatory letters to the rich farmers of the ared. Tacono refused o
write such letters and Mamone, after a violent siruggle, cut off his
ears with a razor. Tacono recovered in hospital, but refused to reveal
the names of his attackers to the police, claiming he did not know
them.
When he was discharged from hospital he waited for the right mo-
ment to avenge himself. The occasion came when one day he came
across Mamone in a crowded street in Innisfail. Right in front of the
eyes of the passers-by he fired six rifle shots, leaving Mamone dead
on the footpath.
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During the Second World War the last act of injustice against the Ita-
lians was committed. Many of them were interned indiscriminately,
S0, hecause of the war, they were stripped of their prominent
POSttions in the sugar industry.

In conclusion. the period 1921-1940 was a troubled time in the history
of Halians in northern Queensland in the long and difficult struggle to
establish themselves economically on a level with the Australians.

THE ITALIANS ACQUIRE THE SUGAR INDUSTRY

At the start. the new arrivals were not even considered as settlers but
OIly as & substitute source of cheap labour. Certainly it was never
Cir intention 10 remain  dependent for long on the Anglo-
Ustralians, working simply as farm-hands. They had set out with the
Conviction that there was so much land in Australia there had to be a
Peee for them o,

In Passing we note that during this period, up until the First Warld
var, the Ttalian emigrants were almost exclusively all Piedmontese,
Tom the provinces of Alessandria, Asti and Cuneo and Lombuards

from Sondrio and Brescia, Before and after the war, they arrived
Tom Monfarrato and from other provinces of Piedmont and from
dntova in Lombardy,

It fact, “another interesting group comes from the commune of Os-
bglia (Mantova) on the River Po. This province is primarily a rice
'I't)ducing area, It also produces sugar beet, grain and cattle and the
nd is divided into large properties. Most of these migrants have es-

tablished themselves in the areds of Ingham and Halifax and cultivate

Sgar cane®, (38)

Immediately after the war, a certain number of Italians came from
arese and from Naples, actually & certain number had also come
fom these places before the war. Others came from Calabria, from
¢ towns of Gizzeria, Sabiase, Palmi, Farlerna and Rosarno, thus a

Srong migratory chain came from these towns. The Sicilians, how-

Ever, came jn particular from the provinee of Catania and arnived in
ueenstund at the start of the century. From 1920 on they arrived
fom other provinces, particularly from the province of Trapani.

Fi“““.\’. betore the end of the Second World War, emigrams from the

bruzzi region, from the provinces of Pescara and L Aquila, started

1O pour into the sugar cane areas. (39)

They all started their Australian adventure as SUZAT cane cutters,
O those who do not know or have never seen how cane is cul, we

San say nght away that it is very tough work. It requires very strong

Maming, persons accustomed 1o wnrkmF under the sun in a tempera-

Wre that goes from a minimum of 30°C 1o a muximum of 45°C

N the shade and it requires endurance and speed 1o work in teams.

Yor these reasons not everyone manages to be a cane cutter
€ work  was  carried  out i teams  of  four, six
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or eight men, and these teams continued to work in the rain and most
suffocating tropical heat, 1o maintain the flow of cane to the mills.
The work was mostly done under contract and in general was based
on terms and conditions laid down by the State Arbitration Court.
The owner paid so much per ton, more or less according 10 the condi-
tion of the cane in the field. The cane cutters were obliged to cut the
cane, clean it, load it and secure it on the carts, ready to be trans-
ported to the mills. The earnings were divided into equal parts among
the members of the so-called “gangs™ and the cook, if one was
employed. '
But besides the difficulty of the work, cane cutting presented other
dangers, not the least, that of extremely poisonous snakes, Moreover,
because of the climate and other factors, the cane cutters were often
afflicted by troubles such as stomach aches. fevers, parasites. “Weil's
Disease™ and often even cases of appendicitis. “Weil's Disease” is an
illness caused by a germ transmitted to men from mice in the cane
fields and the cane becomes so infected that the cane cutters contract
this debilitating disease, without even being aware of it at the time.
Giuseppe Luciano writes, “1 saw four of these poor unfortunates with
»rellowish skin. One was married with a wife and three children in
taly and I couldn’t help but feel distressed for these poor fellows.
Eﬁir health was ruined and a very gloomy future awaited them.”
But through tenacity and the will to succeed, the Italians did not let
slip the good prospects that the sugar cane indusiry offered. So, with
hard work, long and monotonous hours, at times even excessively so.
with saving and frugality, at times with a cooperative system either
crop-sharing or contract, they commenced the climb to economic
equality with the Anglo-Australians.
The process of acquisition by the Italians was already in full swing in
1914, Several had already become owners of big farms. In that vear
the manager of the Sugar Experiment Stations. according to the an-
nual report, affirmed that many Britons were selling their properties
to Italians and to other foreigners who wanted to own a sugar farm,
and that it was not an exaggeration 1o say that 99% of the sales in the
Herbert River district went 1o [talians.
“The cane farms at Herbert and Johnstone,” wrote G.C. Bolton.
“were gradually falling into the hands of foreign migrants, particularly
those of the Italians. In 1916, in the districts of Herbert and
Johnstone, 316 farms were owned by Britons, 103 by Itahians and 42
by other nationalities. Among the cane cutters. from whose tanks
came the new owners. there were 169 Britons and 621 foreign, of
whom more than hall were Tralian.” (41) '
Thus, with the numerical increase in the Italians, the following was
ascertained ~ the diverse places from which the Italians came. the in-
crease in sugar cane plantations and thus of sugar. From a production
insufficient for the needs of the nation, sugar became, after the war,
a seeondary export product. Finally the areas of sugar cane plantation
where Italians were most densely settled, sturted o be defined,
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The northern area that has Cairns as its capital, is the biggest and the
most densely populated by Italians. It extends from Ingham on the
erbert River in the south to Mossman in the north. and embraces
the districts of Hinchinbrook, Cardwell, Johnstone, Mulgrave and
ouglas.
The first emigrants from Piedmont arrived there in the eighties and
for u Jong time they were the most numerous. After almost 50 years
(1925), at the time of the visit of P. Mambrini, they were still the
Most numerous in the Hinchinbrook district = 757 from Piedmont,
641 from Lombardy, followed by 381 from the Aecoliun Islands, 365
from Sicily and 71 from the Veneto. (42)
They were u select group of farmers who, in general, were
agriculturists from birth and many had great success as land owners.
In his report of 1898, the Agent-General for Queensland observed,
“We remember when in 18904 group of farming families from Lom-
birdy and Piedmont were brought to Queensland by Mr Frairé of
Townsville, and how they settled in Wide Bay and in the Herbert
Iver district. These farmers established themselves so well that they
rought out their families and friends and, a8 a matter of fact, there
are about 40 requests in the process. requesting direct passage from
ltaly, thus avoiding the cost of a vovage from London.” (43) And
urther, "From 1892, their well-constructed houses with doors, win-
dows and window-sills painted in bright colours, were in direct con-
rast to the nearby bush and further still to the huts and tents in
Which many Australians lived.” (44)

Ftom the Herbert River area they spread like a bush fire o other
Northern districts, often at the request of cane growers in those
localities, From Ingham they spread. almost immediately, towards the
north to the district of Cardwell. For example, Eugenio Regazzoli, o
ong time emigrant, had a property at Cairns Creek and then at
urray. Me was the first Italian to pay taxes in that district. Between
the two wars, 90% of the cane cutters and a third of the growers
Were Southern Ewropean, almost all Ttalian.
From Cardwell, between 1912 and 1915, they commenced to flow
back 1o Johnstone which became the district, most densely populated
Yy Ialians. But already in the carly nineties, the first lalians from
tedmont and Lombardy had settled there. Names such as Filippo
inghellt and G.B. Lazzarini appear in the hists at Goondi as tenants.
Al the start of the century Carlo Della Vedova, S, Pagano, Persini
and Guerra were already owners of large plantations in that district.
Antonio Tonta had enugrated 1o Australia in 1896, After a brief holi-
iy in ltaly, in 1907 he and his son Matteo were pioneers ut Morshy,
Where they bought 4 property of virgin bushland. They cleared it and
Put it under cultivation and in 1910 they brought out Antonio’s wife
and the rest of the family.
It has been said that the Ttalians were not pioneers and that they pre-
ferred 10 buy farms already cultivated. This wiy of thinking js un-
doubstedly due to the fact that in later vears the majority of lalians
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who bought land had, through necessity, to buy land already culti-
vated. But it cannot be questioned that in the early years the Ttalians
cleared and tilled virgin Jand a1 Herbert River and in the Cardwell,
Mourilyan and Mulgrave districts, For exumple, at Tully. of 36 farms
Italians ploughed up 29 of them, (43)

“But not only is it due to the Itulian woodcutter thut the sugar indus-
try has been developed, from the twenties to the present position of
providing a living for 80,000 persons engaged in the cultivation, har-
vesting and milling and all the other activities connected with the pro-
cess, it 18 also due to the role that the talian has filled as a grower
that has helped to maintain the most important industry i the State
of Queensland to the present level, Already in the fifties, the industry
occupied 365000 acres and more than 14% of the total was under
cultivation, The gross value of the production, at that time, was
£16.900.000. The growers numbered 7.819 and the majority  were
Italian or of Talian origin.” (46)

“The: Italians were successful because they were prepared o work
hard. they were full of initiative and ready to wait. even for a long:
time, for a just wage. Morcover, they managed {o develop the culture
of many products which have become an important factor in the
agricultural economy of Queensland.” (47)

The period between 1921 and 1945 wis a stormy penod, the long
struggle by the Ttalians had the aim of proving themselves and of
reaching the same economic level as the Australians, And they
sueceeded,

In conclusion, we wish to affirm that much, in the past and even in
recent times, has been discussed and written about the Italian miera-
tion to Queensland. The immigration experts have made it the object
of sociological research, the doctors of research on adaptation to life
in the tropics, the political men on their tendency to live near each
other in well defined areas and the unions on their influence on the
rest of the working population and on their standard of living.
There have been government Commissions of Enquiry to investigate
the misdeeds, the customs and the way of living of these strange
people from Southern Europe.

We just hope that one day. in the not too distant future, someone
may write the history of the Italians in the sugar cane plantations
from the human and’ psychological points of view.
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THE ITALIAN
CONTRIBUTION TO MUSIC
AND THE FIGURATIVE
ARTS - PAINTING,
SCULPTURE AND

2 = ARCHITECTURE

In general the Italian migrant in this country has always been consi-
dered, and not without a suggestion of contempt, & “peasant mig-
fanl”, & worker migrant, rough, ignorant, barely civilised. who does
not know anything else but how to use the shovel,

Without referring to what ltaly has produced in the fields of science
and the arts, in music and in the whole gamut of human knowledge, a
tichness that perhaps, no other npation in the world can equal, we see
that, on the cultural level. the Tralian contribution to the development
of Australia has been, without doubt, impressive.
“With regard to music,” writes J. Lying, “the contribution rendered by
Italians is truly great: it could be said with a measure of truth, that
the Ttalians have introduced music 1o Australia. One has only to re-
call the multitude of bands that used to play in the city streets ...
which. together with the German brass bands, used to fill the streets
With music. But, apart from these humble street musicians, muny
Natable Ttalian artists came to Australia.” (1).
Classical music and opera. in particular, had an uncertain beginning,
When, for the first time, “Clari™ by Sir Henry Bishop, was presented
4t the Theatre Roval in Sydney. (2)
Attempts were also made to launch Coppin's opera, but were not
Successful. (3)
he Itatian operas performed in Australia for the first time were:
“The Batber of Seville” (1843), “The Sonnambula™ (1844). and
“Cenerentoln™ (1845), The first ltalan, in time and importance, to
dppear on the Australion stage, was Girolamo Carandini, tenor and
dallet dancer. Girolams Carandini, Marquis of Sarzano, with Ciro
Menotti, imprisoned by the Austrians, h‘jlnwmg the betrayal of the
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Count of Parma, managed to flee, taking refuge first in France then
in England. where he taught languages.

Being a Eood tenor and ballet dancer, in 1842 he agreed 1o join with
the Clarkes in a touring group in Australia, where he stayed. He
taught languages and classical dance at Queen's College in Hobart,
(4) On 11 March, 1843, in St loseph's Catholic Church in Hobart, he
married Miss Maria Burgess, who was to become the prima donna of
the Australian stage for half a century, Having made her debut in
Hobart on 21 August, 1843, (Whereas her husband commenced as a
ballet dancer in the following August), Maria Carandini sang her first
pieces of opera during the variety concert season.

After the birth of a baby girl (1855), she ancarc_tl again in Svdney,
where Girolamo danced in the presence of George ‘oppin and his
wife performed various arias.

In 1849 Maria gave a series of concerts in Hobart and in 1850, again
in Sydney, she sang with the famous Sara Flower. (5) In 1852 she
sang in “Norma" by Bellini, and the public liked it so much it was
pertormed 28 times, (6)

After the birth of another baby girl (1855) she performed again in
Sydney and then in Melbourne in the “Sonnambula” by Bellini, in
. "Lucrezia Borgia™ and in “La figha del Reggimento” by Donizzett,
while in 1858 she sang the part of Leonora in “Trovatore” by Verdi,
through at least 2 pertormances.  From  1860-1870 wilh their
daughters, Walter Sherwin and others, the Carandinis formed their
own opera company and travelled extensively throughout all the
colonies.

Girolamo Carandini had, in the meantime, been pardoned by the [ta-
lian government. But, having returned 1o [taly to regain his heritage.
he died of gastritis and pulmonary inflamation on 18 January. 1870,
Maria Carandini. after a little while, retired with her daughters to
Richmond Hill, near Bath, where she died on 13 April, 1894 (7)
In Melhourne in 1854, a certain Mr Vitelli founded the musical firm
of Allan's, which today is still going strong. In 1855 Camillo Del
Santo, having arrived in Tasmania, opened a concert hall in
Harrington Street.

In 1860 Stefano Cutolo arrived in Australia. A Neopolitan, he was
the pupil of Mercadante of the Conservatory of Music in Niples and
was considered one of the best soloists of his time, At the age of 34
he joined with Garibaldi and became very friendly with his sons.
Menotti and Riceiotti,

After the campaign of 1860 he left Iraly and opened a school of vielin
and pianoforte in Sydney, In 1867 he ave a famous concert for the
poor children's Institute at Randwick. lgh's reputation spread so much
that in that same year he was offered 4 teaching post iy Melbourne.
But while he was travelling on the Alexandry on the way 1o Mel-
bourne, he was tragically killed by the collapse of one of the ship's
masts, He was buried in the Meﬂtcmmc general cemetery under an
obelisk erected by his admirers. (8)
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The first Italian light operda company to complete a tour of Australia
was that imponcdginy- the entreprencur W. Lyster in 1868, Miss Lucia
‘arrati joined it as prima donna, also the tenor Neri. the baritone
Merini and the bass Leondi. Then in 1870 at the festival of music
held at the Sydney University, the most famous Italian singers took
art; they included the soprano Lucia Barrati, the tenor Neri, the
[- ;l)filﬂﬂc Contini. the bass Donati, Mr and Mrs Coy and Mr Cecchi.

One important event in the history of music in Australia was the
arival in 1871 of a musical company composed of 24 Italian artists,
under the direction of Messrs Pompei and Cagli,

After having finished a very successful tour of Asia. this company
tame 1o Australia without havinﬁ been formally invited. The company
established itself in Melbourne but undertook long tours in Australia
and abroad. (10)

In 1870 the celebrated teacher Albert Zelman Sen. came to Australia.
le was born in Triest and completed his studies at the conservatory
of Milan. While still very young he taught and directed in Caleutts.
In Australia_he settled in Melbourne, dedicating himself to teaching
#nd composing. He was director of the Liedertafel in Melbourne
and became a prolific composer of orchestral music, music for Masses
and for the violin. He died in 1907 leaving two children. who. in their
turn left their mark on the cultural life of Australia, Alberto in music
and Vittorio in painting.
In 1871 during the absence of Lyster, the company of Pompei and
Cagli took part in the annual opera season in Melbourne, under the
direction of Maestro Marazorati. Two of the operas produced very
Successfully were "Lucrezia Borgia™ and “11 matrimonio segreto”. (11)
hile this company was performing in Sydney, Paolo Giorza. another
great ltalian teacher, arrived to settle in Australia.

In 1872 the entreprencur Lyster, having returned from overseas,
launched » new Ilaﬂun-English company with Pompei and Cagli, and
presented to the public a programme rich in music and popular
Opera. Maestro Giorza was asked to lead the Italian operas and also
laking part were the famous sopranos Ciuti, Robottero, Orlandino,
Susini and Cecchi.

Hazon, who had been director of the “Del Verme” theatre in Milin
Of many  years, lounded the amateur philharmonic society in
Sydney in 1892, from which came artists of internationsl fame, like
aderewsky and Teresa Carrera

On 14 November, 1876, the Royal Theatre in Sydney opened the first
Season of Ialian operatic music. The company, still led by Lyster,
Was composed of fourteen of the best opera singers. The conductor
WYas Maestro Paolo Giorza “the best musician ever to come 1o

Ustralia®, who also enjoyed great success with a choir of seven

Voices, the occasi 1onal Fai sl i -
1880, | 1‘3‘2’; he occasion of the International Fair, held in Sydney in
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1880 is remembered in the history of Australian operatic music as the
year of the death of that great entrepreneur, Samuel Lyster. For 20
years, in the midst of so many artistic and financial difficulties Lyster
had given to his country the best of operatic music and drama. His
death heralded a period of decline in the field of operatic music in
general and of ltalian opera in particular, (13)

However, the undisputed leaders, Alberto Zelman and Paolo Giorzd.
remained on the scene and they were joined by Robert Hazon in
|887. Hazon was to become an important part of the musical life of
New South Wales for 20 years.

We want to remember also the violin-cellist and conductor of opera,
Count Biscaccianti, resident of Melbourne, who left to settle in Hon-
olulu in the Sandwich Islands, for health reasons. There he was
treated courteously by the King and his court, who were old friends
of his, but not finding the solace he hoped for, he went to San
Francisco. He returned to Melbourne where he died on 19 April.
1879. (14)

J.C. Williamson, who was brought to Australia in 1875 with the
dramatic company of Camillo Urso, formed Williamson’s Operd
Company, after the death of Urso,

The following year he presented to the public, “The Pirates” with
Alice Ross, Howard Vernon, Tommaso Riccardi and Mr Verdi.
Thereafter he dedicated himsell almost completely to operetta, leav-
ing the grand opera to  Simon’s Opera Company , which brought 10
the stage rather unkown operas, such as “Ernani”™ and “Lucia di Lam-
mermoor”, under the direction of Maferoli and with the involvement
of singers more favoured by the public, such as Cuttica, Emila.
Giuditta Melossi, Dimitresco and Lablache.

It is necessary 1o record here another artistic event that left an indeli-
ble impression on the history of the artistic life of Australia - the tour
of the famous theatrical actress Adelaide Ristori in 1875. Madam¢
Ristori, married 1o the Marquis Romano Del Grullo, organised a tour
round the world with heér own company consisting of 32 elements.

After having performed in every corner of the United States, Central
and Southern America, the company came to Australia, where it re-
mained all the winter of 1875. Madame Ristori performed in Ttalian,
French and English. Her success, especially in Sydney, was eporm-
ous. After each of her performances she was escorted in triumph by
an immense crowd to her quartérs. No singer or actor had ever won
such acclaim. (15)

In 1893 Williamson, returning to the Lyster tradition that had accus
tomed the Australian musical community o an annual season ol
operatic music, engaged for the first time an [talian opera company,
is company presented “L'amico Fritz”, the “Cavalleria Rusticand
and "1 Pagliacci” under the direction of Maestro Guerrera. (16)
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The principal singers of the cast were. for the female roles, ltalia Del
Torre, Fiorella Giraud and for the masculine roles, Fresea, Russell
and the Englishman Charles Saunders. (17)

The next operatic season was not until 1901, This time the J.C. Wil-
!}am:mn company brought to the Australian public five Italian operas.
Aida", “La .Bnﬁcn-lc-". “Otello”, “Fedora™ and “La Gioconda”, The
o8t popular singers were Basich and Dani, together with Vera
Sapio, Giulia Rovogli and Mr Rozzoli. The conductor was once again
atstro Hazon and this season was the most successful with a record
of 216 performances. (18)

In 1916 another Ttalian operatic company arrived in Australia. For 12
Jonths 11 gave very successful performances including “Otello™,
Madame Butterfly”, “La Boheme", "Mignon”, “La Gioconda" and
1l Barbiere di Siviglia™.
Conductors included the Gonzales brothers, Ernesto and Giovanni
and among the female singers were Gonzales, De Revers, Visoni and
the male singers included Cappelli, Dagradi, Filippini. Scamuzzi,
Cacialli and Padovani. (19)
A long interval elapsed after the Great War then Williamson-Melba
Performed in Australian theatres with Toti Del Monte, Cappelli, Bor-
gioli, Piccaluga, Granforte, Azzol, Carozzi, Scavizzi, Concato ana
Many others, There were two conductors, Paoloantonio Chiavoni and
Frank St. Leger. (20)
Four years later the same entreprencurs again presented an excellent
{iﬁenory with “L’amore di tre re”. “Thais”, “Lodoletta”. “Gianni
S icchi®, “Il Tabarro”, “Suor Angelica”, “Turandot” and many
Other works. The cast consisted of two conductors, Bavagnoli and
4gazzolo, and 26 singers, amongst whom were some already very
m)pulnr names like Dal Monte, Scavizzi, Rettore, Granforte, Tornari,
mghetti, Lombarsi, etc. (21)

This tour was to be remembered for another event - the marriage be-
'Ween Toti Del Monte and the tenor Enzo De Mauro Lomanto.
Celebrated 23 August, 1928, in the Cathedral of Santa Maria in Syd-
fey. 25,000 people crowded into the cathedral and the adjacent park,
10 be able 10 altend in some way, the wedding celebration of these
WO very popular opera singers. (22)

is was the last tour of the great Italian opera singers. Italian sin%ers
Vere 1o come again (o entertain the Australian pul%lic before the See-
ond World War, but individually, no Ion_Fcr In numerous groups. The
our thar Tito Schipa completed in 1937 has remained famous, The
Halians found themselves united more than ever and discovered also
"ew friends and admirers in the most unexpected quarters of

Ustralian society,

Al the Sydney Town Hall, where Tito Schipa was performing, he was
Vamed personally before the start of the rogram, by Mayor Grant,
that he was absolutely forbidden to give his usual Roman salute to
¢ audience. Tito Schipa gave the Roman salute not once, but five
mes to the stalls, who gave the same salute in return. In the
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excitement that accompanied some arias, even Emest Truman, io-
stead of clapping his hands, gave the Roman salute repeatedly. F
was photographed in that pose and appeared the next day in the daily
newspapers, which quoted in the sub-titles, declarations by Grant.
who was beside himself with rage, “We have been treated to a Fascist
demonstration. Schipa has demonstrated that in a Fascist State all cul-
tural forms must be subjected to the dictatorial political gesture of the
barbaric Roman salute.” (23)

Another great Italian musician was Albert Zelman, son of Alberto
Zelman Snr. Isabelle Moresby writes of Alberto Zelman, “If there 1%
one name that should be written in letters of fire in the history @
music in Australia, it is that of Alberto Zelman, brilliant violinist anc
conductor, who accomplished so much in his all too brief life.” A
ﬁreat man of exceFliOnal- personality, he was the first Australian 10
old a position of leader in music in Australin. No-one except #
genius, could do what Alberto Zelman has done for music, With very
little help he became the best violinist in the country. He founded
and conducted the Melbourne Symphony Orchestra and for 16 years
was the conductor of the Melbourne Philtharmonic Society. Moreovers
he founded the Orchestral League, the Melbourne String Quartet, the
British Music Quartet and was President of the Musical Society O
Victoria and & member of the Council of Melbourne Musical Societies
and of the Community Singers' Association. (24)

Alberto Zelman, born in Melbourne in 1874, made his first appears
ance in a concert at the age of six, playing the violin. At 17 years of
age he made his first tour of Tasmania and New Zealand, visitng
more than 100 places, usually together with the singer, Amy Sherwin,
For about 20 years he conducted various operetta and even “Sweel
Nell of the Old Drury” with the famous Nellie Steward. After this
period it is somewhat difficult, if not impossible, to follow his man
activities and the mrerwhelrninE rhythm of his artistic life, facts whic!
are not within the scope of this work.

In 1912 Alberto Zelman married the famous soprano, Maude Har
rington, and n 1922, accompanied by his wife, made a tour of
Europe, visiting France, Belgium, Austria, Germany, ltaly and Swit-
zerland, In many of these countries he was invited to conduct the
most famous national orchestras.

Before concluding we want to record another fact that allows us @
understand even better this extraordinary genius. “Well manne
and simple, he did not have time for anything but his music. By temp”
erament, daring and emotional, Alberto Zelman used to play in 3
generous, flowing style, with a tone singularly pure and beautiful. He
was the man of the Kighesl ideals and had an integrity without fear 0F
favour; he was kind and generous, happy and enthusiastic an
splendid friend.” (25)

He died in 1927 in the “Savage Club”, of which he was an honorar
member. A lamp of remembrance is always lit and bears the
inscription, “his light abides™, (26)
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FIGURATIVE ARTS

Ialians have also distinguished themselves in the field of figurative
arls ~ painting, sculpture and architecture. During the years [870-80,
When the difficult colonial life was passing through the period of cul-
tral transformation, the Italian contribution was invaluable, not only
ecause of the enrichment that the Italians brought to the artistic
Ieritage of the country, but also because they taught so many Austra-
an artists the use of the brush and the chisel.

s 1o the credit of these good artists that within a short time schools
Were opened, academies and art exhibitions,

In Sydney, E.L.. Montefiore was one of the founders of the Academy
Of Art in New South Wales. In 1871 the first classes organised by the
Academy were entrusted to two excellent Italian masters, the painter,
Giulio Anivitti and the sculptor, Achille Simonetti.

These two young artists arrived in Awustralia at the invitation of
.B!Shop Quinn, the first Catholic Bishop of Brisbane, who came to

ow them during his stay in Rome for the First Vatican Ecumenical
Council,

They were both from Rome, where Simonetti was born in 1838 and
Anivitti in 1850, The father of the former was sculptor and the father
Of the latter was an engineer.

Both had studied at the Academy of Art at San Luca. where Achille
imonetti had his father as the teacher, while Giulio had the excellent
Alessandro Capulti.

In Australia they remained in Brisbane for three years then moved to
Sydney, Simonelti opened a grand studio in Balmain and worked at
L. John's College at the University of Sydney. Among other works
€ modelled the bust of Governor Sir Hercules Robmson., At the
EXhibition organised by the Academy of New South Wales, he was
AWarded the first silver medal for “Seulpture of modelling”.

The following t;car he won the first prize in sculpture at the exhibi-
Yon organised by the Agricultural Society of New South Wales and a
Bold medal at the Academy's annual exhibition, where he continued
0 win prizes up to 1880, In 1875 he became the instructor of
Sculpture and modelling at the new school of art at the Academy.
{" 1879 he took part in the international exhibition in Sydney with his
Venere del Sud”, winning the praises of many, The year after he
100k part in the International Exhibition in Melbourne, submitting
Wo busts.
Already by 1880 Simonetti had become the most fashionable sculptor
I Sydney. He modelled busts for many notable people in high soci-
Cly, including the bust of Sir John Challis, which is displayed in the
Ereat hall of the University of Sydney,
In 1891 the Governor commissioned six allegoric statues to form part
Of the facade of the residence of the Secretary of the colony. In that
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same year he finished sculpting the statue of Bishop Quinn, his
friend, and this was considered his finest work,

The last of his great works was the monument to the first Governor
of Australia, Captain Phillip, sited in the botanical gardens in Svdney-
He took almost ten years to complete the work. The monument cost
about £14,000, the "highest price that had ever been paid for @
sculpture in the colony. Erected by the Galli brothers, the statue was
15 feet high. The statues at the base represented agriculture, com-
merce, Neptune (navigation) and Cyclops (mining industry).
Simonetti died on 23 March, 1900, at only 62 years of age, because of
a cardiac collapse. He was a prolific and talented artist. He left
behind numerous superb works. (27)

Giulio Anivitti, the painter, had hardly arrived in Sydney when he
was asked in May of 1875 to teach painting and drawing in the first
school of art, initiated by the Academy of Art of New South Wales.
The Academy had been instituted in 1871 with the purpose of pron-
oting fine arts in the colony and of giving to its members the oppor-
tunity to exhibit their works, In that same year Aniviiti won the gold
medal with a portrait of Charles Badham. (28)

By 1876 he already had 30 students and the reports of the Academy
expressed satisfaction with the work of Maestro Anivitti,

Among his pupils were Amandus Julius, W.T. Butlet and Percy Wil
liam. As Simonetti was for sculpture. so Anivitti was for fashionable
portraits in Sydney. Among the many portraits of personalities more
or less well known, those that we can still admire today include the
portraits of Professor Badham. Canon Allywood, the Catholic
Archbishop of Sydney, Polding, and Rev, W.B. Clarke, (29)

Anwvitti died very young on 2 July, 1881, His landscapes and portraits
are on display at the Sydney University College and at the Royal Soc-
iety of New South Wales. His real greatness, however, was in know:
ing how to teach the use of the brush and colour to others. (30)

Another two excellent sculptors who are remembered by Federico
Gagliardi in his writings are Del Vescovo and T. Sani ... “1 have 10
announce,” writes Gagliardi, “the arrival from New Zealand of the
grcat_sculpmrs Del Vescovo and Sani, They have opened a studio
ere in Melbourne and are working on the bust of the consort of our
Consul, whose unfortunate ecarly demise is lamented by all”.

“When our esteemed sculptors, Del Vescovo and Sani.” continues
Gagliardi, “arrived in New Zealand in August 1876, a public tes-
timony of affection in memory of Doctor Featherstone was being
planned. Doctor Featherstone, who had already received part of his
education in Italy, had moved to New Zealand for health reasons and
there quickly became one of the most influential men in the colony:
He was elected 1o Parliument and was twice a Minister. From April
1853 to April 1871 he was superintendent of the provinee. now the
district of Wellington, and from that time on General Agent of the
Colony in London, where he died. '
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The beach of Port Melboume, a sight at St. Kilda, by an lMtallan painter, Girolamo
Bellogt] - Nerf

Abeautitul picture by Ugo Catan
(From a private collsction of J. Flexmorel
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“The two sculptors, Del Vescovo and Sani, set to work immediately
and presented a model in clay, which was accepted and so they were
commissioned to carry out the work. The inaugurtion was carried ouf
with great pomp in the presence of all the chief authorities of the
colony, together with many of the public.” (31)

We have no other information on Del Vescovo and do not know
whether he remained in Melbourne or if he returned to Italy.

Sani, instead, after having taken part in the International Exhibition
in Melbourne in 1880 with a statue called *Welcome” (Benvenuto),
moved to Sydney where he worked as a sculptor for 35 years. He
sculpted the much discussed statues on the facade of the General Post
Office in Sydney, the Aesculapius for the school of medicine at the
University of Sydney, and the Mercurio in bronze for the building at
the Evening News .

He had a period of decline uptil the Legislative Council of the colony
declared the statues at the G.P.O. to be works of art. After that he
resumed his activities in full. He prepared a bronze statue. “The
Footballer”, for Centennial Park, and the statues of A. Cunningham,
W.V. Wentworth and others. (32)

Tommase Sani was a man of talent and culture, accustomed to a
modern style of architecture. His sculptures were generally in a
realistic style with a touch of humour, that rendered the sculptor
unpopular,

Another fine artist was the Marquis Girolamo Bellotti-Nerli, pupil of
Ciserl, Born in Siena in 1863, he emigrated to Sydney in 1886, and
later to New Zealand, where he assumed the task of director of the
Institute of Fine Arts in Dunedin,

When he was visiting Sydney he took note of the devélopment of the
new arl that was taking place in Europe - impressionism. The portrait
that he did of Robert Louis Stevenson in Apia in 1892 has remained
famous.

An artist in the Bohemian sense of the word, was the sculptor from
Puglia, Porcelli, who arrived in Australia in 1896 and settled in Perth,
where he sculpted two famous statues, that of the explorer and
statist, A. Forrest, and that of the engineer, Y. O'Connors, who built
the grandiose acqueduct from Perth to Kalgoorlie, (33)

Carlo Rolando, Florentine and son of an artist, was o great master of
the use of colours, also a great lundscape artist, After having studied
art in his city of birth, he moved to Liverpool in England in 1870.
where among his best remembered frescoes are pumbered those from
the local Catholic church, In Liverpool he marnied Frances, sister of
the well-known portrait artist, George Webb, who had lived in
Adelaide and Melbourne for many years,

1883 the couple left Li.vcrpoul to settle in Australia, but stopped over
for two years in South: Africa, where Rolando was awarded the first
prize. m an art exhibition, thus he received numerous further
COmMMIssions.
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In 1885 Rolando and his wife arrived in Melbourne and immediately

olando commenced to paint Australian landscapes. The following
Year he became a member of the Australian Association of ‘Artists, In
1887 he presented a personal exhibition of 28 oil paintings, ten water
colours and many drawings, to the public of Melbourne and to other
mam centres in Victoria, His takings were £900. He opened a studio
and an art school in St. Kilda, a fashionable suburb of Melbourne.
He took part in the annual exhibition by the Victorian Society of
Artists in May, 1888 and in the international exhibition for the cen-
tennial of Melbourne in August of that same year. Rolando was an
artist with "4 rapid and easy style and great dexterity in execution,
With an excellent sense of colour and & feeting for atmosphere and
light, combined with the uncommon qualitz of being able to discern
;’g;i)nus forms and hues in the green of the Australian landscape.™

Other Ttalian sculptors and painters are worthy of mention. In 1885
the Marquis Girolamo Nerli arrived in Melbourne. Born at Palazzien
Pecei in Siena. he had studied ainting in Florence from Maestro An-
tonio Ciseri, His mother wis the sister of Thomas Medwin, Shelley's
biographer and the author of Conversations of Lord Byron .
Nerli became popular because of his free style of painting. Although
his works were not well received in Melbourne by his contemporary
crities, he started to make his mark on the tastes of Sydney.
According to James Green, “The Marquis Nerli, Ialian by birth and
European in his professional training, was the first to introduce the
Wdependence of the new continentalism of the south, with his
disregard for generally accepted obstacles and with his frequent sub-
Stitutions of simple sketches as completed works, his unfinished
“Baccanalian orgy” in the Monticelli style, were “pearls for the pigs”.
4nd the boldness of his Salome, fike & symphony in black and vellow,
Suggests the “Riposo” with which the artist took away the breath of
the public of Sydney," (35)

Ugo Catani, a painter from Florence, (rom the Florentine school of
art, came to Australia in 1886,

Giovanni Fontana, from Parma. worked for several years in Sydney
4nd Adelaide, In 1890 he sculpted the bust of Henry Parkes for the
Civic buildings at Parkes.
Giovanni Ferranini, bom in Parma in 1846, lived and worked for it
long time in Sydney until his return to Rome. Some of his pictures
Were displayed in the National Gallery in Melbourne, He was # land-
SCape impressionist and was well received by the public,
Dittilo Rubbo was another famous pamter and teacher, Born in
Naples in 1870, he studied at the Royal Academy in Naples under the
Buidance of the teacher, Domenico Morelli. He arrived in Sydney in
1897, where the year after, he founded a school of art which he main-
lained for 43 years. He taught in the Royal At Society for 26 years,
¢ was & member of the Council of the Royal Art Society from 1900
and of the War Memorial Advisory Council from 1919, Many of his
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works now hang in the art gallery in Manly, a Sydney suburb, but
they can also be found in Adelaide, Brisbane and New Zealand

(Wellington and Duheding. He was made Cavaliere of the Order of
the Crown of Italy in 1932. (36)
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THE PROFESSIONAL
CONTRIBUTION OF THE
2 = ITALIANS DOCTORS

DOCTORS

In the field of medicine, too, Haliuns have made their contribution.
“Specially in the period in which doctors not only were few in
fumber, but also were little disposed to practise their profession in
the smaller centres, far from the cities.

Doctors whose origing wete not English, were certainly not attracted
@ migrite to Australia, because of the legislation of the colonies re-

Barding qualifications. A doctor had 1o be a graduate of an English

University, or had to undertake new examinations before obtaining

Permission to practise his profession,

Besides, those who' did come, were fiot generally welcome in the

Glies, “Except in Western Australia, in fact,” writes the Consul, P.
Orte. “where the practice of medicine is reserved for graduate

doctors of English universities, or of other Australian universities, the
talian doctars could practise their profession freely in all the col-

Shies, providing they pass an examination and become re istered with
eIt degree .. The doctors can find good positions i they resign

themselves to living in the country. In fact, providing they understand

# little English, they can compete with the well paid doctors

Employed by the local authorities, practising their profession among
LOse people not associated with the Masonic Lodges and not living in

the municipalities which pay the local doctors™ saluries,” (1)

A regards the practice of medicine,” continues the Consul, Camillo
eriols, “I know that there are about 30 Italian doctors in the South-
“astern States, who seem to carn enough 1o have established perma-

et residences. Others are found 1o still be experimenting, now in

Ynie place, now in another, according to the offers they receive from

the intermediary agents, generally in little centres, where the local as-

Wciations assure them of a set annual sum, to help the people who
*long (o them. Here the doctor leads a life of wvation and discom-
Ort, since he must often travel very considerable distances on horse-
Ak, in all sorts of weather, to answer all calls, without ever being

able to refuse, without ever having any relief or avenues of relaxa-

0 In the city it is very difficult for an Ttalian doctor 10 obtain a
Clientele, ™ (2)
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The Tralian doctors who came to Australia in the second half of the
last century were quite diverse and some of them have become
famous.

Among these was Doctor Gregorio Vincenzo Marano (1850-1924).
M.D., CH.D., who graduated %rom the University of Naples jn the
seventies and then emigrated to Australia. Having established himself
in Sydney, he became famous as a surgeon and as a specialist in re-
spiratory therapy, about which he wrote various uarticles in the
Medical Journal.

For many years he took over the task of Italian Vice-Consul for the
State of New South Wales. In this position in 1881, he became in-
terested in the Government, because il gave refuge in Australin to
the surviving Italians of the ill-fated expedition of the French Marquis
De Rays. When the survivors finally disembarked he did all he could,
alongwith a certain Doctor Day and without payment, to care tor the many
‘(i;{..]k people among them and to alleviate the sufferings of the others.

In 1887 another young man arrived in Australia. He, too, had just
graduated in medicine from the University of Naples - Dr Natale
Sisca. In order to practise his profession he had to abandon the city
and move to Mt. Egerton, ncar Ballarat. After some years he move
to Hawksburn, a sugurh of Melbourne, and finally to the city. During
the time in which he practised in the Ballarat district, Dr Sisca be
came very interested in “miner’s disease™ silicosis, in its causes an
cures. [1890)

The Consul, P. Corte, when reporting the news, writes, “,.. the
‘miner’s disease’, so well studied by our esteemed fellow countryman.
Dr Natale Sisca, is a chronic bronchitis mixed with chlorosis to the
general weakening of the system.” (4) In 1920 Dr Sisca brought the
problem of silicosis to the notice of the legislators and the public.

Still in 1889, he did research on “Chronic indigestion and biliousness
and management of children,” and moreover, on “Management ©
children in health and discase: children to mothers. Parts of manage:
ment of pregnancy, of healthy children or sick children,” (3)

In 1889, two other doctors arrived, Ageslao Gaetano lovine, who

%_raduatcd in Naples in 1890 and settled in Melbourne and Michele
arbonara, who also gradualcd in Naples in 1891 and who settled &t

Tambo in Queensland.

In 1906 Giuseppe Enzo Marolli arrived, having graduated at Pavia.

He was assigned first to Tibooburra in New South Wales and then

after the First World War he opened a surgery in Newcastle.

Dr Spina was already practising his profession in Kalgoorlie, Wester?

Australia, in 1908, while another three Italian doctors were practising

together in Perth. There was also another of Italian arigin.

In 1918 Giuseppe Romeo, who graduated in Naples, settled in North

Fitzroy and in 1924 Tullio Balboni, who graduated in Naples in 1922,

established himself at St. Kilda.
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The list could be continued, but we want to focus on the activities of
At least three of these Nalian doctors in Australia. It is true. at any
rate, that all the doctors mentioned, and also those whom we have
Mot named, have made their contribution to this country.

Dr Giuseppe Marchesini, born in Osimo in 1875, emigrated in 1900
10 Australia, as soon as he had graduated in surgerv. He commenced
Practising at Henty near Wag%ii Wagga where he remained for 18
months, then he moved to Rut erglen, a town in Northern Victoria,
until  his death, Dy Marchesini was the first doctor in

Ustralia to operate on varicose veins and the uterus,

The Wagga Wagga Chronicle of March 1, 1902, wrote, “A very im-
fant operation was carried out ten days ago by Dr G. Marchesini,
¢ paticnt was the well known John Graham, who was operated on

Or varicose veins. It was the only operation of its kind to be carried

Out in the States.” Dr Marchesini also wrote a book entitled.

“’t.r!ammy. (6)

Dr Tommaso Enrico Fiaschi was one of the reatest Australian sur-

geons and without a shadow of doubt he is the finest figure and the

Most outstanding of all Italian migration. He was a complex personal-

Ity: a professional, a soldier, a writer, a polyglot and an oenologist,
orn in Florence on 31 May. 1853, from an old Florentine family. at

Only 20 years of age he embarked on a merchant ship headed 1o

Australia, He disembarked in 1875 at Cooktown in Northern Queens-

land, at that time full of gold seekers, mostly Chinese. among whom

Malaria was reaping many victims. There being no other doctors, the

Young Fiaschi remained in Cooktown for abouf four years, experienc-

Mg a hard initiation nto the life of a doctor.

In 1879 he moved to Windsor, a few miles from Sydney, where he

“came the most renowned surgeon of his time. In 1883 he became
the honorary surgeon of the city’s hospital and the first president of
the medical school of that hospital. In 1889 he was elected President
Of the British Medical Association of New South Wales and as such
ad many articles published in medical journals.

In 1891 he enlisted in the Lancers Battalion of New South Wales,
With the rask of coordinating the health services of the Australian
armed forces, a service still in its infancy.

In 1896 he served as health officer in the Itahan army in North Africa
and was among the first of the Corps who made the expedition into
\byssinia. For exceptional services he had conferred upon him the
~Tosses of the Order of St. Maurizio and of St. Lazzaro and that of
e Order of the Crown of Italy.

Again in 1898, during the war against the Boers in South Africa. the
Organisation of the first field hospital for the Australian expedition
Was entrusted to Dr Fiaschi,

For his dedication to duty (he was in fact described as “a fapatic for
Work regardless of the sacrifice™) the General in command of the En-
glish forces, Lord Roberts, whom Fiaschi had refused to accompan

0 a tour of inspection because he had to take care of the wounded,

21



conferred on him the medal of “Distinguished Service Order”.
When he returned to Australia he was transferred to the Common-
wealth Armed Forces with the rank of Colonel, In 1911 he was prom-
oted to medical officer to the Second Military District.

At the stiart of the First World War he was put in charge of the “No.
Threp General Australian Hospital™ in Lemnos. Later. he asked and
obtained permission to lend his services to the Italian Army and took
charge of a military hospital in Trentino, until the end of the war,
He was a polyglot. He knew and spoke correctly English, Latin,
Freach and German, as well as ltalian, In Sydney he was the founder
of the Alliance Francaise and of the Dante Alighieri Society, of which
he remained president until he died.

He had an innate passion for viticulture and for the production of
wine. He was president of the wine merchants’ association in New
South Wales. He held conferences and wrote treatises on viticulture
and winemaking,

He took an important part in the spreading of the wine industry in
Australia. He was the owner of two famous vineyirds, ong mn
Windsor, which he called “Tizzana” from the Italian fown in Pistoia
from which his family came, and the other af Mudgee,

He retired from his profession in 1926, because of illness. to dedicate
himself to his winemaking. But at Mudgee, at the end of harvest
time, he was struck by pneumonia and in Sydney, on 17 April, at the
age of 74, he ceased to live. (7)

“Fiaschi,” recalls his friend. Professor Baccarini, “knew how to com-
bine, like no-one else, his jealous love for ftaly and his open loyalty
to the country where he had been able 1o manifest the ifts of his real
genius.

“He was an example to the Italian migrant and to the migrants of
every nation, of how to keep alive one's own ethnic tradition and
how to express that tradition by the way one conducted oneself.

“Language and behaviour are civilisation. Fiaschi knew how to offer
this richness to the new country; he knew how to serve s native
country and also to defend it when the occasion arose.” (8)

The famous Dr Raffacle West Cilento, born in Adelaide on 2 De-
cember, 1893, merits particular mention. Dr Cilento is the great
grandson of a certain Salvatore Cilento who, at eighteen years of age.
embarked on the steamship, Telegraph, in order 1o flee reprisals
tlhcé time, of Ferdinand 1T of Bourhon. He arsived in Adelaide in
BSS.

The great grandson, Raffacle West. brilliant of mind. obtained vari-
ous scholarships and graduated in medicine in 1917, The following
car, as a military doctor, he was sent 10 New Guinea, Here he fell in
ove with the tropics and commenced to involve himself in the study
of tropical discases. He enrolled for this purpose at the World Insti-
tute of Tropical Diseases and Health, where he obtained various
prizes and 4 medal.
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The "All Hallows™ school In Brisbane, planned and constructed By the Architect
A Stambuco in 1882

The industtial school of S Anna in Basbane, another project by Architest A
Stambuco
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owWith his parents

Stlerniist Luigr Barnace
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He married a doctor colleague and both served in Malaya and New
Guinea as health administrators. With Dr Anton Breini he was recal-
led 10 Queensland, where he founded the Institute of Tropical
Medicing at Townsville. Then he was elected Director General of
Health in the State of Queensland. In this position he bettered the
conditions of the workers in the sugar cane plantations; he wiped out
the terrible illness called “Weils Disease™ and cured “Bookworm® and
450 “Denga®, which iliness had already taken a toll of many lives,
meluding many [talian cane cutters,

He also studied law and became a lawyer. He was made a Cavaliere

Y the King of Italy, He founded the school of medicine at the Uni-
versity of Queensland and introduced the free hospital system. the
first of its kind.

During the last war he served in Germany under the League of Na-
tons and prepared a plan of assistance during the Arab-Israeli war of
1948, When he returned to Australia, he did not slacken his activities.
Together with his wife, Lady Phillis. he wrote numerous articles and
DOoks on tropical diseases, and with 1.S. Jack he wrote the book,
Friumph of the Tropics, 1968. _

He was president of the Queensland National Trust, president of the
Royal Australian Society and of the Historical Society of Queensland.
esides that he was a member of the Dante Alighieri Society for
many years,

Cilento was one of those men of great vision and truly fond of stucly
and, as a member of his family said, “Dr Cilento is a truly great man
dnd he is one who didn't arrive yesteraay.” (9)

Whilst still young he found work in the Commonwealth Public Ser-
vice and for four years he served in New Guinea as director of Public

€alth and Quarantine.

"t us conclude this brief review of some Ttalian doctors, among the
Many in Australia, with a look at Dr Francesco Castellano who died
tecently, and was called the “Franciscan doctor”. :

He arrived in Australia from his native Bari in 1930, with 4 govern-
Mment contract as doctor for the ltalian hospital in Ingham, North
ucensland. In 1933 he moved to Cairns where he remained until
1940, Then he was interred during the war like so many other
taliams. A prisoner among prisoners, he was a blessing for many
lalians, to whom he gave elp, be it physical or moral, without
Sparing himsell.
When he returned affer the war to his place of work, he was in-
formed that there was no longer a place for him in the hospital at
dirms, I he wanted to continue to practise his profession he would

AVe 10 shift elsewhere. There were two alternatives, cither the

orthern Territory or Western Queensland. Dr Castellano chose this
48t and remained there until 1946, the year in which he moved to

tisbane, where he remained until he died on 11 December, 1976,
His sur ery was called St. Francis' house, where everyone, but espe-
Clally the poor, were helped, even financially. Dr Castellano had
three hobbies, culture, sport and music. (10)
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TWO SCIENTISTS - ONE AN ASTRONOMER AND THE
OTHER A METEOROLOGIST

In the field of science two illustrious Ttalians deserve to be remem-
bered ~ the noted astronomer, Pietro Paolo Giovanni Ernesto Barac-
chi, from Tuscany and the almost completely unknown meteorologist
Luigi Carlo Bernacchi from Cotmo. After having studicd mathematics
and astronomy at the school of the remarkable Professor Giovanni
Antonelli and having graduated in civil engineering at the University
of Florence, Pietra Baracchi arrived in Australia in 1876 with his two
friends Carlo Catani and Ettore Checchi.

A man of profound culture, he spoke three languages perfectly and
Knew how to write apother two. He was extraordinarily versatiﬁz; he
was a mathematician, an astronomer, a physicist and a meteorologist,
He had hardly arrived in Australia when he joined the Victorian
Lands Department and was sent (o carry out a survey of the
Moorabool River in the West of the State. In 1880 because of his
capabilities and his demonstrated professional attitude, he was
entered in the register of the Victorian Land Surveyors . (1 1)

But two years after in 1882, following his matural inclination and his
passion for the study of space, he joined the Observatory of
Astronomy in the State of Victoria, As his first job he directed an
expedition to Darwin, on the Northern coast of the Australian conti-
nent, and from there he measured the longitude of Australia, by
means of telegraphic signals from Singapore, two years before the in-
ternational accord with Washington that would fix the Greenwich
meridian for the standardisation of longitudinal calculations.

“In Singapore, at the other end of the tele sraph, Mavor Darwin was
collaborating with Baracchi, son of the celebrated naturalist. Carlo.
(12)

On his return from Melbourne in 1883, he was put in charge of thie
great telescope.. He stayed in Melbourne for ten years. The work of
observation and classification of the stars of the Southern Hemis-
phere, carried out by him in this period, was perhaps the first and the
most important form of cooperation with a scientific purpose, in
which Australis had ever taken part.

In 1887 he led another two expeditions in the observation of solar
eclipses, one in the South Pacific and the other in Tasmania, He also
took part in an international project for photographing the stars of
the Southern Hemisphere., contributing two monumental volumes of
pictures and detailed notes.

In 1895 Baracchi was nominated Deputy Director of the Melbourne
Obscrvatory of Astronomy and in 1900 astronomer for the Victorian
Government, the highest authority in the Southern Hemisphere, (13)
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[n 1910 the Federal Government invited Baracchi and three others to
Study and choose a suitable location between Yass and Canberra for
the construction of an Observatory of Astronomy.

He retired 1o private life in 1915 and in 1922 visited Euro for two
ﬁ':;m He returned to Australia. but died of cancer on 23 uly, 1926,
i4)

The other scientist, mentioned earlier, was Luigi Carlo Bernacchi,
Son of Angelo. Born in Lazza, in the province of Como, he migrated
0 Australia from England with his parents in 1870 and settled in Tas-
Mania. Luigi specialised in studies in the magnetic field, meteorolog

and physics, and in 1895 worked with Pietro Baracchi at the Mel-
ourne Observatory. (15)

In 1898 he was chosen to represent Australia on the first English ex-
pedition to the Antarctic. He was the first Australian to spend a
Winter at the South Pole,

The expedition arrived in Robertson Bay, near Cape Adare, on 17
ebruary, 1899, after 43 days of arduous navigation through the icy
ceas. The same Bernacchi gave a vivid account of his experiences in
his book, To the South Polar Regions (London, 1901.). *The camp
Was set up on stony land, at the foot of the high Cape Adare and we
Prepared to spend the winter there. It was the first time that man had
SPent i winter at the Antarctic Pole." (16)

The adventures and difficultics are described thus by Baracchi, "Life
in the Antarctic is a life of sacrifice, of privation, monotony and isola-
tion, but at the same time, it has a beauty, a hidden warmth that
sant be defined and you relive in your memory those days, so recent
and indolent, spent in geographic and scientific research at the Pole
rapped in 4 limitless world and covered with a layer of lee and
Show that oppresses you. the unigue message of the Antarctic is one
of 4 silent world,™ (17)
The expedition, notwithstanding its limited resources, achieved much,
Il the pioncering aspect is tuken into consideration. Meteorological
and magnetic observations were made and the magnetic point of the
South Pole was established. Different insects and new species of fora
4nd fauna were discovered. For the first time dogs were used.
However, 4 tragedy marred the expedition. On the 14 October., 1899,
the zoalogist, N. Hansen, died of an internal illness. He was buried
01 the top of Cape Adare and on that occasion Bernacchi wrote.
“There in the midst of a profound silence and peace, there is nothing
10 disturh the eternal sleep except the flight of marine birds. In the
hg, black night of winter, the brilliant polar aurora sweeps across
the sky and forms a glorious arc of light over Cape Adare and the
tomb. Tn summer the britliant light of the sun is always shining over
them. 1t scems a strange guirk of fate that Hansen, born and bred at
one end of the world, had 1o come to the other extreme to die.” (1K)

S0 the great, eventful Borchgrenink expedition ended, but the Lon-
don nulﬁnr:lics gave the impression of not appreciating it very much.
nother expedition was therefore prepared, 1901-1904, all English,

7



led by the famous explorer, R.F. Scott. There was great inferest in
Australia. Bernacchi was again selected to take part in Scott's British
Antarctic expedition. He was decorated with the medal of the Royal
Geographic Society, the King's Antarctic medal and the French Cross
of t)hc Legion d'Onneur for ﬁis research and scientific writings. (1906)
(19

On his return from the Antarctic expedition he undertook a long voy-
age to Africa and in 1906 he married Winfred Edith Harris in Eng-
land, That same year he explored the source of the Amazon. For
family reasons he was not able to take part in the second Antarctic
expedition, in which Scott perished.

After two vain attempts at a political career, in 1910 he made some
investments in the rubber plantations of Malaya, Java and Borneo,
During the First World War he served in the Royal Navy (Volunteer)
Reserve as a Colonel. He worked in the Navy Statf of Admiralty and
later with the United States Marines,

At the end of the war he returned to work for the Royal Geographic
Society and, from 1928-1932, for the British Science Guild and the
British Association for the advancement of Science. in the capacity of
adviser.

In 1930 he was director and organiser of the display of instruments
and photographic material used in Antarctica, a display that was
organised in Cambridge for the Scott Polar Research Institute. He al-
ways retained an interest in Antarctica, which, in his writings, he cal-
led South Victoria Land. In 1925 he investigated the possibility of
using tractors in the polar regions. Later he wrote two important
books on the exploration of Antarctica, A Very Gallant Gentleman,
1933, and The £agu of the Discovery, London, 1938.

He died at home in London in 1942, leaving a wife, two sons and two
daughters. (20)

After 85 years, in 1983, another Italian, Robert Cechet, a graduate in
physics and meteorology, journeyed to the Antarctic as a member of
the scientific expedition to the Australian Territory. At only 24 years
of age the young Italian scientist is an expert in much that concerns
our planet, in the fields of geomagnetism, geophysics and meteorol-
ogy. The direction of the Seismic Observatory and of geomagnetic
concerns in the Antarctic have been entrusted to Cechet. More-over
he has the task of preparing and maintaining all the new instruments
that the expedition brought with it and checking daily the variations
of the terrain.

It is comforting to see that the Italian ethnic contribution has always
given, still continues to give, and becomes more and more qualified.

ENGINEERS AND ARCHITECTS

Among the Italians who have given a professional impetus (0
Australia, we remember Carlo Giorgio Domenico Enrico Catani and
Ettore Checchi, both Tuscan,
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They set out from Hamburg on the Fritz Renter, together with Barac-
chi, as ordinary workers at the time, headed for Wellington, New
Zealand, Not finding work as professionals, they re-embarked a5 min-
€18 on the Alhambra headed for Australia, arriving in Melbourne on
27 September, 1876, (21)

All three, helped and advised by Marinucei, the Consul General of
ltaly, were taken up by the Department of Lands and Sutvey as
draughtsmen. After some time the three separated and each followed
his own chosen carcer, So Baracchi, as we have seen, dedicated him-
self (o astronomy, Catani to public works and Checchi to irrigation
and the supply of water.

Carlo Catani in 1880, was registered as a Surveyor, according to the
Aand Act. Two years later he was transferred to' the Ministry of Pub-
lic Works, where he was employed as an engineer draughtsman. He
2Uricted praise and respect for his work of draining the swamps of

ooweerup, where, first as second-in-charge and then as head of
Public Works, he effected the first big drainage projects. But the
drainage works did not prove to be adequate because during the sea-
Son of heavy rains. the canals did not succeed in carrying all the
Witer away.

Catani worked out a new, more effective plan which was less costly,
t the same time, anxious to start a colony of settlers in the drained
part of the lund, he sacked all the workers taken on by the former
Management and took on new workers, choosing from the married
Mmen enlisted at the employment agency in Mélbourne, and to each of
these he gave 20 acres of land.
400 Families came (o take possession of 8,000 of the 52,900 acres to
¢ drained. Every month lﬁc settlers had to work for two weeks to
Excavate the secondary canals, receiving £5 at the most, as pay. For
the other two weeks they had to work on their own properties.
In 1894, according to a relation of Catani, the experiment com-
menced to show its first positive results — the number of animals in-
Creased, every family had at least a pig ~ and was already producing
00 tons of potatoes,

Catani was well known and respected b the drainage workers, It did
not matter how long or how small the drainage canal under construc-
tion might be, Catani insisted on checking 10 see how the works were
progressing. He knew most of the men by name and often sat with
them on the banks of the canals for a bite to eat.

Al times these checks required long rides on horseback, or on foot,
but for Catani it was all part of the job.

As second-in-charge of the Ministry of Public Works, from 1880-1890,
he also worked on some programmes for expansion of the ports of
Victoria and for strengthening and remodernising the equipment and
services at the manne wharf in Melbourne.

Moreover, he transformed the marsh land along the banks of the
Yarra River into a glorious treed avenue, Alexandra Avenue, which

D)



follows the course of the water flanking Domain Park and the Botani-
cal gardens, reaching as far as Toorak. He planned and brought to
fruition the entire project of the boulevard at St. Kilda, He also car-
ried out the work of the boulevard at Brighton. He realised the
tourist potential of M, Buffalo, where he made possible the first re-
sort for winter sport, rendered accessible by the construction of a
panoramic road, where his name is perpetualed in the area by a pic-
turesque stretch of mountain water called Lake Catani, (22)
Catani’s life was speat with a sense of purpose and responsibility to-
wards the progress of the State, that he had made his own. He was
honoured by a bronze bust in his likeness, placed under the clock
tower at St. Kilda, in the centre of a pleasant complex that he him-
self, designed and realised, with the passion of an artist.

The inscription on the monument says it all, “To Carlo Catani, &
great worker for the State — (Florence 1852, Melbourne 1918)”

Ettore Checchi was also from Tuscany and he graduated in mechani-
cal and civil engineering and joined the Lands Department, but
straight after entered the Department of Public Works. In the capac-
ilg' of assistant engineer he took part in the works at the port and in
. 1888 was transferred to the Department of Water Supply, He drew
up plans for the Victorian Government for the Hume 'FVcir and wis
the first to explore and make a survey of the Upper Murray River.
Besides this, at the end of the century, he prepared some of the most
important irrigation schemes at Mildura and in the Goulburn Valley.

In 1911 he acdomganied two_TItalian experts in irrigation matiers,
Luigi Banderali and Antonio Parapini, sent to Victoria with the task
of studying the possibility of an Italian agricultural settlement.

Checchi was always highly respected as an engineer, a mathematician
and a gentleman. He retired voluntarily from work in 1926, to dedi-
cate himself to his hobby of making guitars, In his spare time he had
already built a yacht for competitions at Albert Park Lake. Checchi
died at home at Hampton on 19 July, 1946, (23)

Among architects we cannot overlook Enrico Caselli, from Ballarat,
who in 1860, had already designed a new Presbytery for the Parish of
Bakery Hill, Ballarat, with the characteristic gothic triple front. Two
years later he designed the United Presbyterian Church in Ebnezer
and in 1864, he drew up the plans for St. James Church in Litile Ben-
digo. The Welsh Presbyterian Church in Sebastopol was also designed
by Caselli, in 1865.

In 1872 he designed, for a cost of £5,000 the Catholic Church at Bac-
chus Marsh, dedicated to St. Bernard, and the church in Ballarat East
miade of stone. In 1873 he designed the beautiful octagonal bell-tower
in Stanwell. (24)

Another two [talian architeets were Carlo Spadacini and Andrea
Stambuco, who commenced their careers i the State of Victoria and
were then transferred to New South Wiles.

Carlo Spadacini was born in Florence in 1820 and artived in Victoria
in 1861, In 1869 he was chosen, together with Andren Stambuco, 45
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diocesan architects by the Bishop of Goulburn, Bishop Lanigan. The
Iwo Italians designed and built the cathedral of Sts. Peter and Paul in
Goulburn. Work commenced in 1872 and it was consecrated by Car-
dinal Moran on 26 June, 1890, Spadacini and Stambuco also designed
many old Catholic churches in the diocese of Goulburn.

While Spadacini was engaged in work on the Convent of Our Lady of
Mercy at St. Michael's Chapel in 1891, Stambuco was designing St.
Patrick's College in Manly. The first stone of the building was blessed
in 1873 by the Archbishop of Sydney, Bishop B. Pol ing, and the
main part was blessed and opened by the same Archbishop on
I February, 1874.

Stambuco also designed the Elizabethan style house of the custodian
al the Victoria Park Recreation Ground, which is still in use at
Goulburn,

Spadacini moved soon after to Perth, Western Australia, where he
died on 6 February, 1907, (25)

A. Stambuco, instead, went to Brishane, perhaps at the request of
Bishop Quinn, where he designed the school, “All Hallows™, and the
industrial school of St. Anne. (26)

MECHANIC - CLOCKMAKER AND INVENTOR

Finally we must take a look at the work of Angelo Tornaghi. Born in
ilan in 1831, he arrived in New South Wales at 24 years of age.
ue to his skill and dedication he made a name for himself as a

raentist, of which he could be proud, reaching a position that put

'm on equal footing with the most important men in this country.

The firm for the production of scientific instruments, founded by him,
Ccame the greatest in Australia, and his instruments remain among
¢ best and most prized. A true scientific genius and mathematician
€ is remembered today as one of the most eminent scientists of the

Period in this country.

He made various instruments for the Sydney Observatory and for the
Murveyor-General's  department.  Several scientific  institutes ap-
Proached him for their equipment. The care of all the clocks on the
towers of government offices in New South Wales, was entrusted to
im, He designed the clock for the Sydney Post Office and personally
Supervised its installation. This clock is among the best and most
Claborate in the world, and was fitted with a special apparatus that
fenders the face visible day and night, which was rare at the time.
Tﬂrnaghi also invented and patented a special circumferentor which
facilitated the work of topographic calculations and which quickly met
With wide aceeptance,

For the Sydney Observatory, he made various tide-gauges, standard
‘arometers, self-registering barometers, microscopic eye pieces for
Moculars and a great number of other important instruments,

81



Thanks to his artistic inclination and to his ability to give concrete
shape to theoretic plans, he excelled also in the execution of works of
art. One of his most important works consists of two groups of
statues, which represent Humanity, Dignity and Strength, sSe
bronze statues, of exceptional dimensions for those times, were con-
structed, using a method known among scientists by the name of elec:
lmmctallurggr. Because of his far reaching vision, his purity of design
and perfect finish, these statues give a touch of nobility to the elegant
buildings of the Mutual Fire Assurance Company at the corner of Pitt
and King Streets in Sydney.

The central figure stands out because of its height (14 feet) and the
beauty of its design, which attracts the admiration of all.

While he was engaged in making these statues, Tornaghi planned a
monument o commemorate the centenary of the colony of New
South Wales, This monument was to be erected in the grounds of the
Garden Palace which was destroyed by fire in 1882, The monument
was never constructed, thus depriving the city of Sydney of a work,
according to the description of a contemporary, that was truly
exceptional.

The “National Monument” was to stand on a granite base of massive
roportions. At the approach to four great flights of steps were tour
amily groups of indigenous people from Australia, Tasmania, New
Zealanc? and Fiji in attitudes of amazement at the sight of the new

race, The whole work gave testimony to those races now almost

disappeared.

Between the steps were four great bas-reliefs, all of which were faith-
ful likenesses of their subjects. The first represented His Excellency.
the Governor, at the inauguration of Parliament, the second rep:
resented Captain Cook as he was setting foot on this land, the third
depicted the destroyed Garden Palace while the fourth honoured fam-
ous colonists who had distinguished themselves through their
contributions to the progress of this country.

Beside the steps were another eight bas-reliefs, which indicated the
ﬁfll'eat explorers of this country, Tasman, La Perouse, Sir Thomas
itchell, Leichhardt, Bourke and Wills, among others. On the plat:
form at the top of the stéps and around the central work, were eight
big statues, which rcplresentcd eight colonies, New South Wales,
Victoria, Queensland, Tasmania, South Australia, Western Australia.
New Zealand and Fiji. Under each colony was a shield with the re-
spective emblem and a panel where all the particulars and dates ©
each colony were incised. Added to the figures wlready mentione
were another eight allegoric figures which represented Science, Art
Astronomy, Navigation, Commerce and Architecture, ete.

Four great pillars and 16 columns supported a structure which reps
resented the rising Sun surmounted by the Globe, The great figure af
the top (42 feet in height) represented Australia, turned towards the
colonies in an attitude of inviting unity, her left hand placed on @
volume containing the laws and the history of the colony (Australia)
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during the hundred vears of its existence, and a multitude of symbols
Which represented the products of Australia. Between the rising Sun
and the columns were eight panels on which were recorded the dates
of historic happenings or that could be used every time there was an
important event.

In fact, the monument itself represented the progressive history of
this great country, and all the work was to be -arried out on the site.
At the centre of the colonnade there would have been a great foun-
fain, whose water would have flown under the four greal bas-reliefs
10 represent the four great rivers of this country.

After this detailed deseription of a work of Tornaghi’s which re-
Mained at the planning stage and was never carried out, it is our duty
o describe another work brought to completion. We refer to the
tlock at the Sydney General Post Office, a ready mentioned, one of
the greatest works of its kind in Australia.

After he gained the contract to construct the clock, Tornaghi left for
Irope to see and observe personally the latest improvements in the
leld of clock making. He demonstrated such enthusiasm for the task
1€ had undertaken that he declared he would renounce the fee due to
im, if the clock was not up 1o his expectations,
Ir} the course of his life and through his works, Tornaghi has shown
imself to be worthy of the highest respect, becoming one of the most
Well known citizens of Hunter's Hill, where he lived for several years.
For 13 years he formed part of the local community council. He was
ayor three tmes, In 1884, after an absence of 35 years from his
sountry of origin, he left Sydney to go to Europe for a holiday and
for business reasons.
Before he left Australian soil, his fellow citizens invited him to a ban-
fuet in his honour to show him how much they appreciated his pre-
sence among them. This gesture had an even greater significance if
One reflects that it was gircctccl at someone who was not Anglo-
Yaxon, but who had come to the colony from Ttaly,  stranger in the
midst of strangers, one who had succeeded in making a prestigious
Position for himself in his adopted land,

During his stay in Italy, the King conferred on him the decoration of
e Ttalian Cross. A “charitable and magnanimous person, he de-
Monstrated in a particular way, his generosity on the occasion of the
drtival of the survivors from the ill-fated expedition of the Marquis
de Rays.

Tornaghi, on this occasion, was untiring in his efforts to help his com-
Patriots, who had suffered almost beyond endurance and it was in
fecognition of these services that the Italian Cross was conferred
4pon him. Right up to the time of his death he remained an active
and valued member of the community, (27)
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| THE RELIGIOUS
gl - CONTRIBUTION

When writing the history of Ttalians in Australia and of their con-
fribution to the development of the country, one could not neglect to
fecord a group of men who, urged on by a mysterions but real
Mpulse, were among the first 10 arrive in these distant lands,

Thcy are those priests and missionaries. religious and secular, who,
from 1843 on, have given the best of themselves, to bring and keep
ilive the Faith among the peoples of the Southern Hemisphere. at the
Cost of many sacrifices,

€re, we are not able to present as thoroughly researched and de-
failed a work as these gmtj} persons would merit, One chapter is not
“hough to present the true worth of these men of God. But their in-
Slsion pught to be at least sufficient 1o let it be seen that the token
fecognition afforded by certain historians is mcomplete, superficial
dnd preconceived. It is really simplistic to sweep aside a whole part of
¢ history of the Church in Australia with a few sentences like, “the
2Ven't made any conversions™ or “they were a mixed bag, above all
the 16 [talians, some of whom were defined by Murray as ‘desperate
(Wlians', while others were mostly interested in what money could
Wy for them." (1)

The Orders, the religious congregations or the single Diocesan priests

Who made themselves available to the Propagation of the Faith. or to

Other groups for foreign missions, were quite diverse. Having been in-

Vited by the local Bishops, espectully by Polding, Quinn and Brady,
Y dccepted to exercise their ministry in their Diocese.

Some of them came and remained in that field of work to the end.
thers, after a period of time, were recalled to their homelands: by
IF superiors or assigned to other lands. Some. finally could not

Sand up to the stress. the sofitude, the autocratic and despotic sys-
¥Ms of some Bishops and Irish priests and so, disillusioned, they left
€ field of work and returned 1o the fatherland.

Of those who remained two became Bishops in Australia and another

5 eonsecrated Bishop of Hong Kong and there was even a martyr,

Hovanni Mazzucconi, of whom we will speak in greater depth, later
- There were some extremely zealous priests and some approached

the spiritual perfection of sainthood.

the  firgt priests arrived in Australin at the invitation of His

l“.It:':clk:nc:j.-. Bishop Bede Polding, first Archbishop of Sydney and
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Apostolic Vicar of Australia, Van Diemen’s Land (Tasmania) and the
nearby Islands,

Bishop Polding took possession of his Diocese on 13 September,
1835, but returned o Furope in 1840 in search of priests and funds to
start the first mission for tﬁc conversion of Aborigines. He was con-
vinced that the faith could be preached with success to the Aboriginal
tribes who had not had contact with Europeans and who were consi-
dered by him to be sources of corruption.

These Aborigines, according to Bisho Polding, appeared "intelligent
and happy”. In Europe, Bishop Polding applied, |firsn: of all, 1o the
Superior of his Order to have some Benedictines, but these declined
the invitation quite decisively, That was most upsetting to the
Archbishop, who wanted to keep Australia under the influence of the
Benedictines,

With the help of the Venerible Domenico Barberi, superior of the
Passionists in. Great Britain, and well known for his zeal and his Sanc-
tity, Bishop Polding then applied to the Superior General of the Pas-
sionist Order, from which he obtained four priests for the mission
among the Aborigines, Fathers Giuseppe Snell (40), Luigi Marin Pes-
ciaroli (36), Maurizio Lencioni (28) and Raimondo Vaccari (41). (2)
Bishop Polding had met Fr Raimondo Vaccari in Rome in 1841 and
Fr Vaceari was so impressed by the enthusiasm of the Archbishop.
that he voluntarily offered himself for the difficult mission. However,
his Superior General judged him to be unsuitable because of his com-
plex and difficult character and refused him permission,

Fr Vaccari, however, had many influential friends among the [faity,
the clergy, the cardinals and ntzcr eoclesiastical dignitaries in Rome.
With their help, the priest not only obtained permission to go, but
was put in charge of the group and, unknown to the Archbishop, was
appointed Apostolic Pm&ct.

The four Passionist Fathers left Rome f{or London and Liverpool,
where on 2 May. 1842, together with the Archbishop, eight priests.
three brothers from Christian schools and seven seminarians, :Ecy sel
out on the Templar, headed for Sydney.

Archbishop Polding had clearly told Rome that the Fathers had 1o re-
main under his jurisdiction, as did all the other priests in Austraha,
But the secretary of the Congregation of Evangelisation, Cardinal
Cadolini, unknown to the Archbishop, had obtained Papal lerters
which placed the Passionist Fathers, as apostolic missionaries. under
the authority of the newly elected Apostolic Prefect, Fr Vaceari.

It meant that the mission among the Aborigines was not under the
direct jurisdiction of Bishop Polding, but under Fr Vaccari. For his
part. Bishop Polding continued 1o conduct himself as if he had full
Jurisdiction over the Passionists, notwithstanding the remonstrations
of Fr Vaccari, who, armed with the nomination to Apostolic Prefect,
obtained from Rome, was trying to exert his rights. J1111:: Archbishop
simply ignored the Pontifical documents and took Fr Snell with hime
self, 1o Stradbroke Island, Queensland, where, on the 24 May, 1843,
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he founded a mission for Aborigines, leaving Fr Vaccari and the
other two priests in Sydney.
The other priests, including the Apostolic Prefect. Fr Vaccari, arrived
later, accompanied by Bis op Polding's secretary, the Benedictine Fr
Henry Gregory. The Archbishop, now resident in S dney, remained
absolutely opposed to giving a working fund to the Fathers, even for
the most immediate necessities. Everything had to be ordered from
ydney. For anything whatsoever the Fathers had to apply to Bishop
Polding, at times having to wait for months. They had also to discuss
with the Archbishop all’ the details of their mission, such as the place
i which they were starting, the method of apostolate, efc,
Fr Vaceari was in open disagreement with the Archbishop, who re-
gui’rcd every slightest particular. He tried in vain to point out that the
ope had appointed him as Apostolic Prefect and, as a result, only he
Was the true and responsible head of the mission, The division bet-
Ween the two compromised greatly the success of the mission among
the Aborigines.
Stradbroke Island was an untamed iskind. dry, sandy and barely fer-
tile, The only existing buildings were two huts without roofs, which
had been abandoned by the convicts who had built them some years
Carlicr. The Passionist Fathers were not discouraged. They set about
'epairing the huts, transforming one into # dwelling for the mis-
sionaries and making the other into a church.
The Aborigines lived in the most primitive conditions and lived on
Wild gume and fish. They belonged to three or four tribes and each
tribe spoke a different dialect. The missionaries tried to learn a little
Of these dialects, enough to understand the bare necessities of life.
They quickly learnt that there was litile hope of converting the adults.
hey were ‘only interested in blankets, clothes, flour. tobacco and
Sugar,
Supplies were always scarce and did not always arrive on time trom
Sydney. Often the l¥arhcrs found themselves without food and so they
Were forced to follow the Aborigines who moved continually from
one place to another on the island, to hunt and fish, In that way they
Game to know their customs and rites and to identify themselves with
the Aborigines’ way of living.
Alter six months Fr Luigl Pesciaroli wrote to —ardinal Piapetti de-
seribing in detail the customs of the Aborigines. “Every tribe consists
0f 30 or 40 or, at the most, 50 individuals. They don’t even temain in
the same place for more than eight or ten days and then they move
again. They live in the open and make themselves temporary shelters
from the bark of trees. then they leave, sometimes even the next
day.” Fr Luigi continued his letter saying that he did not dare express
an opinion on the possibility of converting the Aborigines 10 the
Christian faith.
Convinced that they could not do anything with such a primitive
People, always on the mave, the missionarics made the decision 1o
take about 20 children into their house to have them live with the
Fathers and to educate them and lead them to Christianity.
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Bishop Poldin_deid not approve of such”a project and even less o
financing it. The three Fathers, however, wrote to their Superior
General and informed him of the break between Fr Vaceari and
Bishop Polding. They presented a pessimistic picture of the mission
and accused the Archbishop of Sydney of having sent them to & prac-
tically deserted island, nmfl of making them suﬁfer without any hope
of being able to do some good. It was as if they had been banished to
a place of exile,

[n Rome, the Superior General of the Passionists met the newly con-
secrated Bishop of Perth, Bishop Brady. When he came to know that
Brady was trying to establish missions for the Aborigines in Western
Australia, and not being satisfied with the mission at Stradbroke Is-
land, he decided that the four missionaries should leave the island
and make themselves available to Bishop Brady. Bishop Polding was
not pleased at the news; he opposed the move and tried to delay the
issue. The Father General was forced to write directly to the
Archbishop telling him that he had decided that the missionaries
should go to Perth without delays or postponements,

Fr Giuseppe, Fr Luigi and Fr Maurizio departed from Stradbroke [s-
land in the month of June, 1846. Fr Vaccari submitted his resignation
s Apostolic Prefect and decided to remain at the mission, hoping 10
be contacted by Fr Magagnotto, superior of the Passionist Fatg_crs in
Belgium. He tried to go ahead with the mission, continued to celeb-
rate Mass, to instruct the children he had been able to baptize and to
cultivate the little garden from which he extracted enough food to
survive. But the solitude, the silence from Rome, started to influence
his physical and mental state. The Aborigines were no longer receiv-
ing any support and so they, too, abandoned him,

In 1847 the situation worsened and even his life commenced to be in
danger. An Aborigine whom he had hciFed previously, threatened to
kill him, if he did not receive food. Other Aborigines destroyed his
garden, carrying away all that the poor Father had planted for his
food supply. Many times he had asked the authorities in Brishane and
also his confreres for help, but in vain,

Finally, seeing that he had been com letely abandoned, he decided to
leave the mission. Having reached Sﬂ:dncy towards the end of 1847,
he met the Franciscan, Fr Bassi, and set out with him on the ship.
Speed, for Valparaiso. For 13 years nothing more was heard of him.
In 1861 an English Benedictine, who had known Fr Vaccari in Syd-
ney, arrived in Rome with the news that he had scen him in Lima.
The General immediately wrote o Fr Peter Magagnotto, who was in
California, requesting him to go immediately to Lima to investigate
the matter. Fr Magagnotto managed to ftrace Fr Raimondo
(Vaceari), who was working as a gardener in a Franciscan monastery
under the name of Wilson.

Fr Raimondo explained that the ship on which he had embarked had
been shipwrecked and he had lost all his documents. Therefore, it
was impossible for him to be recognised as a priest, and without
money, he had chosen to work as & gardener as a way of living
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Fr Magagnotto wrote to the Superior General saying that Fr
Raimondo was much loved in Lima and that the Archbishop wanted
him to remain in his diocese, also that the Franciscans would have
Ereat pleasure in receiving him into their Order. Fr Raimondo was
released from his vows made to the Passionist Order and on
10 December, 1861, entered the monastery of the Franciscan Fathers
s a novice.

The fate of the other three companions of Fr Raimondo was not less
dramatic. Following the directive of the Superior General they left
Stradbroke Island and headed for Western Australia. After a brief

Stay in Sydney, they embarked for Adelaide, which they reached on
1 September,” 1846,

In Adelaide, devoid of funds, they were not able to continue the trip
towards Western Australia. They trned 1o two priests in Adelaide.
but they were not able to help them. The Bishop had not yet re-
turned from Rome. No-one was in a position to offer them hospital-
ity. Without losing courage, the three Fathers rented lodgin%s and
tried to earn enough to live on; Fr Giuseppe Snell in teaching French
and English, Fr Maurizio Lencioni with music and Fr Luigi

esciaroli as a cook for his confreres also for the colonists. who
Wanted to taste a plate of spaghetti or such, prepared by a Passionist
priest. ~—
Now too, for the three priests, things became drawn out and compli-
Cated. Bad news arriw.:cfl from Western Australia, the mission for the
Aborigines was going badly through lack of funds and therefore their
presence was no longer required.

Bishop Murphy of Adelside discouraged them from remaining in
Adelaide and gissu:idcd them from the idea of founding a Passionist
monastery. Their position was becoming more and more difficult and
orders had not arrived from Rome.

Finally the Bishop decided to employ the Fathers in a country local-
ity. Fr Giuseppe was assigned to the Parish of Morphett Vale, Fr
Luigi was sent as assistant to Mt. Barker and Fr Maurizio was called
1o the Bishop's residence.

The following year a letter arrived from the General, in which the
Fathers were censured for lack of obedience. But while censuring
them, the Father General %:w:': them a choice of what to do - they
could serve Bishop Murphy as apostolic missionaries. return 1o
ii:ydney and make themselves available to Fr Magagnotto or return to
urope. They decided to remain in the Adelaide diocese, but Fr
Luigi was not able to learn English sufficiently well. and he consi-
dered his presence at Mt. Barker 1o be unjustified, so in 1849 he
returned 1o Italy, He died at Corneto on 10 September, 1874,

Fr Ginseppe, too, found difficulty at the beginning, so much so. that
Un the occasion of Fr Luigi's departure he wrote 10 him saying, “Oh,
how [ envy you. God alone knows how much 1 would like to g0 with
You to England. Don't think 1 am happy: | am not. It doesn't matter
What the others think." But he adjusted to the cireumstances and
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continued in_his apostolate at Morphett Vale. In 1861 he went on
holidays to Victoria for health reasons and died at Carisbrook on
13 July of that year.

Fr Maurizio by now was alone. and he too, tried to return to Europe.
He found, however, much opposition from the Bishop, who did his
utmost to have him remain in Australia, where he was much loved
because of his gentle and devout character.

In 1863 he was permitted to return to his homeland, He commenced
to make preparations for the voyage. On 31 March, 1864, he went to
farewell some friends at Mt. Barker, He was already suffering from a
bad cold, but then caught pleuresy and died on 16 April. His funeral
was held in the Cathedral of Saint Francis Xavier in the presence of a
huge crowd of Catholics and non-Catholics,

The two newspapers of the city of Adelaide reported the occasion
thus, “Adelaide has changed a i'm in the course of 17 years, but the
affection Fr Maurizio had for the city and its people was never
changed. One could truly say his sentiments have been returned, be-
tause the old colonists loved him to the end. He made new friends
continually, without ever losing an old one, Only those who had the
privilege of enjoying his confidence can know what they have lost,”
3)

The poor, among whom he was Elcascd o pass a good part of his
time, wept openly and followed their Father, their adviser and their
benefactor 10 the grave. (4)

Fr Maurizio was buried in the Catholic cemetery on West Terrace
and lay there for 84 years, until the Passionist Order was established
in South Australia and his confreres obtained permission to re-bury
him in their cemetery at Glen Osmond. He lies now under the pleas-
ant hills of the city he learned to love, and over his mortal remains
stands the fine monument that the Catholics of Adelaide wanted to
erect in the West Terrace cemetery, but which followed him to Glen
Osmond. (5)

BISHOP BRADY AND THE BENEDICTINES OF NEW
NORCIA

While the situation of the Passionists in Queensland was going from
bad 1o worse, the new Bishop of Perth and Western Australia,
Bishop Brady, who was in Rome to be consecrated 2 Bishop, let it be
known that he wanted priests for his new diocese, Some Spanish
Benedictines, resident at Grottaferrata, offered to return with the
Bishop. There were also some Italians with them - Fr Angelo
Confalonieri from Riva del Gardu, a student of Propuganda and the
Anconian Canon, Fr Raffaele Martelli.

Fr Confalonicri and two Irish catechists were assigned to open a
mission for Aborigines in the extreme north of the continent, at Port
Essington. They set out for Sydney on | March, 1846, and from
Sydney on 8 April, but disaster awaited them in the Torres Strait, (6)
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“T had just finished conversing with my companions, James Fagan
and Nicholas Hogan,” writes Confalonieti, “when we smushed against
4 toral recf, In a few minutes the vessel foundered wund everyone
Perished, with the exception of the Captain and myself, and 1
fouldn’t swim. The Captain helped me as much as he could. but he
Was injured and exhausted. We reached some rocks, from which we
Were rescued the next day by the crew of a long boat, who brought us
W Port Essington, where the Commanding Officer and the people of
the place cared for us.” (7)
Fr Confalonieri settled alone, at the entrance of the Port, about 12
miles from the town in a place called Black Rock. The Aborigines
helped him 10 build his dwelling. His ministry was directed almost
Exclusively towards the Aborigines, to whom he commenced 1o teach
the first prayers of the Church.
By the end of 1846 Fr Confalonieri had visited almost all the Goburg
Peninsula, where he had met and classified seven different tribes of
borigines and prepared maps of the re%iun. copies of which are kept
by the Royal Geographic Society. He eyen prepared a small
iCtionary of the dialects used by the Aboriginal tribes of the
Peninsula.
Fr Confalonieri also wrote # manuseript of pravers, which included
the Our Father, the Hail Mary, the Creed and a brief catechism of
the Christian Doctrine ncluding the 10 commandments, in the dialect
Used by the tribes. Moreover he translated part of the New
Festament.

In 1841 he was found very ill with a fever, by one of the soldiers from
the parrison at Port Essington. He was taken to the town to be cared
or, but there were no signs of improvement and he died after some
days,
Captain McArthur wrote to Archbishop Polding, “We have buried
him with full honours. All the inhabitants of the colony ok part in
the priest’s funeral.” (8)
A few ltalian priests went to Western Austrulia, and they were
dmong the first Ttalian priests to arrive in this country. Towards the
thd of the century, they were the ones who were engaged more
Specifically in assisting the Ttalian migrants spiritually,
Canon Raffacle Martelli, instead. made himself available 1o the
Hishop, At the start of 1850 he was appeinted Parish Priest of
T!Jt'}'dy:ty. Canon Martelli, short of stature, swift of speech and impul-
Sive of munner, was 4 leamned mun who spoke five or six languages
ﬁ_crf.ecily. People of every religious, denomination were conquered by
Is generosity and humility.
Canon Martelli was accustomed to riding on horseback from Toodyay
10 Northam, York and Bindon for the celebration of religious ser-
Yices, From time to time he would return to visit the Benedictines of
ew Noreia and he would regularly bresk the long trip on horseback
?' s!.uppinil overmght with the Higgins family at Bolgart. until the
Higgins sold their property in 1856 to Squire Phillips.
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In 1860 Canon Martelli became an Australian citizen. In 1862 he was
sent as Parish Priest o Fremantle. Here he struggled to have the
right to assist spiritually the inmates of the local Jail.
In 1868, exhausted by the struggle, he retired o the Benedictine
monastery of New Norcia, where he continued to dedicate himself to
various activities, For example, in 1871 he organised a library for the
poorer people of the district, and immediately after, he had n school
constructed on the banks of the Moore River. In 1872 he was re-
appointed to Toodyay and Northam, where he was elected to the
ortham Board of Education. In the years 1877-79 he was instrumen-
tal in the building of the first church at Northam. He remained as
Parish Priest of Toodyay until 1880, when, sensing the end, he retired
again to New Norcia where he died soon after, (9) .
Two years later a relative of Canon Martelli. Fr Luigi Martelli, ar-
rived from India, where he had spent 20 years. He worked for seven
years in the Cathedral Parish and then was appointed to Fremantle as
Parish Priest. His untiring activities among the local populace and the
[talian migrants lasted many years, He died in Perth in 1925, (10)

ITALIAN PRIESTS IN QUEENSLAND

On 10 May, 1861, the first Catholic Bishop of Queenslind, Bishop
James Quinn arrived on the steamship, Wonga, Wonga and so to his
vast diocese of 1,170,000 square miles. The population of the new
colony, according 1o the census of that year, was 30,059 all told, of
which 7,696 were Catholic. with two priests, four churches and four
Catholic schools, (11)

An lalian priest, Fr Giovanni Cani. was also travelling with the new
Bishop. The two hud met in Rome when they were attending the uni-
versity there. Fr Giovanni Cani was the first of a large group of Ita-
lian priests. 25 in all, whom the Bishop had invited to exercise their
priestly mimstry in his diocese. Several of them found the work of
their ministry too hard, first of all, because of the language, but also
because of the pioneering conditions and the severe climate an
above all, as we will see, because of the unfavorable conditions in
which they found themselves. The majority of them were learned
men, zealous and wanting to carry out their mission in the best way
possible,

In certain summary judgements, made also by histonans, who label
led them as “frustrated vagabonds” or “disaffected lalian priests” of
even “mixed bags,” all the prejudice, and we would say, expressions
almost of contempt for anything not Irish or Anglo-Saxon, were
immediately visible, (12)

As soon as he arrived in the diocese Bishop Quinn made & name for
himself as a despot and an antocrar. His authority was and had to
remain, absolute and indisputable,

I am a sacred person,” he declared, “I have been ordained and |
have received the Holy Spirit; he who attacks my personage commits
the most heinous and sacriligious act.” (13)

Joo



Clerics and laity who dared eriticise his administration were reminded
of the “Catholic spirit”. Fr McGinty, Parish Priest of Ipswich, who-
ﬂ%’%}rucd with the Bishop about the administration of his Parish and
Was backed by # group of lay people, was threatened with suspension
4nd excommunication. The quarrel between the Bishop and Fr
cGinty reached the Parliament in Brisbane. In the end, Fr McGinty

“ft) the Parish and went first to Rockhampton and then to Bowen.

(14
But “the case of MeGinty” according to O'Farrell. “taught nothing to
ishop Quinn (15) who continued to govern with meticulous severity,
and to impose rules ad infinitum; he even forbade smoking. The
fansgressions were punished by severe sanctions, the priests were de-
Prived of the right to adminisfer the sacraments and the laity of re-
Elving them. The rules were so severe that in 1867 six of his priests
el the diocese for good without even seeking his permission. Quinn
Claimed that they left because they were living too well. According to
m, “they were enjoying an oversupply of money, of horses and of
Svery commodity...” (16) According to them instead. they had no
Means and were suffocated by rules. They accused him, moreover, of
USing religion as a machine to make money. The German Fr
€rcher, the Frenchman Fr Renchen and the ltalian Fr Ricei were
Mspended a divinis, In a disastrous bout of accusations and counter-
#ecusations, neither the Germans nor the French nor the ltalians
Yere spared. But let us look at them one at a time.

ovanni Cani, who accompanied Bishop Quinn to Australia, was
born at Castel Bolognese in 1836, He had attended the University of
Sapienza in Rome, where he received his degree in Theology. He was
Otdained a priest in 1857, but he preferred the missionary life to that
a teacher. In Australia he was made Parish Priest of Warwick,
Where he built the Catholic school and the convent for the nuns. He
¥as appointed Vicar General and became the administrator of the
dthedral of St. Stephen in Brisbane.

Al the sume time Fr Robert Dunne was appointed Purish Priest of
Toowoomba and vicar for the ares of Darling Downs, an office that
4d  been vacated by the Vincentiun, Fr Scully. because of a
SWagreement with the Bishop.
nlg‘ two new vicars experienced difficulty in collaborating with
Suinn, Many times Quinn rebuked Fr Dunne for his “uncathohic sen-
liments” (17) and for “violations of the regulations of the diocese”,
{18) In 1870, while Bishop Quinn was attending Vatican |, Cani, as
War General, administered the diocese. An active and energetic
Yorker, he found funds for the various diocesan works and for the
Quilding of the new Cathedral. He also became very populdy with the
dters of Mercy and the lay community. (19)
In 1877 Dunne and Cani were removed as Vicars General. (20) The
reason, according 1o many, was because of their refusal to endorse a
Etier written by the Bishop (and other priests) in his defence against
Yrain written accusations to Rome by some Ialian priests. Both
prt_lnnc and Cani denied any connection with the aforementioned
lests.
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From I878-1881 he was Pro-Vicar Apaostolic of North Queensland, re-
lacing Bishop Fortini, who had little success as Aﬁmsluﬁc Vicar:
[‘thm the death of Bishop Quinn in 1883, the Archbis op of Sydney:
Bishop Vaughan, appointed Cani administrator of the Brisbane
diocese.
The reaction of the Irish was immediate and severe. Most of the
oriests of Brisbane, organmsed by M. Quinn. brother of the decease
ishop of Buthurst, protested against the appointment of Cani, Feel
ings were so aroused that A-rcﬁhishnp Vaughan proposed o Prop:
aganda Fide to give the Diocese to the German Benedictines. I
stead. Robert Dunne was chosen, while Cani was assigned 1o the neW
Diocese of Rockhampton.

There was talk of an Anglo-ltalian conspiracy 10 defame the Irish
priests and to destray their faith. The Parish Priest of Ipswich wrofe.
“It is very clear, w a true Catholic. that all the (non-Irish) Bishops
and priests are rapidly destroying the faith of the lvish people in this
courdry.” (21)

In 1883, in an anonymous little book, published in Melbourne under
the title of The mystery unveiled: being an exposure of the agencies
At work for the world wide defamation of the Catholic Irish
Australian clergy, it was affirmed that an Anglo-Ttalian plot was u-
derway, led by Vaughan and Cani and supported by the Pmpag:tﬂd*'
Fide, with the aim of making a clean sweep of [rish Bishops an
priests in Australia. “It is strange.” continued the anonymous author,
“that one couldn’t find an Trish priest in the world suitable to become
the Bishop of Rockhampton. It is to be hoped that Christ might have
a better opinion of his Vicar of the people of the Irish race and IS
priests.” (22)

For them, in other words, all that was not Trish, be it English, Italiat
or even the Papacy, was an enemy.

In conclusion, Bishop Quinn of Bathurst, three nephews, the Horad
brothers, who were Parish Priests of three important Parishes in jh"
Diocese of Brisbane, and their spokesman, Fr J. O'Reilly, gave birt
to a whole heap of protests and slanders with regard to Cani, and all
because they were convinced that the hierarchy in Australis had to b¢
[rish and only Irish,

Bishop Cani had difficulty in governing his Diocese, mostly because
of the hostility and the open opposition of the Irish priests @
Bishops.

However, he always retained a good relationship with Bishop Dunnts
J. Quinn's successor in Brishane. He was always kind, he always
loved the sick and poor, which made him quite popular. He had a0
orphanage built for the abandoned infants, zu: save his Bishop's rest”
dence Lo the Sisters, contenting himself personally with a modest little
house. He initiated the construction of the cathedral.

He died on 3 March, 1898, at only 61 years of age, because of #
cerebral haemorrhage and dengue, (23)
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IUis difficalt to trace the movements of some of the other 25 Ttalian
Priests. But their moving around does not serve to demonstrate that
they were vagabonds or a dissatisfied pople. For example, in 1874,
the” superior of the Fathers of St. John of Jerusalem, Fr Carmelo
‘Ateragmani asked Propaganda Fide to induce Bishop Quinn to send
40K, at his own expense, the three priests whom he had imprudently
Enliced to go to Australia.” (24)

We will see other cases later on, Most of the Ttalian priests arrived in

Australia during the time in which James Quinn was Bishop of
Queensland,

Fr Pietro Capra and Fr Michele Antonini arrived together on the
Silver Eagle in 1871. Fr Capra, according to Pugh’s Almanac, lived in
Genr‘gclnwn in 1873, in Ethridge in 1874, in Ipswich in 1874-78 and in
L George in 1880-81. In 1882 he was sent 10 Roma, Queensland,
Where he remained until he died, on 4 May, 1907. Father Capra,
Milanese and a graduate in Theolo y, remained as Parish Priest of
the Jittle town of Rama for more than 20 years,

Archbishop Duhig, in his book, Crowded Years, writes that Fr Capra
Was & Doctor of Theolo y, but no-one called him by his title and he
ad fittle need of it in Els long wilks in the bush. He possessed an
CXtraordinary memory for names. faces and events. He enjoved an
Excellent constitution; he could take a nap in any place whatsoever,
¢ had the simplicity of a dove and the cunning of a serpent. He
Managed to solve the most complicated problems regarding church af-
s, and then he could enjoy sweets like a child, When a Sister, who
Used to make cakes and sweets regularly and send them to him in the
Prcsbytery. was transferred, Fr Capra told his assistant that her trans-
O was a “grave loss", and when a doctor, who used to put half a
fown on the collection plate of a Sunday, left the Parish, Fr Capra
Said it was a “terrible calamity”.
The Archbishop concluded, “The dear old prest, so well known in
Western Queensland. where his smile was so familiar, died an edify-
ing death in May, 1907, assisted throughout his final illness by Fr
om Nolan.™ (;’3’}

FT Capra's companion on the voyage out and in his apostolacy in Au-
Stralia, was Fr Michele Antonint from Envie in Piedmont where he
Wits born in 1845. He had attended the Don Bosco school in Turin:
€ received his degree in Theology and Canon Law in Rome. Having
Met  Bishop Quinn, he followed him to Queensland. The
Journey on the Silver Eagle lasted four months and eight days. After
4 brief period of rest in Brishane, he was sent to Rockhampton,
Where he soon became known as a good preacher and “Bushman™
Who knew no fear.

He used to ride on horseback for hours in the bush, across virgin ter-
fain, in search of Catholic families, scattered far from town centres
and never before visited by a Priest.

He was known everywhere in the vast territory: Even non-Catholic
families would welcome him with open arms and offer help. One
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tume, after having ridden for 80 miles under the hot sun and over 2
vast plain of virgin country, he was almost at the end of his tethe:
when he arrived at the home of a German-Lutheran family, whe
offered him refreshments and the only bed they had. The Priest
wanted to pay them for their kindness, but the owner of the house
replied, “Doctor Antonini, 1 have had the pleasure of meeting you
personally. I have heard so much about you and it is an honour to bé
able to do something for you, I hope that you will honour me agiin
with your presence. on your return.” A local newspaper called him,
“the fearless traveller™ and he proved it with numerous anecdotes, in-
cluding crossing rivers in flood, or infested with crocediles, Fr Anto-
nini not only took care of his 500 Catholics scattered far from the
city, but he also found the time and courage to care for the
Abarigines,

Towards the end of October, 1875, after réturning from a long jour-
ney on horseback (of 2,000 miles, more than 3,000 km.), the priest
was forced to take a complete rest. He was exhausted.

His English teacher, Henry Desmond, on the occasion of his farewell
party, read the following speech to him, “Most Reverend and t_ic_af
Doctor Antonini, it is with the deepest regret that we have receive
news of your departure. This sorrow is felt éven more keenly, be-
cause the reason for your departure from us is your precarious stat€
of health. Certainly you are loved by us all, because you are a minis
ter of God and because we are losing a friend and adviser, whose
goodness has made him loved dearly by us all.”

On 1 November, 1875, he embarked for Italy. but the ship's Captin
advised him to stop off for some months in Hong Kong to recover his
health a little, if he wanted to arrive alive in Italy.

The Dominicans looked after him and he had hardly commenced 10
recover a little when he became a military chaplain to the English
speaking Catholic soldiers of the colony, He taught English an
Spanish to the Dominicans and learnt the language of the place. He
was asked 1o go 1o Macao to reorgamse the seminary and he also Imld_
the chance to go on a pilgrimage 10 San-cian where Saint Frandis
Saverio- was bhuried.
Finally, in 1870, he was requested by his immediate superior, Bishop
Puecher to return to Italy to take up a post in the Vatican (26) Bet*
ween 1872 and 1874 several other priests arrived in Australia, includ
ing Frs Girolamo Davadi, Benedetto Scortechini, Giuseppe Roman!
and Eugenio Ricci,
Fr Davadi passed his early years at Warwick and then went to Stan
thorpe whete he remained Gll he died. At Stanthorpe, Fr Davadf be-
came an important part of the life and development of the town.
cognising the excellent quality of the soil, he planted and encourage
others to plant, vines and fruit trees. He also taught how to make
wine, He himself, transformed the land that used to serve as pastufe
for his horse, into vineyards. He planted another vineyard at the foot
of Mt. Marlay, known thereafter as Vichie's Vineyard, He acquiret
other land near caves and planted apricot and peach trees on i
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These fruit trees grew so well that, at harvest time, railway sleepers
Were placed across their branches. to assist with picking, Many of
these trees are still in existence today, standing out in their gnarled
Yignity and showing their old age.
Another piece of land near the Church at Sugarloaf was known as
Davadi’y Baddock. But Archbishop Dunne, convinced that Fr Davadi
Was neglecting his pastoral duties. wrote to him, “I hope that your
rsonal interests are not interfering with your duties as s priest. |
¢ar there is no movement in the Stanthorpe district towards the con-
Sruction of a Catholic school and that, at present, lessons are being
feld in the public house, Old Globe. Moreaver. | hear tell that there
5700 movement towards those things that concern the Church ..."

But even if he was out of favour with the Archbishop, the priest had
tonquered the hearts of the Sisters and all the people of Stanthorpe,

Or almost 30 years he looked after his flock, remaining an example
Ol industriousness and moral recitude, He knew how to infuse & sense
9L dignity in honest toil so necessary to maintain a family, But his
fragic end was near. Struck by a brain tumor in 1899, Fr Davadi died
On 22 January, 1900 at the age of 54 years, (27)

Before passing to another outstanding figure of a priest and scientist,
e want to make mention of Fr Costantino Rossolini, After having
sPent nearly ten years at Gayndah, as Parish Priest of Mt. Penny, he
Was made Parish Priest of Bundaberg in 1881, where he remained
until his death in 1893. He was an excellent priest and had also an
EXtraordinary physical resistance,

Another very important figure in that group of four (Frs Davadi,
rtechini, Romani and Ricei) was Fr Benedetto Seortechini. On his

drmival in Brisbane, he was sent to the parish of Stanthorpe as assis-

tant, where the Parish Priest was Fr Stephen McDonough. (28)

In 1875 he was appointed first Parish Priest of a vast zone that ex-
lended from Brisbane towards the south as far as the Tweed River.
gan Village became his base camp. At the start Fr Scortechini used
1 celebrate Sunday Mass in Hanlon's Ferry Hotel in Yatala. Then he
dequired a building at Beenleigh which became his first church. At
the end of the year Bishop Quinn blessed the church at Yatala, which
4d been converted from a Masonic Hall,

When he had finished organising the centre, Fr Scortechini turned his
altention to other localitites, that he had been attending regularly. In

78 he opened churches in Nerang, Upper Coomera and Tallebudg-
Td and in 1882, in Southport.

On the first day of the year 1879, he celebrated Mass for the first
fime at Boonah. Four families were present. In June of that same
Year Fr Scortechini became the vietim of an incident that shocked all
¢ people of Logan. The Brisbane Courier reported the incident on
! June, 1879, under the heading of “Attempted murder at Logan™.
I¢ correspondent wrote, “It is a long time since the population has
PED as  upset  as  yesterday, when it was revealed that
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Fr Scortechini had been seriously wounded in a murder attempt. The
reputation, in general, of the Priest as a man of pleasant character,
jprobably makes him more likely ta be exposed to such an:atrocious
act.

“Whiat happened was an irate Trishman. whose dying brother had left
something to the chureh in his will, thought that all s brother's 0
heritance had gone to the church. In fact, as the press had im-
mediately ascertained, including £10.00 left to the Sisters of St
Joseph, the sum left was not more than £20 or £30. All the rest
which had been valued at round £2,000 was left to his wife.”

The Irish Catholies of Logan took up a collection among themselves
and presented 57 floring to the Priest as a sign of their loyalty.
gratitude and best wished for a speedy recovery,

Fr Scortechini was also an eminent botanist and his long walks
through the bush gave him the opportunity to collect a great amount
of material for Eis favourite studies. He collaborated with the
magazine, Colonial Botanist, and with other famous scientists in that
field, in a particular study of the flora of the Logan district.

The priest was invited by the Governor of Malaysia to compife a list
of the flora of that country. So, in 1884, after nine years of hard work
“in the Parish of Logan and with the permission of the Archbishop Ufl
Brisbane, Bishop Patrick Dunne, he accepted the invitation. He was
accompanied by another eminent scientist, Fr Tennison Woods.

At the finish of the work entrusted to him by the Governor of
Malaysia, it was the intention of Fr Scortechini 1o continue his Jour
ney across Indig and on as far as London, where he wanted to P“l?'
lish the results of his studies in botany. But he contracted a myster”
ous disease in Caleutta and died on 4 November, 1856, When gi\f"‘%
the news of his death, The Australian described him as a zealous anc

learned priest, a keen student of the physical sciences and an exacl
teacher in the field of botany. Even the Royal Society of Queenslant
paid enthusiastic tribute to the man and his work. (29)

Another fine figure of a priest and missionary was Giovanni Battistt
Balangero. After he had completed his studies !Srignolc-bﬂlf’
college in Genoa and had been ordamned a Priest in 1871, the Cardl
nal Prefect of Propaganda Fide appointed him to the colony
Queensland as a secular priest in the immense and new diocese U
Brisbane. 1 immediately accepted this appointment,” writes fr
Balangero, “and 1 prepared myself for departure. It was the custom
at the college to have a farewell function in Church on the occasion
of the departure of students for the missions. For me, this ceremony
took place in a little village in the Ligurnan Al.|i)s. where the residents
of the college passed the summer. In the public church my superior
delivered a brief speech overflowing with affection to me, gave me i
crucifix and embraced me. Then [ received an embrace and farewe

from all my superiors and companions.

“That same evening, 15 September, 1872, T embarked from Genod:
headed for Livorno, then Rome, then Australia®
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In  Australia Fr Bulangero was appointed to Ravenswood, a mining
area, where he lived 4 truly adventurous missionary life, “Two years
Nad passed since my arrival in Australia®, continued Fr Balangero
and everyday that passed seemed to tighten the chains that tied me
10 those places and those people. 1 had become familiar with the lan-
E:ﬂgc. with the customs and hadbits of the Anglo-Australians; I had
¢ome  accustomed to the somewhat eventful life  which was
Nevertheless, free and happy; in short 1 had come 1o love my new.
adopted country and the work that I encountered. when, unexpec-
ly. the proposal to change missions was put to me. w move from
Australia to Ceylon ... Such a proposal quite disturbed me and put
me in a perplexed frame of mind, but the ideal of the apostolic
missionary life would be better attained in Ceylon, where it would be
my task w work amaong the rnur and indigenous people and to dedi-
cate mysell 1o their evangelisation. This consideration, this desire,
Was uppermost in my mind and 1 decided to leave for Ceylon ...

“When the final Sunday arrived and 1 had made my farewell speech
and said goodbye for ever to those people who were so devoted and
a{fcutimune towards me, there were tears in everyone’s eyes, starting
With mine. 1 could not but feel moved when I saw everyone serious
and saddened by my departure, and then outside the church they ex-
Pressed their feelings with warm handshakes. A deputation of those
Miners accompanicd me on horseback for about ten miles, almost a
guard of honour, when I set out on my trip. Thus my departure took
place from Ravenswood. not without internal struggles and fierce and
Painful conflicts and doubts about whether the step | was about to
take, was right and appropriate.”

Fr Balangero returned to Italy in 1893 and worked in diocese until
1901, during which time he met the great Bishop Giovanni Battista
Scalabrini, who had already founded a missionary congregation some
Years hefore. in 1887, to assist Ialians abroad. He entered this con-
Eregation and in 1902 Bishop Scalabrini sent him to the United
States, where, after a brief period us assistant in Boston, he was
Made Parish Priest of the Italian church of the Sacred Heart i Cin-
Cinnuti, He remained there until his death on 20 May, 1919,

A few other priests, such as Lucido Cervini, were invited to return to
their homelands for family reasons, He came to Queensland o avoid
military service, but returned after pressure from the family. (30)
Oreste Tardozzi, who was directing a mission 800 miles north of Bris-
ane, instead, was ordered by his superiors at Propaganda to return
home and care for his aged mother. (31) Costantino Rossolini, from
the year of his arrival in 1871, was Parish Priest at Mt. Penny until
1880,

He was mude Parish Priest of Bundaberg and remained there until his
death in 1893. He was one of those who opposed Bishop Cani, but
was an exemplary priest. (32)

The gifted artist, Fr Giuseppe Romani, found Bishop Quinn and his

.

icar, i Cani, lacking in virtue and the material conditions of the
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priests of the diocese, miserable. The wooden churches, which were
raised to give the animals u chance 1o shelter from the Sun. were
disgusting. (33)

It seems much of the discontent was inspired by the rowdy Fr
Eugenio Ricei, who had to flee from ftaly, because he had become
the target of the “Sesta™, one of the many se¢ret Societies of the time:
Ricci became the centre of the reactionary ltalian priests against the
regulations of Bishop Quinn and the Irish nationalism. whether it be
from the laity or the clergy. Ricei was suspended a divinis for having
laid hands on the Vicar General, . Cani, and, in a leter. he
threatened to shoot Bishop Quinn.

When writing 10 Archbishop Polding on 14 October, 1874, Bishop
Quinn asked him to obtain a post ﬁ:r Ricci in some place not far
from Australia. Ricci had suggested New Zealand or Cevlon. He left
Brisbane towards 1886. (34)

Another who opposed Bishop Quinn was Fr Guertini. who accused
him of having créated “the first seeds of religious indifference that is
seen even today among Catholies™, Guerrini, moreover, saw the
Catholies of Queensland not creatively integrated into society. “but
despite the fact that they observed serupulously the letter of the law,
they ate meat on days when it was forbidden. they neglected 1o re-
ceive the sacraments and to attend Mass on special feast days, they
married heretics and unbelievers before magistrates or projestant
ministers and lived publicly in adultery and communal living * Guer-
rini left the diocese in 1886 and remained in the diocese of Armidale
until his death on 7 November. 1918. (35)

The fate of Fr Gius‘»_t:nre Pompei was determined only one year after
his arrival, when he died of tuberculosis on 5 July, 1872, (36)
The date of arrival in Australia of Fr Augusto Loretuee is not known
But in 1897 he was known to be in the diocese of Rockhampion,
governed by Bishop Cani. In 1899 he was found in Barcaldine. In
1902 he returned 1o Ttaly and was made Parish Priest of St. Charles in
Rome and wrote a book, “"Mission in Austrulia. " (37)

Before concluding this first part, we want to take note of the attempt
to apen a mission in the extreme north of Queensland and o look
brie l\ at the story of the apostle of Brisbane, Fr Giuseppe Agostino
Canali,

Cardinal Moran. in his story of the church in Australin, writes that in
1876, a mission was launched in North Queensland with Cooktown as
the centre. This mission was entrusted to "some excellent Ttalin
priests”, who came from a missionary college in Rome. "1t was haped
that they would be capable of taking care of the spiritual needs of the
whites, while engaging in the particular work of converting the
Aborigines. But the whites had little time for them bechuse of the
language and they could meet the Abortigines only in the more re-
mote parts of the district. After some years those zealous priesis were
sent 1o do missionary work more consonate with their ahilities, and the
p_;‘t"}-\"it‘-’ll’:lgc was given to the Irish Augustinian Fathers in 1882, "
(38)
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The priests who took part in the experiment were Fr Tarquinio Ton-
_gancnu_. the Apostolie pro-vicar, Fr Luigi Fabbris dnd Fr Cherubino
De Romanis.
Fr Giuseppe Agosting Canali was known as the apostle of Brisbane.
¢ armved at the invitation of Bishop Quinn, as a young engincer
and architect and taught in the old school of St. James. [n 1878 he
ecame # deacon and was ordained & priest the following year, He
became an extraordinary priest, 3 man of prayer and full of humility.
He dedicated all his ministry to the poorest classes and the sick. He
had no timetable, with the result that when he had a job to do he did
ot return home even for meals. He never took a holiday and never
went away from Brisbane. As an engineer and architect he helped
with the construction of the ¢athedral of St. Stephen and designed the
monumental gates at the convent of All Hallows. He was known and
loved hy everyone in Brishane.
One day when returning home by tram, while he was reading his bre-
viary, he lost his balance and fell onto the road. He picked himsell up
and returned home alone, but a little while later he was taken 1o
Mater Hospital where he died on 15 August, 1915, the feast of the
Assumption. He was 69 years old. He was buried in the cemetery at
Nudgee. (39)

ITALIAN PRIESTS IN NEW SOUTH WALES

In New South Wales there were various Italian priests as in Queens-
land, but these were not subject to the same tribulations, In
¢hronological order we find, first of all, the Sicilian Fr Emmanucle
Ruggero, a Benedictine of St. Paul Outside the Walls. He arrived with
Polding on 6 February, 1848, In September of the same vear he was
dssigned as assistant 1o Fr Roche in Campbelitown. On 20 February.
IBS1, he was transferred to Camden. Here he fell from tis norse and,
ar first, it seemed n futal fall, but he recovered und wis sent to St
Marr's. Alter that he returned 1o Europe and it is thought he died in
England, (40)

Onorio Garrone, another Benedicting from Subiaco. accompinied
Polding to Australin in 1843 and remained only six months. An -
chitect. he drew up plans for the completion of the monastery at Sub-
Wco and gave lessons in liturgy st the seminary. (41)

Fr Peter Magagnotto, C.P., came 1o join the mission a1 Stradbroke
Island in 1847 but he arrived too late. In 1848 he was sent to Windsor
and on 20 May, I850, he was appointed Dean of Svdney. His health,
Which had been delicate for some tme, wis worsened by 4 fall from a
cart. He was opposed 1o the polities of the Archbishop and soon after
left Australia, His reasons are not known. In Califorma he was made

war General, (42)

Fr Ottavio Batsanti, DD, OS.F., arrived in Sydney op 25 February.
1865, He was secretary 10 the Archbishop and was sent on a
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special mission to Rome, He was seconded to Melbourne from 869
to 1872. Barsanti, too. opposed the politics of Polding, who
su?:cmlcd him while he was preaching a course of CXCITISES 10 an
order of nuns in Sydney. He appealed to Rome and to Vaughan in
1877, He was rcinstmctf into the Church not long before he died on
23 May, 1884, He was buried at Lewisham. near the church. (43)

Vincenzo Coletti was born at Alatri on 13 August, 1843, He studied
at the College of St. Edmund. Ware, Ireland, where he was ordained
in September, 1867, After a brief stay in the diocese of Westminster,
he came 1o Australia. The Directory shows that in 1869 he went 1o
Shoalhaven and in 1871 10 Darlinghurst.

In 1874 Archbishop Polding obtained for him the doctorate of Theol-
n%y from His Eminence. the Cardinal of Propaganda Fide, “because
of services he has given to me and the archdiocese and for the in-
terest he hus always taken in the establishment of the missions in
Australia, He is a young man who is quite learned in theological and
canomcal matters and has completed his studies with honours, at the
College of St. Edmund, T have often thought of how 1 could show
him some recognition of my satisfaction and 1 have judged this o be
the best way, In the confidence that vou will wish to obtain for me
the favour requested, 1 have the honour of being...” (44)

But even in this case some Irish Bishops sccused Polding of having
become a promoter of his favourites. In fact Bishop James Quinn re-
marked acidly. “T believe that Fr Coletti is. 10 all intents and pur-
poses, the Archbishop of Sydney at the moment, Two ltalian pricsts
with great cunning and duplicity, manage the old Archbishop, 10 the
great disgust of everyone,”

When Archbishop Polding died, his successor, Roger Bede Vaughan,
assigned Fr Coletti to the parish of Petersham. When Vaughan went
to Europe in 1883, a vovage from which he never returned. he was
accompanicd by Fr Coletti and Dr William Giller, On 18 August,
1883, Archbishop Vaughan died of a heart attack in England at the
age of 49. From this time on, little s known of Fr Coletti. but it
seems he returned to the diocese to which he had been attached at an
earlier stuge. (43)

THE SAINT OF SYDNEY - FR ANGELO
AMBROSOLI

In 1852 the Marist Fathers from Savoia handed over the mission of
Noumed in the Pacific to the Missionaries of the Foreign Missions of
Milan. Five priests and two catechists were sent. But the Marists, 100,
found the evangelisation of the Aborigines almost impossible and the
climate deadly. The group consisted of Frs Paolo Reina, superior of
the mission and apostolic prefect of Melanesia and Micronesia (x
potnted by Propaganda Fide), Carlo Salerio, Timoleone Raimondi,
Angelo Ambrosoli, Giovanni Mazzuceoni and the two  catechist
brothers, Giuseppe Corti and Luigi Tacchmi. (46)
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After a brief period of rest, spent with the Marists in Sydney, they set

out on 21 September and reached Woodlark on 8 October, 1852. On

19 October the seven missionaries divided: the local su erior, Fr

Carlo Salerio, Fr Timoleone Raimondi and the catechist fuigi Tac-

chini stayed at Woodlark. Fr Paolo Reing. Fr Giovannt Mazzueconi,

:{7Ange 0 Ambrosoh and the catechist Giuseppe Corti went to Rook .
)

Almost immediately Fr Mazzucconi was struck by malaria and soon
dlter Giuseppe Corti met with the same fate. In 1855 the situation
ceame desperate, The two had become so weak with fever it was
leared for their lives. The superior decided to send them o Svdney to
fecuperate, but the ship's captain took only Fr Mazzucconi. Giuscppe
Corti was too ill and would have died duning the trip. Fr Mazzucconi
reached Sydney on 19 April and commenced a period of convales-
eence and an apostolate among the lalians of the place. (48)
Meanwhile things came to a head at Rook. On 17 March the brother
Catechist, Corti, died and relations with the natives worsened. The
ives of the two FemMaining missionaries were in serious danger, so
they took advantage of a passing ship and went to Woodlark to join
the others remaining on that Island. There, everyone decided to re-
furn to Sydney together, They set out on 17 July, but the ship arrived
I Sydney on 23 August. five days after Mazzucconi had embarked on
the return trip 10 Woodlark. The ship on which Fr Mazzucconi was
fravelling had hardly arrived at Woodlark, when it was attacked by
natives, who killed first, the missionary and then the captain and all
the crew. (49) With his beatification on 19 February, 1984, the
Church recognised Fr Mazzucconi as 3 mantyr for the faith. (50)
The four other priests managed to reach Sydney. Bishop Polding tricd
I every way (o convince them 0 reopen the mission for Aborigines
at Stradbroke Island. They, knowing the story of the Passionists, did
Qol wanl to accept. Having regained their health Frs Reina and
Salerio were assigned 1o other missions; Fr Timoleone Raimondi was
tonsecrated Bishop of Hong Kong and Fr Angelo Ambrosoli re-
mained in Sydney, as a chaplain to the Benedictine nuns of Subiaco
and to St. Vincent's Hospital,
His simple and almost perfect life in that monastic retreat was briefly
described by un eye witness in the following way, "His name was
Angelo and he was truly an angel. He gave the impression of a soul
Who was living in God and for God. ( nly & saint and a great saint
could live the life he led in Subiico. He celebrated Muss every morn-
g, After that he wasn't seen or heard any more. In fact he Wais no-
thing and asked for nothing. He didn't see¢ anvone and didn't speak
o unyone. He led this sort of life for years, [ never knew anyone so
humble. He had a pure and innocent soul. Muny edifying episodes
ire related, which illustrate his tender love for the reparation of souls
t0 his Saviour in the Eucharist and his intercessions for the souls n
Purgatory. which became the most burning desite of his heart.”

After 17 yeary srum for the community of the Benedictine nuns, the
Seene of his zeal and his work was changed [rom Subiaco to that of
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the nuns at St. Vincent's hospital in Sydney. where for another 17
years he gave continuous testimony of his zedl.

He used to rise every morning at 4.30am to pray, to meditate and for
the recitation of his divine office. At 6,00am he gave communion to
the nuns and to the sick ut the hospital. At 7.00am he celebrated
Holy Mass in the chapel at the hospital and then at 8.00am in the
nuns’ chapel at the convent. At 9.30am he would walk to Woollahra
to hear the confessions of the nuns and of the faithful, to impart the
Eucharistic blessing and to distribute communion to the sick. All this
without having taken a bite to eat. Towards midday he would return
to the hospital and usually he would find straight away some other
work 1o do or visits 1o make.

At 4.00pm he would give the Eucharistic benediction in the central
house of the Sisters of Charity and then in the hospital. Then he
would go to the railway station 0 take the train for Ashfield, where
again he would hear the nuns' confessions, recite the rosary with
them, preach and give the Eucharistic benediction, He would return
home by train as far as Redfern and then walk for one or two miles
to his home. Many of the episodes of his life were made known only
after his death, as for example. he never took “carriage or even 4
cab®. He always travelled second-class in a train. He spent all he had
in adorning the altar, in buying sacred vases and tabernacles. He
really consumed himself promoting the honour and glory of God, (51)

THE SECOND BISHOP OF THE DIOCESE OF
ARMIDALE

Another great missionary figure and Bishop was that of Bishop Eleaz-
daro Torreggiani. He was born at Port Recanati and became & member
of the Order of St. Francis. He completed his studies at the Cappucin
monastery at Camerino, and then in Ancona where he was ordained
a priest on 23 May, 1853,

He longed to do missionary work and was sent to England. In June,
1856, after a brief stay at Peckham, London, he was assigned to Pan-
tasaph to help with the founding of a new Cappucin monastery. In
1880 he was elected superior of the mission at Pontypool, where he
built a monastery and a big school. He was made the superior of Pec-
kham where his success ‘as a missionary and administrator, attracted
the attention of Archbishop Vaughan who was looking {or a Bishop
who was not English or Irish, o replace Bishop O'Mahoney of
Armidale,

He wag consecrated a Bishur on 3 May and after g hrief visit 10

Rome, Torreggiani embarked on the ship, Avoca on & November,

I879, with five other Cappucin priest confreres, headed for Svdney.

The huge diocese of Armidale, with over 10,000 Catholigs, was

served by only nine priests, There were only two Catholic schools. It
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took Bishop Torreggiani three years to complete the first pastoral
visit, covering 40,000 miles. Bishop Torreggiani, always jovial and
nd, with a thick beard and an imposing physique, was known in
every town. He brought harmony. everywhere and reorganised the
iocese.
While he was preparing to celebrate Holy Mass for Christmas, 1884,
4 Toad-worker by the name of McCafferty, tried first to punch him
and then shot him with a revolver. The Bishop. having fallen, picked

himself up as if nothing had happened and continued the religious
service.

Among the many works carried out in the diocese were the calling of
the Sisters of Mother Mury McKillop to Tenterfield, also the Orso me
Sisters and in 1887 the Mercy Sisters. In 1885 he spent £60.000 on
New buildings and in 1887 instituted the new diocese of Grafton,

Bis{n)p Torreggiani died on 28 January, 1904, as a result of throm-
Osis and & heart attack.

Ft Patrick Joseph O'Connor, who lived with Bishop Torreggiani for

years and who had seen him in circumstances that would have
ttied the patience of a saint, declared that he had not seen him upset
Or angry even once. (52)

THE COLONY OF VICTORIA

Two Italian priests are especially remembered in the colony of Vie-
toria. Fr Nicola Ceseretti and Fr Nicola Bassetto. Fr Nicola ‘eseretti,
from Perugia, was ordained & priest for the foreign Italian missions
and arrived in Melbourne in IESB. For two vears he was a zealous
assistant at Bcndigo to the difficult Fr Henry Bacchaus, Then he was
transferred to Kilmore. Later on, having been recalled by his
Superiors, he went to London and from there to Ireland where he
died at the age of 40, on 7 March, 1869. (53)

Fr Nicola Bassetto, instead. arrived in Victoria in 1869, after havi
Worked for many years in India. He worked for 4 while in the Paris
Of Melbourne and was then sent to Port Fairy, where he remained for
'Wo years. Many fine episodes remain impressed on the minds of the
Bood people where he served.

A daughter of J.F. Devlin, still a girl a the time, wrote of him, “I
femember one duy (in 1870) when Fr Nicola paid us @ visit when
Cturning to Port Fairy,

“AL the moment of de arture, my parents accompanied him outside
the house, My mother had a baby in her arms and my father was car-
f¥ing 4 chair, which was to be used by Fr Bassetto, who was small of
Stature, to climb astride his horse. Having mounted his horse, with
the help of the chair, my father tucked his cloak around his knees so
that he might not caich cold. And so Fr Bassetto, the priest with the
ong, bushy beard, set out for Port Fairy, 18 miles distant.” (54)
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In 1872 he was sent to Castlemaine to help Fr Patrick Moore who
was ill. The correspondent of the Melbourne Advocate spoke in glow-
ing terms of his stay in the gold-bearing district, where Ttalians and
Ticinesi were numerous, Among other things. he said that Fr Bas-
setto taught the catechism regularly every Saturday in the chapel at
Eganstown, according to a well established program, and every Fri-
day in Hepburn. Every other day he taught in schools. “The priest
was carrying out extremely good works in those districts,” But these
comments were i complete contrast to a letter that a certain Fr
Barry wrote 10 the Vicar General, in which he wrote bitter criticisms
of Fr Bassetto,

In 1874 Fr Bassetto was assigned to Heathcote. In 1875 he moved to
Corop, where Fr Backhaus had had the church built at his own ex-
pense. (55) He immediately commenced regular visits to the families
of the extremely vast area. In 1876 he changed residence and went 10
live in Echuca, from where he continued his ministry that took him to
Kyabram. Mt. Scobie, Gingarre, Rushworth, Murc ison, Toolambra,
Nagambie, etc.

In 1878 he was recalled to his home-land. On leaving those places
that had become so dear to him, he expressed his deep regret in leav-
ing all those for whom he had worked. and exhorted them to remain
loyal to their faith always, He realised also that all his hard work had
sapped his strength.

And so another zealous missionary left the land of strife in the
present, but of hope for the future. (56)
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This extremely intemﬁng book is the result of a vast and profound
personal experience, enriched by painstaking study of local history,
Parish registers, tombstones in Australian cemeteries and, above ail,

many and lengthy conversations with Italian migrants in Australia.
(Pagine della Dante, April-JTune, 1986)

= L] = =

The overwhelming sentiment on reading this book will be one of
gratitude, in the first place to the Ialians who have contributed to
our country for so long a time and, secondly, to Fr Tito who has put
us into his debt by this thorough and scholarly research.

(The Australasia Catholic Record, Vol. ILXIII, No. I. January,
1986)

* E g E ] w

“We did not arrive yesterday” is a true statement becanse the Italians
have had a commection with Auwstralia since the days of
Captain Cook... | am sure that most honourable members will obtain
a copy of this book and read it, so that they may appreciate the great
contribution the people of Italy have made to Australia.

(Mr. N. Hicks, MP, Social Security amendment Bill, 1986)

» L & "

The book, “We did noi arrive vesterday”, by Tito Cecilia, is an
exceptional historical document of our emigration to Australia. It will
assist future historians in completing the total picture of our
emigration fto this country.

(Pg!o Bosi, Australia: Ieri, Oggi, Domani. Vol Ii, Fascicoli 11,
1986)

L3 ® . -

The author has the sense of being a living part of an ethnic group
whose historical presence in Australia dates from the beginning and
which now, in the somewhat euphoric climate of multiculturalism, is
setting out in search of its historical roots, precisely because “We did
not arrive yesterday"... The author has provided a valuabie service to
the community.

(Graziano Tassello, Studi Emigrazione. Anno XXIHI, Gennaio-
Marzo, 1986. No. 81) -




